
 

 

General Purposes & 
Audit Committee 
Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Councillor Karen Jewitt (Chair) 

Councillor Stephen Mann (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillors Bernadette Khan, Joy Prince, Mary Croos, Jamie Audsley, 

Jan Buttinger, Steve Hollands, Stuart Millson, Tim Pollard, 
Muffaddal Kapasi, James Smith and Jason Cummings 
 

 Reserve Members: Clive Fraser, Pat Clouder, Felicity Flynn, Nina Degrads, 
Patricia Hay-Justice, Ian Parker, Badsha Quadir and Simon Hoar 
 

 
 
A meeting of the General Purposes & Audit Committee which you are hereby 
summoned to attend, will be held on Wednesday, 7 October 2020 at 5.00 pm. This 
meeting will be held remotely. Members of the Committee will be sent a link to 
remotely attend the meeting in due course. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: Members of the public are welcome to remotely attend this meeting 
via the following web link: http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk/meetings/10878   
 
 
 JACQUELINE HARRIS-BAKER 
Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer 
London Borough of Croydon 
Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA 

Michelle Ossei-Gerning 
020 8726 6000 x84246 
michelle.gerning@croydon.gov.uk 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
Tuesday, 29 September 2020 

 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting.   
 

Public Document Pack

http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk/meetings/10878
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 
 

 

If you would like to record the meeting, we ask that you read the guidance on the 
recording of public meetings here before attending 
 
The agenda papers for all Council meetings are available on the Council website 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings 
 
If you require any assistance, please contact Michelle Ossei-Gerning 
020 8726 6000 x84246 as detailed above 
 

https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13507&path=0
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

AGENDA – PART A 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive any apologies for absence from any members of the 
Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 7 - 14) 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 17 March 2020 
as an accurate record. 
 

3.   Disclosure of Interests  

 In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct and the statutory 
provisions of the Localism Act, Members and co-opted Members of the 
Council are reminded that it is a requirement to register disclosable 
pecuniary interests (DPIs) and gifts and hospitality to the value of which 
exceeds £50 or multiple gifts and/or instances of hospitality with a 
cumulative value of £50 or more when received from a single donor 
within a rolling twelve month period. In addition, Members and co-opted 
Members are reminded that unless their disclosable pecuniary interest is 
registered on the register of interests or is the subject of a pending 
notification to the Monitoring Officer, they are required to disclose those 
disclosable pecuniary interests at the meeting. This should be done by 
completing the Disclosure of Interest form and handing it to the 
Democratic Services representative at the start of the meeting. The 
Chair will then invite Members to make their disclosure orally at the 
commencement of Agenda item 3. Completed disclosure forms will be 
provided to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion on the Register of 
Members’ Interests. 
 

4.   Urgent Business (if any)  

 To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 
opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency. 
 

5.   Presentation on Renewing Croydon: The Plan  

  [To Follow] 
 

5a.  Croydon Finance Review - Phase 1 Report (Pages 15 - 134) 

 For Members to receive, consider and comment on the Croydon 
Finance Review – Phase 1 report and action plan. 
 
 

6.   Financial Performance Report (Pages 135 - 158) 

 This report updates Members on the Council’s financial outlook at the 



 

 

end of the first quarter of 2020/21.  
 

7.   Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy End of Year Review 2019/2020 (Pages 159 - 182) 

 This report details the Council’s Treasury Management activities for the 
year 2019/2020 and demonstrates its compliance with the 2017 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance. 
 

8.   Head of Internal Audit Annual Report (Pages 183 - 222) 

  
This report details the work completed by Internal Audit in 2019/20 and 
the overall levels of assurance for the Council’s internal control 
environment to support the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 
 

9.   Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 (Pages 223 - 266) 

 This report details the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 
2019/20.   
 

10.   Anti-Fraud Update Report (Pages 267 - 272) 

 This report details the performance of the Council’s Corporate Anti-
Fraud Team (CAFT) and includes details of the team’s performance 
together with an update on developments during the period 1 April 2020 
– 31 August 2020. 
 

11.   Internal Audit Review of Effectiveness (Pages 273 - 280) 

 This report details the Director of Finance, Investment & Risk (Section 
151 Officer)’s review of the effectiveness of the Council’s internal audit. 
 

12.   Update on In-Year Appointments (Pages 281 - 286) 

 This report updates Members on a number of in-year appointments 
made by the Council Solicitor or the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
under delegated powers since the last meeting of the Committee. 
 

13.   Exclusion of Public and Press  

 The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 
to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting: 
 
“That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.” 
 

PART B 



 

 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

General Purposes & Audit Committee 
 

Meeting of General Purpose Audit Committee held on Tuesday, 17 March 2020 at 6.30 pm in 
F10, Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX 

 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Karen Jewitt (Chair); 
Councillor Joy Prince (Vice-Chair); 

 Councillors Mary Croos and Patsy Cummings (In place of Stephen Mann) 
 

Also  
Present: 

 
Councillor Simon Hall 
Catherine Black, Head of Payments, Revenues, Benefits and Debt, Finance 
Investment and Risk 
Malcolm Davies, Head of Risk and CPO 
Ian Geary, Head of Corporate Finance 
Sarah Ironmonger, Grant Thornton 
Simon Maddocks, Head of Internal Audit 
David Phillips, Mazars 
 

Apologies: Councillors Pat Clouder, Bernadette Khan, Jan Buttinger, Oni Oviri, 
Stuart Millson and Steve Hollands and Muffaddal Kapasi (Co-Optee) 

  
 

PART A 
 
 

10/20   
 

Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Monday 13 January 2020 were agreed as 
an accurate record. 
 
 

11/20   
 

Disclosure of Interests 
 
There were none. 
 
 

12/20   
 

Urgent Business (if any) 
 

There were no items of urgent business. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 

 
 

13/20   
 

Grant Thornton - Audit Plan 
 
Lead officers from Grant Thornton spoke to the report of the Audit External 
Plan and summarised the planned work to undertake before issuing the 
opinion.  
 
The significant risks were explained. The main subsidiary was the brick by 
brick company, and audit approach was explained. Officers informed that the 
service were able to rebut the revenue recognition; and officers noted that the 
material level had also been reduced. 
 
In relation to value for money, officers noted the significant risks on financial 
sustainability following last year’s adverse conclusion, the previous Ofsted 
Inspection assessment and Governance of the Authority’s Alternative Delivery 
Models.  
 
Members noted that the Ofsted’s recent inspection for the local authority was 
rated “Good” which was a remarkable turnaround from the inadequate rating 
in previous years. 
 
In response to Members questions relating to Covid-19, officers informed 
there were a number of identified issues that impact on the audit and that the 
Council took responsibility to continue to provide services to the community. 
Further, there were a lot of uncertainties in meeting deadlines, as the CLG’s 
government statement detailed had moved to later in the year for auditing due 
to the unusual situation. 
 
In response to Members questions relating to the clarity in the timing of the 
audits, officers commented that they would be required to re-arrange their 
planning which would depend on sickness levels both in the finance and audit 
teams, and they were working to meet the revised statutory deadlines. 
 
Officers referred to the External Audit Plan for Pension Fund report which 
mirrored the External Audit Plan report. The significant risks identified (in page 
37 of the agenda) and value for money conclusion did not apply to the 
Pension Fund. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to agree the reports. 
 
 

14/20   
 

Mazars - Housing Benefits 
 
Officers present spoke to the Mazar report which was appointed in 2018/19. 
The process set out was issued by pensions. 
 
Officers informed in summary that the housing benefit audit was worth £167 
million. 
 
In quality assuring their work, officers conducted a random sub-testing 
including additional testing from previous audit. In the cases tested, of the 

Page 8



 

 
 

random sample, no errors were found; though they had identified some errors 
in the additional testing. The issues were within the housing revenue account, 
where there were classification of over payment system issues: 
 

 The value of the overstated overpayments identified was £2,237.  

 There was also an over payment to a value of £408. This has since 
been rectified. 

 In one case, earned income was incorrect in determining housing 
benefit. This was to the value of £279. There were £23000 less in 
reclassifying payments. The department had received £2000 in more 
subsidy. 

 
In response to Members question relating to the money paid out and subsidy, 
officers informed that where they had paid supported residences, they 
received a certain amount. The amount of subsidy loss where they could not 
claim balance was between £1.5 and £2 million in any one year, which was 
quite substantial.  
 
The Chair suggested for the subsidy to be changed to clarify correctly.  
 
The Committee RESOLVED to note the report. 
 
 

15/20   
 

Internal Audit Charter, Strategy and Plan 
 
The Head of Audit spoke to the report. The Charter and Strategy were 
unchanged from last year. 
 
The officer referred to appendix three in the report which was the proposed 
plan of work for next year. 
 
In response to questions raised by Members relating to a recent internal case 
of fraud, officers informed that the case was investigated by the Fraud Team 
and audits were conducted subsequently. Officers were satisfied that the 
controls were now being operated properly. 
 
In response to questions raised by Members relating to payments which were 
shown as corporate risk audits (in page 67 of the agenda), specifically ad hoc 
payments, officers informed that the normal approach was for a supplier to be 
set up and to receive an invoice. It was noted that this was not always 
possible and there were a number of payments which had been made in a 
different way. Following the changes to “My Resources”, the new finance 
system, in May 2019, payments were working better. In addition the ad hoc 
payments concept was a new facility and officers wanted to be sure it was 
working correctly. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to: 
 

 Approve the Internal Audit, Charter, Strategy and the plan of audit work 
for 2020/21. 

Page 9



 

 
 

 
 

16/20   
 

Internal Audit Update Report 
 
The Head of Audit spoke to the report and highlighted the progress and 
summary of the findings.  
 
The officer highlighted that 50% of the individual reports had received limited 
assurance, which was likely a result of the constraints within the organisation 
and was the continuation of a trend over recent years. 
 
The progress against the audit plan in detail highlighted that in terms of 
managing expectation, Mazars (who deliver’s Croydon Council’s internal 
work) informed that their staff was not to work in client sites, thus contact 
would be continued remotely, which would make planning and other 
continued work difficult and may not be finished by the end of the year due to 
the current pandemic. 
 
In response to Members questions relating to business continuity in the height 
of covid-19 and working off site, officers informed that there was opportunity 
for colleagues to work remotely as work consisted of verbal communication 
and providing evidence which could be done remotely with Council equipment 
provided. 
 
In response to Members questions relating to the focus on outstanding priority 
one recommendation, officers noted that following the last committee meeting, 
the updated priority one recommendations were circulated and advised that 
there was a role for the committee Members to ask senior officers why actions 
had not been implemented, as this was deemed important. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to: 
 
 Note the Internal Audit Report for April 2019 to January 2020. 

 
 

17/20   
 

Anti-Fraud Update Report 
 
The Head of Audit spoke to the report of the Anti-Fraud, and specifically 
brought attention to Table 1 and 2 in the report. 
 
Members heard that Table one had shown the year target achieved for a 
successful outcome and over payments, and the breakdown of this was 
shown in Table two. 
 
Further, the report had presented work on the National Fraud Initiative, which 
was a two year cycle. £167k had already been identified and awaiting 
recovery. Two areas noted were (1) the DWP death list, where spending 
continued to be paid out to those in residential care after the service user had 
passed away and services were not informed. This recovered £93,511 of 
funds; and (2) the Blue Badge disable parking permits with the DWP National 

Page 10



 

 
 

list of deaths. Though payments were still in circulation this has been 
cancelled. 
 
In response to Members questions relating to whether there was a criteria in 
receiving information, officers addressed that information on this matter were 
normally shared after the matter has been closed, or payment has been 
made. Further, officers highlighted that with identified cases, officers would 
contact the provider to arrange for cases, though it may not necessary relate 
to a fraudulent case, it would still be one that would come to the services’ 
attention. The process was not robust, but once identified money was 
retrieved. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to: 
 

 Note the Anti-fraud activity of the Corporate Anti-Fraud Team for the 
period 1 April 2019 – 31 January 2020. 

 
 

18/20   
 

Corporate Risk Register 
 
The Head of Risk & Corporate Programme Officer presented the risk register 
report to Members.  
 
Officers highlighted the regular red risk report, and noted that the Ofsted risk 
was overcome with the service achieving a ‘good’ outcome. This would move 
the service to a sustainably good journey. 
Officers also noted the rise of the covid-19 and the impact it would have in the 
borough. 
 
The Chair mentioned that the Committee was pleased to see the report from 
Ofsted with a ‘good’ outcome, and was looking forward to the service 
becoming excellent. The Members thanked the officers for all of their hard 
work in a reasonable time and the feedback in the report that was deserved. 
 
Councillor Hall recognised the need to sustain improvement in Ofsted and 
wanted to reassure that this was the intended objective. Further comments 
relating to the coronavirus, Councillor Hall mentioned that this risk was clearly 
high. It was noted that business continuity and after things had been 
announced in terms of making sure that we were making whole financially to 
help the borough and maintain services and support. We have been told that 
extra costs incurred, school closures, outreach services, extra pressures in 
audit social care council tax etc. can impact on the council financially. There 
was a huge amount of work around this. Further, in relation to the Brexit risk, 
whilst the country was focusing on the current pandemic, on the 31st 
September 2020 there was a risk of a hard Brexit. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to: 
 
 Note the contents of the corporate risk register as at 17 March 2020. 

 

Page 11



 

 
 

 
19/20   
 

General Purpose and Audit Committee Draft Annual Report 2019-2020 
 
The Chair introduced the item and informed the Committee of the General 
Purpose and Audit Committee Draft Annual Report, which provided details of 
the Committee’s role. 
 
The report was drafted in accordance with the Constitution and needed to go 
to Full Council for consideration. 
 
The Committee discussed the report highlighting that there was opportunity to 
update the report given the current circumstances and things touched upon. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to: 
 

 Approve the General Purposes and Audit Committee Annual Report 
2019-2020. 

 
 

20/20   
 

GPAC Independent Non-voting Member Recruitment 
 
The Committee heard that Nousheen Hassan had handed her notice in the 
last Committee meeting. Since then the vacancy positon had been advertised 
and an interview had taken place. The process had been carried out and the 
interview panel identified a successful candidate. 
  
Members of the Committee look forward to welcoming the new Member to sit 
on the Committee in the future. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to: 
 
 Supports the recommendation of the recruitment panel for the preferred 

candidate to be appointed as an independent non-voting co-opted member 
of the Committee; and  

 Recommends to Full Council that the appointment should be confirmed for 
the remainder of the municipal year and that said appointment be subject to 
the Code of Conduct for Non-Voting Co-optees. 

 
 

21/20   
 

Update on In-Year Appointments 
 
The report provided before the Members was received for information. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to: 
 
 Note the in-year appointments made under delegated powers by the 

Council Solicitor and the Scrutiny and Overview Committee as detailed in 
paragraph three of the report. 

 
 

Page 12



 

 
 

22/20   
 

Council Meeting Dates 2020/21 Update 
 
The report provided before the Members was received for information. 
 
The Committee RESOLVED to: 
 
 Note the moving of the date for Council from 5 to 12 October 2020. 
 
 

23/20   
 

Exclusion of Public and Press 
 

This was not required. 

 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 7:24pm 
 

 
Signed:   

Date:   

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

REPORT TO: General Purposes and Audit Committee 

7 October 2020     

SUBJECT:   Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 Report 

LEAD OFFICER: Lisa Taylor – Director of Finance, Investment and Risk 

Ian O’Donnell – Finance Consultant 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 

The Project Initiation Document sets out a consultancy cost of £48,000 for Phase 1 of 
the Croydon Finance Review, with all other costs to be absorbed within existing 
budgets as part of business as usual. 

The recommendations of the review will be considered for funding through the council’s 
normal governance arrangements. 

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.1 That the General Purposes and Audit Committee considers and comments upon 

the Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 report, which is attached (Appendix A). 
 

1.2 That the General Purposes and Audit Committee considers and comments upon 
the Phase 1 Action Plan (In Priority Order), also attached (Appendix B). 

 
1.3      That General Purposes and Audit Committee receive regular update reports on      

the Croydon Finance Review Action plan and progress on the delivery. 
 

 
 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
2.1 In response to the impact of the Covid19 pandemic on the council’s financial 

position, its capacity to deliver its budget priorities moving forward, and 
integration with health partners, the council commissioned a full root and 
branch review of its financial governance, strategy and planning, leadership, 
decision making, management and group company structures (see Project 
Initiation Document, Appendix 3 of attached report).  

 
2.2 The attached report concludes Phase 1 of the review. It deals with the high 

priority issues identified in the activity plan (see Appendix 1 of attached report), 
setting out findings and recommendations based upon research and analysis 
carried out by the finance consultant. The report will be followed by further 
reports covering other areas of financial management, which will be presented 
to the Finance Review Panel and to General Purposes and Audit Committee as 
the work is completed in subsequent phases. 

 
2.3 The standards used as a benchmark for the review are the various statutory 

and professional standards that apply to financial management in local 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5a



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

2 
 

authorities (see Appendix 4 of attached report), as presented in CIPFA’s 
Financial Management Code and in other professional advisory publications. 

 
2.4 Further work is required in relation to group and company structures. This work 

is already under way and will form a separate report to the Finance Review 
Panel and to General Purposes and Audit Committee. 

 
2.5 The findings are summarised in the Executive Summary. In all there are 75 

recommendations relating to the three priority areas of financial planning, 
budget setting, and budget monitoring.  

 

3. KEY AREAS AND LINES OF ENQUIRY 
 
3.1 The Project Initiation Document (see Appendix 3 of the attached report), sets 

out the deliverables in relation to the final report: 

Deliverable 1: Final report with recommendations to be signed off by the 
Croydon Finance Review Panel.  The report will address the following key lines 
of enquiry: 
 

 Refreshed savings proposals for 2020/21. 

 The generation and implementation of additional options to minimise 

spend and where possible generate income in order to address in year 

overspending.  

 Review of all financial systems, structures, processes and decision-

making. 

 Review all group and company structures to ensure that they are fit for 

purpose. 

 Revised medium term financial strategy (MTFS) in light of new normal, 

Covid19 implications, health integration work and state of property and 

commercial markets. 

 Any other issues emerging from the review. 

 
3.2 The final report headings have been aligned with the CIPFA Financial 

Management Code. These, together with a brief description of the areas they 
cover, are set out below: 

 

Financial Leadership 

 

 The role of Cabinet and the officer leadership 
team in good financial management and 
ensuring services provide VFM; 

 The role of the s.151 officer; 

 Finance staffing capability and capacity; 

Financial Governance 

 

 Framework for financial accountability; 

 Financial risk management; 

 Financial literacy of organisation; 

Page 16



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

3 
 

 Supporting strategic and operational planning; 

 Financial advice to members 

 Audit committee; 

 Activities of Internal Audit; 

Long to Medium Term 
Financial Management 

 

 Medium term financial strategy (MTFS)  

 Financial resilience assessment 

 Capital strategy 

 Compliance with prudential code on borrowing 

 Alignment of MTFS with service planning 

 Use of reserves 

 Group and company structures 

 Recharges and internal trading 

The Annual Budget 

 

 Budget Setting  

 Alignment with MTFS 

 Robustness of estimates and adequacy of 
reserves 

Stakeholder Engagement   Option appraisals; 

 Development of business cases; 

Monitoring Financial 
Performance 

 

 Budget monitoring 

 Use of financial systems and technology 

 Use of financial data, modelling 

 Revenue and capital projects  

 Key controls and reconciliations; 

 Responding to unforeseen developments 
 

External Financial Reporting 

 

 Statutory accounts and other returns 
 

 
3.3 The final report will be delivered in phases, in line with the activity plan reported 

to the Croydon Finance Review Panel (Appendix 2). This enables the 
production of the final report to align with the practical need to prioritise action 
to address the 2020/21 forecast overspend, which emerged in May as part of 
the work required to compile and submit the Covid19 spending data returns to 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG). This 
action principally consisted of assembling and implementing a range of 
measures that could be taken quickly to remediate the budget position. 

 
3.4 It has also been necessary to prioritise the commencement of work on the 

2021/22 to 2023/24 MTFS and on the redesign of the annual budget setting 
process so that these processes could align with the council’s budget cycle at 
an early stage. 

 
3.5 A further urgent priority was to change the budget monitoring process to a full, 

in-depth monthly monitor in response to the risks concerning overspending.   
 

Page 17



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

2 
 

3.6 The diagnostic outcomes and recommendations for these areas, which were 
identified as Priority 1 in the resourcing plan, and in relation to which the 
Finance Review Panel has already received reports proposing change, form 
the substance of this phase 1 report. 

Page 18



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

1 
 

 

GPAC Appendix A 

 

Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 
 

September 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

Ian O’Donnell 
Finance Consultant 
 
 
  

P
age 19



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

2 
 

1 Table of Contents 
 
 

1 Table of Contents .......................................................................... 2 

2 Executive Summary ....................................................................... 3 

3 Introduction .................................................................................. 4 

4 Areas of Financial Management Addressed in this Report .......... 6 

5 Long to Medium Term Financial Management ............................ 7 

6 The Annual Budget ...................................................................... 34 

7 Monitoring Financial Performance ............................................. 42 

8 Council Documents Referred To In Report: ................................ 52 

Appendix 1 - Croydon Finance Review - Activity Plan June 2020 ...... 54 

Appendix 2 - Full List of Recommendations ...................................... 63 

Appendix 3 - Project Initiation Document ......................................... 74 

Appendix 4 - Statutory and Professional Standards: Source 
Documents ......................................................................................... 84 

 
  

P
age 20



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

3 
 

2 Executive Summary 

2.1 This first report in a series looking at financial management 
in Croydon Council focuses on three important areas: long 
to medium term financial management; the annual budget; 
and monitoring financial performance. These areas have 
been prioritised because of the urgent need to address the 
council’s financial position and their immediate importance 
in that regard.    

2.2 The report sets out 75 recommendations for change. The 
most significant recommendations arising from the report 
can be summarised as follows: 

 The council’s financial governance is currently 
inadequate in relation to some areas of financial 
planning, budget setting and budget monitoring. Specific 
recommendations are set out in the report. 

 The council must give specific attention to its financial 
resilience, introducing resilience assessment processes, 
improving risk management and strengthening 
contingency and reserves. 

 The council should improve its long term financial 
planning, consolidating its long term plans into a long 
term financial strategy looking 20-30 years ahead. 

 The council’s capital spending plans must be 
reconsidered in the context of overall affordability. 

 The council’s medium term financial strategy (MTFS) 
should be revised annually and focus on the next 3-5 
years.  

 The council’s budget setting process should be changed 
to ensure that it brings together well-evidenced 
proposals for savings and growth for the following three 
years that are based on a detailed understanding of 
costs and business practices and have clear delivery 
plans. 

 The council should move to monthly budget monitoring 
and improve its budget monitoring systems, processes 
and data, ensuring prompt action is taken to address 
overspending. 

P
age 21



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

4 
 

3 Introduction 

3.1 This root and branch review of the council’s financial 
management arrangements (the Croydon Finance Review) 
was commissioned in response to a range of serious 
financial issues faced by the council. The accumulation of 
financial pressure over a long period of government funding 
reductions, historical government underfunding of certain 
activities, ongoing cost inflation, and increased demand for 
services had already placed the council, along with many 
other local authorities, in a difficult financial position. The 
Ofsted rating of inadequate for children’s services in 
September 2017 was the beginning of a demanding 
recovery journey that required additional financial resources 
and a good deal of corporate focus. Finally, the Covid19 
pandemic, which emerged as a significant issue in March 
2020, impacted severely upon the council’s income and 
ability to deliver planned savings, and also required the 
council to incur additional expenditure as it sought to 
support the community and local economy through the 
lockdown. The scale of the unfunded expenditure in relation 
to Covid19 was unprecedented, with the council forecasting 
in May 2020 expenditure rising to £62.7m over budget, net 
of additional government Covid19 funding in the 2020/21 
financial year. At the time of writing there is no final picture 

yet concerning further additional government funding in 
relation to the pandemic. 

3.2 The council’s financial resilience had been severely eroded, 
and it recognised that in the circumstances it was necessary 
to take immediate action to bring spending back to an 
affordable level and avoid a s.114 notice. It also recognised 
the need to seek assurance that its financial management 
mechanisms, practice and culture were fit for purpose to 
enable it to recover and move forward.   

3.3 In May 2020 the council appointed an appropriately 
qualified and experienced finance consultant to carry out 
the review of its financial management arrangements and 
support the delivery of its recommendations. This included 
supporting a programme of immediate spending reductions. 
To oversee the review programme and financial recovery 
the council set up the Croydon Finance Review Panel (the 
Panel), consisting of financial experts together with 
members of the cabinet and the council’s executive 
leadership team, and attended by the council’s external 
auditor.  

3.4 Beyond the immediate action required to bring the budget 
under control in the current year, the approach to 

P
age 22



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

5 
 

identifying opportunities to improve financial management 
is to consider current practice against the best practice 
financial management standards for the industry. Local 
government finance in the UK is governed by primary 
legislation, regulation and professional standards as 
supported by statutory provision. The CIPFA Financial 
Management Code (the Code) brings all of these standards 
together into a professional code that was introduced in 
October 2019, and is applicable from 1 April 2020. The Code 
is structured as a set of standards and principles, including 
organisational leadership, transparency, assurance and 
sustainability, and provides the benchmark for assessing 
current practice and identifying opportunities.  

3.5 This report represents the conclusion of the first phase of 
the recovery journey, which is the identification and 
implementation of high priority opportunities to improve 
financial management. These opportunities are given a high 
priority because they have a significant impact and because 
there may be associated time constraints (e.g. the need to 
set a budget by March 2021). The phasing of the review in 
line with this prioritisation was previously endorsed by the 
Panel on 2 July 2020. Further reports to the Panel will 
identify opportunities to improve in other areas of financial 

management where it has been feasible to apply a longer 
timescale. 

3.6 The implementation of the recommendations of this report 
is considered to be of vital importance to Croydon as an 
organisation and will be an important step towards 
improved and sustainable financial health. The council has 
already taken some steps towards implementing the 
recommendations. 

  P
age 23



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

6 
 

4 Areas of Financial Management Addressed in this 
Report  

4.1 The Work Plan at Appendix 1 sets out the full range of areas 
of financial management that will be covered by the review 
and the agreed prioritisation approach. This report covers 
the Priority 1 areas, which are as follows: 

 

 Long to Medium Term Financial Management  

• Long/Medium term financial strategy (MTFS)  
• Alignment of MTFS with service planning 
• Financial resilience assessment 
• Use of reserves 
• Group and company structures 

 

 The Annual Budget  

• Budget Setting  
• Alignment with MTFS 
• Robustness of estimates and adequacy of reserves 
 

 Monitoring Financial Performance  

• Budget monitoring 
• Use of financial data, modelling 

4.2 The Work Plan also identifies three other specific priority 1 
issues, which are dealt with as follows: 

 Support the design and implementation of any measures 
immediately required to stabilise and secure the 
council’s financial position – Immediate Measures 
Programme set in place May 2020 and reported to the 
Finance Review Panel fortnightly.  

 Support preparatory work on a revised Medium Term 
Financial Strategy for the council – the recommendations 
arising from this work are included in the Long to 
Medium Term Financial Management section of this 
report. 

 Respond to concerns raised by the council’s external 
auditor – addressed through the work of the Finance 
Review Panel and throughout this report. 

 

P
age 24



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

7 
 

5 Long to Medium Term Financial Management 

5.1 Long to Medium Term Financial Management – Standards 

5.1.1 The Code sets out a requirement for local authorities to 
look beyond the statutory one year budget cycle in order to 
demonstrate their financial sustainability. Whilst this is 
more challenging in the absence of multi-year funding 
settlements from the government, the Code asserts that 
sound financial management and sound governance are 
best served by strong medium term and long term financial 
planning. Indeed, the greater the uncertainty about future 
central government policy, the greater the need to 
demonstrate the long term financial resilience of the 
authority given the risks attached to its core funding. 

5.1.2 The Code introduces the concept of the Financial Resilience 
Assessment, which tests the sensitivity of the authority’s 
financial sustainability given alternative plausible scenarios 
for the key drivers of costs, service demands and resources. 
Having carried out a credible and transparent Financial 
Resilience Assessment is now a requirement. Founded upon 
analysis of the latest audited financial statements, the 
assessment tests financial resilience against best and worst 
case scenarios which cover a wide range of financial 
demographic and social challenges, and uses independent 

objective quantitative measures to assess the risks to 
financial sustainability. The assessment should also 
encompass consideration of the risks associated with the 
organisation’s most significant business partners. 

5.1.3 The authority’s over-arching strategic vision of how it 
intends to deliver outputs and achieve the outcomes for 
which it is responsible, articulated in the Corporate Plan, 
should be underpinned by a Long Term Financial Strategy, 
informed by the risks identified in the Financial Resilience 
Assessment. This strategy should evidence the financing 
arrangements for long term commitments as well as 
allowing for demand trends and proposals for which 
detailed implementation plans have yet to be developed. 

5.1.4 A key component of this long term planning is the Capital 
Strategy, required under CIPFA’s Prudential Code - which 
the authority must comply with in any case - but now also a 
standard in the Financial Management Code. The Capital 
Strategy deals with the management of assets and liabilities 
to support service delivery, and must be aligned to the Long 
Term Financial Strategy. The Capital Strategy will be 
accompanied by a treasury management strategy and 
investment plan. 

5.1.5 Another key component, also now a requirement of the 
Code, is the authority’s Asset Management Plan, which 

P
age 25



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

8 
 

should review the condition, sufficiency and suitability of 
assets in the light of business needs and the ambitions set 
out in the Corporate Plan. 

5.1.6 The Long Term Financial Strategy is not considered to be 
sufficiently detailed for the purposes of budget setting, and 
so the Code requires the authority to produce a Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  This document connects 
the annual budget setting process to the Long Term 
Financial Strategy and enables recent successes and/or 
failures in delivering financial objectives to be taken into 
account in the annual budget process. The MTFS should be 
rolled forward every year, ensuring that budget setting is 
informed by the latest developments. It balances the 
financial implications of objectives and policies against 
constraints in resources and provides the basis for decision 
making, so it should identify all the significant factors 
affecting the financial sustainability of the authority over 
the medium term, including specific quantitative and 
qualitative organisational targets and constraints.  

5.1.7 Financial and operational plans must be demonstrably 
aligned to the strategy at all levels. Without clear service 
plans it is impossible to place the forecast within the 
context of currently agreed policies and their implications 
for future demand and resources. It is therefore a 

requirement of the code that the authority has sustainable 
service plans that are consistent with its Long Term 
Financial Strategy and MTFS. 

5.1.8 Integrated financial and service planning requires costings 
and other financial analysis to enable the leadership team 
to identify financial implications, assess and manage risk 
and promote the effective implementation of the financial 
strategy. The MTFS should also make reference to other 
organisational plans (e.g. workforce planning) and 
performance measures to demonstrate an alignment 
between service and financial planning. 

5.1.9 The use of comparative data is essential to inform the 
development of credible service plans. The code requires 
that the authority should benchmark the performance of its 
services against appropriate comparators. 

5.1.10 To ensure savings are delivered, the authority needs to 
develop in its Medium Term Financial Plan a single, 
consolidated, living document that tracks and evidences its 
saving plans – including what has been agreed and how 
much progress has been made. The savings tracker should 
be formally provided to elected members and formally 
approved by Council. 

P
age 26



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

9 
 

5.1.11 Local authorities are directed by statute to have regard to 
the level of reserves when considering their budget 
requirement. It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance 
Officer to advise the local authority on the appropriate level 
of reserves. The assessment of the appropriate level of 
reserves is considered to be a cornerstone of the Code. The 
authority must publish its plans for the use of reserves over 
the period of the MTFS, and the level of reserves at 31st 
March in any one year should not fall below the level 
previously agreed. 

5.1.12 The performance of group and company structures may 
have a significant bearing upon the financial health of the 
local authority parent and requires financial and risk 
management at the level of the group entity and not just at 
the level of the local authority parent. The suitability and 
sustainability of such arrangements should be kept under 
review. The Code requires that there are appropriate 
arrangements in place for reporting and managing the 
financial performance of each of the organisation’s delivery 
partnerships and collaborative arrangements. Although not 
part of the CIPFA Financial Management Code, the 
COSLA/Accounts Commission ‘Following the Public Pound’ 
Code is also helpful in setting out the principles. 

P
age 27



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

10 
 

5.2 Long to Medium Term Financial Management - Current Practice and Recommendations 

5.2.1 Best practice concerning the key elements of long to medium term financial management is set out in the tables on the following 
pages. Current practice is presented alongside with recommendations for improvement. 

5.2.2  Financial Resilience Assessment – Analysis of Current Practice. 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice  Recommendations 

BP 1 - Financial resilience is tested against 
best and worst case scenarios that cover a 
wide range of financial demographic and 
social challenges. 

The authority assesses the key variables in 
relation to the budget and makes a forecast 
having considered the risks. 

The authority should conduct a scenario 
based financial resilience assessment to 
support the Long Term and Medium Term 
Financial Strategies. 

 

BP 2 - The authority uses independent 
objective quantitative measures to assess 
the risks to its financial sustainability. 

The authority makes use of forecasts of 
interest rates, population and demography, 
economic activity, and other measures 
produced independently by credible sources 
to assess risks to its financial sustainability. 
The authority participates in a budget stress 
testing exercise conducted by London 
Councils and considers the information 
arising as part of the overall financial 
management approach. 

The authority should make greater use of 
independently verified comparative data in 
assessing its financial resilience and ongoing 
financial sustainability. 

BP 3 - Decision making by the authority 
demonstrates a sound understanding of the 

All cabinet reports contain a section with 
the heading: ‘Financial and Risk Assessment 

Risks identified in relation to strategic 
partners (and captured on the corporate risk 

P
age 28



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

11 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice  Recommendations 

risks associated with its strategic business 
partners. 

Considerations’. A sample of cabinet reports 
published between March and July 2020 
evidenced that financial and risk assessment 
implications were provided in each case. 
The sample provided broad evidence of 
close working with strategic partners on 
Covid19 issues, and the establishment of the 
Croydon Sustainable Renewal Board, which 
draws membership from key strategic 
partners such as the GLA, Coast 2 Capital 
Local Economic Partnership, Croydon Health 
Services NHS Trust, Croydon BME Forum, 
Croydon Business Improvement District 
(BID), London South Bank University, and 
Gatwick Airport Limited.  
Risks associated with strategic business 
partners are captured in the corporate risk 
register, which is reported to the General 
Purposes & Audit Committee and to ELT on 
a regular basis. 

register) should be explicitly considered 
when taking decisions in connection with 
those strategic partnerships. 

Source: CIPFA Financial Management Code (2019)  

P
age 29



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

12 
 

5.2.3 Long Term Financial Strategy – Analysis of Current Practice 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 4 - There is an over-arching strategic 
vision of how the authority intends to 
deliver outputs and achieve the outcomes 
for which it is responsible – i.e. a corporate 
plan. 

The authority has published a Corporate 
Plan for the period 2018-2022. This sets out 
at a high level the outcomes the 
organisation has prioritised and the 
operating model 

None. 

BP 5 - The authority has a Long Term 
Financial Strategy that matches the need for 
a strategic approach to service planning 
arising from key cost drivers (e.g. age profile 
of population, level of infrastructure 
investment, PFI contracts, local authority 
housing). 

The authority plans for the long term 
through a range of financial strategies and 
plans including the Capital Strategy, the 
Asset Investment Strategy, the 40 year 
business plan for the HRA, and the Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

The authority should bring together the 
elements of its long term financial plans – 
i.e. the Capital Strategy, the Asset 
Management Plan, the Asset Investment 
Strategy, the 40 year business plan for the 
HRA, and the Treasury Management 
Strategy together with any other relevant 
long term financial planning information – 
in a Long Term Financial Strategy document. 

BP 6 - Transformation programmes are 
subject to adequate due diligence so that 
risks are managed 

The recent transformation of Children’s 
Services from an ‘Inadequate’ Ofsted rating 
to a rating of ‘Good’ demonstrates 
Croydon’s capability to undertake 
transformation work successfully. However, 
there is a track record in several other areas 
(e.g. budget savings ‘sprints’ conducted 

Transformation activity should be 
supported by the council’s strengthened 
programme management function to 
provide assurance that risks are managed 
and projects are delivered on time.  

P
age 30



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

13 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

early in 2020, the Localities programme) of 
poor programme management and delivery 
failure. The council has recently 
strengthened its programme management 
capability to address this issue. 

BP 7 - The authority has a capital strategy 
aligned to its long term financial strategy 
(see section below) accompanied by a 
treasury management strategy and 
investment plan. 

The authority approved its capital strategy 
along with its treasury management policy 
statement, MRP policy statement, and 
annual investment strategy at Cabinet on 
24th February 2020 and for the previous 
year on 25th February 2019. 

None (but see 5.2.4 below). 

BP 8 - The authority has an asset 
management plan that reviews the 
condition, sufficiency and suitability of 
assets in the light of business needs and 
ambitions (see section below). 

The authority has asset management plans 
for Housing (Housing Asset Management 
Plan 2019-2028), Highways (Highways Asset 
Management Plan May 2015), and Schools 
(The Education Estates Strategy, Cabinet 
January 2020). 

The authority should maintain an up to date 
suite of asset management plans aligned 
with the corporate plan, including an asset 
management plan for property (see also BP 
24). 

BP 9 - The authority maintains processes to 
ensure that information about key assets 
and liabilities in its balance sheet is a sound 
and current platform for management 
action. 

Council dwellings are recorded on OHMS; 
other property information is held on the 
Technology Forge asset register. A register 
of capital expenditure on intangible assets is 
held in corporate finance, as is a summary 

None. 

P
age 31



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

14 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

level record of heritage assets (with more 
detailed records held by the museums 
team).  The highways team maintains a 
register of highways assets. The information 
on asset numbers and values is reconciled 
and presented in the annual accounts. The 
audit of the accounts includes checks on the 
reconciliations, including changes in asset 
numbers, valuations and checks of property 
deeds. The auditors have accepted the 
records and processes for the purpose of 
financial reporting. Internal audit also 
provides assurance on asset recording 
through the rolling annual audit 
programme. 

BP 10 - The authority complies with the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities 

The authority sets out its capital strategy, 
treasury management strategy, MRP policy 
and annual investment strategy in an annual 
report to cabinet and subsequently to 
council.  The report explains how the 
authority complies with a range of codes 
and guidance issued by CIPFA and by 
MHCLG. This includes the prudential code. 
The prudential code aims to ensure that the 

The authority should review its MRP policy 
to ensure that it adequately provides for 
debt repayment and matches its appetite 
and capacity for managing risk, particularly 
in relation to arm’s length entities and 
commercial investments. 
 
The authority should manage its capital 
programme and associated funding 

P
age 32



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

15 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

capital investment plans of an authority are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable. It sets 
out a number of indicators that the 
authority must publish. These indicators 
were published in the council’s annual 
budget report 2020/21 and in previous 
years. Due to changes to the capital 
programme the authority exceeded the 
forecast capital financing requirement in 
2018/19 and in 2019/20. The prudential 
indicators published at Cabinet on 24 
February 2020 forecast that the ratio of 
financing costs to net revenue streams for 
the general fund would climb to 16.73% by 
2022/23. 

arrangements within the forecast CFR and 
associated prudential indicators 
 
The authority should consider the 
affordability of its borrowing plans in the 
context of its overall budget risk and in 
particular the ongoing impact on the 
general fund of social care pressures. 

Source: CIPFA Financial Management Code (2019)  

 
 
 

P
age 33



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

16 
 

5.2.4 Capital Strategy – Analysis of Current Practice 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 11 - Applies a long-term approach – 20-
30 year Capital Strategy 

The Capital Strategy Statement approved by 
Cabinet on 24th February 2020 states that it 
“sets out how capital investment supports 
the delivery of the council’s objectives. It 
describes the main objectives for the 
council over a 4 year horizon.” The 
document references other more detailed 
strategy documents with different time 
horizons – e.g. the Brick by Brick 20-21 
Business Plan (4 years), the Education 
Estates Strategy (2 years), Asset Investment 
Strategy 2018 (unspecified but published as 
appendix to 3 year MTFS). Resources 
relating to the housing revenue account 
(HRA) fall outside the scope of the strategy 
(paragraph 3.7 of Capital Strategy 
Statement). 

The Capital Strategy should have a time 
horizon of 20 to 30 years. 

BP 12 - Explores external influences e.g. 
Combined Authority, Local Enterprise 
Partnership, City Deal 

The Capital Strategy Statement identifies 
external influences such as grant funding 
administered by the Education & Skills 
Funding Agency, Educations Basic Needs 
grants, TfL grants, and NHS funding. It 

The Capital Strategy should explore external 
influences in more depth and consider how 
these affect the requirement and scope for 
capital investment over the long term (20-
30 years). 

P
age 34



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

17 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

discusses the Growth Zone (ring fencing of 
business rates to fund infrastructure 
investment), and MHCLG’s approach to 
flexibility in using capital receipts. It also 
refers to other more detailed strategy 
documents that discuss these influences in 
more detail. 

BP 13 - Explores internal influence e.g. 
Corporate Plan, Local Plan, Asset 
Management Plan 

The Capital Strategy Statement references 
the corporate plan in paragraph 3.1 and 
detailed delivery strategies including the 
Education Estates Strategy, Brick by Brick’s 
Business Plan, and other strategies and 
plans. The HRA is deemed to be out of 
scope. 

The Capital Strategy should consider and 
model the long term (20-30 year) impact of 
internal influences such as the Asset 
Management Plan, the Education Estates 
Strategy, the Asset Investment Strategy, 
Digital Strategy, and other strategic 
documents and plans that concern the 
acquisition, disposal or use of assets. 
 
The Capital Strategy should include 
consideration of all of the council’s capital-
related strategies and plans including the 
HRA. 

BP 14 - Examines commercial activity / 
ambition 

The capital strategy references the Asset 
Investment Strategy 2018. This document 
sets out the council’s ambitions concerning 

The Capital Strategy should include 
consideration of risks and mitigations in 

P
age 35



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

18 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

commercial investment and the scale of the 
proposed activity (a £100m+ asset 
acquisition fund set up in 2018/19 increased 
to £300m in the 2020/21 budget report). 
The Asset Investment Strategy provides the 
criteria for acquisition of investment 
properties. Due to the opportunistic nature 
of investments the capital programme 
reflects the financial commitment in an 
estimated profile until transactions are 
completed. 

relation to the council’s asset investment 
strategy. 

BP 15 - Determines implications of 
Investment Strategy (i.e. the full capital 
programme). 

The capital programme and capital strategy, 
taken together with the treasury 
management strategy, set out the financial 
implications of capital-related decisions for 
the current year and also look three years 
ahead. This includes defining the capital 
financing requirement, the minimum 
revenue provision, and setting prudential 
indicators. 

The Capital Strategy should consider the 
long term financial implications of capital 
investment decisions (i.e. modelled over a 
20-30 year period). 

BP 16 - Ensures corporate plan priorities 
drive identified capital investment ambition 

The Capital Strategy Statement states that 
“Capital projects are assessed and 
prioritised according to their fit within the 

None (but see BP 23 below). 

P
age 36



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

19 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

strategic context. The Council will invest in 
programmes and projects in line with 
statutory and core functions with priority for 
funding being given to those schemes along 
with invest to save projects. The return on 
investment helps to prioritise some 
schemes.”  The detailed practice in this 
regard is set out in BP 23 below. 

BP 17 - Examines available resources and 
capacity to deliver 

The annual budget report and the treasury 
management strategy set out the available 
funding. 

The Capital Strategy should include 
consideration of the organisation’s capacity 
to secure the forecast funding (e.g. capital 
receipts) and the associated risks, with 
particular regard to arm’s length bodies.  
 
The Capital Strategy should consider the 
organisation’s capacity to deliver the 
planned capital programme and evaluate 
the associated risks (e.g. impact and 
likelihood of slippage). 

BP 18 - Assesses affordability against 
ambition and addresses any gap 

The authority’s process for resolving the gap 
between ambition and funding is the annual 
budget setting process. Financial 
Regulations state that “Full Council must 

Assessment of affordability should take into 
account the council’s revenue position and 
the full range of risks associated with the 
proposed capital programme. 

P
age 37



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

20 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

agree the overall capital programme as part 
of the Council Tax and budget setting report 
each year”.  The capital budget 2020-2023 
was set out in section 11 of the General 
Fund and HRA Budget report to Cabinet of 
24th February 2020 and its affordability was 
assessed in the Treasury Management 
Strategy on the same Cabinet agenda, the 
gap being filled by borrowing deemed to be 
affordable with reference to the prudential 
code. 

BP 19 - Identifies capital financing principles The Capital Strategy Statement states that:  
“The revised CIPFA Prudential and Treasury 
Management Codes (the Codes) 
require that all local authorities must 
prepare a Capital Strategy Statement, which 
provides the following: a high-level long 
term overview of how capital expenditure, 
capital financing and treasury management 
activity contribute to the provision of 
services; an overview of how the associated 
risk is managed; and the implications for 
future financial sustainability.” It goes on to 
give an overview of the framework 

None. 

P
age 38



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

21 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

established by the codes, sets out the 
different types of funding and a structure 
for categorising projects for funding by 
borrowing: Revolving Investment Fund – 
normally for housing and on-lent at a 
commercial rate where debt is 
repaid on completion of the project; 
Growth Zone – debt is repaid from future 
business rates growth; Asset Investment 
Strategy – Borrowing decisions made in line 
with the agreed strategy and where the 
asset generates a positive net return. Debt 
would be repaid in future from asset value; 
and General – Any other priority capital 
schemes that cannot be funded from 
external sources. Further information about 
capital financing principles is set out in the 
annual Treasury Management Strategy. 

BP 20 - Demonstrates integration with other 
strategies and plans 

The Capital Strategy Statement references 
the corporate plan in paragraph 3.1 and 
detailed delivery strategies including the 
Education Estates Strategy, Brick by Brick’s 
Business Plan, and other strategies and 
plans. 

None. 

P
age 39



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

22 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 21 - Produces a 10-year capital 
investment plan – with actions, timescale, 
outputs and outcomes 

The authority publishes a three year capital 
investment plan (i.e. capital programme). 

The authority should produce a 10-year 
capital investment plan (i.e. capital 
programme) – with actions, timescale, 
outputs and outcomes. 

BP 22 - Captures risks and mitigating factors Risks are captured at individual capital 
project level in the documentation relating 
to that project, which sits outside the 
Capital Strategy. 

The Capital Strategy should capture and 
take into account the significant risks and 
mitigations in relation to the capital 
programme.  

BP 23 - Outlines governance and monitoring 
processes and procedures 

The arrangements for determining that a 
capital investment (i.e. a capital project) 
should receive funding and enter the capital 
programme are set out in the Financial 
Regulations: “Full Council must agree the 
overall capital programme as part of the 
Council Tax and budget setting report each 
year.  Quarterly financial monitoring of the 
capital programme, including spend to date, 
projected spend for the financial year and 
slippage will be presented to Cabinet as part 
of the financial monitoring report.  
Programme and Project managers along 
with the relevant Executive Director must 
ensure that any variances to budget are 

The authority should ensure that its 
governance arrangements concerning 
capital are fit for purpose and clearly set out 
in the Capital Strategy and the council’s 
Financial Regulations. 
 
The authority should ensure that capital 
decisions are made in compliance with the 
agreed governance arrangements. 

P
age 40



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

23 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

reported as soon as they are aware of them. 
The Growth Board is the Officer control 
mechanism by which all non IT and FM  
capital expenditure is managed and 
assured.  Details on its role are contained in 
the Growth Board terms of reference.  ICT 
and FM capital expenditure is approved 
through their own Officer boards. All of 
these boards must be presented with a 
business case that details the expenditure to 
be incurred and the timing of that 
expenditure to ensure accurate financial 
management and monitoring.” In practice 
the Growth Board no longer meets and its 
function is performed in part by the Asset 
Board, which serves as a gateway for any 
proposals for the acquisition or disposal of 
land and property that have been 
formulated by the Asset Working Group and 
approved by the Council’s Executive 
Leadership Team and which exceed 
£500,000 in value before they go to 
Cabinet. This board consists of a mix of 
cabinet members and officers. 

P
age 41



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

24 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

The Asset Investment Strategy outlines the 
governance and reporting arrangements in 
respect of commercial investments. Capital 
proposals were agreed as part of the capital 
programme at the annual Budget Council on 
2 March 2020.  

Checklist source: Link Asset Management – July 2018  

 

P
age 42



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

25 
 

5.2.5 Asset Management Plan – Analysis of Current Practice 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 24 – The authority maintains an up to 
date suite of asset management plans 
aligned with the organisation’s strategic 
choices as set out in the corporate plan. 

The authority sets out its strategic approach 
to the use of assets in the Housing Asset 
Management Plan 2019-2028, the Highways 
Asset Management Plan May 2015, The 
Education Estates Strategy (Cabinet, January 
2020) and the Asset Strategy 2014-2019. 

The authority should maintain an up to date 
asset management plan for operational 
property (see also BP 8). 

BP 25 – In relation to property 
management, the authority should meet 
best practice standards - for example 
Government Functional Standard GovS 004: 
Property 

The authority’s asset management plan in 
relation to operational property is out of 
date and does not meet current best 
practice standards. 

The authority’s asset management plan for 
operational property should meet best 
practice standards. 

 
 

P
age 43



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

26 
 

5.2.6 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) – Analysis of Current Practice 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 26 - The Medium Term Financial Plan is 
rolled forward annually to ensure that it 
reflects the latest detailed information. 

The authority has been operating a two year 
cycle for the MTFS, with full MTFS reviews 
carried out in July 2016 and July 2018. In 
between these full reviews, the MTFS has 
been updated in July, and the assumptions 
for the following year revised each February 
as part of the budget setting process. 

The MTFS should be rolled forward annually 
in July and updated in February as part of 
the budget setting process. 

BP 27 - Forecasts all the significant factors 
affecting the financial sustainability of the 
authority over the medium term (next 3-5 
years). It includes specific quantitative and 
qualitative organisational targets and 
constraints. 

The MTFS 2018-2022 (Cabinet - July 2018) 
forecast the significant factors affecting the 
authority over the period. These included 
government funding, population and 
demography and the demand for services, 
inflation, the capital programme, and 
income from council tax, business rates and 
fees and charges. It discussed Brick by Brick 
and the revolving investment fund, asset 
investment, and improvements in children's 
and adults' social care services. The 
document was backed by a detailed 
financial model. The assumptions were 
updated annually in July and revised each 
February as part of the budget setting 
process, with a full review every two years. 

The MTFS should forecast 3-5 years ahead. 
A three year MTFS allows the council to 
plan its operations three years ahead, and 
this means that targets can be set for 
growth and savings for three years rather 
than one. This permits projects with a 
longer implementation timescale or with 
greater complexity to be planned and 
approved in advance. 
 

P
age 44



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

27 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

The medium term forecast horizon moves 
from three years in year 1 to two years in 
year 2 due to the two year MTFS cycle. 

BP 28 - Contains or is supported by high 
quality plans; usually achieved through a 
‘bottom up’ approach to developing savings 
and growth proposals, starting from a 
detailed understanding of current costs and 
business practices. 

In 2019/20 the value of new savings 
proposals was £27.9m. The value of those 
savings actually delivered in 2019/20 is not 
available as a separate figure but non-
delivery of savings has been identified as a 
contributing factor to departmental 
overspends. The authority’s plans for 
savings and growth in 2020/21 were 
approved by Council in March 2020. The 
council’s budget setting process included a 
call for proposals from departments. The 
June 2020 return to MHCLG predicted that 
£31.747m of the £40.249m of savings 
would not be delivered; the extent to which 
this is entirely attributable to Covid19 is not 
clear. 

The council’s budget setting process should 
bring together well-evidenced proposals for 
savings and growth that are based on a 
detailed understanding of costs and 
business practices and have clear delivery 
plans (see 6.2.2 below).  
 
The robustness and deliverability of budget 
proposals is a major issue. A longer 
timescale for departments to work on 
proposals before submitting them will help 
with this, but the process itself must also 
foster greater focus on deliverability and 
should do so by providing templates for 
submissions that require more information 
about delivery and risk. 
 
 

P
age 45



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

28 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 29 - Balances the financial implications of 
objectives and policies against constraints in 
resources and provides the basis for 
decision making. 

The MTFS forecasts the budget requirement 
based on delivering the administration’s 
policies priorities and the gap between that 
and the forecast level of resources. This 
provides the basis for developing growth 
and savings proposals. The council operates 
a 2 year MTFS cycle. 

The budget report should reconcile the 
annual MTFS forecast budget gap to the 
proposed budget. 

BP 30 - Financial and operational plans (e.g. 
service plans) are demonstrably aligned to 
the MTFS at all levels through costings and 
other financial analysis linked to 
performance targets. 

The authority has an easily accessible and 
comprehensive library of service plans, 
which it divides into ‘delivery plans’ and 
‘business as usual (BAU) plans’. Delivery 
plans are associated with corporate plan 
themes, whilst the BAU plans are associated 
with the departmental structure. The plans 
cover a one year period, and the last time 
they were updated is for the financial year 
2019/20. The plans typically contain a range 
of performance targets  

Service plans should be kept up to date and 
linked to the MTFS, in particular with regard 
to significant savings, growth, demand 
management and cost control matters. 

BP 31 - The authority has benchmarked the 
performance of its services against 
appropriate comparators. 

External benchmarking of service 
performance is used in some service areas. 

The authority should introduce systematic 
benchmarking of service performance with 
other organisations and with its own 
performance over time as part of its 
performance regime. 

P
age 46



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

29 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 32 - There is a single document (Savings 
Tracker) tracking progress in delivering 
planned savings over the period of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan. 

The authority monitors income and 
expenditure against budget through 
quarterly budget monitoring. 

The authority should track progress in 
delivering planned savings through a savings 
tracker that should be reported with the 
monthly budget monitoring statement.  

BP 33 – References the Chief Finance 
Officer’s advice to the local authority on the 
appropriate level of reserves and contains a 
clear statement on the planned and actual 
use of reserves. The level of reserves at 31st 
March in any one year should not fall below 
the level previously agreed. 

The foreword to the MTFS 2018-2022 
(Cabinet – July 2018) by the Executive 
Director of Resources (p5) sets out the 
planned level of reserves at 5% (of net 
spend). 

The MTFS should contain analysis of the use 
of reserves against plan in the recent past, 
and the planned use of reserves over the 
MTFS period. The analysis should be 
underpinned by an analysis of financial risk. 

Source: CIPFA Financial Management Code 2019  

 

P
age 47



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

30 
 

5.2.7 Group and Company Structures – Analysis of Current Practice 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 34 - The authority is clear about the 
reasons for its involvement in any arm’s-
length funding arrangement. 

The authority’s principal arm’s length 
funding arrangements are with Brick by 
Brick and with Croydon Affordable Housing 
group. The case for creating a wholly owned 
housing company (Brick by Brick) was set 
out in a report to Cabinet on 29th 
September 2014: “Wholly Owned Housing 
Company – an Option for Tackling the 
Shortage of Homes in Croydon”.  This was 
further developed in a report to Cabinet of 
16 March 2015: “Homes – Our Ten 
Priorities”, in which delegated authority was 
sought to establish the company that would 
subsequently be named Brick by Brick. The 
case for Croydon Affordable Housing was 
set out in a report to Cabinet on 19th June 
2017: “The Delivery of Affordable Housing” 
and further developed in a report of 17th 
July 2017; “Increasing Housing Supply”. 

The council should review group and 
company structures to ensure they are 
necessary and fit for purpose at regular 
intervals or when there is a significant 
change in the regulatory or funding 
framework. 

BP 35 - The extent of the financial 
commitment and the nature of the financial 

The extent of the authority’s financial 
commitment to Brick by Brick is set out in 
the reports to cabinet seeking approval of 

This will be the subject of a further report 
following detailed consideration of the 
extent and nature of the financial 

P
age 48



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

31 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

relationship is clearly specified and 
understood at a detailed level. 

specific schemes. These reports include a 
report to Cabinet on 20 June 2016, “Brick by 
Brick Croydon Limited – Property and 
Financial”, and the annual Brick by Brick 
business plans (e.g. Brick by Brick Annual 
Business Plan 2020/21 – Cabinet, 24 Feb 
2020) 
With regard to Croydon Affordable Housing, 
the report of 17th July 2017, “Increasing 
Housing Supply” sought approval for the LLP 
(Croydon Affordable Homes) to be granted 
£30m in retained right to buy receipts.  In 
addition, the report sought delegated 
authority to “agree and enter into ‘arm’s 
length loans with respective limited liability 
partnership at appropriate market 
normative rates”. Although the maximum 
amount to be loaned was not specified in 
the report, the maximum was implied. 

commitment to both Brick by Brick Ltd and 
Croydon Affordable Housing. 

BP 36 - Appropriate financial and 
performance monitoring and reporting 
arrangements are in place from the start. 

This will be the subject of a further report 
following detailed consideration of the 
financial monitoring and reporting 
arrangements with both Brick by Brick Ltd 
and Croydon Affordable Housing. 

This will be the subject of a further report 
following detailed consideration of the 
financial monitoring and reporting 
arrangements with both Brick by Brick Ltd 
and Croydon Affordable Housing. 

P
age 49



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

32 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 37 - The right skills and capacity to 
manage the relationship with the arm’s-
length body are in place. 

This will be the subject of a further report 
following detailed consideration of the 
arrangements with both Brick by Brick Ltd 
and Croydon Affordable Housing. 

This will be the subject of a further report 
following detailed consideration of the 
arrangements with both Brick by Brick Ltd 
and Croydon Affordable Housing. 

BP 38 - Provisions are made for the 
authority and its external auditors to have 
access to the records of the funded body. 

The individual funding agreements with 
Brick by Brick stipulate that the arm’s length 
body is required to provide financial or 
other information requested by the council 
promptly. There is no provision for access to 
the records of Croydon Affordable Homes, 
which is an independent charity. In relation 
to Croydon Affordable Homes LLP the 
council has input to the appointment of its 
auditors through its 100% owned holding 
company, London Borough of Croydon 
Holdings LLP, but no provisions exist for 
direct access by the council and its auditors 
to its records.  

Agreements with arm’s length bodies 
should contain provision for the authority 
and its external auditors to have access to 
the records of the funded body. 

BP 39 - The authority has carefully 
considered the question of their 
representation in the arm’s-length body 

The authority’s representative on the board 
of Brick by Brick is the Executive Director of 
Place. The authority’s representation on the 
board of Croydon Affordable Homes LLP is 
through London Borough of Croydon 

The authority should ensure its 
representatives on boards are adequately 
supported to drive the authority’s strategic 
objectives through the activities of the 
arm’s length body. 

P
age 50



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

33 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

Holdings LLP. Training is provided to 
authority representatives on their role and 
responsibilities. 

  
The authority should ensure that in relation 
to its representation on the boards of arm’s 
length companies, any conflicts of interests 
are identified and avoided or escalated and 
resolved. 

BP 40 - The authority has established 
limitations in the funding relationship and 
an ‘exit’ strategy. 

This will be the subject of a further report 
following detailed consideration of the 
arrangements with both Brick by Brick Ltd 
and Croydon Affordable Housing. 

This will be the subject of a further report 
following detailed consideration of the 
arrangements with both Brick by Brick Ltd 
and Croydon Affordable Housing. 

Source: COSLA/Accounts Commission ‘Following the Public Pound’ Code  

P
age 51



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

34 
 

6 The Annual Budget 

6.1 The Annual Budget - Standards 

6.1.1 Key elements of the budget setting process of UK local 
authorities are governed by statute, including the timetable, 
and tax-setting and billing. Leading members and senior 
officers must understand the statutory processes and 
timetable necessary to set a legal budget, and ensure that 
the authority complies with those statutory obligations. 

6.1.2 The budget report is produced annually and sets out the 
financial plan for the coming year. Its contents should 
demonstrably flow from the long term financial strategy 
and medium term financial plan. It should be owned and 
articulated by the whole leadership team and senior 
managers. 

6.1.3 The budget report should include an analysis of the 
successes/failures in achieving the spending plans of the 
previous year and of departures from the planned use of 
reserves and balances. Demonstrating that the causes of 
failure have been understood and addressed informs any 
assessment of the robustness of the proposals.  

6.1.4 The Chief Finance Officer is required by statute to give a 
statement on the robustness of the estimates and the 

adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. The council is 
required to take this statement into account when making 
its budget and taxation decisions. This should take into 
account any objective measures of financial resilience, such 
as the CIPFA financial resilience index. The statement of 
reserves should list those earmarked reserves that are 
material for assessing the financial resilience of the 
authority, setting out transparently the purposes for which 
the reserves are held and showing the estimated opening 
balances for the year, details of planned 
additions/withdrawals and the estimated closing balances. 

6.1.5 In assembling the budget a focus on the detail of execution 
is essential to turning policy goals into savings and growth 
proposals. For this reason a ‘bottom up’ approach, starting 
from a detailed understanding of current costs and business 
practices, is the preferred means of identifying savings. A 
clear distinction should be made between those savings for 
which there is a clear delivery plan, those which have been 
agreed in principle but do not yet have a clear 
implementation plan and those that are simply ideas. Only 
the first should feature in the annual budget; and the 
success (or failure) of these needs to be tracked over the 
medium term if the lessons learnt are to inform decision 
making.

P
age 52



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

35 
 

6.2 The Annual Budget - Analysis of Current Practice 

6.2.1 Best practice concerning the Annual Budget is set out in the following table. Current practice is presented alongside. 

6.2.2 Annual Budget – Analysis of Current Practice. 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 41 - The authority complies with its 
statutory obligations in respect of the 
budget setting process. 
 
 
 

 

Based on a review of the authority’s recent 
budget reports to Council, there is evidence 
that the authority has consistently complied 
with statutory obligations concerning tax 
setting and setting a balanced budget 
before the statutory deadline of 11 March. 
The 2020/21 budget was set by Council on 2 
March 2020 and the 2019/20 and 2018/19 
budgets were set on 4 March 2019 and 27 
February 2018 respectively. The legal duties 
are stated in the Legal Considerations 
sections of each report. 

None 

BP 42 - The budget report includes an 
assessment of its consistency with the 
current medium term financial plan and 
long term financial strategy. 

The budget report for 2020/21 includes a 
section on the MTFS, noting that the 
current MTFS was approved in September 
2018 and covers the period 2018-2022, and 
that it will be updated later in the year, and 
that a full MTFS refresh will be done once 

The budget report should update the MTFS 
each year, reconciling the budget proposals 
to the previous MTFS forecast, to ensure 
that the proposed budget and the medium 
term financial plan are in step and based on 

P
age 53



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

36 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

there is greater clarity concerning 
government funding. The report states the 
budget gap identified in the 2018 MTFS for 
2020/21 and 2021/22. It goes on to 
consider and revise corporate and 
departmental assumptions as the basis for 
the calculation of the budget requirement 
for the financial year 2020/21. 
In relation to the Long Term Financial 
Strategy, the report discusses the capital 
budget and references the Capital Strategy 
in section 11. It also refers to the Asset 
Investment Strategy in paragraph 7.19.2, 
and the 40 year business plan for the HRA in 
paragraph 12.3. The Treasury Management 
Strategy is referenced in section 13. 

the latest information. The MTFS should be 
revised in full in July each year. 
 
The authority should bring together the 
elements of its long term financial plans in a 
Long Term Financial Strategy document (see 
BP 5 above). The budget report should 
evidence consistency with the long term 
financial strategy. 

BP 43 - Savings and growth proposals are 
built from the ‘bottom up’ and have a clear 
delivery plan.  

The budget report of 2nd March 2020 sets 
out the 2020/21 savings and growth 
proposals with a brief line by line 
description in Appendix A.  The report of 
4th March 2019 presents the 2019/20 
proposals in a similar way. In relation to 
2020/21 the process for developing budget 
proposals included a call for growth and 

Departments should have clear financial 
targets to work to in developing budget 
options.  
 
In order to allow sufficient time for 
departments to develop robust proposals 
for growth and savings to feed into the 
budget decision-making process, 

P
age 54



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

37 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

savings proposals from departments and 
these being presented to and reviewed by 
members in a series of policy development 
type meetings held in the autumn. There is 
evidence that a number of proposals did 
not go forward following that process and 
that further proposals were brought 
forward later in the process to close the 
gap. 

departments should start work as early as 
possible in the cycle. This means not waiting 
until the MTFS has been revised but 
working to provisional targets beginning as 
early as May.  
  
The budget process should enable budget 
proposals to be built from the bottom up, 
so that they are underpinned by the 
expertise of practitioners.  
 
As part of the budget development process 
departments should collaborate across 
departmental boundaries to develop robust 
and deliverable cross-cutting savings 
proposals.  
 
Budget proposals should be evidenced by 
performance data and modelling to 
demonstrate robustness and deliverability, 
with performance and value for money 
benchmarked over time and against other 
organisations. 
 

P
age 55



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

38 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

Meetings between officers and members to 
explore budget options (Budget 
Development Meetings) should focus on 
prioritisation of proposals. Proposals should 
not be screened out politically before being 
presented at Budget Development 
Meetings. 
 
The budget report should contain only 
savings proposals for which there is a clear 
and achievable path to benefits realisation. 

BP 44 - The budget is owned and articulated 
by the whole leadership team (i.e. Cabinet 
and ELT) and senior managers, not simply 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

Meetings between officers and leading 
members to discuss 2020/21 budget 
proposals were held in the autumn and 
winter of 2019 following a call for 
departmental proposals. The meetings did 
not include all members of ELT and the 
Cabinet. 

The budget proposals brought forward by 
departments should be prioritised by 
members. Friendly and constructive 
challenge has an important role to play in 
the development of proposals, to ensure 
that they are aligned with corporate 
priorities, are developed to their full 
potential, and are sufficiently robust and 
deliverable. For this reason budget 
development meetings should be held in 
September / October involving both 
members and officers. To ensure collective 
ownership of the financial position and 

P
age 56



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

39 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

decisions, all cabinet and ELT members 
should be invited to each meeting. The 
meetings will follow an agreed format and 
focus upon a particular set of proposals, 
grouped by theme (e.g. Capital) or by 
department. 
 
The budget development process should 
engage CLT members (i.e. directors), not 
only in their role as originators of budget 
savings and growth proposals, but 
collectively through regular briefings.  
 
Scrutiny should have a formal role in the 
process, with pre-scrutiny of proposals for 
significant change being feasible because of 
longer development timescales. Scrutiny of 
budget proposals should take place in the 
period November to February as the 
proposals are brought forward for Cabinet 
approval. 
 
 

P
age 57



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

40 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 45 - The annual report proposing the 
budget includes an analysis of the 
success/failures in achieving the spending 
plans of the previous year and of departures 
from the planned use of reserves and 
balances. 

The budget report of 2nd March 2020 
analyses the assumptions made in relation 
to departmental base budgets in section 7. 
Departmental Assumptions 2020/21 Budget. 
This section references the in-year 
performance against budget in relation to 
Children, Families & Education (CFE), and 
Health, Wellbeing & Adults (HWA), and 
discusses the associated pressures. The 
report discusses level of reserves and 
balances in section 14. 

The budget report should update the MTFS 
with any new assumptions arising from 
current financial performance as well as 
external factors. This should include any 
significant over/under-spending and an 
update on the delivery of planned savings 
and growth proposals in the current year. 
 
The budget report should include analysis of 
the use of reserves and balances compared 
to plan. 

BP 46 - The budget report includes a 
statement by the Chief Finance Officer on 
the robustness of the estimates and a 
statement of the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves, supported by a financial 
resilience assessment. 

The budget report of 2nd March 2020 
contains a section entitled 14.0 Statement 
of the Section 151 Officer on reserves and 
balances and the robustness of estimates 
for purposes of the Local Government Act 
2003. In the ensuing paragraphs the report 
describes risks to the financial plan such as 
the level of government funding, service 
need, and cost pressures. There is a section 
on The Level of Reserves and Balances (para. 
14.9 – 14.18), in which the Director of 
Finance, Investment and Risk and S151 
Officer states that “in the context of the 

The target level of reserves should be set by 
the s151 officer based on their professional 
judgement about the risks the council is 
facing, and the budget plan must prioritise 
maintaining the reserves at the target level 
above any operational considerations.  The 
minimum level of reserves cannot be set on 
the basis of affordability in comparison with 
other priorities, but must be set on the 
basis of risk assessment as a fundamental 
requirement that underpins the stability of 
the organisation. 

P
age 58



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

41 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

financial climate and the financial risks 
which the Council faces my formal advice to 
all Members is that an appropriate level of 
General Fund Balances is between 3% and 
5% [of the net revenue budget] for the 
medium term which in cash terms is 
between £8m and £13.8m. The current level 
of General Fund Balances is £10.4m. This 
budget makes provision to increase reserves 
by £5m.” A similar section appears in the 
report of 4th March 2019 at paragraphs 
19.0 to 19.17, and in the report of 27th 
February 2018. 

Source: CIPFA Financial Management Code 2019  

P
age 59



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

42 
 

7 Monitoring Financial Performance 

7.1 Monitoring Financial Performance - Standards 

7.1.1 Cabinet, ELT and local management should receive reports 
enabling them to identify and correct emerging risks to the 
budget strategy and financial sustainability. These risks may 
take the form of significant unplanned overspends and/or 
carrying forward undelivered savings, but may also be 
detected through non-financial performance measures, 
such as backlogs. 

7.1.2 The quality of information available to managers is an 
important factor in avoiding budgetary failure. An authority 
needs an effective finance system that provides all decision 
makers with one version of the truth. Information should be 
timely, accurate and succinct. 

7.1.3 Financial and other management information should be 
embedded in a system of internal control that focusses on 
controls, probity, compliance and accountability.  

7.1.4 Real time financial and performance information needs to 
be periodically collated for management review and action. 
Most importantly, the details of these performance 
monitoring arrangements must ensure that personal 
responsibility for each budget is established and monitor 

that routine best practices are followed. High risk budgets 
should be monitored by the leadership team of the 
organisation on (as a minimum) a monthly basis. Steady 
state/low risk budgets should be monitored by budget 
holders on a monthly basis and by the leadership team on a 
regular basis. 

7.1.5 Responsibility for addressing budgetary failures must in the 
first instance rest with budget holders. Even when the 
service has been subject to fundamental changes to the 
operational environment, budgetary discipline must be 
maintained and budget holders must take corrective action. 
However, the authority must have a mechanism for re-
calibrating budgets in-year in exceptional circumstances, 
and clear criteria for determining when such budget 
flexibility is appropriate. 

7.1.6 The forecasts presented to Cabinet and ELT should not only 
report upon service expenditure but should also provide 
information on the “below the line” non-service budgets for 
which expenditure is controlled corporately, so that the 
regular financial monitoring information is understood in its 
wider context. 

7.1.7 The financial sustainability of the authority may be affected 
by the performance of partners and subsidiaries. Their 
financial and risk management should be appropriately 
robust to protect the financial position of the authority, and 

P
age 60



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

43 
 

should be reported upon as part of managing group 
performance. Commercial arrangements can bear new and 
significant risks and require commensurate attention. 

7.1.8 Capital projects should be subject to project management 
and cost control to ensure that benefits are delivered in a 
timely and affordable way.  

7.1.9 Cabinet and ELT should monitor the material elements of 
the authority’s balance sheet that may give indications of a 
departure from financial plans and a threat to financial 
sustainability. This is especially important for local 
authorities with significant commercial asset portfolios. This 
would typically involve reviewing unplanned and planned 
use of reserves, unusable reserves, contingencies and 
commitments, and provisions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 61



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

44 
 

7.2 Monitoring Financial Performance - Analysis of Current Practice 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 47 - Cabinet and ELT take action using 
reports providing early information that 
enable it to identify and correct emerging 
risks to its budget strategy and financial 
sustainability 

The authority provides quarterly budget 
monitoring reports to Cabinet covering the 
full range of council services. This is in line 
with the council’s financial regulations, 
which state: “The Chief Financial Officer is 
responsible for monitoring and controlling 
expenditure against budget allocations and 
reports the actual position in comparison to 
the budget, projected out-turn position and 
any proposed action to be taken by 
departments to deal with any variances to 
the Leader and Cabinet at least quarterly; 
and the Executive Leadership Team”. 
High risk budgets are reported on monthly 
to departmental management teams.  The 
Q1 Budget Monitor for 2020/21 is on the 
September Cabinet agenda and was 
considered by ELT in August 2020.  Financial 
regulations go on to state that:  “Executive 
Directors are responsible for: controlling 
income and expenditure within their area 
and monitoring performance, taking 

A full budget monitor should be produced 
monthly and reported to departmental 
management teams and to ELT. Cabinet 
should receive its first report on budget 
monitoring as early as possible in the cycle, 
which is likely to be the July Cabinet 
meeting.  
 
The budget monitoring report should not 
only set out the financial forecast and 
associated risks but should also set out any 
corrective action required and the 
associated implementation plan. 
 
The budget monitor should incorporate a 
savings tracker, monitoring the realisation 
of savings proposals introduced through the 
budget setting process. 
 
Where overspending is forecast, executive 
directors should set out options for bringing 
spending back within the agreed bounds 

P
age 62



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

45 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

account of financial information provided by 
the Chief Financial Officer and / or their own 
systems; quarterly and monthly reporting 
for areas of high financial risk, in accordance 
with the agreed corporate format and 
timetable, on variances within their own 
areas; taking any action necessary to avoid 
exceeding their budget allocation and 
alerting the Chief Financial Officer as soon 
as possible if this cannot be achieved.” 

and these should be considered and 
approved without delay through the 
appropriate governance arrangements.  
 
Budget managers should be held to account 
if they do not remain within their agreed 
budget plan / promptly take corrective 
action when overspending is forecast. 
Failure to take appropriate action is a 
serious issue and potentially a disciplinary 
matter. 
 
The finance team should be increased in 
size to enable monthly budget monitoring. 

BP 48 - Timely financial and performance 
information is available to managers via the 
appropriate systems. 

The authority uses a system called 
MyFinance for the purpose of budget 
monitoring. Budget holders enter their 
forecast into the MyFinance system. Budget 
holders have commented that they find the 
MyFinance system difficult to use and that 
they cannot access the information they 
need. The MyFinance system accesses data 
from other systems, such as the staffing 
establishment held on the HR system and 

The data that budget holders rely upon to 
make their budget forecasts such as the 
staffing establishment should be corrected 
and kept up to date. 
 
The authority should consider ways of 
improving the MyFinance system to make it 
more intuitive and user friendly, or consider 
moving to another system that more closely 
meets budget holder requirements. 

P
age 63



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

46 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

the agency staff data held on the Adecco 
system, but in some cases this information 
is significantly out of step with budget 
information. The MyFinance system does 
not have any links to operational 
performance data. In practice the 
MyFinance system information is not used 
by the heads of finance in reporting the 
forecast. They provide their return in the 
form of a spreadsheet. 

BP 49 - Financial and performance 
management systems are engineered to 
provide relevant data at a sufficiently 
accurate level. 

The budget is adjusted to reflect financial 
plans and past performance through the 
annual budget setting process. Except 
where there are growth or savings 
adjustments, budgets are rolled forward 
from year to year. There is evidence that in 
some cases budgets are significantly out of 
line with actual spending (e.g. social care 
spending on placements).  A recent staffing 
reduction exercise highlighted differences 
between the approved establishment, the 
staffing budgets, and the actual numbers 
employed.  It is difficult to access 
information on the correlation between 

The authority should review and correct 
base budgets to ensure that they represent 
a credible spending plan for the year, 
particularly where there is an ongoing 
pattern of significant over/underspending  
 
Employee budgets should be reconciled to 
and kept in step with the staffing 
establishment data. 
 
Operational performance data should be 
reported alongside financial performance 
data to enable a full understanding of the 
cost/income drivers. 

P
age 64



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

47 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

financial performance and operational 
activity.   

BP 50 - When appropriate, budgets are 
profiled to support effective budgetary 
control through the financial year. 

The MyFinance system projects spending 
based on a profile. Managers have the 
ability to override this forecast with their 
own and to enter their reasons for doing so. 
The use of profiles is not covered in the 
MyFinance User Manual. 

The council’s budgetary control systems 
should support the use of profiling by 
budget holders. The guidance for 
MyFinance should support the use of 
budget profiles. 

BP 51 - The organisation ensures that 
information is appropriately tailored and 
streamlined to avoid the risk of ‘data 
overload’. 

The MyFinance system restricts user access 
to the areas relevant to that budget holder 
and the guidance sets out the process for 
budget holders to follow, which is 
supported by some workflow in the system. 

Information should be presented in a more 
user friendly format that supports budget 
holders to understand the implications and 
take action. Operational performance 
information should be presented alongside 
the financial information. 

BP 52 - All financial monitoring reports 
include: 
- The name of the budget holder 
responsible for the information presented 
- Accruals based financial information 
- The approved budget against which 
monitoring is taking place. 

The MyFinance system restricts user access 
to the areas relevant to that budget holder. 
The information is accruals based and 
shows the approved budgets against which 
monitoring is taking place. The reports 
produced identify the service area and its 
forecast for the year. The MyFinance 
system does not hold service performance 

The MyFinance system should produce the 
summarised information needed by heads 
of finance when reporting the financial 
position without the need for further 
intervention.  
 

P
age 65



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

48 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

- A forecast for the remainder of the budget 
period, 
- Service performance information and 
- A reconciliation showing they are 
consistent with the aggregate position for 
the authority. 

information. The system ensures that 
reports are consistent with the aggregate 
position for the authority. In practice the 
MyFinance system information is not used 
by the heads of finance in reporting the 
forecast. They provide their return in the 
form of a spreadsheet. 

Operational performance information 
should be presented alongside the financial 
information. 

BP 53 - Financial monitoring reports for high 
risk budgets are: 
- Scrutinised by the leadership team of the 
organisation on (as a minimum) a monthly 
basis. 
- Financial monitoring reports for steady 
state/low risk budgets are: 
-Received by budget holders on a monthly 
basis 
-Received (in aggregate) by the leadership 
team on a regular basis. 

Formal monthly monitoring is carried out 
for areas that are deemed high-risk - i.e. 
those which are currently overspending 
significantly, are volatile or demand led.  
This is reported to departmental 
management teams. There is formal 
quarterly monitoring across all budgets, 
with outturn estimates and explanations 
collated and reported to ELT and Cabinet 
each quarter. The position is reported by 
department, with explanations for variances 
within services and directorates over £100k 
and £500k. There is no single formal 
template for reporting financial 
performance internally. 

High risk budgets should be scrutinised by 
ELT and Cabinet monthly as a minimum. 
 
ELT should receive a monthly budget 
monitoring report, which should also be 
shared with cabinet members. Formal 
quarterly reporting to Cabinet should 
continue. 
 
The authority should standardise the 
presentation of financial performance 
information 

P
age 66



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

49 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 54 - The authority has arrangements that 
allow annual service budgets to be 
recalibrated in response to unforeseen 
developments. 

The authority has established a contingency 
budget that is available to recalibrate 
service budgets in year if required. It also 
has a general fund balance that exists to 
enable it to manage such risks. The annual 
budget setting process is the main process 
by which an ongoing response to 
unforeseen developments is reflected in 
base budgets. 

The authority should review the level of 
contingency and also the level of the 
general fund balance to ensure these are at 
an appropriate level to manage the risks the 
authority is facing. On the basis of current 
overspending both are too low. 

BP 55 - At the financial monitoring period 
end the leadership team receives a set of 
financial statements with forecast outturn 
for the year ahead 

ELT and Cabinet are provided with a set of 
financial statements with the forecast 
outturn for the year ahead on a regular 
basis.  

None (but see BP 53). 

BP 56 - There are appropriate arrangements 
in place for reporting and managing the 
financial performance of each of the 
organisation’s delivery partnerships and 
collaborative arrangements. 

The authority has a number of delivery 
partnerships and collaborative 
arrangements including those with the GLA, 
Coast 2 Capital Local Economic Partnership, 
Croydon Health Services NHS Trust, 
Croydon BME Forum, Croydon Business 
Improvement District (BID), a range of 
contractors delivering services to residents, 
and arm’s length companies. The financial 
performance of these entities in relation to 

The authority should consider identifying 
and monitoring specific budget risks in 
relation to partnerships and collaborative 
ventures as part of its routine budget 
monitoring. 

P
age 67



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

50 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

the authority is embedded in budget 
monitoring. In addition, the authority 
reports upon the individual relationships to 
ELT and Cabinet at key decision points 

BP 57 - There are appropriate arrangements 
in place for the project management and 
cost control of capital projects. 

Capital budgets are monitored on a 
quarterly basis. Slippage levels of 50% or 
more have been observed in past years. 
Project management of capital projects is 
led departmentally. The Growth Board 
which has the responsibility for overseeing 
the capital programme no longer meets. 

The authority should profile capital budgets 
accurately, aligning spend with the project 
delivery plan. 
 
A standard programme/project 
methodology should be applied to all capital 
projects. 
 
Capital underspends should be returned for 
reallocation to other priorities and not 
retained by departments. 
 
Appropriate governance arrangements 
should be in place to oversee the delivery of 
the capital programme at a detailed level – 
this may be the Growth Board or a new 
arrangement. 

P
age 68



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

51 
 

Best Practice Approach Current Practice Recommendations 

BP 58 - The leadership team monitors the 
elements of its balance sheet which pose a 
significant risk to its financial sustainability. 

The focus of budget monitoring is 
departmental spending. Collection of 
council tax and business rates is also 
covered. 

The authority should monitor balance sheet 
risks such as the collection of sundry 
debtors, and use of provisions and reserves 
against plan, as part of the monthly budget 
monitoring arrangements.   

Source: CIPFA Financial Management Code 2019  

 

 

P
age 69



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

52 
 

8 Council Documents Referred To In Report: 

Corporate Plan 2018-2022 

Council Tax and Budget Report – Council 2 March 2020 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Capital Strategy, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
2020/2021 – Cabinet 24 February 2020  

Council Tax and Budget Report – Council 4 March 2019 

Treasury Management Policy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement, Capital Strategy & and Annual Investment Strategy 
2019/2020 – Cabinet 24 February 2020  

Housing Asset Management Plan 2019-2028 – Cabinet 25 February 2019 

Council Tax and Budget Report – Council 27 February 2018 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/22 – Cabinet 24th September 2018 

Brick by Brick Business Plan 2020/21 – Cabinet 24th February 2020 

Q3 Financial Performance 2019/20 – Cabinet 24th February 2020  

Housing Asset Management Plan 2019-2028 

Highways Asset Management Plan May 2015 

The Education Estates Strategy - Cabinet January 2020  

Asset Investment Strategy 2018 – Cabinet 24th September 2018 

Financial Regulations 

P
age 70



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

53 
 

Wholly Owned Housing Company – an Option for Tackling the Shortage of Homes in Croydon - Cabinet 29th September 2014 

Homes – Our Ten Priorities - Cabinet 16 March 2015 

The Delivery of Affordable Housing - Cabinet 19th June 2017 

Increasing Housing Supply – Cabinet 17th July 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 71



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

54 
 

Appendix 1 - Croydon Finance Review - Activity Plan June 2020 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

Undertake a full review of the Council’s financial systems and processes and produce a report with recommendations specifying areas for strengthening 
and improvement. 
Financial 
Leadership 

The role of Cabinet 
and the officer 
leadership team in 
good financial 
management and 
ensuring services 
provide VFM; 

Review cabinet reports on 
financial issues (MTFS, 
budget, treasury 
management, capital 
strategy, July Review, HRA 
budget; major financial 
decisions  

2 3 In 
progress 

0 0 2 0 0 1 

    Review cabinet member 
activities re financial 
management. Interview EDs 
and lead Cabinet members.  

1 3   0 0 1 0 0   

    Review access of cabinet 
members to information.  

1 3   0 0 1 0 0   

    ELT: review financial agenda 
items.  

1 3   0 0 1 0 0   

    Sample ELT reports for 
financial content.  

2 3   0 0 2 0 0   

    Review departmental 
management team agenda 

2 5   0 0 0 0 2   

P
age 72



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

55 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

items for finance content 
and sample. 

  The role of the s.151 
officer; 

s.151: consider senior 
management structure and 
s151 access and influence. 
Degree of sharing of 
financial information with 
ELT.  

0.5 2   0 0.5 0 0 0   

  Finance staffing 
capability and 
capacity; 

Review structure, 
benchmark against 
comparable organisations 
(use CIPFA / London 
Councils / SLT).  

2 4   0 0 0 2 0   

    Review talent management, 
professional training and 
skills training arrangements. 
Interview sample of finance 
staff.   

2 4   0 0 0 2 0   

Financial 
Governance 

Framework for 
financial 
accountability; 

Review scheme of 
delegation 

1 5   0 0 0 0 1   

    Review financial standing 
orders 

1 5   0 0 0 0 1   

P
age 73



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

56 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

    Review any other financial 
rules; and how they work in 
practice. 

1 5   0 0 0 0 1   

   Financial risk 
management; 

Risk: review finance risk 
register and surrounding 
process.  

1.5 4   0 0 0 1.5 0   

    Review reporting of risk in 
cabinet reports and reports 
to ELT, budget process, 
budget monitoring, option 
appraisal, by sampling. 

1 4   0 0 0 1 0   

  Financial literacy of 
organisation; 

Review quality of reports in 
relation to financial matters. 

1 2   0 1 0 0 0   

    Assess budget holder 
capability.  

3 2   0 3 0 0 0   

  Supporting strategic 
and operational 
planning; 

Review extent to which 
Finance works with policy 
team, departmental 
management teams on 
strategy development by 
interview 

2 4   0 0 0 2 0   

    Assess quality of strategic 
documents on financial 

2 4   0 0 0 2 0   

P
age 74



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

57 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

issues - corporate plan, 
departmental service plans 

  Financial advice to 
members 

Review quality of financial 
comments in sample of 
cabinet reports. 

1 3   0 0 1 0 0   

    Review Finance attendance 
at committee meetings 

0.5 3   0 0 0.5 0 0   

  Audit committee Out of scope   N/A   0 0 0 0 0   

  Activities of Internal 
Audit 

Out of scope   N/A   0 0 0 0 0   

Long to Medium 
Term Financial 
Management 

Medium term 
financial strategy 
(MTFS)  

Review process for 
assembling MTFS, 
completeness and quality, 
frequency 

2 1 In 
progress 

2 0 0 0 0 2 

  Alignment of MTFS 
with service planning 

Analysis of MTFS alignment 
with service plans 

2 1   2 0 0 0 0   

  Financial resilience 
assessment 

Frequency and quality of 
resilience assessment, 
reporting 

1 1   1 0 0 0 0   

  Capital strategy Review fitness for purpose, 
how often updated, 
alignment with service plans 

3 3   0 0 3 0 0   

P
age 75



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

58 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

  Compliance with 
prudential code on 
borrowing 

Review affordability of 
borrowing, compliance, 
reporting 

2 3   0 0 2 0 0   

  Use of reserves Review plan for use of 
reserves, reporting of 
variances 

1 1   1 0 0 0 0   

  Group and company 
structures 

Review fitness for purpose, 
effectiveness 

10 1   10 0 0 0 0   

  Recharges and 
internal trading 

Recharges - review 
compliance with code of 
practice 

0.5 5   0 0 0 0 0.5   

    Review mechanisms and 
effectiveness of internal 
trading arrangements 

1 5   0 0 0 0 1   

The Annual 
Budget 

Budget Setting  Review process for setting 
annual revenue and capital 
budgets. Fitness for 
purpose. Compliance with 
statutory requirements. 

4 1 In 
progress 

4 0 0 0 0 3 

  Alignment with MTFS Review budget alignment 
with MTFS 

1 1   1 0 0 0 0   

   Robustness of 
estimates and 
adequacy of reserves 

Analysis of historic 
robustness  

1 1 In 
progress 

1 0 0 0 0 0.5 

P
age 76



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

59 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

    Basis for calculating reserve 
requirements, review 
process. 

1 1   1 0 0 0 0   

Stakeholder 
Engagement  

Option appraisals; Review engagement with 
stakeholders on financial 
aspects of decisions, sample 
cabinet reports 

3 3   0 0 3 0 0   

  Development of 
business cases; 

Review transparency of 
decision making, use of 
costing and estimation 
techniques, sample business 
cases 

2 3   0 0 2 0 0   

Monitoring 
Financial 
Performance 

Budget monitoring Budget monitoring: Review 
process, presentation of 
data to budget holders, 
senior management 
oversight 

3 1 In 
progress 

3 0 0 0 0 1 

    Review underlying quality of 
financial data 

4 1   4 0 0 0 0   

    Finance team support to 
departments/budget 
holders on budget 
monitoring 

3 1   3 0 0 0 0   

P
age 77



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

60 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

  Use of financial 
systems and 
technology 

Review use of technology to 
automate processes and 
speed up availability of 
information 

4 4   0 0 0 4 0   

    User friendiness and 
accessibility of information 

2 4   0 0 0 2 0   

  Use of financial data, 
modelling 

Review accessibility of data, 
delivery of business insights, 
alignment of financial 
forecasting with operational 
performance and 
throughputs 

3 1   3 0 0 0 0   

  Revenue and capital 
projects  

Sample project 
documentation, interviews 

3 3   0 0 3 0 0   

  Key controls and 
reconciliations; 

Review operation of key 
controls and reconciliations 

3 2   0 3 0 0 0   

  Responding to 
unforeseen 
developments 

Review recent financial 
responses to unforeseen 
changes. 

2 3   0 0 2 0 0   

            0 0 0 0 0   

External 
Financial 
Reporting 

Statutory accounts 
and other returns 

Review arrangements 
designed to ensure personal 
responsibilities of s151 
officer are complied with 

3 4   0 0 0 3 0   

P
age 78



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

61 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

    Review relationship with 
external auditor 

2 2   0 2 0 0 0   

    Review presentation of 
outturn and other annual 
financial data to 
organisation 

2 1 In 
progress 

2 0 0 0 0 0.5 

Other Activities 
from PID 

                      

Support the 
design and 
implementation 
of any measures 
immediately 
required to 
stabilise and 
secure the 
council’s 
financial 
position.  

Design and 
implement 
programme of 24 
short term savings 
measures and 
provide ongoing 
support 

  20 1 In 
progress 

20 0 0 0 0 22 

Respond to 
concerns raised 
by the council’s 
external 
auditor. 

    2 1 In 
progress 

2 0 0 0 0 1 

P
age 79



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

62 
 

Heading Brief Description Review Activity Estimated 
Time 

Require-
ment 
(days) 

Sequence 
Priority   
1-5  (1 = 

Urgent, 5 
= Low) 

Status Priority 
1 

(days) 

Priority 
2 

(days) 

Priority 
3 

(days) 

Priority 
4 

(days) 

Priority 
5 

(days) 

Actual 
(days) 

Support 
preparatory 
work on a 
revised Medium 
Term Financial 
Strategy for the 
council 

    5 1 In 
progress 

5 0 0 0 0 1 

Programme 
management 

Design, plan and 
manage review, 
support and attend 
Panel 

  6 1 In 
progress 

6 0 0 0 0 2 

    Total days 130     38 9.5 23.5 19.5 6.5 34 

  

P
age 80



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

63 
 

Appendix 2 - Full List of Recommendations 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

1 The authority should conduct a scenario based financial resilience assessment to 
support the Medium Term Financial Strategy [BP 1]. 

 

2 The authority should make greater use of independently verified comparative data in 
assessing its financial resilience and ongoing financial sustainability. [BP 2] 

 

3 Risks identified in relation to strategic partners (and captured on the corporate risk 
register) should be explicitly considered when taking decisions in connection with 
those strategic partnerships. [BP 3] 

 

4 The authority should bring together the elements of its long term financial plans – 
i.e. the Capital Strategy, the Asset Management Plan, the Asset Investment Strategy, 
the 40 year business plan for the HRA, and the Treasury Management Strategy 
together with any other relevant long term financial planning information – in a Long 
Term Financial Strategy document [BP 5]. 

 

5 Transformation activity should be supported by the council’s strengthened 
programme management function to provide assurance that risks are managed and 
projects are delivered on time. [BP 6] 

 

6 The authority should review its MRP policy to ensure that it adequately provides for 
debt repayment and matches its appetite and capacity for managing risk, particularly 
in relation to arm’s length entities and commercial investments. [BP 10]. 

 

7 The authority should manage its capital programme and associated funding 
arrangements within the forecast prudential indicators. [BP 10]  

 

P
age 81



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

64 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

8 The authority should consider the affordability of its borrowing plans in the context 
of its overall budget risk and in particular the ongoing impact on the general fund of 
social care pressures. [BP 10] 

 

9 The Capital Strategy should have a time horizon of 20 to 30 years [BP 11]. 
 

10 The Capital Strategy should explore external influences in more depth and consider 
how these affect the requirement and scope for capital investment over the long 
term (20-30 years). [BP 12] 

 

11 The Capital Strategy should consider and model the long term (20-30 year) impact of 
internal influences such as the Asset Management Plan, the Education Estates 
Strategy, the Asset Investment Strategy, Digital Strategy, and other strategic 
documents and plans that concern the acquisition, disposal or use of assets. [BP 13] 

 

12 The Capital Strategy should include consideration of all of the council’s capital-
related strategies and plans including the HRA. [BP 13] 

 

13 The Capital Strategy should include consideration of risks and mitigations in relation 
to the council’s asset investment strategy. [BP14] 

 

14 The Capital Strategy should consider the long term financial implications of capital 
investment decisions (i.e. modelled over a 20-30 year period). [BP 15] 

 

15 The Capital Strategy should include consideration of the organisation’s capacity to 
secure the forecast funding (e.g. capital receipts) and the associated risks, with 
particular regard to arm’s length bodies. [BP 17] 

 

P
age 82



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

65 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

16 The Capital Strategy should consider the organisation’s capacity to deliver the 
planned capital programme and evaluate the associated risks (e.g. impact and 
likelihood of slippage) [BP 17] 

 

17 Assessment of affordability should take into account the council’s revenue position 
and the full range of risks associated with the proposed capital programme. [BP 18] 

 

18 The authority should produce a 10-year capital investment plan (i.e. capital 
programme) – with actions, timescale, outputs and outcomes [BP 21] 

 

19 The Capital Strategy should capture the significant risks and mitigations in relation to 
the capital programme. [BP 22]  

 

20 The authority should ensure that its governance arrangements concerning capital are 
fit for purpose and clearly set out in the Capital Strategy and the council’s Financial 
Regulations. [BP 23] 

 

21 The authority should ensure that capital decisions are made in compliance with the 
agreed governance arrangements. [BP 23] 

 

22 The authority should maintain an up to date asset management plan for operational 
property [BP 8, BP 24] 

 

23 The authority’s asset management plan for operational property should meet best 
practice standards. [BP25] 

 

24 The MTFS should be rolled forward annually in July and updated in February as part 
of the budget setting process. [BP 26] 

Report to Cabinet planned 

25 The MTFS should forecast 3-5 years ahead. [BP 27] 
 

P
age 83



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

66 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

26 The council’s budget setting process should bring together well-evidenced proposals 
for savings and growth that are based on a detailed understanding of costs and 
business practices and have clear delivery plans. [BP 28] 

 

27 The budget report should update the MTFS, reconciling the previous MTFS forecast 
budget gap to the proposed budget. [BP 29]  

 

28 Service plans should be kept up to date and linked to the MTFS, in particular with 
regard to significant savings, growth, demand management and cost control matters. 
[BP 30] 

 

29 The authority should introduce systematic benchmarking of service performance 
with other organisations and with its own performance over time as part of its 
performance regime. [BP 31] 

 

30 The authority should track progress in delivering planned savings through a savings 
tracker that should be reported with the monthly budget monitoring statement. [BP 
32] 

 

31 The MTFS should contain analysis of the use of reserves against plan in the recent 
past, and the planned use of reserves over the MTFS period. The analysis should be 
underpinned by an analysis of financial risk. [BP 33] 

 

32 The council should review group and company structures to ensure they are 
necessary and fit for purpose at regular intervals or when there is a significant 
change in the regulatory or funding framework.  [BP 34]  

 

33 Agreements with arm’s length bodies should contain provision for the authority and 
its external auditors to have access to the records of the funded body. [BP 38] 

 

P
age 84



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

67 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

34 The authority should ensure its representatives on boards are adequately supported 
to drive the authority’s strategic objectives through the activities of the arm’s length 
body. [BP 39]  

 

35 The authority should ensure that in relation to its representation on the boards of 
arm’s length companies, any conflicts of interests are identified and avoided or 
escalated and resolved. [BP 39] 

 

36 The budget report should update the MTFS each year, reconciling the budget 
proposals to the previous MTFS forecast, to ensure that the proposed budget and 
the medium term financial plan are in step and based on the latest information. The 
MTFS should be revised in full in July each year. [BP 42]  

 

37 The authority should bring together the elements of its long term financial plans in a 
Long Term Financial Strategy document (see BP 5 above). The budget report should 
evidence consistency with the long term financial strategy. [BP 42] 

 

38 Departments should have clear financial targets to work to in developing budget 
options. [BP 43] 

 

39 In order to allow sufficient time for departments to develop robust proposals for 
growth and savings to feed into the budget decision-making process, departments 
should start work as early as possible in the cycle. This means not waiting until the 
MTFS has been revised but working to provisional targets beginning as early as May. 
[BP 43] 

Budget Process redesign reported to July 
Cabinet following report to Finance Review 
Panel  

40 The budget process should enable budget proposals to be built from the bottom up, 
so that they are underpinned by the expertise of practitioners. [BP 43] 

 

P
age 85



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

68 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

41 As part of the budget development process departments should collaborate across 
departmental boundaries to develop robust and deliverable cross-cutting savings 
proposals. [BP 43] 

 

42 Budget proposals should be evidenced by performance data and modelling to 
demonstrate robustness and deliverability, with performance and value for money 
benchmarked over time and against other organisations. [BP 43] 

 

43 Meetings between officers and members to explore budget options (Budget 
Development Meetings) should focus on prioritisation of proposals. Proposals should 
not be screened out politically before being presented at Budget Development 
Meetings. [BP 43] 

Proposed protocol reported to Finance 
Review Panel 

44 The budget report should contain only savings proposals for which there is a clear 
and achievable path to benefits realisation. [BP 43] 

 

45 The budget proposals brought forward by departments should be prioritised by 
members. Friendly and constructive challenge has an important role to play in the 
development of proposals, to ensure that they are aligned with corporate priorities, 
are developed to their full potential, and are sufficiently robust and deliverable. For 
these reasons budget development meetings should be held in September / October 
involving both members and officers. To ensure collective ownership of the financial 
position and decisions, all cabinet and ELT members should be invited to each 
meeting. The meetings will follow an agreed format and focus upon a particular set 
of proposals, grouped by theme (e.g. Capital) or by department. [BP 44] 

 

P
age 86



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

69 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

46 The budget development process should engage CLT members (i.e. directors), not 
only in their role as originators of budget savings and growth proposals, but 
collectively through regular briefings. [BP 44] 

 

47 Scrutiny should have a formal role in the process, with pre-scrutiny of proposals for 
significant change being feasible because of longer development timescales. Scrutiny 
of budget proposals should take place in the period November to February as the 
proposals are brought forward for Cabinet approval. [BP 44] 

 

48 The budget report should update the MTFS with any new assumptions arising from 
current financial performance as well as external factors. This should include any 
significant over/under-spending and an update on the delivery of planned savings 
and growth proposals in the current year. [BP 45] 

 

49 The budget report should include analysis of the use of reserves and balances 
compared to plan. [BP 45] 

 

50 The target level of reserves should be set by the s151 officer based on their 
professional judgement about the risks the council is facing, and the budget plan 
must prioritise maintaining the reserves at the target level above any operational 
considerations.  The minimum level of reserves cannot be set on the basis of 
affordability in comparison with other priorities, but must be set on the basis of risk 
assessment as a fundamental requirement that underpins the stability of the 
organisation. [BP 46] 

 

P
age 87



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

70 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

51 A full budget monitor should be produced monthly and reported to departmental 
management teams and to ELT. Cabinet should receive its first report on budget 
monitoring as early as possible in the cycle, which is likely to be the July Cabinet 
meeting. [BP 47] 

Decision to move to monthly budget 
monitoring reported to Cabinet in July. 

52 The budget monitoring report should not only set out the financial forecast and 
associated risks but should also set out any corrective action required and the 
associated implementation plan. [BP 47] 

 

53 The budget monitor should incorporate a savings tracker, monitoring the realisation 
of savings proposals introduced through the budget setting process. [BP 47] 

 

54 Where overspending is forecast, executive directors should set out options for 
bringing spending back within the agreed bounds and these should be considered 
and approved without delay through the appropriate governance arrangements. [BP 
47] 

 

55 Budget managers should be held to account if they do not remain within their agreed 
budget plan / promptly take corrective action when overspending is forecast. Failure 
to take appropriate action is a serious issue and potentially a disciplinary matter. [BP 
47] 

 

56 The finance team should be increased in size to enable monthly budget monitoring. 
[BP 47] 

 

57 The data that budget holders rely upon to make their budget forecasts such as the 
staffing establishment should be corrected and kept up to date. [BP 48] 

 

P
age 88



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

71 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

58 The authority should consider ways of improving the MyFinance system to make it 
more intuitive and user friendly, or consider moving to another system that more 
closely meets budget holder requirements. [BP 48] 

 

59 The authority should review and correct base budgets to ensure that they represent 
a credible spending plan for the year, particularly where there is an ongoing pattern 
of significant over/underspending . [BP 49] 

 

60 Employee budgets should be reconciled to and kept in step with the staffing 
establishment data. [BP 49] 

 

61 Operational performance data should be reported alongside financial performance 
data to enable a full understanding of the cost/income drivers. [BP 49] 

 

62 The council’s budgetary control systems should support the use of profiling by 
budget holders. The guidance for MyFinance should support the use of budget 
profiles. [BP 50] 

 

63 Information should be presented in a more user friendly format that supports budget 
holders to understand the implications and take action. Operational performance 
information should be presented alongside the financial information. [BP 51] 

 

64 The MyFinance system should produce the summarised information needed by 
heads of finance when reporting the financial position without the need for further 
intervention. [BP 52] 

 

65 Operational performance information should be presented alongside the financial 
information. [BP 52] 

 

P
age 89



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

72 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

66 High risk budgets should be scrutinised by ELT and Cabinet monthly as a minimum. 
[BP 53] see also BP 52 

 

67 ELT should receive a monthly budget monitoring report, which should also be shared 
with cabinet members. Formal quarterly reporting to Cabinet should continue. [BP 
53] 

 

68 The authority should standardise the presentation of financial performance 
information. [BP 53] 

 

69 The authority should review the level of contingency and also the level of the general 
fund balance to ensure these are at an appropriate level to manage the risks the 
authority is facing. On the basis of current overspending both are too low. [BP 54] 

 

70 The authority should consider identifying and monitoring specific budget risks in 
relation to partnerships and collaborative ventures as part of its routine budget 
monitoring. [BP 56] 

 

71 The authority should profile capital budgets accurately, aligning spend with the 
project delivery plan. [BP 57] 

 

72 A standard programme/project methodology should be applied to all capital projects. 
[BP 57] 

 

73 Capital underspends should be returned for reallocation to other priorities and not 
retained by departments. [BP 57] 

 

74 Appropriate governance arrangements should be in place to oversee the delivery of 
the capital programme at a detailed level – this may be the Growth Board or a new 
arrangement. [BP 57] 

 

P
age 90



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

73 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 

75 The authority should monitor balance sheet risks such as the collection of sundry 
debtors, and use of provisions and reserves against plan, as part of the monthly 
budget monitoring arrangements.  [BP 58] 

 

 

P
age 91



Croydon Finance Review Phase 1 – V.1.1 
 

74 
 

Appendix 3 - Project Initiation Document 

 
Project Initiation Document 
Croydon Finance Review 
 

Release Draft 1.3 

Date 19 May 2020 

Author Ian O’Donnell 

Approved by Chief Executive 

 Document History  

Revision Date Version Summary of Changes Approval 

15 May 2020 1.0 First draft  

18 May 2020 1.2 Revised draft incorporating 
comments from team 

 

19 May 2020 1.3 Final draft incorporating 
comments from team 

19 May 2020 

 Approval 

This document requires the following approvals: 

Name and title of person, group or committee 

Chief Executive  

Monitoring Officer 

Director of Finance, Investment and Risk and S151 Officer 

 Distribution 

The approved document will be distributed to the following people: 

Name  Role / Job Title 

Tony Newman Leader of the Council 

Duncan Whitfield Independent Chair, Croydon Finance Review Panel 

Jo Negrini Chief Executive 

Lisa Taylor Director of Finance, Investment & Risk and s151 Officer 

Jacqueline Harris Baker Executive Director of Resources and Monitoring Officer 

Cllr Simon Hall Lead member for Finance and Resources 

Cllr Alison Butler Deputy Leader 

Matthew Kershaw CEO (NHS Place Leader) 

Debbie Warren Chief Executive – Royal Borough of Greenwich 

Guy Van Dichele Executive Director Health, Wellbeing & Adults 

Robert Henderson Executive Director Children, Families and Education 

Shifa Mustafa Executive Director of Place 

Sabrina Cummings Executive Officer Support 

Page 92



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

75 
 

 Purpose of Document 

This document sets out why and how the Croydon Finance Review should proceed, who is 
involved and their responsibilities.  It will provide the baseline for the management of the 
project and for an assessment of its overall success. 

 Project Description 

A full root and branch review of the council’s financial governance, strategy and planning, 
leadership, decision making, management and group company structures. 

 Background 

The review has been commissioned by the council in response to the Covid19 pandemic, the 
Council’s budget priorities moving forward, and integration with health partners. A finance 
consultant has been appointed to support the review.  
 

Historical Factors 

This is within a wider context of historical underfunding of Croydon over the last 15-20 years. 
Croydon Council remains under significant financial pressure, deriving notably from: 

 Cumulative cuts of more than 75% of government funding between 2010/11 and 

2019/20  

 Inflation 

 Growing demand for services and complexity of need, particularly in social care 

services 

 Increasing population and changing demographics 

 Homelessness 

 Public Health funding reductions 

 The impact of welfare reform 

 New duties not fully funded (e.g. Health Visiting, Deprivation of Liberty assessments, 

the Homelessness Reduction Act, extension of responsibility for care leavers to 25).  

 Historic and continued underfunding of the cost of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 

Children  

 Impact of the underfunding of the health economy 

 High Needs underfunding through the Dedicated Schools Grant 

 Restrictions on council housing, including rent restrictions and rules on right-to-buy 

receipts. 

 Delivering improvement as a result of the recent Ofsted inspection findings in 

Children’s Social Care. 
 
At the time of writing, the outturn for 2019/20 is not available. However, as a result of these 
pressures, at Q3 2019 the council reported significant overspending in the following areas: 
 

Page 93



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

76 
 

Underlying Budget Pressures at Q3 2019/20 

LAC Placements  £1.8m 

SEN Transport  £2.9m 

Adult Social Care  £11.3m 

Non-delivery of savings in social care services £2.0m 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children  £8.2m 

Total Underlying Service Pressures £26.2m 

Offsetting underspends & use of corporate/transformation 
funding 

(£23.8m) 

Reported position Q3 2019/20 £2.4m 

 

2020/21 Budget Position 

The budget for 2020/21 sought to address these pressures and committed budget growth as 
follows: 
 

Service Budget Growth in 2020/21 

Children, Families and Education (£10.1m) 

Health, Wellbeing and Adults (£21.2m) 

Place (£6.8m) 

Resources (£7.2m) 

Total Service Budget Growth (£45.3m) 

Underlying pressures (excluding effects of inflation) 26.2m 

Net Service Budget Growth (excluding effects of inflation) £19.1m 

 
However, it should be noted that this growth is underpinned by service savings and income 
totalling £40.3m, of which £8.0m relates to Children, Families and Education and £16.2m 
relates to Health, Wellbeing and Adults. There are early indications of very significant 
difficulties in delivering the service savings and income in the current year due to Covid19 and 
other factors. 
The second return to MHCLG in relation to spending pressures arising from Covid19 places 
the council’s current year forecast overspend at £82.6m gross, which after allowing for 
£19.9m of emergency funding received from the government through the two £1.6bn 
tranches of additional funding for local government announced so far, leaves a net forecast 
overspend of £62.7m. 
 

Forecast Overspend in 2020/21 (General Fund) – MHCLG Return May 2020 

Adult social care £6.6m 

Children’s social care £2.4m 

Housing £2.2m 

Culture £0.2m 

Environment £0.5m 

Corporate  £1.5m 

Unachieved savings / delayed projects £34.3m 

Page 94



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

77 
 

Other £0.9m 

Total spending pressures £48.6m 

Estimated loss of income £34.0m 

Total General Fund overspend £82.6m 

Covid19 Funding from MHCLG (£19.9) 

Net forecast overspend in 2020/21 £62.7m 

 
The council’s current level of spending is very substantially outside the envelope of what can 
be paid for with its existing available resources. Whilst the cause of this is mainly the Covid19 
crisis, some of the pressure also comes from historic underfunding and from an increasing 
population with higher needs and expectations. Whilst most councils are in a similar position, 
Croydon has a comparatively low level of general and earmarked reserves that could be 
deployed, in the region of £10m. Whilst further funding may materialise from central 
government towards the Covid19 burden, and the council will continue to lobby on historical 
underfunding issues, these possibilities cannot be relied upon to close the gap. This means 
that in order to recover its position and avoid the issuance of s.114 notice by the s151 
officer, the council must take immediate action to reduce revenue expenditure (or increase 
income).  
 

Looking Forward: 2021/22 – 2023/24 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was last revised for the 2019/20 budget, and 
reported a forecast budget gap for 2021/22 of £7.7m. This is now out of date and the gap is 
likely to be very considerably higher. The MTFS needs to be refreshed urgently to allow the 
council to plan a sustainable recovery from the current position and ensure that vital services 
can continue to be delivered.  

 Objectives 

Phase 1  

Undertake a full review of the Council’s financial systems and processes and produce a report 
with recommendations specifying areas for strengthening and improvement. 
 
Support the design and implementation of any measures immediately required to stabilise 
and secure the council’s financial position.  
 
Respond to concerns raised by the council’s external auditor. 
 
Support preparatory work on a revised Medium Term Financial Strategy for the council. 
 

Phase 2 

Implement the report’s recommendations across the organisation through a well-planned 
and properly resourced programme of change. 

Page 95



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

78 
 

 Deliverables 

Phase 1 

Deliverable 1: Final report with recommendations to be signed off by the Croydon Finance 
Review Panel.  The report will address the following key areas of enquiry: 
 

 Refreshed savings proposals for 2020/21. 

 The generation and implementation of additional options to minimise spend and 

where possible generate income in order to address in year overspending.  

 Review of all financial systems, structures, processes and decision-making. 

 Review all group and company structures to ensure that they are fit for purpose. 

 Revised medium term financial strategy in light of new normal, Covid19 implications, 

health integration work and state of property and commercial markets. 

 Any other issues emerging from the review. 

Deliverable 2: A full and detailed response to external auditor concerns 
 
Deliverable 3: Any interim measures required in order to secure and stabilise the council’s 
financial position in light of the Covid19 emergency and associated financial pressures.  
 
Deliverable 4: Preparatory work on a revised Medium Term Financial Strategy for the council 
 

Phase 2 

Deliverable 1: A council-wide change programme to implement the recommendations that 
includes: 

 Appropriate governance and accountability 

 A prioritised approach 

 Appropriate resourcing 

 An agreed timetable for delivery 

 Developing the business case for change where investment is required 

 Progress and risk reporting 

 Post implementation review 

 Timescales 

The delivery of review recommendations is tied into the operation of the council’s budget 
cycle. It is also affected by the council’s circumstances, and some actions have been 
prioritised for early delivery for these reasons. 
 
Full delivery of all recommendations will take approximately 18 months. However, the most 
significant tasks will be prioritised for early delivery. The following table sets out the 
indicative timetable. 
 
It is proposed that the Croydon Finance Review Panel will meet every 2 weeks to receive 

Page 96



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

79 
 

progress reports and provide input to the programme. 
 

Deliverable Delivery date 

Project initiation document 21 May 2020 

A full and detailed response to external auditor concerns May/June 2020 

A detailed recovery plan addressing in year savings 
required to remain within bounds of resources and 
refreshed 20/21 savings proposals (see separate report 
to Panel 21/5/2020) 

May/June 2020, to be 
reported to Cabinet in July 

Review of MTFS process June 2020 

Outturn and Budget Remit, review of budget and MTFS 
process to Cabinet 

13 July 2020 

Review of group and company structures June/July 2020 

Review of other systems, processes and procedures June/July 2020 

Review of finance structures and staffing June/July 2020 

Diagnostic report making recommendations for change August/September 2020 

Revised 3 year MTFS to Cabinet 14 September 2020  
Budget challenge process / informal Cabinet October 2020 

Savings proposals approved by Cabinet 16 Nov/ 14 Dec 2020 

Budget report to Cabinet 22 February 2021 

Budget report to Council 1 March 2021 
  

 Outcomes 

The purpose of the review is to enable the council to deliver the following outcomes: 
 

 The council plans and operates within the bounds of available resources. 

 Financial governance enables the best possible financial decisions. 

 Finance strategy accurately anticipates and responds to external conditions and 

enables the delivery of the corporate plan. 

 Financial leadership and culture is embedded in corporate leadership and in each 

department. 

 Financial management is effective in all areas of the council.  

 Group company structures are fit for purpose. 

 Recognition of improvement and a sound and stable financial platform by the external 

auditor 

 Out of Scope 

The following finance areas are out of scope for the review: 
 

 Technical review of financial reporting / final accounts 

 Treasury Management (with the exception of borrowing) 

Page 97



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

80 
 

 Pension fund management 

 Financial ICT systems/ERP 

 Local taxation 

 Internal Audit and Fraud 

  Constraints 

There is an immediate requirement to address the financial and operational impact of 
Covid19 on the council’s plans. This is urgent and of the highest priority. In order to bring the 
council’s spending within the envelope of available resources and avoid a s114 notice a 
programme of spending reductions must be set in place without delay.  
 
A further immediate requirement is to address concerns raised by the external auditor in 
recent correspondence. 
 
The review will work within and dovetail with the council’s annual financial cycle and 
statutory budget-setting constraints. 
 
The cost of the review and the implementation of the recommendations will be managed in 
an environment of strict cost control, and value for money will be an important factor. 

 Assumptions 

The following assumptions are made: 
 

 The review covers all areas of the council’s finances and operations, with the 

exception of the areas designated ‘out of scope’ in this document, and will receive full 

co-operation and be treated as a top priority by all council employees and members. 

 There is collective ownership of the financial situation and the need for action to 

address it on the part of cabinet members and members of ELT 

 The timescales for the review are dependent upon the government continuing to 

follow its prescribed timetable and statutory framework for budget setting and 

announcements concerning local government funding 

 Project Delivery Costs 

The budget for the Croydon Finance Review Phases 1 and 2 is £250k, which will be funded 
from transformation (capital).  The estimated costs of the review are as follows: 
 

Phase 1 

Consultancy (estimated 12 weeks at £800 / day) £48,000 
 

Phase 2 

Consultancy (not yet commissioned) – TBC 

Page 98



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

81 
 

 
All other costs to be absorbed within existing budgets as business as usual. 

 Ongoing costs after Project Completion 

The project is concerned with improving the council’s financial position and providing a 
financial framework that will maintain financial stability. It is anticipated that the project will 
drive significant cost reductions across the council, although not necessarily within the 
Finance function directly. All ongoing costs after project completion will be contained within 
existing budgets or will be the subject of growth bids within the revised annual budget setting 
process. 

 Approach 

The review will: 

 Operate within the agreed programme governance framework, under the leadership 

of the chief executive and the S151 officer. 

 Report regularly to the Croydon Finance Review Panel. 

 Feed into the established governance framework of the council, including cabinet, 

scrutiny, and audit committee, ELT and CLT. 

 Conduct interviews with council staff and where appropriate partner organisation staff 

to gather information and views 

 Carry out analysis of documents and information provided including cabinet reports, 

internal reports and presentations, benchmarking data, and best practice guidance 

 Provide a report that diagnoses issues and set out a plan for addressing them.  

 Work with council officers to develop or design new or modified systems, processes 

and procedures 

 Governance 

This project will be led by the Chief Executive in conjunction with the S151 Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer, supported by the Finance Consultant. 
  
The Croydon Finance Review Panel has been established to oversee the review work and is 
governed by the agreed terms of reference. It will act as an advisory board for the duration of 
the commission.  It will meet every 2 weeks. The Croydon Finance Review Panel will comprise 
of: 
 

Name  Role / Job Title 

Duncan Whitfield Independent Chair, Croydon Finance Review Panel 

Jo Negrini Chief Executive 

Lisa Taylor Director of Finance, Investment & Risk and s151 Officer 

Jacqueline Harris Baker Executive Director of Resources and Monitoring Officer 

Cllr Simon Hall Lead member for Finance and Resources 

Page 99



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

82 
 

Cllr Alison Butler Deputy Leader 

Matthew Kershaw CEO (NHS Place Leader) 

Debbie Warren Chief Executive – Royal Borough of Greenwich 

Guy Van Dichele Executive Director Health, Wellbeing & Adults 

Robert Henderson Executive Director Children, Families and Education 

Shifa Mustafa Executive Director of Place 

Sabrina Cummings Executive Officer Support 

 
The Panel will be supported by Grant Thornton, the council’s auditors, as part of their VFM 
work. 
 
The recommendations of the Panel will feed into the council’s established decision-making 
processes. This will include reports to Cabinet, and to scrutiny and to Audit Committee as 
appropriate, as part of the natural reporting cycle for these committees.  

 Team 

The officer team for the project will be: 

 Jo Negrini – Chief Executive 

 Jacqueline Harris-Baker - Executive Director of Resources and Monitoring Officer  

 Lisa Taylor – Director of Finance, Investment & Risk and s151 Officer 

 Ian O’Donnell – Finance Consultant 

 Sabrina Cummings – Executive Officer Support 

 Annette Wiles   - Democratic team support manager 

 A dedicated programme manager from the council’s programme management team 

 Communication 

A communications plan covering both external and internal communications requirements in 
relation to the review and the work of the Panel will be developed. This work will be led by 
Helen Parrott, Head of Communications and Engagement 

 Risk Log 

A risk log will be maintained for the project. The following table sets out the risks initially 
identified together with suggested mitigation action: 
 

Risk Mitigation 

Short timescales for some activities Adequate resourcing and prioritisation, 
realistic expectations 

Unavailability of resources (BAU and 
Covid19 priorities v project) 

Clear governance and accountability, clear 
priorities, additional resources where 
needed 

Inertia / resistance to change Demonstrate benefits, manage change 

Page 100



Croydon Finance Review – Phase 1 V.1.1 
 

 

83 
 

curve  

Lack of departmental sign-up / 
commitment 

Ensure need for action is clearly 
understood, consultation 

Damage to the council’s reputation  Communications plan 

Ability to actually reduce costs / manage 
the budget / overspend based on track 
record 

Strong programme management and 
accountability 

Political buy in to measures that may 
compromise ability to deliver corporate 
plan / manifesto commitments 

Clear basis for action, enhanced officer 
support, a range of options / solutions 
brought forward for consideration, robust 
communications plan 

 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

84 
 

Appendix 4 - Statutory and Professional Standards: Source Documents 
 
CIPFA, Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19  
CIPFA, The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2017 Edition)  
CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (2017 Edition)  
CIPFA Code of Practice on Public Sector Pensions Finance Knowledge and Skills (2013 Edition)  
CIPFA Pensions Finance Knowledge and Skills framework: Technical Guidance for Pensions Practitioners in the Public Sector (2010)  
CIPFA’s Position Statement: Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police 2018  
CIPFA/IFAC International Framework: Good Governance in the Public Sector  
CIPFA, The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government  
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016 Edition)  
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework Review of annual governance statements 2016/17  
CIPFA (Insight) Looking Forward: Medium-term financial strategies in the UK public sector  
CIPFA (Insight) Building Financial Resilience Managing Financial Stress in Local Authorities  
CIPFA (Insight) Accountability, performance and transformation, Learning from the CIPFA FM Model  
CIPFA (Insight) Balancing Local Authority Budget  
CIPFA Financial reporting in the public sector An Introductory Guide to in the United Kingdom  
CIPFA Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police (2018 Edition)  
CIPFA Delivering Excellent Public Finance: CIPFA’s Whole System Approach to Public Financial Management Volumes 1 and 2  
IASAB Public Sector Internal Audit Standards  
National Audit Office, Financial Management Maturity Model Capital Strategy 
Local Government Act 2003: S1 – power to borrow; S3 – affordable borrowing limit; S12 – power to invest; S15 – regard to Guidance issued 
CLG Guidance on Capital: Investment Guidance (2018); MRP Guidance (2018) 
CIPFA Financial Management Code (2019)  
CIPFA Strategic Property Asset Management Framework (August 2018)  
Government Functional Standard GovS 004: Property 
RICS Public Sector Property Asset Management Guidelines, 2nd Edition  

P
age 102



 

 

GPAC Appendix B 
 
Croydon Finance Review Phase1 Report – Action Plan in Priority Order 
 
Implementation Timescale Key 
 

Implementation 
Timescale  

Description 

1 Urgent and Critical – For immediate implementation 

2 Critical - Within next 3 months  

3 In time for budget report Feb 2021 

4 Important - By the end of the financial year (1/4/21) 

5 Within 1 year (by 31/8/21) 

6 Within 3 year MTFS period 

 
 

Recommendation Priority Lead Officer Type of Activity Action Required Progress to date 

3                  Risks identified in relation 
to strategic partners (and captured 
on the corporate risk register) should 
be explicitly considered when taking 
decisions in connection with those 
strategic partnerships. [BP 3] 

1 Lisa Taylor Written 
instruction  

(i) Instruction to Finance 
Business Partners re 
cabinet reports – 
immediate. 

 

8                  The authority should 
consider the affordability of its 
borrowing plans in the context of its 
overall budget risk and in particular 
the ongoing impact on the general 
fund of social care pressures. [BP 10] 

1 Felicia Wright Project - 
reviewing 
affordability 

Immediate review of 
capital programme. 
Reductions agreed by 
Cabinet. 

Completed 

P
age 103



 

 

8                  The authority should 
consider the affordability of its 
borrowing plans in the context of its 
overall budget risk and in particular 
the ongoing impact on the general 
fund of social care pressures. [BP 10] 

1 Lisa Taylor Cabinet report 
 

Cabinet meeting 21/9/20 

17              Assessment of affordability 
should take into account the council’s 
revenue position and the full range of 
risks associated with the proposed 
capital programme. [BP 18] 

1 
 

(See 8) Financial 
analysis of 
affordability of 
programme (10 
years) taking 
into account 
risks – including 
sensitivity 
analysis  

The council’s assessment 
of the affordability of the 
capital programme takes 
into consideration the 
risks associated with the 
proposed capital 
programme in the 
context of the council’s 
immediate overall 
financial position as well 
as short, medium and 
long term financial 
prospects. 

 

24              The MTFS should be rolled 
forward annually in July and updated 
in February as part of the budget 
setting process. [BP 26] 

1 Matt Davies Financial 
modelling 

MTFS is refreshed 
immediately. 

Reports to Cabinet 
planned for September 
and October 2020. 

25              The MTFS should forecast 
3-5 years ahead. [BP 27] 

1 Matt Davies (See 24) 
Financial 
modelling 

MTFS is refreshed 
immediately with time 
horizon of at least 3 
financial years. 

Reports to Cabinet 
planned for September 
and October 2020. 

P
age 104



 

 

26              The council’s budget 
setting process should bring together 
well-evidenced proposals for savings 
and growth that are based on a 
detailed understanding of costs and 
business practices and have clear 
delivery plans. [BP 28] 

1 
 

Project - Design 
new budget 
setting process 

New budget setting 
process is adopted and 
implemented effectively.  

Budget setting process 
approved 

26              The council’s budget 
setting process should bring together 
well-evidenced proposals for savings 
and growth that are based on a 
detailed understanding of costs and 
business practices and have clear 
delivery plans. [BP 28] 

1 
 

BAU – 
implement 
budget process 

Budget development 
meetings are held 
successfully. 

 

30              The authority should track 
progress in delivering planned savings 
through a savings tracker that should 
be reported with the monthly budget 
monitoring statement. [BP 32] 

1 Matt Davis Design savings 
tracker and 
incorporate in 
monthly budget 
monitoring 

Savings tracker put in 
place immediately. 

 

32              The council should review 
group and company structures to 
ensure they are necessary and fit for 
purpose at regular intervals or when 
there is a significant change in the 
regulatory or funding framework.  [BP 
34]  

1 
 

Project including 
external 
commissions 

Review of group and 
company structures is 
commenced immediately 

Work commissioned on 
Croydon Affordable 
Homes from external 
finance consultant. 

33              Agreements with arm’s 
length bodies should contain 
provision for the authority and its 
external auditors to have access to 

1 
 

Shareholder 
letter 

Write to arm’s length 
companies requesting 
amendment to 
arrangements, granting 

 

P
age 105



 

 

the records of the funded body. [BP 
38] 

access. 

41              As part of the budget 
development process departments 
should collaborate across 
departmental boundaries to develop 
robust and deliverable cross-cutting 
savings proposals. [BP 43] 

1 
 

ELT agenda 
items booked 

Cross cutting ideas are 
discussed at ELT during 
early budget 
development phase May 
to July 2021  

 

43              Meetings between officers 
and members to explore budget 
options (Budget Development 
Meetings) should focus on 
prioritisation of proposals. Proposals 
should not be screened out politically 
before being presented at Budget 
Development Meetings. [BP 43] 

1 
 

Project – new 
budget setting 
process 

Budget development 
meetings follow agreed 
protocol 

Proposed protocol 
reported to Finance 
Review Panel. Budget 
Meetings commmenced 

43              Meetings between officers 
and members to explore budget 
options (Budget Development 
Meetings) should focus on 
prioritisation of proposals. Proposals 
should not be screened out politically 
before being presented at Budget 
Development Meetings. [BP 43] 

1 
 

Instruction Clear instructions are 
issued 

 

44              The budget report should 
contain only savings proposals for 
which there is a clear and achievable 
path to benefits realisation. [BP 43] 

1 
 

Instruction Clear instructions are 
issued 

 

P
age 106



 

 

45              The budget proposals 
brought forward by departments 
should be prioritised by members. 
Friendly and constructive challenge 
has an important role to play in the 
development of proposals, to ensure 
that they are aligned with corporate 
priorities, are developed to their full 
potential, and are sufficiently robust 
and deliverable. For these reasons 
budget development meetings should 
be held in September / October 
involving both members and officers. 
To ensure collective ownership of the 
financial position and decisions, all 
cabinet and ELT members should be 
invited to each meeting. The 
meetings will follow an agreed format 
and focus upon a particular set of 
proposals, grouped by theme (e.g. 
Capital) or by department. [BP 44] 

1 
 

Project – new 
budget setting 
process 

Budget development 
meetings follow agreed 
protocol 

 

P
age 107



 

 

45              The budget proposals 
brought forward by departments 
should be prioritised by members. 
Friendly and constructive challenge 
has an important role to play in the 
development of proposals, to ensure 
that they are aligned with corporate 
priorities, are developed to their full 
potential, and are sufficiently robust 
and deliverable. For these reasons 
budget development meetings should 
be held in September / October 
involving both members and officers. 
To ensure collective ownership of the 
financial position and decisions, all 
cabinet and ELT members should be 
invited to each meeting. The 
meetings will follow an agreed format 
and focus upon a particular set of 
proposals, grouped by theme (e.g. 
Capital) or by department. [BP 44] 

1 
 

Instruction Clear instructions are 
issued 

 

46              The budget development 
process should engage CLT members 
(i.e. directors), not only in their role 
as originators of budget savings and 
growth proposals, but collectively 
through regular briefings. [BP 44] 

1 
 

Internal Comms 
Plan 

Internal comms plan is 
developed concerning 
budget issues 

 

P
age 108



 

 

46              The budget development 
process should engage CLT members 
(i.e. directors), not only in their role 
as originators of budget savings and 
growth proposals, but collectively 
through regular briefings. [BP 44] 

1 
 

Briefings CLT members are briefed 
on the budget 
development process at 
appropriate intervals 

 

50              The target level of reserves 
should be set by the s151 officer 
based on their professional 
judgement about the risks the council 
is facing, and the budget plan must 
prioritise maintaining the reserves at 
the target level above any 
operational considerations.  The 
minimum level of reserves cannot be 
set on the basis of affordability in 
comparison with other priorities, but 
must be set on the basis of risk 
assessment as a fundamental 
requirement that underpins the 
stability of the organisation. [BP 46] 

1 Matt Davis Analysis MTFS contains a section 
on risk-based justification 
of target level of 
reserves. 

 

51              A full budget monitor 
should be produced monthly and 
reported to departmental 
management teams and to ELT. 
Cabinet should receive its first report 
on budget monitoring as early as 
possible in the cycle, which is likely to 
be the July Cabinet meeting. [BP 47] 

1 
 

Project – move 
to monthly 
budget 
monitoring 

Decision to move to 
monthly budget 
monitoring reported to 
Cabinet. 

Decision to move to 
monthly budget 
monitoring reported to 
Cabinet in July. 

P
age 109



 

 

54              Where overspending is 
forecast, executive directors should 
set out options for bringing spending 
back within the agreed bounds and 
these should be considered and 
approved without delay through the 
appropriate governance 
arrangements. [BP 47] 

1 
 

See 52. Options for bringing 
spending back within 
budget are brought 
promptly to ELT for 
approval and taken 
through appropriate 
governance process. 

 

56              The finance team should be 
increased in size to enable monthly 
budget monitoring. [BP 47] 

1 
 

Project – recruit 
short term 
capacity 

Additional short term 
capacity recruited to 
finance teams 

 

66              High risk budgets should be 
scrutinised by ELT and Cabinet 
members monthly as a minimum. [BP 
53] see also BP 52 

1 
 

Analysis The monthly budget 
monitor contains a 
section on high risk 
budgets  

 

66              High risk budgets should be 
scrutinised by ELT and Cabinet 
members monthly as a minimum. [BP 
53] see also BP 53 

1 
 

ELT agenda Additional (weekly or 
fortnightly) reporting is 
considered by ELT for 
high risk budgets.  

 

67              ELT should receive a 
monthly budget monitoring report, 
which should also be shared with 
cabinet members. Formal quarterly 
reporting to Cabinet should continue. 
[BP 53] 

1 
 

ELT agenda The monthly budget 
monitoring report 
receives significant 
attention at ELT 

 

67              ELT should receive a 
monthly budget monitoring report, 
which should also be shared with 
cabinet members. Formal quarterly 
reporting to Cabinet should continue. 

1 
 

Report 
Distribution 

The monthly budget 
monitoring is shared with 
and discussed with 
Cabinet members. 

 

P
age 110



 

 

[BP 53] 

67              ELT should receive a 
monthly budget monitoring report, 
which should also be shared with 
cabinet members. Formal quarterly 
reporting to Cabinet should continue. 
[BP 53] 

1 
 

Cabinet agenda Cabinet receives 
quarterly budget 
monitoring reports 

 

5                  Transformation activity 
should be supported by the council’s 
strengthened programme 
management function to provide 
assurance that risks are managed and 
projects are delivered on time. [BP 6] 

2 Gavin Handford Service planning 
and 
prioritisation 

Refocus PMO activity on 
delivery of 
transformation and 
budget savings 

 

7                  The authority should 
manage its capital programme and 
associated funding arrangements 
within the forecast prudential 
indicators. [BP 10]  

2 Nigel Cook, 
Head of 
Pensions & 
Treasury and 
Felicia Wright, 
Head of 
Finance 

Review Review process for 
monitoring treasury 
indicators and taking 
treasury decisions.  

 

47              Scrutiny should have a 
formal role in the process, with pre-
scrutiny of proposals for significant 
change being feasible because of 
longer development timescales. 
Scrutiny of budget proposals should 
take place in the period November to 

2 
 

Project  - Agree 
approach with 
Scrutiny Chair 

Scrutiny meetings are 
held to consider budget 
options as they are 
brought forward to 
Cabinet. 

 

P
age 111



 

 

February as the proposals are 
brought forward for Cabinet 
approval. [BP 44] 

51              A full budget monitor 
should be produced monthly and 
reported to departmental 
management teams and to ELT. 
Cabinet should receive its first report 
on budget monitoring as early as 
possible in the cycle, which is likely to 
be the July Cabinet meeting. [BP 47] 

2 
  

Additional Finance staff 
recruited. 

 

51              A full budget monitor 
should be produced monthly and 
reported to departmental 
management teams and to ELT. 
Cabinet should receive its first report 
on budget monitoring as early as 
possible in the cycle, which is likely to 
be the July Cabinet meeting. [BP 47] 

2 
  

Full budget monitor 
produced monthly 

First budget monitoring 
report was for M3, 
received by Cabinet in 
September 2020 

52              The budget monitoring 
report should not only set out the 
financial forecast and associated risks 
but should also set out any corrective 
action required and the associated 
implementation plan. [BP 47] 

2 
 

Project  -Budget 
monitoring 
process updated 

Budget monitoring report 
sets out any corrective 
action required and 
tracks implementation  

 

P
age 112



 

 

59              The authority should 
review and correct base budgets to 
ensure that they represent a credible 
spending plan for the year, 
particularly where there is an ongoing 
pattern of significant 
over/underspending . [BP 49] 

2 
 

Project – review 
high risk 
budgets and 
align with 
activity 

A review of high risk base 
budgets is undertaken 
aligning budget with 
planned activity cost. 

 

1                  The authority should 
conduct a scenario based financial 
resilience assessment to support the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy [BP 
1]. 

3 Matt Davis External 
Commission 

Undertake scenario 
based financial resilience 
assessment for 
incorporation into 
budget report Feb 2021 

Commissioned from EY 
Aug 2020 

2                  The authority should 
make greater use of independently 
verified comparative data in assessing 
its financial resilience and ongoing 
financial sustainability. [BP 2] 

3 Matt Davis External 
Commission 

Identify and access data 
and incorporate in 
financial resilience 
assessment for budget 
report Feb 2021 

Commissioned from EY 
Aug 2020 

7                  The authority should 
manage its capital programme and 
associated funding arrangements 
within the forecast prudential 
indicators. [BP 10]  

3 Nigel Cook, 
Head of 
Pensions & 
Treasury and 
Felicia Wright, 
Head of 
Finance 

BAU Monitor performance on 
regular ongoing basis. 
Take action to avoid 
breaching prudential 
limits. 

 

24              The MTFS should be rolled 
forward annually in July and updated 
in February as part of the budget 
setting process. [BP 26] 

3 Matt Davies Cabinet report MTFS is updated 
alongside 2021/22 
budget report 

 

P
age 113



 

 

26              The council’s budget 
setting process should bring together 
well-evidenced proposals for savings 
and growth that are based on a 
detailed understanding of costs and 
business practices and have clear 
delivery plans. [BP 28] 

3 
 

Plans approved Savings approved have 
clear implementation 
plans. 

 

27              The budget report should 
update the MTFS, reconciling the 
previous MTFS forecast budget gap to 
the proposed budget. [BP 29]  

3 Matt Davis Financial 
Modelling 

MTFS is updated 
alongside 2021/22 
budget report. 

 

31              The MTFS should contain 
analysis of the use of reserves against 
plan in the recent past, and the 
planned use of reserves over the 
MTFS period. The analysis should be 
underpinned by an analysis of 
financial risk. [BP 33] 

3 Matt Davis Analysis Reserves and risk analysis 
are added to the next 
iteration of the MTFS and 
remain an ongoing 
component.  

 

36              The budget report should 
update the MTFS each year, 
reconciling the budget proposals to 
the previous MTFS forecast, to ensure 
that the proposed budget and the 
medium term financial plan are in 
step and based on the latest 
information. The MTFS should be 
revised in full in July each year. [BP 
42]  

3 Matt Davis (See 27) 
Financial 
modelling 

Budget report contains a 
section updating the 
MTFS and revising key 
assumptions based on 
new information. 

 

P
age 114



 

 

44              The budget report should 
contain only savings proposals for 
which there is a clear and achievable 
path to benefits realisation. [BP 43] 

3 
 

Project – new 
budget setting 
process 

Savings proposals are 
supported by robust 
delivery plans  

 

48              The budget report should 
update the MTFS with any new 
assumptions arising from current 
financial performance as well as 
external factors. This should include 
any significant over/under-spending 
and an update on the delivery of 
planned savings and growth 
proposals in the current year. [BP 45] 

3 Matt Davis Analysis Budget report includes 
section on current 
financial performance 
including delivery of 
planned savings and 
growth, and implications 
for MTFS 

 

49              The budget report should 
include analysis of the use of reserves 
and balances compared to plan. [BP 
45] 

3 Matt Davis Analysis Budget report includes 
section on user of 
reserves and balances 
compared to plan 

 

50              The target level of reserves 
should be set by the s151 officer 
based on their professional 
judgement about the risks the council 
is facing, and the budget plan must 
prioritise maintaining the reserves at 
the target level above any 
operational considerations.  The 
minimum level of reserves cannot be 
set on the basis of affordability in 
comparison with other priorities, but 
must be set on the basis of risk 
assessment as a fundamental 

3 Matt Davis Analysis Budget report contains a 
section on the level of 
reserves and any 
contributions needed to 
meet the target level  

 

P
age 115



 

 

requirement that underpins the 
stability of the organisation. [BP 46] 

53              The budget monitor should 
incorporate a savings tracker, 
monitoring the realisation of savings 
proposals introduced through the 
budget setting process. [BP 47] 

3 
 

Project - Savings 
tracker 
developed 

Savings tracker is 
reported as part of 
monthly budget 
monitoring 

 

53              The budget monitor should 
incorporate a savings tracker, 
monitoring the realisation of savings 
proposals introduced through the 
budget setting process. [BP 47] 

3 
 

Savings tracker 
incorporated in 
monthly budget 
monitoring 
report 

  

69              The authority should 
review the level of contingency and 
also the level of the general fund 
balance to ensure these are at an 
appropriate level to manage the risks 
the authority is facing. On the basis of 
current overspending both are too 
low. [BP 54] 

3 Matt Davis Analysis The budget report 
includes a risk based 
justification for the level 
of contingency 

 

P
age 116



 

 

69              The authority should 
review the level of contingency and 
also the level of the general fund 
balance to ensure these are at an 
appropriate level to manage the risks 
the authority is facing. On the basis of 
current overspending both are too 
low. [BP 54] 

3 Matt Davis Analysis The budget report 
includes a risk based 
justification for the level 
of the general fund 
balance 

 

74              Appropriate governance 
arrangements should be in place to 
oversee the delivery of the capital 
programme at a detailed level – this 
may be the Growth Board or a new 
arrangement. [BP 57] 

3 
 

Project – review 
of capital 
governance 

A review of capital 
governance is conducted 
to establish the 
appropriate 
arrangements, and these 
are implemented. 

 

6                  The authority should 
review its MRP policy to ensure that it 
adequately provides for debt 
repayment and matches its appetite 
and capacity for managing risk, 
particularly in relation to arm’s length 
entities and commercial investments. 
[BP 10]. 

4 Matt Davis External 
Commission 

Revised MRP policy 
approved to take effect 
in current year, in time 
for annual accounts. 

Link Asset Management 
commissioned in July 
2020, due to report 
Sept/October 2020. 

20              The authority should 
ensure that its governance 
arrangements concerning capital are 
fit for purpose and clearly set out in 
the Capital Strategy and the council’s 
Financial Regulations. [BP 23] 

4 
 

Project  (i) A review is conducted 
to determine the 
appropriate governance 
arrangements for capital 
decisions and bring them 
in line with best practice. 

 

P
age 117



 

 

28              Service plans should be 
kept up to date and linked to the 
MTFS, in particular with regard to 
significant savings, growth, demand 
management and cost control 
matters. [BP 30] 

4 Gavin Handford Project – design 
and implement 
service planning 
process 

Process for aligning 
service/delivery plans to 
budgets is published to 
organisation. 

 

40              The budget process should 
enable budget proposals to be built 
from the bottom up, so that they are 
underpinned by the expertise of 
practitioners. [BP 43] 

4 Lisa Taylor Instruction Reminder to 
departments about new 
budget setting process 
requirements in April 
2021.  

 

40              The budget process should 
enable budget proposals to be built 
from the bottom up, so that they are 
underpinned by the expertise of 
practitioners. [BP 43] 

4 
 

Compliance New budget setting 
process is followed by 
departments 

 

55              Budget managers should 
be held to account if they do not 
remain within their agreed budget 
plan / promptly take corrective action 
when overspending is forecast. 
Failure to take appropriate action is a 
serious issue and potentially a 
disciplinary matter. [BP 47] 

4 
 

See 52. The budget setting 
process verifies that that 
budgets are appropriate 
for the planned level of 
activity and budget 
holders sign off budget to 
this effect. 

 

55              Budget managers should 
be held to account if they do not 
remain within their agreed budget 
plan / promptly take corrective action 
when overspending is forecast. 
Failure to take appropriate action is a 

4 
 

Training Budget holders receive 
the appropriate training 
and this is refreshed on a 
regular basis. 

 

P
age 118



 

 

serious issue and potentially a 
disciplinary matter. [BP 47] 

57              The data that budget 
holders rely upon to make their 
budget forecasts such as the staffing 
establishment should be corrected 
and kept up to date. [BP 48] 

4 
 

Project – 
establishment 
and staffing 
budget 
alignment 

A project is undertaken 
to set in place systems so 
that staffing data is 
aligned with staffing 
budgets on an ongoing 
basis 

 

59              The authority should 
review and correct base budgets to 
ensure that they represent a credible 
spending plan for the year, 
particularly where there is an ongoing 
pattern of significant 
over/underspending . [BP 49] 

4 
 

Project – review 
fees and charges 
budgets to align 
with activity 

A review of fees and a 
charges is undertaken 
aligning budget with 
planned income.  

 

60              Employee budgets should 
be reconciled to and kept in step with 
the staffing establishment data. [BP 
49] 

4 
 

See 57 (See 57) A project is 
undertaken to set in 
place systems so that 
staffing data is aligned 
with staffing budgets on 
an ongoing basis 

 

64              The MyFinance system 
should produce the summarised 
information needed by heads of 
finance when reporting the financial 
position without the need for further 

4 
 

See 62 MyFinance system 
outputs are reviewed to 
ensure they are fit for 
purpose. 

 

P
age 119



 

 

intervention. [BP 52] 

64              The MyFinance system 
should produce the summarised 
information needed by heads of 
finance when reporting the financial 
position without the need for further 
intervention. [BP 52] 

4 
 

See 62 Issues with accuracy of 
underlying data are 
resolved (see 57, 59, 60)  

 

68              The authority should 
standardise the presentation of 
financial performance information. 
[BP 53] 

4 
 

Project – 
standardise 
financial 
performance 
format 

A template for financial 
performance information 
is agreed and is used by 
all departments 

 

71              The authority should 
profile capital budgets accurately, 
aligning spend with the project 
delivery plan. [BP 57] 

4 
 

Project – 
improve capital 
budget 
monitoring (inc. 
training) 

Capital budgets are 
profiled accurately. 

 

73              Capital underspends should 
be returned for reallocation to other 
priorities and not retained by 
departments. [BP 57] 

4 
 

Analysis A review of the capital 
programme is conducted 
annually to identify and 
capture underspends for 
reallocation. 

 

73              Capital underspends should 
be returned for reallocation to other 
priorities and not retained by 
departments. [BP 57] 

4 
 

Update Financial 
Regulations 

Financial Regulations are 
updated to include this 
principle concerning 
capital underspends. 

 

P
age 120



 

 

74              Appropriate governance 
arrangements should be in place to 
oversee the delivery of the capital 
programme at a detailed level – this 
may be the Growth Board or a new 
arrangement. [BP 57] 

4 
 

Update Financial 
Regulations 

The arrangements are 
incorporated in the 
council’s Financial 
Regulations 

 

75              The authority should 
monitor balance sheet risks such as 
the collection of sundry debtors, and 
use of provisions and reserves against 
plan, as part of the monthly budget 
monitoring arrangements.  [BP 58] 

4 
 

Analysis The monthly budget 
monitor is redesigned 
and contains a section on 
balance sheet items such 
as debtors, provisions 
and reserves 

 

3                  Risks identified in relation 
to strategic partners (and captured 
on the corporate risk register) should 
be explicitly considered when taking 
decisions in connection with those 
strategic partnerships. [BP 3] 

5 Lisa Taylor 
 

(ii) Review in 12 months 
 

4                  The authority should bring 
together the elements of its long 
term financial plans – i.e. the Capital 
Strategy, the Asset Management 
Plan, the Asset Investment Strategy, 
the 40 year business plan for the 
HRA, and the Treasury Management 
Strategy together with any other 
relevant long term financial planning 
information – in a Long Term 
Financial Strategy document [BP 5]. 

5 Matt Davis Project Long Term Financial 
Strategy to Cabinet by 
July 2021 

 

P
age 121



 

 

9                  The Capital Strategy 
should have a time horizon of 20 to 
30 years [BP 11]. 

5 
 

Project – write 
new capital 
strategy 

New capital strategy 
approved by Cabinet 
looks ahead 20-30 years 
– i.e. 20-30 year financial 
model 

 

10              The Capital Strategy should 
explore external influences in more 
depth and consider how these affect 
the requirement and scope for capital 
investment over the long term (20-30 
years). [BP 12] 

5 
 

(See 9) Financial 
modelling 

New capital strategy 
approved by Cabinet 
includes modelling of 
external influences on 
requirement for capital 
investment. 

 

11              The Capital Strategy should 
consider and model the long term 
(20-30 year) impact of internal 
influences such as the Asset 
Management Plan, the Education 
Estates Strategy, the Asset 
Investment Strategy, Digital Strategy, 
and other strategic documents and 
plans that concern the acquisition, 
disposal or use of assets. [BP 13] 

5 
 

(See 9) Financial 
modelling 

New capital strategy 
approved by Cabinet 
includes modelling of 
internal influences on 
requirement for capital 
investment. 

 

12              The Capital Strategy should 
include consideration of all of the 
council’s capital-related strategies 
and plans including the HRA. [BP 13] 

5 Sarah Attwood (See 9) Financial 
modelling – HRA 
40 year plan) 

HRA requirements (40 
year plan) included in 
new capital strategy 
approved by Cabinet 

In progress 

13              The Capital Strategy should 
include consideration of risks and 
mitigations in relation to the council’s 
asset investment strategy. [BP14] 

5 
 

(See 9) Review 
of risks in 
relation to 
commercial 
investment 

New capital strategy 
considers risks in relation 
to investments  

 

P
age 122



 

 

plans 

14              The Capital Strategy should 
consider the long term financial 
implications of capital investment 
decisions (i.e. modelled over a 20-30 
year period). [BP 15] 

5 
 

(See 9) Financial 
modelling 

New capital strategy 
models worst case 
scenario as well as 
expected return over 
lifetime 

 

15              The Capital Strategy should 
include consideration of the 
organisation’s capacity to secure the 
forecast funding (e.g. capital receipts) 
and the associated risks, with 
particular regard to arm’s length 
bodies. [BP 17] 

5 
 

(See 9) Financial 
modelling 

New capital strategy 
models and considers 
risks in relation to 
planned capital receipts. 

 

16              The Capital Strategy should 
consider the organisation’s capacity 
to deliver the planned capital 
programme and evaluate the 
associated risks (e.g. impact and 
likelihood of slippage) [BP 17] 

5 
 

(See 9) Analysis 
of capacity and 
associated risks 

The new capital strategy 
includes an honest 
appraisal of the 
organisation’s capacity to 
deliver based on past 
performance and models 
the impact. 

 

18              The authority should 
produce a 10-year capital investment 
plan (i.e. capital programme) – with 
actions, timescales, outputs and 
outcomes [BP 21] 

5 
 

Project - review 
capital budget 
setting process, 
documentation 
etc.  

(i) The new capital 
programme has a 10 year 
time horizon.  

 

P
age 123



 

 

18              The authority should 
produce a 10-year capital investment 
plan (i.e. capital programme) – with 
actions, timescales, outputs and 
outcomes [BP 21] 

5 
 

Move to BAU - 
Capital budget 
setting as part of 
wider budget 
setting process 

(ii) The new capital 
programme specifies the 
actions, timescales, 
outputs and outcomes in 
relation to each project. 

 

19              The Capital Strategy should 
capture the significant risks and 
mitigations in relation to the capital 
programme. [BP 22]  

5 
 

(See 9 and 17) 
Analysis of risks 
in relation to 
capital 
programme 

The new capital strategy 
sets out the risks and 
mitigations in relation to 
the capital programme.  

 

20              The authority should 
ensure that its governance 
arrangements concerning capital are 
fit for purpose and clearly set out in 
the Capital Strategy and the council’s 
Financial Regulations. [BP 23] 

5 
 

Council decision (ii) The review 
recommendations are 
adopted by the council 
and incorporated in 
Financial Regulations. 

 

21              The authority should 
ensure that capital decisions are 
made in compliance with the agreed 
governance arrangements. [BP 23] 

5 (i) Project – review 
capital elements 
of scheme of 
delegation 

(i) Review scheme of 
delegation to align with 
capital governance 
arrangements. 

 

21              The authority should 
ensure that capital decisions are 
made in compliance with the agreed 
governance arrangements. [BP 23] 

5 (ii) Simon 
Maddocks  

Audit is added 
to audit plan 

(ii) Audit of capital 
decision making and 
capital programme is 
carried out at 
appropriate intervals. 

 

22              The authority should 
maintain an up to date asset 
management plan for operational 
property [BP 8, BP 24] 

5 Ozay Ali Project – new 
Asset 
Management 
Plan culminating 
in approval by 

New asset management 
plan for operational 
property is approved by 
Cabinet 

 

P
age 124



 

 

Cabinet 

23              The authority’s asset 
management plan for operational 
property should meet best practice 
standards. [BP25] 

5 Ozay Ali Project – review 
plan and 
practice against 
standards 

The asset management 
plan complies with best 
practice guidance: CIPFA 
Strategic Property Asset 
Management Framework 
(August 2018) ; 
Government Functional 
Standard GovS 004: 
Property; RICS Public 
Sector Property Asset 
Management Guidelines, 
2nd Edition 

 

24              The MTFS should be rolled 
forward annually in July and updated 
in February as part of the budget 
setting process. [BP 26] 

5 Matt Davies Cabinet report New full MTFS to Cabinet 
in July 2021 

 

28              Service plans should be 
kept up to date and linked to the 
MTFS, in particular with regard to 
significant savings, growth, demand 
management and cost control 
matters. [BP 30] 

5 
 

Publication Service/Delivery Plans 
aligned with budget are 
published by July 2021 

 

P
age 125



 

 

29              The authority should 
introduce systematic benchmarking 
of service performance with other 
organisations and with its own 
performance over time as part of its 
performance regime. [BP 31] 

5 Head of 
Performance 

Project – 
benchmark 
council services 

Service benchmarking 
incorporated in regular 
performance 
management 
information 

 

34              The authority should 
ensure its representatives on boards 
are adequately supported to drive 
the authority’s strategic objectives 
through the activities of the arm’s 
length body. [BP 39]  

5 
 

External 
commission – 
review 

Review of group and 
company structures 
should include review of 
council representatives’ 
skills and experience. 

 

34              The authority should 
ensure its representatives on boards 
are adequately supported to drive 
the authority’s strategic objectives 
through the activities of the arm’s 
length body. [BP 39]  

5 
 

Project - Design 
and implement 
training 

Council representatives 
onboards receive training 

 

35              The authority should 
ensure that in relation to its 
representation on the boards of 
arm’s length companies, any conflicts 
of interests are identified and 
avoided or escalated and resolved. 
[BP 39] 

5 
 

External 
commission - 
review 

Review of group and 
company structures 
should include review of 
council representatives 
and any potential 
conflicts of interest. 

 

P
age 126



 

 

37              The authority should bring 
together the elements of its long 
term financial plans in a Long Term 
Financial Strategy document (see BP 
5 above). The budget report should 
evidence consistency with the long 
term financial strategy. [BP 42] 

5 Matt Davis (See 5) Project Long Term Financial 
Strategy to Cabinet by 
July 2021 

 

38              Departments should have 
clear financial targets to work to in 
developing budget options. [BP 43] 

5 Matt Davis Financial 
modelling and 
report 

Targets set based on 
corporate plan priorities 
and MTFS 

 

39              In order to allow sufficient 
time for departments to develop 
robust proposals for growth and 
savings to feed into the budget 
decision-making process, 
departments should start work as 
early as possible in the cycle. This 
means not waiting until the MTFS has 
been revised but working to 
provisional targets beginning as early 
as May. [BP 43] 

5 Matt Davis (See 38) 
Financial 
modelling and 
report 

Targets set in May 2021 Budget Process redesign 
reported to July Cabinet 
following report to 
Finance Review Panel 

42              Budget proposals should be 
evidenced by performance data and 
modelling to demonstrate robustness 
and deliverability, with performance 
and value for money benchmarked 
over time and against other 
organisations. [BP 43] 

5 Exec Directors 
and Head of 
Performance 

Project - 
Research 

Departments and 
performance team 
conduct research.  

 

P
age 127



 

 

42              Budget proposals should be 
evidenced by performance data and 
modelling to demonstrate robustness 
and deliverability, with performance 
and value for money benchmarked 
over time and against other 
organisations. [BP 43] 

5 Exec Directors 
and Head of 
Performance 

Analysis Budget proposals 
incorporate appropriate 
performance 
information. 

 

43              Meetings between officers 
and members to explore budget 
options (Budget Development 
Meetings) should focus on 
prioritisation of proposals. Proposals 
should not be screened out politically 
before being presented at Budget 
Development Meetings. [BP 43] 

5 
 

Training Officers and members 
receive training 

 

44              The budget report should 
contain only savings proposals for 
which there is a clear and achievable 
path to benefits realisation. [BP 43] 

5 
 

Training Officers receive training 
 

P
age 128



 

 

45              The budget proposals 
brought forward by departments 
should be prioritised by members. 
Friendly and constructive challenge 
has an important role to play in the 
development of proposals, to ensure 
that they are aligned with corporate 
priorities, are developed to their full 
potential, and are sufficiently robust 
and deliverable. For these reasons 
budget development meetings should 
be held in September / October 
involving both members and officers. 
To ensure collective ownership of the 
financial position and decisions, all 
cabinet and ELT members should be 
invited to each meeting. The 
meetings will follow an agreed format 
and focus upon a particular set of 
proposals, grouped by theme (e.g. 
Capital) or by department. [BP 44] 

5 
 

Training Officers receive training 
 

52              The budget monitoring 
report should not only set out the 
financial forecast and associated risks 
but should also set out any corrective 
action required and the associated 
implementation plan. [BP 47] 

5 
 

Budget holders 
trained 

Budget holders 
understand and are able 
to perform requirements 

 

P
age 129



 

 

52              The budget monitoring 
report should not only set out the 
financial forecast and associated risks 
but should also set out any corrective 
action required and the associated 
implementation plan. [BP 47] 

5 
 

Section added to 
standard budget 
monitoring 
report  

  

55              Budget managers should 
be held to account if they do not 
remain within their agreed budget 
plan / promptly take corrective action 
when overspending is forecast. 
Failure to take appropriate action is a 
serious issue and potentially a 
disciplinary matter. [BP 47] 

5 
 

Compliance If budget holders fail to 
take appropriate action, 
they are held to account 
through the performance 
management 
arrangements. 

 

56              The finance team should be 
increased in size to enable monthly 
budget monitoring. [BP 47] 

5 
 

Project – 
restructure 
finance team 

Restructure Finance 
team to meet demands 
of monthly budget 
monitoring 

 

58              The authority should 
consider ways of improving the 
MyFinance system to make it more 
intuitive and user friendly, or 
consider moving to another system 
that more closely meets budget 
holder requirements. [BP 48] 

5 
 

Project – 
improve 
MyFinance user 
interface to 
make more user 
friendly and fit 
for purpose. 

A project is undertaken 
to improve user interface 
of budget monitoring 
system 

 

59              The authority should 
review and correct base budgets to 
ensure that they represent a credible 
spending plan for the year, 
particularly where there is an ongoing 

5 
 

Project – review 
other base 
budgets to align 
with activity. 

A review of other base 
budgets is undertaken 
aligning budget with 
planned activity cost. 

 

P
age 130



 

 

pattern of significant 
over/underspending . [BP 49] 

61              Operational performance 
data should be reported alongside 
financial performance data to enable 
a full understanding of the 
cost/income drivers. [BP 49] 

5 
 

Project – 
combine budget 
monitoring 
report with 
performance 
report 

The budget monitor is 
redesigned to contain the 
relevant monthly 
performance information 
to support understanding 
of the position. 

 

62              The council’s budgetary 
control systems should support the 
use of profiling by budget holders. 
The guidance for MyFinance should 
support the use of budget profiles. 
[BP 50] 

5 
 

Project – 
improvements 
to MyFinance 

Budget holders have 
access to a range of 
budget profiles in 
MyFinance.  

 

62              The council’s budgetary 
control systems should support the 
use of profiling by budget holders. 
The guidance for MyFinance should 
support the use of budget profiles. 
[BP 50] 

5 
 

Training Budget holders receive 
training in using profiles 
in MyFinance 

 

62              The council’s budgetary 
control systems should support the 
use of profiling by budget holders. 
The guidance for MyFinance should 
support the use of budget profiles. 
[BP 50] 

5 
 

Project - update 
guidance 

The guidance on 
MyFinance is updated 

 

P
age 131



 

 

63              Information should be 
presented in a more user friendly 
format that supports budget holders 
to understand the implications and 
take action. Operational performance 
information should be presented 
alongside the financial information. 
[BP 51] 

5 
 

See 62 The MyFinance system 
presents information in a 
user friendly format. 

 

70              The authority should 
consider identifying and monitoring 
specific budget risks in relation to 
partnerships and collaborative 
ventures as part of its routine budget 
monitoring. [BP 56] 

5 
 

Analysis The budget monitor 
contains a section on 
budgets relating to 
partnerships and 
collaborative ventures 

 

72              A standard 
programme/project methodology 
should be applied to all capital 
projects. [BP 57] 

5 
 

See 71 A standardised approach 
is agreed. 

 

72              A standard 
programme/project methodology 
should be applied to all capital 
projects. [BP 57] 

5 
 

Analysis Budget monitoring on 
the capital programme 
includes a report on the 
progress with the project 
alongside the financial 
spend. 

 

P
age 132



 

 

47              Scrutiny should have a 
formal role in the process, with pre-
scrutiny of proposals for significant 
change being feasible because of 
longer development timescales. 
Scrutiny of budget proposals should 
take place in the period November to 
February as the proposals are 
brought forward for Cabinet 
approval. [BP 44] 

6 
 

Meetings 
diarised 

Pre-scrutiny of proposals 
takes place over summer 
months 

 

63              Information should be 
presented in a more user friendly 
format that supports budget holders 
to understand the implications and 
take action. Operational performance 
information should be presented 
alongside the financial information. 
[BP 51] 

6 
 

See 62 The system presents 
performance data 
alongside financial data. 

 

65              Operational performance 
information should be presented 
alongside the financial information. 
[BP 52] 

6 
 

See 61 (See 61) The budget 
monitor is redesigned to 
contain the relevant 
monthly performance 
information to support 
understanding of the 
position. 

 

 
 

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

REPORT TO:  CABINET 21st SEPTEMBER 2020 

SUBJECT: FINANCIAL PERFROMANCE REPORT – QUARTER 1 
June 2020 

LEAD OFFICER: 
Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance, Investment And Risk 

(Section 151 Officer) 
 

Jacqueline Harris-Baker, Executive Director 
 Resources  

 

CABINET 
MEMBER: 

 

Councillor Tony Newman The Leader  

Councillor Simon Hall  
Cabinet Member For Finance And  Resources  

WARDS: ALL 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT:   

The recommendations in the report make elected members aware of the financial 
position of the council and give elected members information help to ensure 
effective management, governance and delivery of the Council’s medium term 
financial strategy and ensure a sound financial delivery of the 2020/21 in-year 
budget. This will enable the ambitions for the borough for the remainder of this 
financial year to be developed, programmed and achieved for the residents of our 
borough. 

AMBITIONS FOR CROYDON & WHY WE ARE DOING THIS: 

Strong financial governance and stewardship ensures that the Council’s resources 
are aligned to enable the priorities, as set out in the Corporate Plan, to be achieved 
for the residents of our borough and further enables medium to long term strategic 
planning considerations based on this strong financial foundation and stewardship. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 

This report sets out the financial position of the council at the end of quarter 1, for 
revenue, capital and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budgets. 

The impact of Covid19, which has led to a significantly reduced level of income, 
increased costs, and the inability to deliver a large number of the savings that were 
approved in the 2020/21 budget which has resulted in a significant forecast 
overspend at Quarter 1. 

The Council has been undertaking a programme of work to review and reduce 
costs, alongside working with The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) to ensure that Croydon has the correct funding to be able 
to deliver a balanced budget in 2020/21.  This work is ongoing and as reported to 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee in August 2020, the Council does not currently 

Page 135

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

have a balanced budget for 2020/21.The report on this agenda called Emergency 
Budget 2020/21 is the proposed approach to be agreed to balance the budget this 
year. 

To date a S114 Notice has not been issued as plans are still being developed.  An 
emergency budget is being considered at this meeting.   Work needs to continue 
at pace and plans need to be robust to ensure a notice is not issued.  This includes, 
critically, decisions on the emergency budget measures item at this Cabinet.   

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO. -  

Not a key decision. 

 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

1.1 Cabinet is recommended to : 
 

i) Note the current general fund revenue outturn forecast at the end of the 
first quarter of 2020/21 of £49m overspend, after the inclusion of funding 
received from the MHCLG for Covid19. 

 
ii) Note the details of the monthly Covid19 impact submissions being made 

to the MHCLG and the details of the financial support that is available to 
the council in light of Covid19.  

 

iii)  Note the work being undertaken by the Finance Review Panel to reduce 
the overspend this financial year and put in place savings for next financial 
year. 
 

iv)   Note the HRA revenue position of a £1.5m forecast overspend against 
budget. 

 
v) Note the revised capital outturn projection of £309m for the general 

fund and HRA, forecast to be an underspend of £8m against the 
revised budget and that most of the underspend in 2019/20 has not 
been slipped into 2020/21. 

 
RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL 
 

vi) The approval of the revised capital programme as detailed in section 9 and 
table 8 of this report including the slippage from 2019/20, which reflects a 
substantial reduction in the original capital budget for 2020/21. 

 

Page 136



3 
 

 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
 
2.1 This report updates Members on the Council’s financial outlook at the end of the first 

quarter of 2020/21, which remains incredible challenging against a context of the 
current Covid19 pandemic, which has put significant increasing pressure on council 
services and budgets since the beginning of this financial year.   

 
2.2 The budget for 2020/21 was presented to Cabinet in February 2020 and approved by 

Council in March 2020. Cabinet and Council  when approving the budget were made 
aware that balancing the budget is becoming increasingly difficult each year and that 
the 2020/21 budget contained a significant number of savings that were ambitious and 
needed to be delivered in year.  

 
2.3 Cabinet were also made aware that these continue to be very challenging times for 

local government and therefore it was certain that further difficult choices would be 
required over the coming budget cycle and medium term if the Council is to maintain a 
continued solid financial foundation.   This statement was made by the S151 Officer 
and on the basis of the challenging financial position already facing local government 
following years of sustained reductions in government funding.  The Covid19 pandemic 
has brought further unprecedented financial challenges that has left all council’s 
including Croydon facing a substantial budget shortfall in 2020/21 and beyond. 

 
2.4 There is increasing pressures around having to balance rising demand for services 

with year-on-year real terms cuts to grant funding from government.  This is 
compounded by historic underfunding which affects the base on which cuts have 
continuously had to be made and now the impact of Covid19 which will not be 
restrained to just the current financial year.   

 
2.5 As reported to Cabinet in July 2020 in the report titled ‘Responding to the Local 

Government Financial Challenge’, we must take action to control expenditure and have 
credible plans to bring spending within available resources to avoid the issue of a S114 
notice. 

 
2.6 We are taking far-reaching and urgent action.  In May 2020 the Finance Review Panel 

was set up to undertake a fundamental root and branch review of the council’s financial 
governance, strategy and planning, leadership, decision making, management and 
group company structures.   

 
2.7 As part of the Council’s response, an Immediate Measures Programme has been 

established and work is well underway to implement the projects within it. This 
programme is explained in more detail in section 5 of this report.  The Quarter 1 
forecast does not, for the most part, reflect the progress and likely contribution of those 

Page 137



4 
 

initiatives, due to timing. The financial impact of these measures will be included in the 
next financial monitoring report to this cabinet. 

 
2.8 The work of implementing the immediate measures programme is alongside 

conversations with government regarding future funding.    
 
2.9 There are also further measures, over and above the “Immediate Measures” 

programme that are being developed and implemented and these are detailed in the 
Emergency Budget agenda item at this meeting.   

 
2.9 This financial forecast in this report is based on the known position at the end of 

quarter one (June 2020). It is indicative at this time and may alter given the significant 
uncertainty about the pandemic e.g. the risk of a second spike and the ongoing impact 
on Council services over the medium term, along with the work to reduce costs and the 
implementation of identified savings projects. 
It is expected the economic recovery and continuing associated impact on residents 
will require significant Council response going forwards, even after the virus has been 
contained. As a result, prudent figures have been included in this forecast.  The figures 
contained in this report include funding to date from government, it is not possible to 
predict if further funding will be made available at this time. To date funding for the 
impact of Covid19 has been sporadic and inadequate, at some £23.5m for Croydon, 
out of £3.7bn distributed nationally. 

 
3 DETAIL 

3.1 The latest total net forecast general fund overspend is £49m and shown in table 1 
below. The overspend is made up of departmental overspends (gross, before 
COVID19 contributions) of £65.1m, Non departmental overspends of £7.5m.   As 
detailed in section 2.9 above the net overspend also includes the funding received to 
date from MHCLG of £23.5m. 

. 

Table 1 – Forecast Outturn 2020/21 

 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 

Department Current 
Budget 
£'000 

Forecast 
 

£'000 

Quarter 1 
variance 

£'000 

Children’s, Families and Education 103,288 123,129 19,841 

Health Wellbeing and Adults   133,670  163,830 30,160 

Place     62,013  74,906 12,893 

Resources        8,503  10,686 2,183 

Departmental Total      307,474    372,551    65,077 

Non-departmental items – below the line (307,474) (300,005)      7,469  

Total General Fund overspend             0                72,546     72,546  

MHCLG Funding 0 (23,511) (23,511) 

Total overspend 0 49,035 49,035 

 

3.2 Appendix 1 to this report gives a detailed breakdown by department and provides the 

main reasons for the revenue budget variances, and table 3 below gives details of the 

variances over £500k.   

Page 138



5 
 

3.3  The forecast £49m projected General Fund variance (as shown above in table 1) 
includes the £5m budgeted contribution to general reserves that was approved as part 
of the budget when set in March 2020.  As previously reported to this cabinet it is 
essential that the general funds of the Council are increased to ensure there are funds 
available to be able to manage risk and unplanned financial impacts in the future. If this 
planned contribution were removed, the in-year forecast deficit would reduce to £44m. 
Additionally the forecast £3.5m pressure arising from the employer’s pension 
contribution rates is subject to review against latest employee cost trends and may be 
able to be mitigated. Further in-year actions, including the immediate measures work 
streams will be included in future monthly reporting forecasts as they are implemented. 

 

4. MHCLG FUNDING 

4.1 MHCLG have been collating data from Councils on a monthly basis since April to gain 
a national understanding of the financial impact of COVID19 on the sector.  In the last 
submission, made on the 31 July, the forecast financial impact for Croydon was a net 
overspend of £71.1m (£44.3m for the General Fund and £26.8m for the collection 
fund), after receipt of £23.5m government funding.  This is detailed in table 2 below. 

 
 Table 2 – July MHCLG return  
 

  £m 

Additional Expenditure  30.109 

Unachieved Savings 25.116 

Lost Income  12.589 

Total General fund cost 67.814   

Government  Funding (23.512) 

General Fund Gap 44.302 

Lost income - Collection Fund 26.875 

Total Gap – July MHCLG return 71.177 

 

4.2  Monthly returns are currently being collated by MHCLG to help give them a clear 
picture of the impact of Covid19 on local government.  At the time of writing this report 
it is not clear what further funding will be made available to deal with the pressures that 
are being faced due to the pandemic.   

 
4.3 MHCLG have  also released guidance in relation to compensation for loss of income 

from sales, fees and charges which means that all relevant losses, over and above the 
first 5% of planned income from sales, fees and charges, will be compensated for at a 
rate of 75p in every pound.  We currently estimate that our claim will be in the region of 
£5m but no value has been included in this forecast, this will be reported in the next 
monitoring report to this Cabinet. 

 
4.4 The government has also announced an intention to allow authorities to spread 

2020/21 collection fund deficits over three years. This is a year longer than the usual 

spreading over two years, with the estimate as at January 2021 being recovered the 

following year (2021/22) and the final outturn being recovered the year after (2022/23). 

Page 139



6 
 

Table 1 does not include the 2020/21 forecast loss on the Collection Fund of £26.8m, 

detailed in table 2.   

 
4.5  Work is ongoing to understand the implications of these announcements regarding 

income and collections fund deficits and the impact of the reimbursement of income is 
not included at this stage in the figures in this report, this will be report in the next 
report to cabinet once the claim has been made. 

 
5. Finance Review  
 
5.1 As reported to Cabinet in July we have established a Finance Review Panel to 

undertake a full root and branch review of the council’s financial governance, strategy 
and planning, leadership, decision making, management and group company 
structures. 

5.2 As part of the review, the Panel has endorsed the short term options to minimise spend 
and where possible generate income in year. It is also reviewing options for refreshed 
savings proposals to deliver in year 2020/21. 

5.3 A number of projects have been established to deliver immediate actions to tackle the 
financial challenge across the following areas: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.4 Table 1 above does not yet include any savings that will be delivered from these 

initiatives.  These will be reported in the next financial monitoring report. 

 

6 GENERAL FUND REVENUE SUMMARY POSITION 2020/21   

 
6.1 As stated earlier, there is a forecast overspend at the end of quarter one of £49 million, 

the bulk of which is related, directly or indirectly, to COVID19 and could not have been 
reasonably foreseen at the time of setting the budget in March 2020   

 
 
6.2 Table 3 gives details of the major variances. 
  

Page 140



7 
 

Table 3 – Variances over £500k 
 

Department Details of Variances over £500k 

2019/20 
Outturn 

2020/21 
Quarter 1 

£’000 £’000 

HEALTH, WELLBEING 
AND ADULTS  

      

ASC Directorate 
Unachievable savings on workforce carried 
forward and care packages/placements for 
2020/21. 

0          3,400  

  Market sustainability payments 0          2,200  

25-65 Disability 
Overspend on Residential Care Placements - 
increase in client numbers and increase in 
placement costs. 

              
1,070  

        2,237  

  Cost of transitions due to Children with disabilities 
              

1,176  
0  

  
Over spend on Domiciliary Care associated with 
increased client numbers and increased supported 
living costs. 

              
2,012  

        1,200  

  
Overspend on Nursing Care - increase in client 
numbers and increase in placement costs. 

              
3,346  

          980  

  
Overspend on Care costs and Direct Payments - 
increase in client numbers and average cost of 
care. 

                 
821  

        5,745  

Over 65 Social Care 
Overspend on Nursing Care - increase in client 
numbers and increase in placement costs. 

3,837  518  

  
Domiciliary Care associated with continued 
increase in clients and hours provided. 

2,404  0  

  
Residential Care - increases in average weekly 
costs. 

1,034  0  

  Direct Payments. 821  0  

  Use of transformation for LIFE / Reablement (2,000) 0  

  
Overspend on Direct Payments - increase in client 
numbers and average cost of care. 

0  693  

  

Increased costs of care packages/placements and 
ancillary costs to the council for accelerated 
hospital discharge and avoidance of hospital 
admissions during Covid19 emergency period. 
Until further guidance is provided, increased costs 
are funded by NHS until end of July 2020. 

0  5,445  

  
Unachievable income from health partners due to 
Covid19 – achieved since q1 

0  4,000  

  
Underspend in staff due to recruitment freeze and 
ending use of agency workers 

0  (545) 

Transformation and 
Clienting 

Use of transformation funding to fund ADAPT 
programme 

(1,534) 0  

Gateway Services 
Lost income from Registrars services due to 
Covid19 restrictions 
 

0  639  

  

No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) care and 
support. Anticipated reduction in caseloads and 
delay in staff recruitment. The team no longer 
have the support of an embedded Home Office 
worker. 

(978) 0  

Page 141



8 
 

  
Non-delivery of savings relating to Children and 
Adult Social Care 

1,972  0  

 London Wide Covid19 Excess deaths 0 1,005 

Housing Assessment and 
Solutions 

Temporary Accommodation – increase in 
homelessness numbers and increases in cost of 
Private Licenced Accommodation  

0  1,167  

  Additional Homelessness Reduction Act grant 0  (790) 

  
Increase in provision for bad debt relating to 
homelessness rents 

0  1,013  

  Other Variance under £500k  (4,812) 1,253  

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS TOTAL 
              

9,169  
 

      30,160  

        

        

CHILDREN, FAMILIES & EDUCATION     

Early Help and 
Children’s Social Care     

  

Early Help and Children's 
Social Care Directorate Staffing and Legal Costs 539  

208  

  
Undeliverable staff savings within the children’s 
placement team 

0 481  

Social Work with Families Staff savings from realigned budgets 0 (648) 

Social Work with Children 
Looked After Increase in the cost of external placements 13,148  

 
10,858  

  Staffing 0 604  

  
Unachievable 2019/20 savings on workforce and 
packages/placements    

0 1,300  

0-25 CWD and Transition 
Service Increase in the cost of external placements 4,150  

6,350  

  

Secured agreed health contribution to support 
EHCPs and CSC placements income now not 
achievable and delays in implementing joint 
funding panels with health partners – Covid 19 
related.  

0 500  

Early Help and Youth 
Engagement Loss of Early Help DSG grant income  

0 566  

  Other Minor Variances  0 (113) 

Children, Families and 
Education Directorate 

Children, Families and Learning Department 
Variances below £500k 

(656) (265) 

CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND EDUCATION TOTAL 17,181  19,841  

        

        

PLACE       

Public Realm - Waste 

Cost of contract variations on Waste Collection 
and HRRC Contract  

0 2,016 

  Waste disposal due to increase in volumes 1,459 0  

Page 142



9 
 

Public Realm 

Parking Income Shortfall There was no Parking 
Enforcement between the end of March and June 
2020 due to Covid19 measures that were 
introduced. At present transaction levels are 
increasing but not to previous levels and so is 
continuing to impact the income received and the 
anticipated year end position. 

0 6,026 

  

Additional costs in relation to the implementation 
of Cashless and Contactless parking, and 
increases in PCN Processing charges. 

0 600 

  

Parking revenue due to increase in non-
compliance 

(1,322) 0 

  
PFI additional maintenance and lease and energy 
costs 

646  0 

Public Realm  

Savings in SEN transport costs due to 
considerable reduction in transport activities due 
to Covid19  with school closures and self isolation 
affecting the demand  

2,064  (1,482) 

Public Realm  Highways Capitalisation (2,213) 0 

Development Control 
(Planning) 

Development control income through additional 
planning applications 

(710) 0 

Leisure 
Dilapidations and contract amendments offset by 
staff savings 

(1,124) 0 

Libraries Application of CIL money (967) 0 

Homes And Social 
Investment - Assets 

Unachieved 2020/21 rental income as a result of 
Covid19 

0  
1,725 

  

Write-off of prior year debt for Croydon Park Hotel 
as a result of Covid19 0  

1,000 

  Utilities release of accrual (3,075) 0 

  
Unachievable budget savings for investment 
income  

0  
4,000 

  Other Variance under £500k 483  (992) 

PLACE TOTAL   (4,759) 12,893 

     

     

RESOURCES       

Commissioning And 
Procurement 

Agency rebate pressure 0  1,115  

  Underspends on staffing (687) 0  

Finance Investment And 
Risk 

Release of Housing Benefit Bad Debt Provisions 
(7,583) 602  

Digital And IT Additional Recharges (1,390) 0  

  Other Variance under £500k 318  466  

RESOURCES TOTAL   (9,342) 2,183  

TOTAL DEPARTMENT 
OVERSPEND 

  
          

12,249  
 

      65,077  

        

CORPORATE  ITEMS       

  Corporate Contingency (2,000) (2,724) 

Page 143



10 
 

  Net Interest Earned (2,264) 0  

  Release of Goods Received Notes (7,019) 0  

  Release of Reserves (2,896) 0  

  
Pensions Deficit – under review will be adjusted in 
q2 

0  3,036  

  Unachievable Capital Recharges and staff savings 0  2,225  

  Loss of Income S31 grants 2,131  4,754  

  Other Minor Variances (15) 178  

CORPORATE ITEMS 
TOTAL 

  (12,063) 7,469  

TOTAL VARIANCE   186  72,546  

 
 
7  VIREMENTS OVER £500K REQUIRING CABINET APPROVAL 
 
7.1 There are no virements requiring approval.   

 
 

8 HRA  (HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT)  
 
8.1 The current forecast for the HRA is for an estimated overspend of £1.488m.  The key 

variances being reported in at Quarter 1 are summarised Table 4 below: 
 

 
Table 4 – 2020/21 Main variances within the HRA 
 

Department Major Variances 
2019/20 Quarter 1 

£’000 £’000 

HRA – DISTRICT 
CENTRES AND 
REGENERATION 

Vacancies held across division 
               (428) 

                    
(465) 

HRA – HOUSING NEED 
Forecast pressure on under recovery of 
rental income, and additional pressures 
around staffing and support costs  

             2,360 1,953 

TOTAL HRA PROJECTED VARIANCE 1,932             1,488 

 
 

8.2 There continues to be an increase in demand for housing, which places pressure on 
HRA waiting lists and the budgets for Emergency and Temporary Accommodation. 
Subject to levels of demand, more HRA stock will reduce the need for temporary 
housing and therefore enable savings to be made through reducing the need for more 
expensive private emergency and temporary accommodation solutions.   

 
8.3 Impacting on the HRA, the long term financial implications of obtaining properties can 

be managed by minimising borrowing costs where possible, using funding from the 
GLA alongside Right To Buy receipts and more favourable borrowing rates offered for 
housing by central government or other private sector sources. These long-term costs 
will be offset by the rental income on properties and, by purchasing new build 
properties, future maintenance costs should also be more favourable.  

 

Page 144



11 
 

 
  
 
 

 

9. FORECAST CAPITAL OUTTURN POSITION  
 
 

9.1 As part of the July Review Report to this Cabinet members were asked to note the 
capital outturn positon for 2019/20 as detailed in table 5 below.  This identified 
underspends on programmes of £207m which could be slipped into 2020/21.   As part 
of the work undertaken by the Finance Review Panel this has been reduced by £157m 
from £207m down to £50m as shown in table 6.  

 
Table 5 – Capital Outturn Variances for 2019/20  

 
 

 
9.1 The high level Capital programme for 2020/21 is shown in Table 6 below, full details of 

all projects are shown in Appendix 2.  A forecast under spend of £8.5m is projected for 
2020/21. 

 
  

Department 

Original 
Budget    

Budget 
Adjustments  

Revised 
Budget 
£'000s 

Outturn   
         

Outturn 
Variance 

£'000s  £'000s £'000s £'000s 

 
Health, Wellbeing and Adults 

 
         9,673  

       
      2,360  

       
12,033  

            
5,754  

 
(6,279)  

 
Children, Families and Education 

       
     35,638 

 
(3,001)  

       
32,637  

          
16,434  

 
(16,203)  

 
Place 

   
     77,790  

     
      86,971  

      
164,761  

         
118,769  

 
(45,992)  

 
Resources 

     
   60,373  

    
     117,022  

      
177,395  

          
39,425  

 
(137,970 ) 

 
General Fund 

       
183,474  

    
     203,352  

      
386,826  

         
180,382  

 
(206,444) 

 
Housing Revenue Account 

 
       38,451  

   
        13,792  

       
52,243  

          
51,375  

 
(868) 

 
Total Capital 

    
   221,925  

     
    217,144  

      
439,069  

         
231,757  

 
(207,312)  

Page 145



12 
 

Table 6 – 2020/21 Capital Programme 
 

Original 
2020/21 
Budget  Department  

Slippage 
from 

2019/20  

 Re-
profiling / 
Increases 

in 
Schemes  

 Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 

Actuals 
April - Jun 

2020  

 Forecast 
Outturn  

 Forecast 
Variance  

 £’000s   £’000s   £’000s   £’000s   £’000s   £’000s   £’000s  

             
3,000  

HEALTH, 
WELLBEING AND 
ADULTS  

               
4,135  

                 
0    

           
7,135  

                 
168  

             
7,135  

                   
0    

           
25,283  

CHILDREN, 
FAMILIES AND 
EDUCATION  

             
15,703  

                 
0    

         
40,986  

              
2,891  

           
41,064  

                   
78  

         
159,449  

 PLACE   
             

13,762  (52,635) 
        

120,576  
                 

720  
          

120,576  
                   

0    

         
113,814  

 RESOURCES     
               

7,975  (103,169) 
         

18,620  
                 

605  
           

18,620  
                   

0    

         
301,546  

 GENERAL FUND 
TOTAL   

             
41,575  (155,804) 

        
187,317  

              
4,384  

          
187,395  

                   
78  

                

           
35,701  

HOUSING 
REVENUE 
ACCOUNT   

8,472 83,239 127,412 254 118,744 (8,668) 

                

         
337,247  

CAPITAL 
PROGRAME 
TOTAL   

50,047 (72,565) 314,729 4,638 306,139 (8,590) 

 
 

9.2 The main reported variances on projects within the Council’s capital programme are as 
follows:   

9.3 Fire Safety Programme (£5m) slippage - Fire safety works are progressing, there has 
been some slippage as a result of contractor delays, and the impact of Covid19.  

9.4  Major repairs and improvements programme (£3m) – slippage due to the 
restrictions during Covid19. 

9.5  The capital programme continues to be funded from a number of different funding 
streams and makes use of capital receipts to support the delivery of the financial 
strategy. Table 7 below details the funding for the original 2020/21 budget, the revised 
programme and the forecast outturn. 

 
 

  

Page 146



13 
 

Table 7 – Sources of capital funding 
 
 
 

Funding 
Original 
2020/21 
budget 

Revised 
budget 

2020/21 

Forecast 
2020/21 
Outturn 

  £000s £000s £000s 

ESFA  9,000 9,000 9,000 

School Condition Funding 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 2,400 2,400 2,400 

TFL LIP and other funding 2,462 0 0 

NHS 5,000 5,000 5,000 

CIL 6,800 6,800 6,800 

CIL local meaningful proportion 576 1,848 1,848 

ECVP external funder 600 600 600 

Borrowing 42,198 71,886 71,964 

Borrowing  -  (RIF) - BXB and Affordable Homes 115,510 76,002 76,002 

Borrowing - Asset Acquisition Fund 100,000 0 0 

Borrowing - Growth Zone 15,000 6,673 6,673 

Section 106 receipts 0 4,973 4,973 

Football foundation 0 135 135 

GENERAL FUND  301,546 187,317 187,395 

Major Repairs Allowance 12,506 12,506 12,506 

HRA - Revenue Contribution 11,150 11,150 5,777 

HRA - Use Of Reserves 3,295 3,295 0 

HRA - Use of 1 for 1 receipts 0 21,823 21,823 

GLA Funding of BxB Properties 3,500 10,000 10,000 

Borrowing BxB Properties 5,250 68,638 68,638 

HRA FUNDING  35,701 127,412 118,744 

        

TOTAL FUNDING 337,247 314,729 306,139 

 
 

9.6 The majority of the general fund borrowing detailed excluding that specifically identified 
for the Revolving Investment Fund and items in table 7 is to fund the education 
programme due to the inadequate level of funding received from Government and the 
essential need to provide school places in the borough.  

 

9.7 In February 2020 Cabinet agreed the capital programme. One of the areas that the 
Finance Review Panel has been working on is the capital programme and reprofiling of 
the capital programme. These changes are detailed in para 9.9 below, along with 
slippage from 2019/20.  With full details of the programme in appendix 2 to this report.  

 
9.8 Cabinet is asked to approve the following changes to the Capital Programme resulting 

in a revised general fund capital programme of £186.8m for 2020/21 and £131.3m for 
the HRA. This is detailed below in table 8. 

Page 147



14 
 

 
Table 8 - Revised Capital Programme – 2020/21 

 

  

2020/21   2020/21 2020/21 

Original Budget      
(£m) 

Slippage from 
2019/20 (£m) 

Re-Profiling  
(£m) 

 Revised Budget 
(£m) 

General 
Fund 

301.5 41.6 (155.8) 187.3 

HRA 35.7 8.4 83.2 118.7 

 TOTAL 337.2 50.0 (72.5) 306.00 

 
 
9.9 The revisions are as a result of slippage from 2019/20 of £50m (£41.6m for the General 

Fund and £8.4m for the HRA), with the main changes in the general fund being in relation 
to the Education Estates Programme, housing programme and HRA. 

 
 

10. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT  
 
10.1 Council Tax and Business Rates are two key income streams for the 

Council.  Collection rates for the current year are show in Table 9 below:  
 

Table 9 - Council Tax and Business Rates collection  

 

 Target 
collection – 
year to date  

% 

Actual 
collection – 
year to date  

% 

Variance to 
target – 

year to date 
% 

Monetary  
Value of 
Target 

Variance 
£ 

Variance to 
last year at 

Q1 
% 

Council 
Tax 

28.73 26.79 (1.94) 4.417m (1.91) 

Business 
Rates 

31.33 27.4 (4.74) 3.553m (4.74) 

 
Council Tax  
 

10.2 At the end of quarter 1 Council Tax collection is under target by 1.94%.  Recovery has 
been adversely affected by Covid19 and the restrictions placed on recovery activity, we 
have not carried out any recovery action and with courts closed have been unable to 
summons for any arrears. There is a plan in place to carry out recovery action and 
increase collection, whilst making sure we do not adversely affect those who have 
been affected by Covid19, be it financially or any other affect, once the courts allow us 
to do so.  

 

10.3 As part of the Council’s support package for residents who were affected by Covid19, 
we allowed residents to defer payment of their Council Tax instalments for 2 months. 
3,583 residents took up the offer to defer their Council Tax instalments.   
 
Business Rates 
 

Page 148



15 
 

10.4 At the end of quarter 1 Business Rates collection is 4.74% down.  This is due to 
business rates being heavily impacted due to Covid 19. A large proportion of 
Businesses have not been trading since lockdown and this has impacted on the 
income they receive. As recovery action has also been paused, we have been unable 
to take further action against those who have not yet paid the business rates. 
Businesses have started to return to work, and we are commencing soft recovery 
during August 2020, this means we will engage with businesses to assess their ability 
to pay business rates, and we will offer alternative payment arrangements for those 
businesses who continue to struggle to pay their business rates as a result of 
Covid19.   

 

10.5 As at the end of Q1 we have paid 2,203 small business grants with a monetary value 
of £22,030m and 1,018 retail, hospitality and leisure grants with a monetary value of 
£21,800m, total number of grants paid 3,221 and total value of grants paid to the 
business community £43.830m.  An update of the final number and value of grants 
paid will be provided in the next financial monitoring report. 

 
 
11. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
11.1 As all Members are aware, managing the 2020/21 budget was going to be difficult with 

all of the growing demands on services and the ambitious savings programme.  The 
impact of the Covid19 pandemic has now made this extremely challenging and as 
detailed in this report work is underway as part of the finance review panel to put in place 
measures to manage the budget.  Conversations are also taking place with MHCLG to 
raise awareness of the challenges we face and to seek support and help to manage this.  
These plans and the changes in guidance by CIPFA mean that it has not been necessary 
to date to issue a S114 notice, in normal circumstances and with a forecast financial 
overspend of this size a S114 would have been necessary. As discussed at Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee in August 2020, it is not possible at this time to say that a S114 
notice will not be issued. Work needs to continue at pace and plans need to be robust 
to ensure a notice is not issued. 

 
11.2 Work is underway on developing a three year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

and the setting of a budget for 2021/22 that is robust, balanced and deliverable will be 
challenging, and will involve a number of difficult decisions.  Details of the work on the 
MTFS is contained in a separate report on this agenda.   
 

 
12. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
12.1 This report deals with the assumptions in planning and managing a balanced budget 

over the medium term as well as informing the cabinet of the 2020/21 outturn position 
and the enormous challenges faced especially in light of the Covid19 pandemic. 

 
(Approved by Lisa Taylor Director of Finance, Investment and Risk (Section 151 
Officer)) 

 
13. COMMENTS OF THE SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL  
 

Page 149



16 
 

13.1 The Head of Litigation and Corporate Law comments on behalf of the Director of Law 
and Governance that this report details updated information required for the Council’s 
statutory duty to set a balanced budget. 

 
(Approved by, Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate Law on behalf of the 
Director of Law and Governance & Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

 
14       HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  
 
14.1     Any proposals on budget that may have any impact on the workforce would be 

consulted on in line with agreed formal consultation arrangements with the recognised 
trade unions.  

 
           (Approved by: Sue Moorman, Director of HR.) 
 
15.  Pre Decision Scrutiny 

 
15.1  The budget has been an agenda item on two recent Scrutiny and Overview Committees.  

In July the Committee scrutinised the July Financial review and Responding to the Local 
Government Financial Challenge Cabinet papers and called them back in for further 
scrutiny in August.   

 
16 EQUALITIES IMPACT  
 
16.1 There are no specific issues arising from this report. Equality analysis will need to be 

undertaken to ascertain the potential impact on staff, service users, vulnerable groups 
and wider communities groups that share protected characteristics and take actions to 
mitigate any negative impact as each project is developed and implemented 

 
16.2  This current forecast is based on the known position at the time of writing this report. It 

is indicative at this time and may alter given the significant uncertainty about the 
pandemic e.g. the risk of a second spike and the ongoing impact on Council services 
over the medium term. It is expected the economic recovery and continuing associated 
impact on residents will require significant Council response going forwards, even after 
the virus has been contained.  

 
 16.3 The Council will ensure that as part of the process of delivering current and future 

savings, it will protect the most vulnerable in our communities and ensure when making 
difficult decisions about funding it maintains an absolute commitment to promoting 
equality for everyone who lives and works in the Borough  

 
 (Approved by Yvonne Okiyo) 
  
17. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT  
 
17.1 There are no specific issues arising from this report. 
 
18. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT  
 
18.1 There are no specific issues arising from this report. 

Page 150



17 
 

 
19.  REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS/PROPOSED DECISION 
 
19.1 These are detailed within the report. 
 
20. OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 
20.1 The options considered are detailed in the report.  The only option rejected was the one 

of do nothing as this is not viable. 
 
Report Author:  Lisa Taylor Director of Finance, Investment and Risk (S151 Officer) 
Contact Person: Lisa Taylor Director of Finance, Investment and Risk (S151 Officer) 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 151



18 
 

Appendix 1 - 2020/21 Variances over £100k 
 

  

Department Details of Variances over £100k 
Quarter 1 

£’000 

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND 
ADULTS  

    

Adults Social Care Operations   

ASC Directorate 
Unachievable 2019/20 savings on workforce and care 
packages/placements    

3,400 

  Market sustainability payments 2,200 

Provider Services Extra care housing additional staffing due to coved 428 

  
Shared lives reduced Supporting People costs due to 
Covid19 

(116) 

25-65 Disability 
Overspend on Residential Care Placements - increase 
in client numbers and increase in placement costs. 

2,237 

  
Over spend on Domiciliary Care associated with 
increased client numbers and increased supported living 
costs 

1,200 

  
Overspend on Nursing Care - increase in client numbers 
and increase in placement costs. 

980 

  
Overspend on Direct Payments - increase in client 
numbers and average cost of care 

5,745 

  Underspend in respite services (300) 

  Underspend in day care (120) 

  
Underspend in staff due to recruitment freeze and 
ending use of agency workers 

(100) 

Over 65 Social Care 
Overspend on Residential Care Placements -overall 
numbers are stable but there is an increase in 
placement costs. 

244 

  
Underspend on Domiciliary Care associated with 
increased client numbers and increased supported living 
costs 

(405) 

  
Overspend on Nursing Care - increase in client numbers 
and increase in placement costs. 

518 

  
Overspend on Direct Payments - increase in client 
numbers and average cost of care 

693 

  

Increased costs of care packages/placements and 
ancillary costs to the council for accelerated hospital 
discharge and avoidance of hospital admissions during 
Covid19 emergency period. Until further guidance is 
provided, increased costs are funded by NHS until end 
of July 2020. 

5,445 

  
Unachievable income from health partners due to 
Covid19   

4,000 

  
Underspend in staff due to recruitment freeze and 
ending use of agency workers 

(545) 

Innovation and Integration     

Service Compliance Overspend on Advocacy 149 

Page 152



19 
 

  
Overspend on business support following transfer from 
Resources 

118 

Public Health Nil Variance 0 

Gateway Services Bereavement income from excess deaths (209) 

  Registrars loss of income due to Covid19 639 

  Resident access staffing vacancies (341) 

 London Wide Covid19 Excess deaths 1,005 

Housing Assessment and 
Solutions 

Croydon Affordable Homes repairs 150 

  
Temporary Accommodation – increase in homelessness 
numbers and increases in cost of Private Licenced 
Accommodation  

1,167 

  Additional Homelessness Reduction Act grant (790) 

  
Increase in provision for bad debt relating to 
homelessness rents 

1,013 

  Other Variance under £100k 1,755 

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS TOTAL 30,160 

      

      

CHILDREN, FAMILIES & EDUCATION   

Early Help and Children’s Social 
Care   

  

Quality Assurance and 
Safeguarding Staffing  

154  

Early Help and Children's Social 
Care Directorate 

Staffing and Legal Costs 
208  

  
Undeliverable staff savings within the children’s 
placement team 

481  

Social Work with Families Staffing savings from realigned budgets (355) 

Social Work with Children Looked 
After Increase in the cost of external placements 

10,858  

  Staffing 604  

  
Unachievable 2019/20 savings on workforce and 
packages/placements    

1,300  

0-25 CWD and Transition Service Increase in the cost of external placements 6,350  

  Loss of early help dedicated schools grant income. 500  

Early Help and Youth 
Engagement Loss of Early Help DSG grant income 

566  

  Other Minor Variances  (113) 

Adolescent Services Staffing savings from realigned budgets (425) 

Systemic and Clinical Practice Staff savings (286) 

Education     

0-25 Send Service Special 
Education Reallocation of expenditure to Dedicated School Grant 

(272) 

School Place Planning And 
Admissions Staffing savings 

(250) 

Education Commission & Post-16 
Participation Loss of trading income and staffing pressures 

128  

Page 153



20 
 

 Other Minor Variances < £100k 393  

CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND EDUCATION TOTAL 19,841  

      

PLACE      

Place Directorate 

 

 

Public Realm - Highways Street Lighting Additional Energy Charges 361 

  Employee Savings due to reduced TFL grant income (216) 

Public Realm - Waste 

Cost of contract variations on Waste Collection and 
HRRC Contract  2,016 

  

Savings in Waste Disposal Contract due to current 
projected LEC Deductions 

(477) 

Public Realm - Parking 

Employee Savings in Parking due reduced activities and 
delays in restructure as a result of Covid19 

(400) 

  

Parking Income Shortfall There was no Parking 
Enforcement between the end of March and June 2020 
due to Covid 19 measures that were introduced. At 
present transaction levels are increasing but not to 
previous levels and so is continuing to impact the 
income received and the anticipated year end position. 6,026 

  

Additional costs in relation to the implementation of 
Cashless and Contactless parking, and increases in 
PCN Processing charges. 

600 

Public Realm - Public Protection 

Additional legal charges in both Food Safety and 
Trading Charges and Selective Licensing anticipated 
due to number of high profile cases 

208 

Public Realm - SEN Transport 

Savings in SEN transport costs due to considerable 
reduction in transport activities due to Covid 19 with 
school closures and self-isolation affecting the demand  (1,482) 

Growth Employment and 
Regeneration - Croydon Works 

Growth for Croydon Works to fund the transfer of 
Employment team in Gateway, no longer taking place.  (150) 

Growth Employment and 
Regeneration - Adult Education 

Additional grant income offset by income fee losses due 
to Covid 19 activity reduction  

(256) 

Croydon Culture Growth - Active 
Lifestyle 

Saving - vacancies held open. 
(144) 

Planning - Development 

Employee savings in Development Management reflects 
that forecast of income generated will be less than in 
2019/20 and therefore less staff are required to process 
applications (342) 

Planning - Building Control 

Loss of income due to downturn in the property market 
as a result of Covid 19.  

181 

Planning - Spatial Planning Decrease in Planning Performance Agreement income  119 

Planning - Strategic Transport Recharges to capital (103) 

Homes And Social Investment - 
Assets 

Unachievable budget savings for investment income  

4,000 

  Unachievable Landlord rental income  430 

  

Shortfall of landlord rental income mainly due to three 
tenants vacating Davis House 

434 

  Loss of 20-21 rental income as a result of Covid 19 1,725 

Page 154



21 
 

  

Write-off of prior year debt for Croydon Park Hotel as a 
result of COVID 

1,000 

  Staff Vacancies (224) 

  Various contract savings (133) 

  Assets interest payable on investment properties (394) 

  Other Variance under £100k 114 

PLACE TOTAL   12,893 

      

RESOURCES     

Facilities Management And 
Support Services 

 

 

Commissioning And Procurement Agency rebate pressure 1,115 

Human Resources 
Learning and Development Staff Training Events 
underspend due to being put on hold 

(142) 

  HR and Finance Service Centre Staffing Vacancies (124) 

  HR Consultancy Staffing Vacancies (101) 

Resources Directorate Internal Legal Recharge costs 131 

Finance Investment And Risk 
Revenues Courts Costs Income shortfall due to closure 
of courts during Covid19 pandemic 602 

  Land Charges Income shortfall 462 

  
Bailiff fees income shortfall, reduced activity due to 
Covid19 319 

  Parking Permits income shortfall 150 

  Revenue and Benefits Staffing vacancies (456) 

  
Insurance reduced claims offset by under underachieved 
income from schools  97 

 Other Variance Under £100k 
218 

Digital And IT Brent Shared Services Income (247) 

  BIT grants income - one off payment. (111) 

Law & Governance Internal Recharge Income Shortfall 448 

  Other Variance under £100k (178) 

RESOURCES TOTAL   2,183 

TOTAL DEPARTMENT 
OVERSPEND 

  
65,077  

      

CORPORATE  ITEMS     

  Corporate Contingency (2,724)  

  Pensions Deficit  3,036  

  Unachievable Capital Recharges and staff savings 2,225  

  Loss of Income S31 grants 4,754  

  Other Minor Variances 178  

CORPORATE  ITEMS TOTAL   7,469  

   

TOTAL VARIANCE   72,546  

 

Page 155



22 
 

Appendix 2 – Capital Programme 2020/21  
 
 

Category 

Original 
budget 
2020/21 

 
Revised 
Slippage 
2019/20  

Budget 
adjustments 

Revised 
budget 
2020/21 

Actuals 
2020/21 

Forecast 
2020/21 

Variance 
2020/21 

  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

Adults ICT 0 284 0 284 0 284 0 

Angel lodge conversion to 
MHO 

100 0 0 100 0 100 0 

Bereavement Services 0 900 0 900 0 900 0 

Disabled Facilities Grants 2,400 2,013 0 4,413 168 4,413 0 

Provider Services - Extra 
Care 

500 0 0 500 0 500 0 

Sheltered Housing 0 938 0 938 0 938 0 

Health, Wellbeing and 
Adults including Gateway 
and Housing Sub Total 

3,000 4,135 0 7,135 168 7,135 0 

Education – Fire Safety 
Works 

1,000 954 0 1,954 0 1,954 0 

Education – Fixed term 
expansion 

59 140 0 199 108 199 0 

Education – Major 
Maintenance 

2,882 1,929 0 4,811 362 4,811 0 

Education – Miscellaneous 1,444 5,650 0 7,094 44 7,094 0 

Education – Permanent 
Expansion 

1,091 817 0 1,908 53 1,908 0 

Education – Secondary 
Schools Estate 

0 0 0 0 47 0 0 

Education – Special 
Educational Needs 

18,807 4,908 0 23,715 2,204 23,715 0 

Education – SEN Centre of 
Excellence 

0 1,305 0 1,305 0 1,305 0 

Early Help Centre 0 0 0 0 73 78 78 

Children, Families and 
Education Sub Total 

25,283 15,703 0 40,986 2,891 41,064 78 

Affordable Housing 
Programmes 

40,000 0 (40,000) 0 0 0 0 

Allotments 0 332 0 332 0 332 0 

Brick by Brick programme  75,510 0 492  76,002 0 76,002 0 

Community Ward Budgets 576 1,272 0 1,848 0 1,848 0 

CALAT 0 619 0 619 52 619 0 

Devolution initiatives 912 0 (912) 0 0 0 0 

Electric Vehicle Charging 
Points  

2,400 0 (1,200) 1,200 0 1,200 0 

Empty Homes Grants 500 0 0 500 -20 500 0 

Feasibility Fund   330 20 0 350 30 350 0 

Fieldway Cluster 
(Timebridge Community 
Centre) 

0 5,204 0 5,204 40 5,204 0 

Page 156



23 
 

Fiveways junction  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Growth Zone 15,000 0 (8,327) 6,673 0 6,673 0 

Grounds Maintenance 
Insourced Equipment 

1,500 0 (1,500) 0 0 0 0 

Highways - maintenance 
programme 

6,000 0 0 6,000 33 6,000 0 

Highways - maintenance 
programme (staff 
recharges) 

567 0 0 567 0 567 0 

Highways – flood water 
management  

565 663 0 1,228 0 1,228 0 

Highways – bridges and 
highways structures 

575 423 0 998 0 998 0 

Highways – Tree works 299 0 (299) 0 9 0 0 

Measures to mitigate 
travellers in parks and open 
spaces  

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Leisure centres equipment 
upgrade 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Libraries investment – 
general 

650 1,405 0 2,055 386 2,055 0 

Libraries investment – 
South Norwood library  

0 522 0 522 0 522 0 

Neighbourhood Support 
Safety Measures 

50 0 0 50 0 50 0 

New Addington wellbeing 
centre 

3,000 0 (1,525) 1,475 121 1,475 0 

Parking 2,825 113 0 2,938 0 2,938 0 

Park Life 0 412 0 412 0 412 0 

Play Equipment 0 730 0 730 3 730 0 

Safety – digital upgrade of 
CCTV 

250 309 0 559 0 559 0 

Section 106 Schemes 0 0 4,973  4,973 66 4,973 0 

SEN Transport 1,460 0 0 1,460 0 1,460 0 

Signage 0 25 0 25   25 0 

Sustainability Programme 2,500 0 (1,875) 625 0 625 0 

TfL LIP 2,462 0 (2,462) 0 0 0 0 

Unsuitable Housing Fund 0 30 0 30 0 30 0 

Walking and cycling 
strategy 

750 125 0 875 0 875 0 

Waste and Recycling 
Investment 

0 1,558 0 1,558 0 1,558 0 

Waste and Recycling – 
Don’t Mess with Croydon 

768 0 0 768 0 768 0 

Place Sub Total 159,449 13,762 (52,635) 120,576 720 120,576 0 

Asset strategy – Stubbs 
Mead 

0 200 0 200 0 200 0 

Asset Strategy Programme 0 460 0 460 55 460 0 

Asset Acquisition Fund 100,000 0 (100,000) 0 0 0 0 

Page 157



24 
 

Corporate Property 
Programme 

2,000 0 0 2,000 41 2,000 0 

Crossfield (relocation of 
CES) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Emergency Generator 
(Data Centre) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Finance and HR system 0 0 431  431 0 431 0 

ICT Refresh & 
Transformation 

6,200 187 0 6,387 138 6,387 0 

People ICT  2,014 7,128 0 9,142 364 9,142 0 

Uniform ICT Upgrade 3,600 0 (3,600) 0 7 0 0 

Resources Sub Total 113,814 7,975 (103,169) 18,620 605 18,620 0 

  
301,546 41,575 (155,804) 187,317 4,384 187,395 78 

GENERAL FUND TOTAL 

        

 
        

HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT  

Original 
budget 
2020/21 

 
Revised 
Slippage 
2019/20  

Budget 
adjustments 

Revised 
budget 
2020/21 Actuals 

2020/21 
Forecast 
2020/21 

Variance 
2020/21 

  
With 

Slippage  

  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

Asset management ICT 
database 

0 290 0 290 0 290 0 

Fire safety programme 0 6,314 0 6,314 146 1,000 (5,314) 

Larger Homes 0 1,350 0 1,350 0 1,351 0 

Major Repairs and 
Improvements Programme 

26,771 0 0 26,771 0 23,416 (3,355) 

Affordable Housing 
Programme 

0 0 38,404 38,404 92 38,404 0 

BBB Properties part funded 
by GLA and HRA RTB 

8,750 0 44,835 53,585 0 53,585 0 

Special Transfer Payments 180 518 0 698 16 698 0 

HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT TOTAL 

35,701 8,472 83,239 127,412 254 118,744 (8,669) 

LBC CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME TOTAL 

337,247 50,047 (72,565) 314,729 4,638 306,139 (8,591) 

 

Page 158



REPORT TO: GENERAL PURPOSES AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

7 October 2020 

SUBJECT: 
 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy  

                                            End of Year Review 2019/2020 
 

 LEAD OFFICER: Nigel Cook, Head of Treasury and Pensions  

CABINET MEMBER: Councillor Simon Hall 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources  

WARDS: All 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT:  

Sound Financial Management. This Report details the Council’s Treasury 
Management activities for the year 2019/2020 and its compliance with the 2017 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance.  

FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 

This Report details the Council’s Treasury Management activities for the year 
2019/2020 and demonstrates its compliance with the 2017 Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance. 

 

 

1.  RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Committee are recommended to: 
 

1.1 Note the contents of this report.  

 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
2.1 This Report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) codes of practice in respect 
of capital finance and treasury management.  The codes recommend that 
members are advised of the treasury management activities for the whole of each 
financial year and of compliance with various strategies and policies agreed by 
the Council. The report: 

 Reviews compliance with the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
Capital Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy as agreed by full Council 
on 4 March 2019 (Minute A20/17 applies) and revised in part on 7 October 
2019 (Minute 62/19 applies); 

 Reviews treasury borrowing and investment activity for the period 1 April 
2019 to 31 March 2020; and 

 Demonstrates compliance with agreed Treasury and Prudential 

Indicators. 

Page 159

Agenda Item 7



 

3 DETAIL 

3.1  Background 
 
3.1.1  In December 2017, CIPFA issued codes of practice as follows: 
 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities; and 

 Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes. 

 
3.1.2  Under the Code of Practice, from 2019/2020, all local authorities are required to 

prepare a Capital Strategy which is to provide the following:  
 

 A high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services;  

 An overview of how the associated risk is managed; and 

 The implications for future financial sustainability. 

 
3.1.3  As regards Treasury Management, the primary requirements of the Code are:  

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities; 

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set 
out the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies 
and objectives; 

 Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a mid-year Review Report 
and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 
previous year; 

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions; and 

 Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the 
delegated body is the General Purposes and Audit Committee. 

3.1.4  This year-end report has been prepared in compliance with the codes and covers 
the following: 

 An economic update of the 2019/20 financial year (Section 3.2); 

 A medium term interest rates forecast (Section 3.3); 

 A review of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Annual Investment Strategy (Section 3.4); 

 The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 
prudential indicators (Section 3.5);  

 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy (Section 3.6); 

Page 160



 A review of the Council’s investment strategy (Section 3.7);  

 A review of any debt re-scheduling undertaken (Section 3.8);  

 Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits (Section 3.9); and 

 Treasury Outturn (Section 3.10). 

 
3.2 Economic update 
 
3.2.1 A commentary provided by the Council’s independent treasury advisers, Link 

Asset Services (Link), in the first week of April 2020 is included as Appendix A1.  
In view of the impact of Covid 19 on so many aspects of the economy an updated 
version provided in the first week of September 2020 is included as Appendix A2.  
 

3.3 Interest rate forecasts 
 
3.3.1 Link provide the authority with forecasts of key interest rates on a regular basis 

and these are set out in Table 1 below.  These forecasts will be updated during 
the remainder of 2020/2021 and will inform decisions as to the timing and 
duration of borrowing decisions 

 
Table 1: Interest Rate Forecasts 
 

 
 
 

3.3.2 A commentary on these forecasts, also provided by Link, is included as Appendix 
B. 

 
3.4 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 

 
3.4.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 

for 2019/2020 were approved by full Council on 4 March 2019 (Minute A20/17 
applies).  On 19 September 2019 Cabinet agreed to recommend to full Council 
revisions in borrowing limits arising from movements in the capital programme 
as discussed in Section 3.5 below and these were agreed on 7 October 2019 
(Minute 62/19 applies). 

 
  

Link Group Interest Rate View       11.8.20

Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

Bank Rate View 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

3 Month average earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 - - - -

6 Month LIBID 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 - - - -

12 Month LIBID 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 - - - -

5yr PWLB Rate 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10

10yr PWLB Rate 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30

25yr PWLB Rate 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70

50yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50

Page 161



3.5 Capital Strategy and Prudential Indicators 

3.5.1  Table 2 shows the original capital budget as agreed by full Council on 4 March 
2019 (Minute A19/17 applies), the revised outturn as reported in the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 2020/2021 as agreed by full Council on 2 
March 2020 (Minute 87/20 applies) and the actual outturn.  

 

Table 2: Capital Expenditure by Services 

 

3.5.2 Table 3 details the funding sources of the capital programme.  The borrowing 
element of the table increases the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes 
by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), although this will be reduced 
in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue 
Provision).   

 

Table 3: Financing of Capital Expenditure 

 

 
3.5.3 The key controls over treasury management activity are prudential indicators and 

compliance with them ensures that, over the medium term, borrowing will only be 
for capital purposes.  Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for 2019/2020 and next two financial years.  This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years.  The Council has approved 
a policy for borrowing in advance of need as required.  Table 4 shows changes 
in the CFR and borrowing over the year.   

. 
  

Capital Expenditure by Service Original 
Estimate 

£m 

Revised Outturn 
Estimate 

£m 

Outturn 
 

£m 

Health, Wellbeing and Adults  7.0 5.8 

Children, Families and Education 35.6 31.1 16.4 

Gateway, Strategy and Engagement 9.7   

Place 77.8 123.5 118.8 

Resources. 60.4 74.9 39.4 

HRA 38.4 42.2 51.4 

Total  221.9 278.7 231.8 

Financing of Capital Expenditure Original 
Estimate 

£m 

Revised Outturn 
Estimate 

£m 

Outturn 
 

£m 

Capital receipts 2.5 20.8 19.0 

Capital grants 33.8 29.7 25.8 

Community Infrastructure Levy 8.0 8.0 6.5 

Major Repairs Allowance 27.7  12.3 

Capital reserves 7.0   

Revenue 3.7 10.0 10.0 

Total financing 82.7 68.5 73.6 

Borrowing requirement 139.2 210.2 158.2 

Page 162



Table 4: Capital Financing Requirement 

 

3.5.4 The Prudential Indicators relevant to the capital programme and its borrowing 
implications are the Operational Boundary (the expected debt position) and the 
Authorised Limit (the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited).  Table 5 shows 
amendments which the full Council agreed on 7 October 2019 (Minute 62/19 
applies).  

 
Table 5: Key Prudential Indicators 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         *As agreed by full Council on 4 March 2019     

                    **As agreed by full Council on 7 October 2019 
 

3.5.5 The Authorised Limit includes a buffer of £50m to cover unexpected cash flow 
shortages. 

 

3.6 Borrowing Strategy 
 

3.6.1 During the first six months of 2019/2020 the Council was operating in accordance 
with the borrowing limits approved by full Council on 4 March 2019 (Minute 20/17 
applies).  For the remainder of the year the borrowing was in accordance with 
the Outturn Projection as shown in Table 5 above. 

3.6.2 The level of the Council’s borrowing, which is measured against the limits, was 
£1,357.0m on 1 April 2019 and £1,520.8m on 31 March 2020.  At no point during 
the year was either the approved Operational Boundary or the Authorised Limit 
breached.  

3.6.3 Table 6 shows the monthly movement of the actual debt during the year. 

Table 6: Actual debt in 2019/20  
 

 Original 
Estimate 

£m 

Outturn 
Projection 

£m 

Actual 
 

£m 

Borrowing 1,351.1 1,536.6 1,445.0 

Other long term liabilities 84.9 82.8 75.8 

Total debt  1,436.0 1,619.4 1,520.8 

CFR (year-end position) 1,465.4 1,573.3 1,465.0 

 Original 
Estimate* 

£m 

Outturn 
Projection** 

£m 

Operational Boundary 1,436.0 1,655.3 

Authorised Limit 1,486.0 1,705.3 

End of 
Month 

PWLB                           Market 
debt         

Temporary 
borrowing  

PFI and 
other        

 

TOTAL                                                                                                              

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

March (2019) 857,926 217,389 199,000 82,798 1,357,113 

April 877,426 192,889 204,000 75,821 1,350,136 

May 877,426 180,889 206,000 75,821 1,340,136 

June 877,426 190,889 196,000 75,821 1,340,136 

July 877,426 190,575 221,000 75,821 1,364,822 

August 902,426 190,575 242,000 75,821 1,410,822 

September 902,426 185,575 237,000 75,821 1,400,822 

October 902,426 200,575 250,000 75,821 1,428,822 

November 902,426 225,575 252,000 75,821 1,455,822 

Page 163



 
 
 
 

 
3.6.4 During the year, to take advantage of the low levels of short term rates, 

particularly from other local authorities, almost all new borrowing was taken for 
periods of up to two years; £59.5m was taken as long term PWLB debt.  Of this 
£59.5m, £10m was to refinance maturing PWLB debt, £19.5m was used to 
refinance a LOBO in order to make savings on interest payments, £15m was 
borrowed by the HRA in order to purchase new properties and £15m was used 
to finance the ongoing capital programme.  

 
3.6.5 Borrowing will be taken up as required based on a continuing analysis of actual 

and projected expenditure over the different components of the capital 
programme and interest rates forecasts.  It is likely that the Council will use a 
mixture of long term borrowing from the PWLB and the wider market, short term 
borrowing from other local authorities and internal balances.  Borrowing will be 
undertaken to fit into the Council’s existing debt maturity profile to move towards 
a more even distribution of maturities.  Appendix C shows the movements in 
PWLB interest rates for various loan periods during the last six months. 

 
3.6.6 The Council’s effective interest payable on long term debt currently stands at 

2.68% with the maturity profile detailed in Appendix D 

 
3.7 Investment Strategy 
  
3.7.1 From time to time, under Section 15 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003 the 

Secretary of State issues statutory guidance on local government investments to 
which local authorities are required to “have regard.”  This guidance was taken 
into account in the investment policy parameters set within the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 
and Annual Investment Strategy as approved by full Council on 4 March 2019 
Minute A20/17 applies). 

 
3.7.2 The current guidance defines investments as “Specified” and “Non-specified” 
 
3.7.3 An investment is a specified investment if all of the following apply:  

 the investment and any associated payments or repayments are 
denominated in sterling; 

 the investment has a maximum maturity of one year; 

 the investment is not defined as capital expenditure; and 

 the investment is made with a body or in an investment scheme 
described as high quality or with the UK Government, a UK local authority 
or a parish or community council.  

 

3.7.4 A non-specified investment is any investment that does not meet all the 
conditions in paragraph 3.7.3 above.  

 

3.7.5 All investments are managed in-house and it is the Council’s priority when 
undertaking treasury activities to ensure security of capital and liquidity, and to 
obtain an appropriate level of return which is consistent with the Council’s risk 
appetite.  Investment instruments identified for use by the Council during 

December 902,426 240,575 267,000 75,821 1,485,822 

January 902,426 260,575 272,000 75,821 1,510,822 

February 902,426 260,575 282,000 75,821 1,520,822 

March (2020) 907,426 260,575 277,000 75,821 1,520,822 

Page 164



2019/2020 as included in the current Treasury Management Strategy are 
detailed in Appendix E. 

 
3.7.6 During the year it was considered appropriate to keep investments short term to 

cover cashflow needs and to seek out value available in periods of up to twelve 
months.  Investments were only made with highly credit rated financial institutions 
using the Link suggested creditworthiness approach including a minimum 
sovereign credit rating and Credit Default Swap overlay information. 

  
3.7.7 Investment activity during 2019/2020 conformed to the approved strategy.  The 

Council has experienced no liquidity issues with an average monthly balance of 
£121m being maintained in temporary investments.  Part of this sum is made up 
of core balances such as provisions and reserves set aside and cash balances 
that can, if necessary, be invested for longer periods to take advantage of 
favourable interest rates and to limit exposure to the risk of future rate 
movements. 

 
 

3.7.8 The Director of Finance, Investment and Risk, Section 151 Officer, confirms that 
the approved limits within the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached 
during the year. 

 
3.7.9 As shown in Table 7 below, throughout the year the Treasury Management Team 

managed substantial balances with the month-end position only once being 
below £65m and on two occasions exceeding £180m.  In aggregate, deposits 
totalling £1,458m were invested with the average monthly balance yielding an 
investment rate of return of 0.87% compared to the LIBID 7 day rate of 0.57% for 
the period.  Total investments outstanding at 31 March 2020 were £109m 
invested as follows: £68m with UK local authorities, £31m with AAA rated Money 
Market Funds and £10m with overseas banks. 

 

Table 7: Month end balances 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.8 Repayment of Debt and Debt Rescheduling 

 

3.8.1 Debt rescheduling opportunities have been limited in the current economic 
climate.  With high premiums being attached to the premature repayment of 

Month General Fund 
£m 

Pension Fund 
£m 

Total 
£m 

April 110.00 10.90 120.90 

May 107.30 10.70 118.00 

June 79.05 10.05 89.10 

July 73.00 6.80 79.80 

August 75.70 15.00 90.70 

September 41.40 23.40 64.80 

October 67.60 28.60 96.20 

November 82.10 82.22 164.32 

December 96.70 86.32 183.02 

January 95.30 87.72 183.02 

February 74.00 84.85 158.85 

March 27.70 81.32 109.02 

Page 165



existing debt, opportunities for debt restructuring were minimal and none were 
taken. 

 
3.9 Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits 

 
3.9.1 It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 

affordable borrowing limits.  The approved Treasury and Prudential Indicators, 
(affordability limits), are included in the approved Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement.  During the year the Council has operated within the treasury and 
prudential indicators as detailed in Appendix F. 

 

3.10 Treasury Outturn  

 
3.10.1 The Treasury outturn position is summarised in the table below. 

Table 8: Borrowing costs and investment income 

 

 Budget                 
£m 

Outturn                  
£m 

Variance             
£m 

GENERAL FUND    
Borrowing costs 23.054 24.528 1.474 

Investment income -11.318 -15.330 -4.012 

TOTAL 11.736 9.198 -2.538 

    

HRA    

Borrowing costs 12.120 11.986 -0.134 

Investment income n/a n/a n/a 

TOTAL 12.120 11.986 
 

-0.134 

 
 
4 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no direct financial considerations arising from this report. 
 

Approved by: Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance, Investment and Risk, S. 151 
Officer. 

 
 
5. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS  
 
5.1 There are no Customer Focus, Equalities, Environment and Design, Crime and 

Disorder or Human Rights considerations arising from this report 
 
 
6. HUMAN RESOURCES CONSIDERATIONS  
 
6.1 There are no direct workforce implications arising from the recommendations 

within this report. 
 

Approved by: Sue Moorman, Director of Human Resources 
 
 
 

Page 166



7. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 
7.1 The Head of Litigation and Corporate Law comments on behalf of the Director of 

Law and Governance that there are no additional that there are no direct legal 
implications arising from the recommendations within this report. 

 
Approved by: Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate Law on behalf of 
the Director of Law and Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer. 

 
 
8 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
 
8.1 This report contains only information that can be publicly disclosed.  
 
 
9 DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Will the subject of the report involve the processing of ‘personal data’? 
 

No. 
 

Has a data protection impact assessment (DPIA) been completed? 
 

No. This report relates to matters relating to the administration of the LGPS and 
the Croydon Pension Fund.  

 
Approved by: Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance, Investment and Risk, S151 
Officer 

 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Nigel Cook, Head of Pensions Investment and Treasury,  
 Finance, Investment and Risk 
 Resources Department, ext. 62552. 
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None 
 
 
APPENDICES: 
 
A1 and A2 Economic update 
B - Interest rate forecast update 
C - PWLB rates 
D - Debt maturity profile 
E - Investment Instruments 
F - Treasury and Prudential Indicators 
 

  

Page 167



APPENDIX A1 

Economic update (as prepared by Link Asset Services in the first 
week of April 2020) 

 

UK.  Economic growth in 2019 has been very volatile with quarter 1 unexpectedly strong 

at 0.5%, quarter 2 dire at -0.2%, quarter 3 bouncing back up to +0.5% and quarter 4 flat 

at 0.0%, +1.1% y/y.  2020 started with optimistic business surveys pointing to an 

upswing in growth after the ending of political uncertainty as a result of the decisive 

result of the general election in December settled the Brexit issue.  However, the three 

monthly GDP statistics in January were disappointing, being stuck at 0.0% growth. 

Since then, the whole world has changed as a result of the coronavirus outbreak.  It 

now looks likely that the closedown of whole sections of the economy will result in a fall 

in GDP of at least 15% in quarter two. What is uncertain, however, is the extent of the 

damage that will be done to businesses by the end of the lock down period, when the 

end of the lock down will occur, whether there could be a second wave of the outbreak, 

how soon a vaccine will be created and then how quickly it can be administered to the 

population. This leaves huge uncertainties as to how quickly the economy will recover.    

 

Although the UK left the EU on 31 January 2020, we still have much uncertainty as to 

whether there will be a reasonable trade deal achieved by the end of 2020.  It is also 

unclear as to whether the coronavirus outbreak may yet impact on the deadline of 

agreeing a deal by then.  

 

           After the Monetary Policy Committee raised Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.75% in August 

2018, Brexit uncertainty caused the MPC to sit on its hands and do nothing until March 

2020; at this point it was abundantly clear that the coronavirus outbreak posed a huge 

threat to the economy of the UK.  Two emergency cuts in Bank Rate from 0.75%, 

therefore, occurred in March, first to 0.25% and then to 0.10%.  These cuts were 

accompanied by an increase in quantitative easing (QE), essentially the purchases of 

gilts (mainly) by the Bank of England of £200bn.  The Government and the Bank were 

also very concerned to stop people losing their jobs during this lock down period. 

Accordingly, the Government has introduced various schemes to subsidise both 

employed and self-employed jobs for three months while the country is locked down. It 

also put in place a raft of other measures to help businesses access loans from their 

banks, (with the Government providing guarantees to the banks against losses), to tide 

them over the lock down period when some firms may have little or no income. However, 

at the time of writing, this leaves open a question as to whether some firms will be 

solvent, even if they take out such loans, and some may also choose to close as there 

is, and will be, insufficient demand for their services. This is a rapidly evolving situation 

so there may be further measures to come from the Bank and the Government. The 

measures to support jobs and businesses already taken by the Government will result 

in a huge increase in the annual budget deficit from about 2%, to nearly 11%.  The ratio 

of debt to GDP is also likely to increase from around 80% to around 105%.  

Page 168



 

In the Budget in March, the Government also announced a large increase in spending 

on infrastructure; this will also help the economy to recover once the lock down is ended.  

Provided the coronavirus outbreak is brought under control relatively swiftly, and the 

lock down is eased, then it is hoped that there would be a sharp recovery, but one that 

would take a prolonged time to fully recover previous lost momentum. 

 

Inflation is not going to be an issue for the near future as the world economy will be 

heading into a recession which is already causing a glut in the supply of oil which has 

fallen sharply in price. Other prices will also be under downward pressure; wage inflation 

has also been on a downward path over the last half year and is likely to continue that 

trend in the current environment.  While inflation could even turn negative in the 

Eurozone, this is currently not likely in the UK.    

 

Employment had been growing healthily through the last year but it will obviously be 

heading for a big hit in the coming months.  The good news over the last year is that 

wage inflation has been significantly higher than CPI inflation which means that 

consumer real spending power has been increasing and so will have provided support 

to GDP growth.  However, while people cannot leave their homes to do non-food 

shopping, retail sales will also take a big hit. 

 

            USA.  Growth in quarter 1 of 2019 was strong at 3.1% but growth fell back to 2.0% in 

quarter 2 and 2.1% in quarters 3 and 4.  The slowdown in economic growth resulted in 

the Fed cutting rates from 2.25-2.50% by 0.25% in each of July, September and 

October. Once coronavirus started to impact the US in a big way, the Fed took decisive 

action by cutting rates twice by 0.50%, and then 1.00%, in March, all the way down to 

0.00 – 0.25%. Near the end of March, Congress agreed a $2trn stimulus package (worth 

about 10% of GDP) and new lending facilities announced by the Fed which could 

channel up to $6trn in temporary financing to consumers and firms over the coming 

months. Nearly half of the first figure is made up of permanent fiscal transfers to 

households and firms, including cash payments of $1,200 to individuals.  

 

The loans for small businesses, which convert into grants if firms use them to maintain 

their payroll, will cost $367bn and 100% of the cost of lost wages for four months will 

also be covered.  In addition there will be $500bn of funding from the Treasury’s 

Exchange Stabilization Fund which will provide loans for hard-hit industries, including 

$50bn for airlines. 

 

However, all this will not stop the US falling into a sharp recession in quarter 2 of 2020; 

some estimates are that growth could fall by as much as 40%.  The first two weeks in 

March of initial jobless claims have already hit a total of 10 million and look headed for 

a total of 15m by the end of March. 

 

EUROZONE.  The annual rate of growth has been steadily falling, from 1.8% in 2018 to 

Page 169



only 0.9% y/y in quarter 4 in 2019.  The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its 

programme of quantitative easing purchases of debt in December 2018, which meant 

that the central banks in the US, UK and EU had all ended the phase of post financial 

crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world financial markets by purchases of debt.  

However, the downturn in EZ growth, together with inflation falling well under the upper 

limit of its target range of 0 to 2%, (but it aims to keep it near to 2%), prompted the ECB 

to take new measures to stimulate growth.  At its March 2019 meeting it announced a 

third round of TLTROs [targeted longer-term refinancing operations]; this provides 

banks with cheap two year maturity borrowing every three months from September 2019 

until March 2021.  However, since then, the downturn in EZ and world growth has 

gathered momentum so at its meeting in September 2019, it cut its deposit rate further 

into negative territory, from -0.4% to -0.5% and announced a resumption of quantitative 

easing purchases of debt to start in November at €20bn per month, a relatively small 

amount, plus more TLTRO measures.  Once coronavirus started having a major impact 

in Europe, the ECB took action in March 2020 to expand its QE operations and other 

measures to help promote expansion of credit and economic growth.  What is currently 

missing is a coordinated EU response of fiscal action by all national governments to 

protect jobs, support businesses directly and promote economic growth by expanding 

government expenditure on e.g. infrastructure; action is therefore likely to be patchy. 

 

CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 

repeated rounds of central bank stimulus; medium-term risks have also been increasing.  

The major feature of 2019 was the trade war with the US.  However, this has been 

eclipsed by being the first country to be hit by the coronavirus outbreak; this resulted in 

a lock down of the country and a major contraction of economic activity in February-

March 2020.  While it appears that China has put a lid on the virus by the end of March, 

these are still early days to be confident and it is clear that the economy is going to take 

some time to recover its previous rate of growth.  Ongoing economic issues remain, in 

needing to make major progress to eliminate excess industrial capacity and to switch 

investment from property construction and infrastructure to consumer goods production. 

It also needs to address the level of non-performing loans in the banking and credit 

systems.  

 

JAPAN has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get 

inflation up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus.  It is also 

making little progress on fundamental reform of the economy.  It appears to have missed 

much of the domestic impact from coronavirus in 2019-20 but the virus is at an early 

stage there. 

 

WORLD GROWTH.  The trade war between the US and China on tariffs was a major 

concern to financial markets and was depressing worldwide growth during 2019, as any 

downturn in China would spill over into impacting countries supplying raw materials to 

China.  Concerns were particularly focused on the synchronised general weakening of 

growth in the major economies of the world. These concerns resulted in government 

Page 170



bond yields in the developed world falling significantly during 2019. In 2020, coronavirus 

is the big issue which is going to sweep around most countries in the world and have a 

major impact in causing a world recession in growth in 2020.  

 

  

Page 171



APPENDIX A2 

Economic update (as prepared by Link Asset Services in the first 
week of September 2020) 

 As expected, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee kept Bank Rate 
unchanged on 6th August.  It also kept unchanged the level of quantitative easing 
at £745bn.  Its forecasts were optimistic in terms of three areas:  

o The fall in GDP in the first half of 2020 was revised from 28% to 23%.  This 
is still one of the largest falls in output of any developed nation.  However, 
it is only to be expected as the UK economy is heavily skewed towards 
consumer-facing services – an area which was particularly vulnerable to 
being damaged by lockdown. 

o The peak in the unemployment rate was revised down from 9% in Q2 to 
7½% by Q4 2020.  

o It forecast that there would be excess demand in the economy by Q3 2022 
causing CPI inflation to rise above the 2% target in Q3 2022, (based on 
market interest rate expectations for a further loosening in policy). 
Nevertheless, even if the Bank were to leave policy unchanged, inflation 
was still projected to be above 2% in 2023. 

 It also squashed any idea of using negative interest rates, at least in the next 
six months or so. It suggested that while negative rates can work in some 
circumstances, it would be “less effective as a tool to stimulate the economy” at 
this time when banks are worried about future loan losses.  It also has “other 
instruments available”, including QE and the use of forward guidance. 

 The MPC still expects the £300bn of quantitative easing purchases announced 
between its March and June meetings to continue until the “turn of the year”.  
This implies that the pace of purchases will slow further to about £4bn a week, 
down from £14bn a week at the height of the crisis and £7bn more recently. 

 In conclusion, this would indicate that the Bank can now just sit on its hands as 
the economy is recovering better than expected.   However, the MPC 
acknowledged that the “medium-term projections were a less informative guide 
than usual” and the minutes had multiple references to downside risks, which 
were judged to persist both in the short and medium term. One has only to look 
at the potential for a second wave of the virus to see the dangers.  However, 
rather than a national lockdown, as in March, any spikes in virus infections are 
now likely to be dealt with by localised measures and this should limit the amount 
of economic damage caused.  In addition, Brexit uncertainties ahead of the year-
end deadline are likely to be a drag on recovery.  The wind down in the furlough 
scheme through to the end of October is another development that could cause 
the Bank to review the need for more support for the economy later in the year.  
If the Bank felt it did need to provide further support to recovery, then it is likely 
that the tool of choice would be more QE.  Overall, the pace of recovery is not 
expected to be in the form of a rapid V shape, but a more elongated and 
prolonged one.  There will also be some painful longer term adjustments as e.g. 
office space and travel by planes, trains and buses may not recover to their 
previous level of use for several years, or possibly ever.  There is also likely to 
be a reversal of globalisation as this crisis has shown up how vulnerable long-
distance supply chains are.  On the other hand, digital services is one area that 
has already seen huge growth. 

Page 172



 One key addition to forward guidance was a new phrase in the policy statement, 
namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear 
evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity 
and achieving the 2% target sustainably”.  That seems designed to say, in effect, 
that even if inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any 
action from the MPC to raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly see that level of 
inflation is going to be persistently above target if it takes no action to raise Bank 
Rate 

 The Financial Policy Committee (FPC) report on 6th August revised down their 
expected credit losses for the banking sector to “somewhat less than £80bn”. It 
stated that in its assessment “banks have buffers of capital more than sufficient 
to absorb the losses that are likely to arise under the MPC’s central projection”. 
The FPC stated that for real stress in the sector, the economic output would need 
to be twice as bad as the MPC’s projection, with unemployment rising to above 
15%.  

 Overall, it is expected that there has been a strong pickup in economic growth 
during the back-end of quarter 2 of 2020.  However, that pace is likely to fade as 
the furlough scheme ending in October will lead to many job losses during the 
second half of the year. Consumers will also probably remain cautious in 
spending and this will dampen growth.  Uncertainty over the outcome of the 
UK/EU trade negotiations concluding at the end of the year will also be a 
headwind.  

 US. The incoming sets of data during the first week of August were almost 
universally stronger than expected.  With the number of new daily coronavirus 
infections beginning to abate, recovery should continue over the coming months 
and employment growth should also pick up again.  However, growth will be 
dampened by continuing outbreaks of the virus in some states leading to fresh 
localised restrictions.  At its end of August meeting, the Fed tweaked its inflation 
target from 2% to maintaining an average of 2% over an unspecified time period 
i.e.following periods when inflation has been running persistently below 2%, 
appropriate monetary policy will likely aim to achieve inflation moderately above 
2% for some time.  This change is aimed to provide more stimulus for economic 
growth and higher levels of employment and to avoid the danger of getting caught 
in a deflationary “trap” like Japan.  It is to be noted that inflation has actually been 
under shooting the 2% target significantly for most of the last decade so financial 
markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to be in the pipeline; 
long term bond yields duly rose after the meeting.  The Fed also called on 
Congress to end its political disagreement over providing more support for the 
unemployed as there is a limit to what monetary policy can do compared to more 
directed central government fiscal policy.  There is now some expectation that 
where the Fed has led in changing its inflation target, other major central banks 
will follow.  The increase in tension over the last year between the US and China 
is likely to lead to a lack of momentum in progressing the initial positive moves 
to agree a phase one trade deal. 

 EU. The economy was recovering well towards the end of Q2 after a sharp drop 
in GDP.  However, there are growing fears of a second wave of the virus that 
could cause a significant slowdown in the pace of recovery, especially in 
countries more dependent on tourism.  The fiscal support package, eventually 
agreed by the EU after prolonged disagreement between various countries, is 
unlikely to provide significant support and quickly enough to make an appreciable 
difference in weaker countries.  The ECB has been struggling to get inflation up 

Page 173



to its 2% target and it is therefore expected that it will have to provide more 
monetary policy support through more quantitative easing purchases of bonds in 
the absence of sufficient fiscal support. 

 China.  After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1, 
economic recovery was strong in Q2 and has enabled it to recover all of the 
contraction in Q1.  However, this was achieved by major central government 
funding of yet more infrastructure spending.  After years of growth having been 
focused on this same area, any further spending in this area is likely to lead to 
increasingly weaker economic returns.  This could, therefore, lead to a further 
misallocation of resources which will weigh on growth in future years. 

 Japan. There are some concerns that a second wave of the virus is gaining 
momentum and could damage economic growth further.  It has been struggling 
to get out of a deflation trap for many years and to stimulate consistent significant 
GDP growth and to get inflation up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary 
and fiscal stimulus.  It is also making little progress on fundamental reform of the 
economy.  The resignation of Prime Minister Abe is not expected to result in any 
significant change in economic policy. 

 World growth.  Latin America and India are currently hotspots for virus 
infections.  World growth will be in recession this year. Inflation is unlikely to be 
a problem for some years due to the creation of excess production capacity and 
depressed demand caused by the coronavirus crisis. 

  

Page 174



APPENDIX B 

Interest rate forecast update (as prepared by Link Asset Services in 
the first week of September 2020) 

 As LIBOR rates will cease from the end of 2021, there are no LIBID forecasts for 
2022/23.  Link will be continuing to look at market developments in this area and 
will monitor these with a view to communicating with clients when full financial 
market agreement is reached on how to replace LIBOR.  This is likely to be an 
iteration of the overnight SONIA rate and the use of compounded rates and 
Overnight Index Swap (OIS) rates for forecasting purposes. 

 Please note that we have made a slight change to our interest rate forecasts 
table above.  Traditionally, we have used 3m LIBID forecasts, with the rate 
calculated using market convention of 1/8th (0.125%) taken off the LIBOR figure. 
Given that 3m LIBOR is currently running below 10bps, that would give a figure 
of around 0% to somewhere modestly into negative territory.  However, the 
liquidity premium that is still in evidence at the short end of the curve means that 
3m rates actually being achieved by local authority investors are still modestly in 
positive territory.  While there are differences between counterparty offer rates, 
our analysis would suggest that an average rate of around 10bps should be 
achievable. (Please note that the graph of investment rates in appendix 2 is 
based on market rates, i.e. actual LIBOR-related rates, not rates actually being 
achieved by local authorities.) 

The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and around the 
world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in March to cut Bank Rate to 
first 0.25%, and then to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its last meeting on 6 th 
August, although some forecasters had suggested that a cut into negative territory could 
happen.  However, the Governor of the Bank of England has made it clear that he 
currently thinks that such a move would do more damage than good and that more 
quantitative easing is the favoured tool if further action becomes necessary.  As shown 
in the forecast table above, no increase in Bank Rate is expected within the forecast 
horizon ending on 31st March 2023 as economic recovery is expected to be only gradual 
and, therefore, prolonged. 

GILT YIELDS / PWLB RATES.  There was much speculation during the second half of 
2019 that bond markets were in a bubble which was driving bond prices up and yields 
down to historically very low levels.  The context for that was heightened expectations 
that the US could have been heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there were 
growing expectations of a downturn in world economic growth, especially due to fears 
around the impact of the trade war between the US and China, together with inflation 
generally at low levels in most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, 
these conditions were conducive to very low bond yields.  While inflation targeting by 
the major central banks has been successful over the last 30 years in lowering inflation 
expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central rates has fallen considerably due to 
the high level of borrowing by consumers. This means that central banks do not need 
to raise rates as much now to have a major impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. 
The consequence of this has been the gradual lowering of the overall level of interest 
rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last 30 years.  Over the year prior to 
the coronavirus crisis, this has seen many bond yields up to 10 years turn negative in 
the Eurozone. In addition, there has, at times, been an inversion of bond yields in the 
US whereby 10 year yields have fallen below shorter term yields. In the past, this has 
been a precursor of a recession.  The other side of this coin is that bond prices are 

Page 175



elevated as investors would be expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, 
in anticipation of a downturn in corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.   

Gilt yields had therefore already been on a falling trend during the year up until the 
coronavirus crisis hit western economies. Since then, we have seen these yields fall 
sharply to unprecedented lows as investors panicked during March in selling shares in 
anticipation of impending recessions in western economies and moved cash into safe 
haven assets i.e. government bonds. However, major western central banks started 
massive quantitative easing purchases of government bonds and this has acted to 
maintain downward pressure on government bond yields at a time when there has been 
a huge and quick expansion of government expenditure financed by issuing government 
bonds. Such unprecedented levels of issuance, in “normal” times would have caused 
bond yields to rise sharply.  At the close of the day on 28th August, all gilt yields from 1 
to 4 years were in negative territory, while even 25-year yields were at only 0.97% and 
50 year at 0.82%.  Meanwhile, equity markets have enjoyed a rebound since the lows 
of March as confidence has started to return among investors that the worst is over and 
recovery is now on the way. 

 

 

From the local authority borrowing perspective, HM Treasury imposed two changes of 
margins over gilt yields for PWLB rates in 2019-20 without any prior warning. The 
first took place on 9th October 2019, adding an additional 1% margin over gilts to all 
PWLB period rates.  That increase was then at least partially reversed for some forms 
of borrowing on 11th March 2020, but not for mainstream General Fund capital schemes, 
at the same time as the Government announced in the Budget a programme of 
increased infrastructure expenditure. It also announced that there would be a 
consultation with local authorities on possibly further amending these margins; this was 
to end on 4th June, but that date was subsequently put back to 31st July. It is clear that 
the Treasury will no longer allow local authorities to borrow money from the PWLB to 
purchase commercial property if the aim is solely to generate an income stream (assets 
for yield). 

Following the changes on 11th March 2020 in margins over gilt yields, the current 
situation is as follows: -  

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 200 basis points (G+200bps) 

 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 180 basis points (G+180bps) 

 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 

 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps) 

 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 

It is possible that the non-HRA Certainty Rate will be subject to revision downwards 
after the conclusion of the PWLB consultation; however, the timing of such a change is 
currently an unknown, although it would be likely to be within the current financial year 

As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates, (gilts plus 180bps), above shows, 
there is likely to be little upward movement in PWLB rates over the next two years as it 
will take economies, including the UK, a prolonged period to recover all the momentum 
they have lost in the sharp recession caused during the coronavirus shut down period. 
Inflation is also likely to be very low during this period and could even turn negative in 
some major western economies during 2020/21.  

The balance of risks to the UK 

Page 176



 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably relatively 
even, but is subject to major uncertainty due to the virus. 

 There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in Bank Rate 
and significant changes in shorter term PWLB rates. The Bank of England has 
effectively ruled out the use of negative interest rates in the near term and 
increases in Bank Rate are likely to be some years away given the underlying 
economic expectations. However, it is always possible that safe haven flows, due 
to unexpected domestic developments and those in other major economies, 
could impact gilt yields, (and so PWLB rates), in the UK. 

 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include:  

 UK - second nationwide wave of virus infections requiring a national lockdown 

 UK / EU trade negotiations – if it were to cause significant economic disruption 
and a fresh major downturn in the rate of growth. 

 UK - Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three 
years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in 
inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. The ECB has taken 
monetary policy action to support the bonds of EU states, with the positive impact 
most likely for “weaker” countries. In addition, the EU recently agreed a €750bn 
fiscal support package.  These actions will help shield weaker economic regions 
for the next year or so. However, in the case of Italy, the cost of the virus crisis 
has added to its already huge debt mountain and its slow economic growth will 
leave it vulnerable to markets returning to taking the view that its level of debt is 
unsupportable.  There remains a sharp divide between northern EU countries 
favouring low debt to GDP and annual balanced budgets and southern countries 
who want to see jointly issued Eurobonds to finance economic recovery. This 
divide could undermine the unity of the EU in time to come.   

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, which could be undermined 
further depending on extent of credit losses resultant of the pandemic. 

 German minority government & general election in 2021. In the German 
general election of September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a 
vulnerable minority position dependent on the fractious support of the SPD party, 
as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD party. The CDU 
has done badly in subsequent state elections but the SPD has done particularly 
badly. Angela Merkel has stepped down from being the CDU party leader but 
she intends to remain as Chancellor until the general election in 2021. This then 
leaves a major question mark over who will be the major guiding hand and driver 
of EU unity when she steps down.   

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, 
Netherlands, Ireland and Belgium also have vulnerable minority governments 
dependent on coalitions which could prove fragile.  

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a strongly anti-
immigration bloc within the EU.  There has also been rising anti-immigration 
sentiment in Germany and France. 

Page 177



 Geopolitical risks, for example in China, Iran or North Korea, but also in Europe 
and other Middle Eastern countries, which could lead to increasing safe haven 
flows.  

 US – the Presidential election in 2020: this could have repercussions for the 
US economy and SINO-US trade relations.  

 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 

 UK - stronger than currently expected recovery in UK economy. 

 Post-Brexit – if an agreement was reached that removed the majority of 
threats of economic disruption between the EU and the UK.  

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases 
in Bank Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too 
strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid 
series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.  

  

Page 178



APPENDIX C 
 

PWLB maturity certainty rates (gilts plus 180bps) year to date to 31 

March 2020 

During the first six months PWLB rates were on a falling trend and longer rates 

reached historic lows. On 9 October, the Treasury increased the margin on 

PWLB rates by 100 bps (1%). Over the third quarter rates were on a rising trend 

but then fell sharply in the fourth quarter once the coronavirus outbreak hit the 

UK during March.  The 50 year PWLB target rate for new long term borrowing 

started the year at 2.50%, fell to a low of 2.00% from August, and ended the year 

at 2.30% (including the additional 100bps margin imposed from 9 October).  

 

 
 

 

 
 

  

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year

Low 1.17% 1.00% 1.13% 1.73% 1.57%

Date 03/09/2019 08/10/2019 03/09/2019 03/09/2019 03/09/2019

High 2.47% 2.45% 2.76% 3.25% 3.05%

Date 21/10/2019 19/03/2020 19/03/2020 19/03/2020 31/12/2019

Average 1.83% 1.77% 2.00% 2.56% 2.40%

Page 179



APPENDIX D 
 

 Debt maturity profile 

 
  

Page 180



APPENDIX E 
 

 Investment instruments identified for use by the Council during 

2019/20 

 

Specified investments 
 
AAA rated money market funds - limit £20m 
Debt Management Office – no limit 
Royal Bank of Scotland* – limit £25m  
Duration of up to one year. 
 
*Royal Bank of Scotland is included as a specified investment since it is the 
Council’s banker and the UK Government holds a majority stake.  
 
Non-specified investments 
 
All institutions included on Link Asset Services’ weekly “Suggested Credit 
List” – limit £10m 
All UK local authorities – limit £10m 
Duration to be determined by the “Suggested Credit List” from Link  

  

Page 181



APPENDIX F 
 

Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2019/20  

Treasury Indicators Treasury 
Management 

Strategy 
Statement         

£m 

Actual 
 
 
 

 £m 
Authorised limit for external debt 1,486.0 1,705.3 

Operational boundary for external debt 1,436.0 1,655.3 

Gross external debt 1,436.0  1,520.8 

   
Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing  - upper 
and lower limits 

  

Under 12 months 0-20% 19.0% 

12 months to 2 years 0-20% 8.5% 

2 years to 5 years 0-30% 4.6% 

5 years to 10 years 0-30% 3.6% 

10 years and above  0-100% 64.3% 

 

 

Prudential Indicators Treasury 
Management 

Strategy 
Statement         

£m 

Actual 
 
 
 

£m 
Capital expenditure   
General Fund 93.201 112.005 

Commercial Activities / non-financial investments 90.273 68.377 

HRA 38.451 51.375 

TOTAL 221.925 231.757 

   

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)   

General Fund 1,126.663 1,126.069 

HRA 338.688 338.924 

TOTAL 1,465.351 1,464.993 

   
Annual change in CFR   
General Fund 139.219 137.610 

HRA  16.427 

TOTAL 139.219 154.037 

   
In year borrowing requirement 139.219 154.037 

 

Page 182



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:                          GENERAL PURPOSES & AUDIT COMMITTEE  

7 October 2020 

SUBJECT: Head of Internal Audit Annual Report 2019/20 

LEAD OFFICER: Head of Internal Audit 

CABINET 

MEMBER 

Councillor Simon Hall  
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

WARDS: ALL 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY  

Internal Audit’s work helps the Council to improve its corporate capacity through 

sound and robust governance structures, financial management and risk 

management within the organisation. Strengthening corporate capacity is critical 

in improving the Council’s ability to deliver services helping the Council achieve 

its vision and aims for the community as a whole. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY: 

The Internal Audit contract for 2019/20 was a fixed price of £383K and the 

appropriate provision was made within the budget for 2019/20.   

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO.:   

 

For general release 
 
 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.1 The Committee is asked to note the Head of Internal Audit Report 2019/20 

(Appendix 1) and the overall Limited level of assurance of the Council’s 
systems of internal control.  

 
1.2 Note the actions being taken (paras 3.8 to 3.10). 
 

Page 183

Agenda Item 8



  

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 

2.1 This report details the work completed by Internal Audit in 2019/20 and the overall 
levels of assurance for the Council’s internal control environment to support the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The AGS is also on the agenda for this 
meeting and will be published on the Council’s website alongside the final 
accounts. 

 
2.2 From the Internal Audit work undertaken in 2019/20, it is the Head of Internal 

Audit’s opinion that Internal Audit can provide only Limited Assurance in relation 

to the system of internal control, and that the internal controls within non-financial 
systems operating throughout the year were unsatisfactory in some cases. This 
was contributed to by the significant external factors identified below.  

 
2.3 Control weaknesses have been identified and highlighted in relation to: 

 Contract letting, monitoring and management; 

 Financial management within the adult and children’s social care teams; 

 Energy recharges to external organisations’; 

 Privacy notices relating to the collection of personal data; 

 Schools in financial deficit and some weak financial controls; and 

 Claiming, approving and recording of staff expenses. 
 
2.4 The report identifies actions that have been agreed to address weaknesses, 

including: 

 All action plans to address individual audit findings are to be signed off by 
the relevant Executive Director who will be responsible for ensuring 
implementation. 

 Internal audit will attend Departmental Management Team meetings to 
 discuss issues being reported to members of GPAC. 

 Internal audit will also attend Executive Leadership Team meetings to 
 discuss GPAC audit update reports and the issues that they identify.  

 

 Context 

 
2.5 Since 2010 Croydon Council has received significant reductions in grant funding 

from Central Government. That now amounts to a grant reduction of 75%. Over 
that same period the Council has delivered £242m in savings. Inevitably that has 
resulted in some loss of staffing, even before the ravages of the COVID-19 
pandemic came onto the scene.  

 
2.6 Indeed, as part of her introduction to the GPAC annual report for 2019/20, the 

Chair, Councillor Jewitt, made the following observation: As part of its work, the 
committee has noticed a deterioration in the results of internal audits over the last 
couple of years and the resultant overall limited assurance that the Head of 
Internal Audit has given this year. This is clearly happening as a direct result of 
Central Government cuts in funding and the pressure that these are putting on the 
organisation. 

 
 

Page 184



  

3. DETAIL 
 

3.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Head of Internal Audit to 
prepare an independent annual written report to members that includes: 

 

 an opinion on the overall effectiveness of the organisation’s framework for 
governance, risk management and control; 

 

 disclosure of any qualifications on that opinion; and 
 

 any issues the Head of Internal Audit judges relevant to the preparation of 
the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
3.2 Appendix 1 details the annual report for the period 2019/20.  From the work 

undertaken, the Head of Internal Audit is giving a Limited Assurance in that the 
Council’s framework for governance, risk management and control does not 
accord with proper practice in several cases.  

 

3.3 The Limited level of assurance reflects that 52% of individual finalised audits 
received either No or Limited assurance levels [including 8 school audits with 
limited or no assurance]. This is compares with 40% for the previous year. It 
should be noted, however, that at the time of writing there are still a number 
reports in draft. There will be an update on these outstanding reports at the next 
meeting of this committee. The most significant control weaknesses identified are 
set out in paragraph 3.8. 

 
3.4 The assurance levels of finalised internal audits can be broken down as follows: 
 

 Full Substantial Limited No Total 

Key Financial Systems 25%  (2) 62%    (5) 13%  (1) 0%  (0) 8 

ICT Systems 0%    (0) 100%  (2) 0%    (0) 0%  (0) 2 

Operational and 
Departmental Systems 

5%    (1) 33%    (7) 57%  (12) 5%  (1) 21 

Schools 0%    (0) 34%    (4) 58%   (7) 8%  (1) 12 

Total 7%    (3) 41%   (18) 47%  (20) 5%  (2) 43 

 
 
3.5 Internal audit has identified issues and risks and service managers have identified 

actions to mitigate those risks. The Council now needs to ensure that the action is 
taken to implement audit recommendations particularly in relation to priority one 
issues. The actions to address the most significant issues are set out in paragraph 
3.8 below. 

 

 Implementation of Audit recommendations 
 

3.6 The Council has set targets for the implementation of audit recommendations. 
Implementation is assessed at the time of follow-up audits. The targets are 80% 
for all priority 2 & 3 recommendations and 90% for priority 1 recommendations. 
The table below shows achievement against these targets for the follow-up audits 
carried out to date. Indications are that the targets for recommendations for 

Page 185



  

2019/20 will be achieved when the follow up programme is completed over the 
coming year. 

 

Implementation of agreed recommendations 
Performance Objective Target Performance 

2015/16 

(to date*) 

Performance 

2016/17 

(to date*) 

Performance 

2017/18 

(to date*) 

Performance 

2018/19 

(to date*) 

Performance 

2019/20 

(to date*) 

Percentage of priority one 
recommendations implemented at the 
time of the follow up audit 

90% 100% 93%% 98% 77% 63% 

Percentage of all recommendations 
implemented at the time of the follow 
up audit 

80% 94% 91% 90% 82% 80% 

 * audits are still being followed up for  2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 and 
therefore the percentage is likely to change. 

 
3.7 Internal Audit continues to work with departments to help improve implementation 

timescales. This includes reports to all Departmental Management Teams 
highlighting where recommendations are not being implemented and agreeing the 
way forward. 

 

 Significant Control Weaknesses 
 
3.8 Internal Audit is required to form an opinion on the quality of the framework for 

governance, risk management and control, which includes consideration of any 
significant risk or governance issues and control failures which arise.  During the 
financial year 2019/20, the following key issues were identified. All 6 of these 
items have been carried forward to the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and 
responses sought from relevant management. These are shown here as well as 
within Appendix 1 of the AGS along with other areas of risk. 

 

Audit Issue Management Response 

Although there continues to be 
improvements, during the course of 
internal audit work during the year, a 
number of issues were identified with 
contract letting, monitoring and 
management. 

Work continues to improve practice 
across the Commissioning Cycle, key 
actions in 2019/20 include: 

 development of the 
commissioning pipeline, enabling 
us to identify and review legacy 
arrangements, provide better 
organisational oversight of 
existing contracts, and inform 
strategic planning processes 

 implementation of additional e-
procurement system modules, 
such as the electronic scoring 
module, providing us with the 
ability to move away from some 
manual processes 

 the launch of a Procurement 
Governance Review in January 
2020 and the establishment of 
project team containing all key 
stakeholders, identifying key 

Page 186



  

management information required 
to inform our continuous 
improvement and progress. The 
Review concluded and made 
recommendations in July 2020, 
which are now being 
implemented. 

 

Internal audit work during the year 
identified a number of issues relating 
to financial management within the 
adult and children’s social care teams. 

ADULTS: The Council is implementing a 
series of new tools (identified below) that 
will improve and support financial 
management departmentally and 
divisionally. 
 

 ContrOCC, the finance system 
that links care and support plans 
and costs is expected to come 
on line from the 18th of 
September 2020.  Staff are 
currently in training to prepare for 
the move to this new system. 

 MyResources, the tool for Council 
staff to manage staff 
establishments, budgets, 
provider payments and income is 
now successfully embedded and 
is providing greater levels of 
scrutiny for managers. 

 Dynamic purchasing system 
(DPS) for care homes, the 
system to procure all future care 
provision is currently still under 
development and has been 
delayed by the impact of COVID 
19. It is being launched in 
September with the DPS 
operational by January 2021. 
DPS 1 (home care) and DPS 3 
(supported living/ 
accommodation) are now 
operational. The development of 
the strategy for the Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS), has 
allowed for closer scrutiny of 
finance and performance data to 
inform commissioning plans.  A 
dashboard is being produced to 
track all placements and 
packages to be overseen by 
Directors. Updates on the DPS 

Page 187



  

will be given six monthly to 
Contracts and Commissioning 
Board.  

 
On monitoring care spend on domiciliary 
and residential care; the successful 
implementation of the new adult social 
care Liquid Logic content management 
system due to come on line on the 18th 
of September 2020, and the linked 
financial system, ContrOCC, will be key 
drivers to achieve improved monitoring.  

 

The Adapt programme remains the key 
adult social care resource to deliver the 
savings. Assurances will be presented 
via the Health Wellbeing and Adults DLT 
for 2020/21.  

 

With COVID 19, those business cases 
intended to deliver savings in 2020/21 
have had to be revised, due to the 
reduced ability to deliver. This work has 
been aligned to the 24 Corporate 
Workstreams. Links have been made 
with all Workstream Leads, and 
interdependencies have been 
established to deliver reviews of capital 
spend, fees and charges, review of 
contracts, and the review of placements 
and packages 
 
For Adult Social Care, Internal Audit will 
also deliver an audit on our forecasting 
and financial planning. 
 

CHILDRENS: Placement costs for 
children in care and care packages for 
children with disabilities remain a 
pressure, and to ensure these are better 
gripped and more accurately forecasted 
a number of measures are now in place: 
 

 A new Financial Management 
Framework was agreed at the 
Departmental Leadership Team 
(DLT) in June 2020 setting out a 
robust process and timetable for 
monthly and quarterly budget 
monitoring at DLT, ELT and financial 

Page 188



  

reporting to members 

 Monthly monitoring by the 
Executive Director at DLT, with 
mitigating actions agreed as 
necessary 

 A full reconciliation of all 
placements made, purchase orders 
receipted and payments made is now 
being  undertaken each month 

 A weekly child in care review 
panel has been established, chaired 
by the Director Early Help & 
Children’s Social Care, to ensure that 
where children and young people 
can live safely with families a 
package of support is provided for 
them to do so  

  
  
To strengthen financial management 
and budget forecasting ContrOCC, the 
finance system that links care and 
support plans held in Liquid Logic and 
placement costs is being implemented 
and will be fully operational across all 
children’s care groups in September 
2020.  
 
Progress against recommendations and 
priority actions from internal audits, 
where these have been made, will be 
reviewed and monitored at DLT in a 
quarterly basis to ensure risks are 
appropriately mitigated and lessons 
learned across the Department.  
 

An internal audit conducted during 
2018/19 of energy recharges identified 
some significant weaknesses resulting 
in circa £4M of recharges being 
outstanding, a significant part of which 
related to organisations outside of the 
council.  This resulted in a ‘No 
Assurance’ audit report being issued.  
These significant weaknesses were 
not yet resolved during 2019/20. 

The issues arising from energy 
recharges and billing has now been 
resolved with a coding amendment 
taking place.  
 
The schools have been notified and the 
invoices are being validated as accurate 
prior to being processed by Facilities 
Management. 

Internal audit continues to identify a 
number of instances where privacy 

The intranet is up to date and contains 
detailed advice and information for 
services on the requirements of 

Page 189



  

notices relating to the collection of 
personal data were missing or were no 
longer fit for purpose. Also noted that 
agreements with 3rd parties did not 
always address this issue adequately. 

information management and GDPR 
including the need for Privacy Notices.  
 
An overarching corporate Privacy 
Notices is in place together with service 
specific privacy Notices for key services. 
A review of service specific Privacy 
Notices   will be undertaken by the end 
of this financial year March 2021. The 
legal team will review all service 
requests for new Privacy Notices.  
 
A compulsory GDPR refresher e-
learning module is due to be rolled out in 
September 2020 requiring staff to 
update themselves on key GDPR areas 
including the requirements around 
Privacy Notices. An introduction to 
GDPR training remains a compulsory 
requirement for all new starters which is 
undertaken during the probationary 
period. 
 
Communications specific to Privacy 
Notices and contract agreements will be 
included as part of keeping colleagues 
aware of GDPR legislation, this will be 
done by end of December 2020, in line 
with all other identified activities 
following the internal audit. 
 
All recommendations required by 
internal audit have either been 
implemented or in the most recent 
reports compliance is in progress. The 
Information Management Team are 
supporting relevant services on 
outstanding recommendations as 
necessary. Finalised reports continue to 
be published on the Council’s website 
and available for public viewing. 
 

There are a number of schools in 
deficit and several instances of 
weaknesses in financial control.  

Comprehensive review and new 
procedures for schools in deficit 
developed and issued to schools, 
requiring submission of 2020/21 License 
Deficit Return with signed budgets by 
the 1st May 2020.    
(One school was given an increased 
timeline for submission of this). 

Page 190



  

 
Scheme for Financing Schools updated 
to reflect the new forms and 
arrangements. 
 
Approval of Licensed Deficit Plans by 
S151 officer. 
 
Monthly monitoring reports to be 
submitted by all schools in deficit and a 
series of monitoring meetings between 
Local Authority and Schools’ senior 
leadership, including their financial 
advisor, throughout the year. Governing 
Body representation required at half 
termly meetings. 
 
Independent advisor commissioned by 
the Schools Forum to support this 
process.  
 

An internal audit of staff expenses 
identified a number of control 
weaknesses. This resulted in a ‘No 
Assurance’ audit report being issued. 

The Council’s executive leadership team 
have been briefed about the issues 
raised by this report. 

A working group has been setup to 
review the policy and guidance issued to 
staff and to undertake further 
communications to raise awareness of 
the revised policy/guidance. 
 
The expenses policy has been redrafted 
and combined with the car allowances 
policy.  The new policy has been taken 
to the unions and there is one 
outstanding issue about the rates we 
pay for motor and pedal cycles.  There is 
also a check being undertaken with 
other London Council’s to see what they 
pay.   Once those rates are finalised we 
can then inform the unions and publish 
the updated policy.  Also, some quarterly 
checks on expenses claims will be made 
once the policy is signed off. 
 

 
  
3.9 Actions have been agreed to address these weaknesses and internal audit will be 

involved in further audit work in these areas.  
 

Page 191



  

3.10 In addition, to raise the profile of issues raised by internal audit and to address 
them earlier: 

 All action plans to address individual audit findings are to be signed off by 
the relevant Executive Director who will be responsible for ensuring 
implementation. 

 Internal audit will attend Departmental Management Team meetings to 
 discuss issues being reported to members of GPAC. 

 Internal audit will also attend Executive Leadership Team meetings to 
 discuss GPAC audit update reports and the issues that they identify.  

 
 

4. CONSULTATION 
 

4.1 The outcome of all audit work is discussed and agreed with the lead service 
managers. Departmental Leadership Teams receive reports from internal audit 
and consider progress on audit recommendations.   

 

 

5. FINANCIAL AND RISK CONSIDERATIONS 
 

5.1 The fixed price for the Internal Audit Contract was £383K for 2019/20 and there 
was adequate provision within the budget.  There are no additional financial 
considerations relating to this report. 

 
5.2 Internal Audit’s planning methodology is based on risk assessments that include 

using the Council risk register processes and ensure the integration with the risk 
management framework. 

 
5.3 The financial constraints that the council is experiencing and the consequent 

savings that need to be achieved, will continue to make it challenging to maintain 
a robust system of internal control. Internal audit will need to maintain some 
flexibility in its work plan to accommodate new or increasing areas of risk. 

 
 (Approved by: Felicia Wright, Head of Finance Place and Resources) 

 

 

6. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

6.1 The Head of Litigation and Corporate Law comments on behalf of the Director of 
Law and Governance that there are various obligations upon the Council 
regarding ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and 
proper standards. This includes the duty (under the Local Government Act 1999) 
to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement, to have an Annual 
Government Statement (Account and Audit Regulations 2015) and to undertake a 
review of effectiveness.  

 
6.2 Further the Council’s Financial Regulations, as part of the Constitution, require the 

preparation of an annual Head of Audit Report and an Annual Governance 
Statement.  

 
6.3 It is noted that the terms of reference of the General Purposes Audit Committee 

Page 192



  

enables it to consider the annual report of the Head of Internal Audit and make 
recommendations as appropriate to Cabinet and/or Full Council. 

 
(Approved by: Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate Law on behalf of the Director of 
Law and Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

 
 

7. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  
 

7.1 There are no immediate human resource considerations arising from this report for 
 LBC employees or staff. 
 

(Approved by: Gillian Bevan, Head of HR - Resources) 

 
 

8. CUSTOMER FOCUS, EQUALITIES, ENVIRONMENTAL, HUMAN RIGHTS & 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION IMPACTS 
 

8.1 When internal Audit is developing the Annual Audit Plan or individual audit 
programmes the impacts of the issues above are considered depending on the 
nature of the area of service being reviewed. Issues relating to these impacts 
would be reflected in the audit reports and recommendations. 

 
 

9. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 

 

9.1 WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING  

OF ‘PERSONAL DATA’?  
 No.  
 
9.2 The Director of Finance, Investment & Risk comments that there are no 

immediate data protection issues arising from this report. 
  

(Approved by: Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance, Investment & Risk) 

 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER:   Simon Maddocks, Head of Internal Audit 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  Individual finalised internal audit reports are posted 
on the council’s website. 

  Internal audit reports 
 

Page 193

https://www.croydon.gov.uk/democracy/budgets/internal-audit-reports/introduction


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

London Borough of Croydon 

Internal Audit Annual Report 

for the year ended 

31 March 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Confidentiality and Disclosure Clause 

This report (“Report”) was prepared by Mazars LLP at the request of London Borough of Croydon and terms for the preparation 
and scope of the Report have been agreed with them. The matters raised in this Report are only those which came to our attention 
during our internal audit work. Whilst every care has been taken to ensure that the information provided in this Report is as 
accurate as possible, Internal Audit have only been able to base findings on the information and documentation provided and 
consequently no complete guarantee can be given that this Report is necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the 
weaknesses that exist, or of all the improvements that may be required. 

The Report was prepared solely for the use and benefit of London Borough of Croydon and to the fullest extent permitted by law 
Mazars LLP accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability to any third party who purports to use or rely for any reason 
whatsoever on the Report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation, amendment and/or modification. Accordingly, 
any reliance placed on the Report, its contents, conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation, amendment and/or modification by any 
third party is entirely at their own risk.  

Please refer to the Statement of Responsibility in Appendix 8 of this report for further information about responsibilities, limitations 
and confidentiality. 

.

Page 195



  1  

 
 

 
 
 
 

Contents 
 

Page 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 2 

2019/20 YEAR OPINION 6 

APPENDIX 1 – WORK AGAINST AUDIT PLAN 12 

APPENDIX 2 – SUMMARY OF PRIORITY ONE RECOMMENDATIONS 15 

APPENDIX 3 - FOLLOW-UP OF 2015/16 AUDITS (INCOMPLETE ONLY) 18 

APPENDIX 4 - FOLLOW-UP OF 2016/17 AUDITS (INCOMPLETE ONLY) 19 

APPENDIX 5 - FOLLOW-UP OF 2017/18 AUDITS (INCOMPLETE ONLY) 20 

APPENDIX 6 - FOLLOW-UP OF 2018/19 AUDITS 22 

APPENDIX 7-  FOLLOW UP OF 2019/20 AUDITS 20 

APPENDIX 8 - STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 26 

  

Page 196



London Borough of Croydon 
 

  2  

 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 
 
The purpose of this report is to contribute to the Head of Internal Audit annual reporting requirements set out in 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  The standards advise that the report must: 
 

a) include an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s governance, risk 
management and control; 

b) disclose any qualifications to that opinion, together with the reasons for the qualification; 
c) present a summary of the audit work from which the opinion is derived, including reliance placed on work 

by other assurance bodies; 
d) draw attention to any issues the Head of Internal Audit judges particularly relevant to the preparation of 

the Annual Governance Statement; 
e) compare the work actually undertaken with the work that was planned and summarise the performance 

of the internal audit function against its performance measures and targets, and 
f) comment on compliance with these standards and communicate the results of the internal audit quality 

assurance programme. 
 
 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion on the Effectiveness of Internal Control 
 
This opinion statement is provided for the use of London Borough of Croydon in support of its Annual Governance 
Statement 2020 that is published with the statement of accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020. 
 
 

Scope of Responsibility 
 
The Council is responsible for ensuring its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, 
and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively.  London Borough of Croydon also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which it functions are exercised, having regard to 
a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, London Borough of Croydon is also responsible for ensuring that there 
is a sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of the Authority’s functions and which 
includes arrangements for the management of risk. 
 
 

The Purpose of the System of Internal Control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness.  The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Croydon’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 
 
 

Review of Effectiveness  
 
The London Borough of Croydon has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control.  The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by 
the work of the external auditors, who during the year analysed the Council’s adherence to CIPFA guidelines 
regarding the Annual Governance Statement and found no major issues.  Effectiveness of the system is also 
conveyed by executive managers within the authority who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control environment, and also by comments made by the external auditors and other 
review agencies and inspectorates in the annual audit letter and other reports. 

Page 197



  3  

 

Head of Internal Audit Annual Opinion Statement 
 
Our opinion is derived from work carried out by Internal Audit during the year as part of the agreed internal audit 
plan for 2019/20, including our assessment of the London Borough of Croydon corporate governance and risk 
management processes and information technology governance. 
 
The internal audit plan for 2019/20 was developed to primarily provide management with independent assurance 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal control. 
 

Basis of Assurance 
 
We have conducted our audits both in accordance with the mandatory standards and good practice contained 
within the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and additionally from our own internal quality assurance systems. 
 
Our opinion is limited to the work carried out by Internal Audit during the year on the effectiveness of the 
management of those principal risks, identified within the organisations Assurance Framework, that are covered 
by Internal Audit’s programme.   
 

Graph 1 – Assurance Levels 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Graph 1 shows the percentage of final audit reports issued per level of assurance over the past five years.  As 
can be seen there has been year on year increase in the number of limited and no assurance audits since 2016/17, 
with the number of limited and no assurance reports in 2019/20 (52%) being significantly more than those issued 
in 2016/17 (27%). 

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Full Assurance 3% 6% 6% 4% 5% 

Substantial Assurance 72% 67% 60% 56% 43% 

Limited Assurance 24% 25% 30% 34% 50% 

No Assurance 1% 2% 4% 6% 2% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

LEVELS OF ASSURANCE BY YEAR

Full

Substantial

Limited

None

Page 198



  4  

 

Graph 2 – Levels of Assurance – Systems Audits 

 

Graph 2 shows the percentage of final reports issued per level of assurance achieved on all the full systems 
audited.  This shows that only 51% of the systems audited, including the core Council financial systems, achieved 
an assurance level of Substantial or Full.  This is significantly worse than the performance of 2018/19 which was 
61%. 

Graph 3 – Levels of Assurance – IT Audits 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Graph 3 shows the percentage of final audit reports issued per level of assurance for the computer audit 
programme of work.  This shows that 100% of the computer audits achieved an assurance level of Full or 
Substantial.  This is in line with the performance of 2018/19 which was also 100%. 

 

 

 

Full
10%

Substantial
41%

Limited
45%

No
4%

Levels of Assurance - Systems Audits

Substantial
100%

Levels of Assurance - IT audits

Page 199



  5  

 

Graph 4 – Levels of Assurance – School Audits 

 

 
Graph 4 shows the results of the schools audit programme.  A total of 67% of all locations visited resulted in a 
Limited or No Assurance.  This is significantly behind the performance in 2018/19 which was 50% (and 2017/18, 
which was 30%). 

 

Substantial
33%

Limited
59%

None
8%

Levels of Assurance - School Audits

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0

15
/1

6

2
0

16
/1

7

2
0

17
/1

8

2
0

18
/1

9

2
0

19
/2

0

2
0

15
/1

6

2
0

16
/1

7

2
0

17
/1

8

2
0

18
/1

9

2
0

19
/2

0

2
0

15
/1

6

2
0

16
/1

7

2
0

17
/1

8

2
0

18
/1

9

2
0

19
/2

0

Systems IT Schools

COMPARISON OF ASSURANCE BY AUDIT TYPE 2015/16 TO 2019/20

Full

Satisfactory

Limited

None

Page 200



  6  

 

2019/20 Year Opinion 

Internal Control 
 
From the Internal Audit work undertaken in 2019/20, it is our opinion that we can provide Limited Assurance that 
the system of internal control that has been in place at London Borough of Croydon for the year ended 31 March 
2020 accords with proper practice. Details of significant internal control issues are documented in the detailed 
report.  The assurance can be further broken down between financial and non-financial systems, as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In reaching this opinion, the following factors were taken into particular consideration: 
 

 The results of the audit work performed during the year, where only 13% of the financial systems audits 
undertaken were ‘Limited’ or ‘No’ assurance, but 60% of the operational systems audits undertaken were 
‘Limited’ or ‘No’ assurance. 

 ‘The Annual Audit Letter’ and supplementary ‘Report on the Value for Money Conclusion’ by Grant 
Thornton for its 2018/19 Audit which issued: 

 an unqualified opinion on the accounts which give a true and fair view of the Councils financial 
position and of the income and expenditure recorded by the Council, and 

 their VfM (Value for Money) conclusion, where ‘On the basis of the significance of the matters we 
identified with your levels of reserves and the matters relating to Children’s Services raised by 
OFSTED, we are not satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources. We therefore propose to give a 
qualified 'adverse' conclusion.’ 

 The Director of Finance, Investment & Risk (Section 151 Officer)’s review of the effectiveness of the 
internal audit function submitted to the General Purposes and Audit Committee on 11 July 2019. 

 A peer review by another London Borough’s Head of Internal Audit which was conducted during the 
course of 2015/16 to assess the extent to which the Council’s internal audit service complied with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  This showed that the Council’s Internal Audit service ‘Generally 
Conforms to the standards’. 

 

Corporate Governance 
 
In our opinion the corporate governance framework complies with the best practice guidance on corporate 
governance issued by CIPFA/SOLACE.  This opinion is based on: 
 
 ‘The Annual Audit Letter’, by Grant Thornton for its 2018/19 Audit, where based on their review of the 

Council’s Annual Governance Statement, they stated that, ‘We are required to give an opinion on whether 
the other information published together with the audited financial statements (including the Annual 
Governance Statement, Narrative Report and Pension Fund Financial Statements), is materially 

Our overall opinion is that internal controls 
within operational systems operating 
throughout the year are not fundamentally 

sound. 

 

THE ASSURANCE –

NON-FINANCIAL 

Our overall opinion is that internal controls 
within financial systems operating throughout 

the year are fundamentally sound. 

THE ASSURANCE –

FINANCIAL 

SYSTEMS 

Page 201



  7  

 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. We identified a couple of areas where management has agreed to include 
additional narrative to enhance the transparency of the disclosures. We plan to issue an unmodified 
opinion in this respect.’ 

 The Audit Findings for the London Borough of Croydon’, by Grant Thornton for its 2018/19 Audit, where 
no significant control weaknesses in the Council’s internal control arrangements were identified. 

 Our annual audit plan of work, which included governance related audits.  

 
Risk Management 
 
In our opinion, based on: 

 Our 2019/20 audit of the Risk Management process, for which a Substantial assurance was provided, 
and 

 Our on-going audits of the departmental risk registers. 

We consider the risk management processes are effective and provide regular information on key risks and issues 
to the Council’s Management and Executive Teams and through to Members.  The assessment, evaluation and 
documentation of risks and controls were continued during the year so that risk registers are revised and updated 
for all Departments. 
 

Information Technology 
 
In our opinion the information technology of the Council supports the organisation’s strategies and objectives.  
This opinion is based on our ongoing programme of computer audits, as well as other departmental and corporate 
audits, which did not identify any material weaknesses with information technology governance. 
 
We would like to take this opportunity to formally record our thanks for the cooperation and support we have 
received from the management and staff during the year, and we look forward to this continuing over the coming 
years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
Simon Maddocks (Head of Internal Audit, London Borough of Croydon) 
Graeme Clarke (Director, Mazars LLP) 
 
 

July 2020 

Page 202



  8  

 

DETAILED REPORT 
 

Introduction 
 
This section is a report from Internal Audit detailing: 
 
 any significant control failures or risk issues that have arisen and been addressed through the work of 

Internal Audit; 

 any qualifications to the Head of Audit opinion on the Authority’s system of internal control, with the 
reasons for each qualification; 

 the identification of work undertaken by other assurance bodies upon which Internal Audit has placed an 
assurance to help formulate its opinion; 

 the management processes adopted to deliver risk management and governance requirements; 

 comparison of the work undertaken during the 2019/20 year against the original Internal Audit plans, and 

 a brief summary of the audit service performance against agreed performance measures. 

 

Significant Control Weaknesses 

 
Internal Audit is required to form an opinion on the quality of the internal control environment, which includes 
consideration of any significant risk or governance issues and control failures which arise.  During the financial 
year 2019/20 key issues in six areas were identified. 
 

 Although there continues to be improvements, during the course of internal audit work during the year, a 
number of issues were identified with contract letting, monitoring and management. 

 Internal audit work during the year identified a number of issues relating to financial management within the 
adult and children’s social care teams. 

 An internal audit conducted during 2018/19 of energy recharges identified some significant weaknesses 
resulting in circa £4M of recharges being outstanding, a significant part of which related to organisations 
outside of the council.  This resulted in a ‘No Assurance’ audit report being issued.  These significant 
weaknesses were not yet resolved during 2019/20. 

 Internal audit continues to identify a number of instances where privacy notices relating to the collection of 
personal data were missing or were no longer fit for purpose. Also noted that agreements with 3rd parties did 
not always address this issue adequately 

 There are a number of schools in deficit and several instances of weaknesses in financial control.  

 An internal audit of staff expenses identified a number of control weaknesses. This resulted in a ‘No 
Assurance’ audit report being issued. 

 

The Council has action plans to address these issues and Internal Audit will be involved in further audits of these 
areas. 
 

Qualifications to the opinion 
 
Internal Audit had unfettered access to all areas and systems across the authority and received appropriate co-
operation from officers and Members.  Our Internal Audit plans were based on an assessment of risk, including 
using the Council’s risk register and were supported by the members of the Executive and Corporate Leadership 
Teams individually for their departments and divisions.  We have delivered the most of the agreed Internal Audit 
annual plan and based on the work we have undertaken plus our knowledge of the Council, we have no 
qualifications to raise as a result of our work programme. 
 

 

 

 

Page 203



  9  

 

Other assurance bodies 
 
In formulating the overall opinion on internal control, the Head of Internal Audit also took into account the work 
conducted by Ofsted and the external auditor. 
 

Governance Processes 
 
The key features of the framework for Corporate Governance within London Borough of Croydon are outlined 
below: 

 Challenge and review by the General Purposes & Audit Committee (GPAC); 

 Corporate objectives and targets have been established and are monitored; 

 Implemented structures and processes that reflect good practice guidance, are well documented and are 
flexible to accommodate change; 

 Standards of conduct and a Code of Conduct are in place for Members and officers; 

 The Constitution, which was adopted by the Council on 21 May 2012 and subsequently amended in July 
and October 2012, January and July 2014, May 2015, January, May and September 2016 January, June 
and September 2017, May, July, November and December 2018, June and August 2019 and January, 
March, April and June 2020. 

 The Council’s Tenders and Contract Regulations, which form part 4.I of the Constitution of the London 
Borough of Croydon and were adopted by Full Council on 15 July 2019, and  

 Financial Regulations are reviewed and revised on an annual basis under delegated authority (by the 
S151 Officer in consultation with the Chief Executive and the Executive Director of Resources).  The 
current version of the Financial Regulations was issued during June 2020.  Day to day guidance is 
provided via the Financial Procedures maintained by the Governance Team.  Training on the Financial 
Regulations and Procedures forms part of the governance training currently available to managers and 
staff under the banner of ‘Doing the Right Thing’. 

 

Risk Management Process 

The principal features of the risk management process are described below:  

Members: The Council has a Member risk champion.  The GPAC receives regular reports on risk issues and ‘Red 
rated’ Strategic, Governance and Operational Risks are formally reviewed on a quarterly basis by GPAC. All 
Cabinet members are briefed on risks in relation to their portfolio via their Executive Director. All major risks are 
aligned to the corporate priorities as well as Croydon Vision Theme and Strategy. 

Departmental Leadership Team: All risks appear on DLT (Departmental Leadership Team) meeting agendas on 
a quarterly basis facilitated by a member of the Risk & Corporate Programme Office (CPO) team. 

Head of Risk & Corporate Programme Office: Responsibility for developing, introducing and maintaining an 
appropriate Risk Management Framework rests with the Head of Risk & Corporate Programme Office.  The Head 
of Risk & CPO leads on developing and embedding an appropriate Risk Management Framework (RMF) through 
activities such as introducing risk registers, defining processes, application of effective documentation and 
standards, and ensuring there is resource to provide the guidance for the RMF implementation across the 
organisation.  The RMF is supported by the JCAD Risk Management System which is a applications based 
recording repository that is a recognised risk recording computer based system.  

The Risk & CPO function delivers the RMF through activities such as: 

 Quarterly risk challenge through Divisional and Departmental LTs,  

 The delivery of risk workshops by agreement with a number of Project Boards, Project Managers and at 
Departmental Team Meetings to ensure there is a robust Programme & Project Management 
Framework compliance process.  

 Ongoing support of an appropriate risk management framework ‘theme’ as defined by the Prince2 
methodology at both a programme and project level together with the on-going monitoring of the 
corporate expectation for the consistent activation of risk logs for major programmes & projects.  

 A comprehensive Risk Management toolkit is provided as a mechanism to support the corporate Risk 
Management Framework. 

Page 204



 10  

 

Audit Plan 

The Audit Plan for 2019/20 was compiled using the Council’s Risk Registers as the key drivers in developing audit 
coverage, as well as detailed discussions with CLT members and departmental management teams.  The 2019/20 
audit plan was presented to the General Purposes and Audit Committee on 4 April 2019. 
 
Due to covid-19 and the concomitant disruption to services, our work for the year to 31 March 2020 was not fully 
completed in line with the operational plan, with some 2019/20 audits being incomplete and deferred until after 
the lockdown period.  The results of these deferred audits, where not completed on time for this Internal Annual 
Report will be included with those in the 2020/21 audit plan.  There was also an impact in finalising some draft 
reports. 
 
The 2019/20 Internal Audit plan is provided in Appendix 1 for information.  The schedule shows the number of 
recommendations raised in each audit during 2019/20 where a final report has been issued, as well as those 
audits delayed due to covid-19. 

 

Internal Audit Performance  

 
Table 1 below sets out the pre-agreed performance criteria for the Internal Audit service.  The table shows the 
actual performance achieved against any targets that were set. 
 
Table 1 
 

Performance Measure Target Actual 

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan completed 100% 81% 

Percentage of staff with full qualifications used to deliver the service 40% 41% 

% of draft reports issued within 2 weeks of exit meeting with the Client 85% 89% 

Number of draft reports 93 65 

 
The Council’s internal and external auditors co-operate and liaise where possible to aid greater harmonisation of 
internal and external audit work, with a view to external audit placing reliance on the work of internal audit. 
 

Council’s Performance with respect to Internal Audit 

 
Under the internal audit follow-up protocol, follow-up audits are undertaken to establish whether the issues 
identified have been successfully resolved according to the action plans agreed with the service managers.  The 
Council’s minimum target for audit issues resolved at the time of the follow-up audit is 80% for all priority 2 & 3 
issues and 90% for priority 1 issues. 
 
Table 2 sets out the performance for the Council’s response to Internal Audits.  The table shows the actual 
performance achieved against any targets that were set in advance. 
 
Table 2 
 

Performance Objective Target 
Performance 

2015/16 
(to date) 

Performance 
2016/17 

(to date*) 

Performance 
2017-18 

(to date*) 

Performance 
2018/19 

(to date*) 

Performance 
2019/20 

(to date*) 

Percentage of priority one issues 
resolved at the time of the follow up audit 

90% 100% 93%% 98% 77% 63% 

Percentage of all issues resolved at the 
time of the follow up audit 

80% 94% 91% 90% 82% 80% 

 
* (The results of those 2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 audits that have been followed up are 
included in Appendixes 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 respectively). 
 

  

Page 205



 11  

 

Quality and Compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

 
Internal Audit has comprehensive quality control and assurance processes in place and operates in accordance 
with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  This provides an independent assurance of the performance, 
quality and effectiveness at both the individual audit level and the internal audit service as a whole. 
 
The statement of compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards is detailed in a separate report by 
the Head of Internal Audit. 

Page 206



London Borough of Croydon 
 

 12  

 

Appendix 1 – Work against audit plan 

2019/20 Audit Plan Department Assurance 

Issues 

Total 
Raised 

Priority 

1 2 3 

  

 
KEY FINANCIAL REVIEWS 

Business Rates (including 100% Business Rate Pilot) Resources Substantial 0 1 0 1 

Banking Resources Report still in draft 

Community Care Payments 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Report still in draft 

Creditors (inc P2P) Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

Debtors (Accounts Receivable) Resources Report still in draft 

Housing Benefits Resources Substantial 0 1 1 2 

Housing Rents & Accounting (Reduced Scope) 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults Limited 1 2 1 4 

Housing Repairs Place Internal Audit In Progress 

Main Accounting System (Reduced Scope) Resources Report still in draft 

Pay and Display Meter Maintenance and Income 
Collection 

Place Substantial 0 3 1 4 

Payments to Schools Resources Substantial 0 1 1 2 

Payroll Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

Pensions Resources Substantial  0 1 1 2 

Council Tax (Reduced Scope) Resources Full 0 0 0 0 

Treasury Management (Reduced Scope) Resources Full 0 0 0 0 

Total Key Financials Audits 1 9 5 15 

  
 

DEPARTMENTAL RISK REGISTER AUDITS 

Age Assessment Judicial Reviews 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Report still in draft 

Alternative School Provisioning 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Limited 2 4 0 6 

Forecasting and Financial Planning – Children’s 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Internal Audit In Progress 

Partnership Governance 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Limited 0 4 1 5 

Placements - Looked After Children 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Internal Audit In Progress 

Section 17 Payments 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Substantial 0 3 2 5 

Special Education Needs and Disability (SEND) 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Report still in draft 

Financial Assessments - Charging Policy 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Report still in draft 

Gateway Budget and Impact on Other Services 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Internal Audit In Progress 

Letting Allocations and Assessments 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Limited 2 1 0 3 

North Croydon Gateway Locality Pilot 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults Internal Audit In Progress 

Placements in Housing Private Accommodation 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Limited 1 2 1 4 

Adult Social Care Waiting List 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Limited 2 2 0 4 

Brokerage and Placements 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
 Internal Audit In Progress 

Page 207



 13  

 
 

Care Market Failure Resources Limited 2 7 1 10 

Forecasting and Financial Planning –Adults * 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Limited 1 3 2 6 

One Croydon Alliance - Benefits and Integration 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Internal Audit In Progress 

Public Health - Accounting for expenditure outside of the 
Public Health Division 

Health, Wellbeing 
and Adults 

Internal Audit In Progress 

Occupational Therapy (supersedes S75 Agreements) 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Limited 3 1 0 4 

Sheltered Accommodation 
Health, Wellbeing 

and Adults 
Substantial 0 3 0 3 

Transition from Children’s Services to Adults 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Internal Audit In Progress 

Bringing Services In-house – Parks Service Place Limited 1 6 1 8 

External Funding Team Place Limited 1 2 0 3 

Fire Safety – Housing Stock Place Substantial 0 1 0 1 

Food Safety – Data Quality Place Limited 1 3 1 5 

Growth Zone – Performance Management and Benefits 
Realisation 

Place Substantial 0 4 0 4 

Highways Contract Management Place Substantial 0 4 0 4 

Highways Inspections Place Full 0 0 1 1 

Parks Health and Safety Place Report still in draft 

SLWP / Vioila Place Internal Audit In Progress 

Trees Management Place Report still in draft 

Agency Staff – Tenure and Monitoring Resources Substantial 0 1 0 1 

Arms Length Companies Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

Community Equipment Service (Wheelchair Service) Resources Limited 1 2 0 3 

Debt Recovery– In-house Resources Report still in draft 

Enforcement Agents Resources Report still in draft 

Expense and Overtime Payments to Staff Resources No 5 3 0 8 

Fairfield Hall Delivery (BXB Management) Place Report still in draft 

Freedom of Information Requests and Subject Access 
Requests 

Resources 
Report still in draft 

Investment Property Acquisitions Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

Land and Buildings – Asset Strategy Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

MTFS Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

My Resources – Business Change Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

Risk Management Resources Substantial 0 2 2 4 

Staff Code of Conduct Resources Report still in draft 

Staff Debt Resources Report still in draft 

Total Departmental Risk Register Audits 21 51 10 82 

   

COMPUTER AUDITS 

IT Policies & Compliance with Technical Code of 
Practice & Computer Misuse Act 

Resources Report still in draft 

Uniform Application Resources Substantial 0 3 1 4 

Northgate iWorld Application Resources Substantial 0 1 0 1 

Azure Backup Application Resources Report still in draft 

Northgate Operating System Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

Microsoft Direct Access Operating System Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

ITAL Governance Resources Internal Audit In Progress 

Page 208



 14  

 
 

People's IT Application Phase One 'Programme 
Governance' 

Resources 
Internal Audit In Progress 

Total Departmental Risk Register Audits 0 4 1 5 

  

CONTRACT AUDITS 

Major Capital Programme Commissioning & 
Management 

Place Internal Audit In Progress 

Mullally Contract Management Place Internal Audit In Progress 

Sprinklers Programme Place Internal Audit In Progress 

GBW Conctact Management Place Internal Audit In Progress 

Regeneration Project Management Place Internal Audit In Progress 

GLL Leisure Contract Management Place Internal Audit In Progress 

Enforcement Agents - Procurement Resources Report still in draft 

Contract Management FM - Hard Services - Building 
Maintenance 

Place Internal Audit In Progress 

Contract Management Street Lighting PFI Place Report still in draft 

Supply and Install of Modular Building at Stubbs Mead 
Depot (from 18/19) 

Place 
Report still in draft 

Contract Management - Work and Health Programme Place Internal Audit In Progress 

Total Departmental Contract Audits 0 0 0 0 

  
 

SCHOOLS AUDITS 

Crosfield Nursery School and Children's Centre 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Substantial 0 4 4 8 

Beulah Junior School 
Children, Families 

and Education Limited 5 3 6 14 

All Saints C of E Primary School 
Children, Families 

and Education Substantial 0 7 5 12 

Elmwood Infant School 
Children, Families 

and Education Substantial 0 4 2 6 

Heavers Farm School 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Substantial 0 9 4 13 

Kenley Primary  
Children, Families 

and Education 
Limited 1 6 4 11 

Margaret Roper Catholic Primary 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Limited 3 5 3 11 

The Minster Infant School 
Children, Families 

and Education Limited 2 11 3 16 

Norbury Manor Primary School 
Children, Families 

and Education Limited 3 8 2 13 

Selsdon Primary School 
Children, Families 

and Education Internal Audit In Progress 

St Joseph's Federation 
Children, Families 

and Education 
Limited 5 7 2 14 

Winterbourne Nursery and Infants 
Children, Families 

and Education 
No 8 10 4 22 

Virgo Fidelis Convent Senior School 
Children, Families 

and Education Limited 4 10 4 18 

Total School Audits 31 84 43 158 

 
 

Total Recommendations  53 148 59 260 
 

  

Page 209



 15  

 
 

Appendix 2 – Summary of Priority One Recommendations 

Audit Title 
Assurance Level & 
Number of Issues 

Summary of key issues raised. 

Non- School Audits 

Housing Rents and Accounting 
(Reduced Scope) 

Limited 

(One priority 1, two 
priority 3 and one 
priority 3 issue) 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as appropriate signed agreements 
were not held for deductions from staff salaries for rent payments. 

Alternative School Provisioning Limited 

(Two priority 1, and 
four priority 2 issues) 

A priority 1 issue was identified as the ‘notification of exclusion forms’ 
in use did not include a privacy notice in line with the requirements of 
the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data 
Protection Act (DPA) 2018. 
 
Another priority 1 issue was identified as pupils’ personalised plans 
and objectives were not set out in writing in accordance with statutory 
guidance. 

Lettings, Allocations and Assessments Limited 

(Two priority 1 and 
one priority 2 issue) 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as the Housing Allocation policy had 
not been updated since October 2016 and was out of date. 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as the application forms (on line 
and in hardcopy) in use were not compliant with the Data Protection 
Act 2018 or the General Data Protection Regulation. 

Placements in Housing Private 
Accommodation 

Limited 

(One priority 1, two 
priority 3 and one 
priority 3 issue) 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as comparison of the amounts paid 
for a sample of 30 properties (being 10 each of Croylease, GPS and 
PLA) to the amounts detailed in the contracts found that in five 
instances agreed contracts were not in place and in ten instances the 
amounts differed. 

Adult Social Care Waiting List Limited 

(Two priority 1 and 2 
priority 2 issues) 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as the Front Door call statistics for 
up to the week commencing 12 August 2019 identified that 1 in 5 calls 
(21%) are lost and that the average call wait time was 4.05 minutes. 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as the ‘All Team Waiting List’ dated 
18 August 2019 detailed that there were 609 cases (with 221 of 
these relating to prior years), whereas the ‘ASC Front Door and 
Localities Review Q2’ report detailed that as at 19 August 2019 the 
wait list was 505. 

Care Market Failure Limited 

(Two priority 1, 
seven priority 2 and 
1 priority 3 issue) 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as formal contracts were not 
available for care home providers, although it was explained that a 
Dynamic Purchasing System was being established, which is 
anticipated will start from April 2020, 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as the spreadsheet used to monitor 
quality monitoring visits showed that about 70 out of 134 care homes 
were overdue a monitoring visit. 

Occupational Therapy Limited 

(Three priority 1, and 
one priority 2 issue) 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as a contract was not in place with 
Croydon Health Services (CHS) for 2019-20. 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as the apportionment of costs, 
including any over or underspends, for the Adult Community 
Occupational Therapy Service between the Croydon Clinical 
Commission Group and the Council was not formally agreed. 

A priority 1 issue has been raised as the ‘Waiting List Report’ as at 18 
September 2019 detailed that there were 197 waiting clients, 180 of 
whom had been on the waiting list more than 3 months. 

Bringing Services In-house – Parks 
Services 

Limited 
(One priority I, six 
priority 2 and one 
priority 3 issue) 

A priority 1 issue was raised as there was no budget set for the 
Grounds Maintenance service and thus budget (and expenditure) 
monitoring was not occurring 

External Funding Team Limited 

(One priority 1 and 
two priority 2 issues) 

A priority 1 issue was raised as a service plan and strategy and/or 
policies and procedures to provide a framework of how the External 
Funding Team operates was not in place 

Food Safety – Data Quality Limited 

(One priority 1, three 
priority 2 and one 
priority 3 issue) 

A priority 1 issue was raised as the reports of inspections due 
generated from the UNIFORM system were not accurate. 

Community Equipment Service 
(Wheelchair Service) 

Limited 

(One Priority 1 and 
two priority 2 issues) 

A priority 1 issue was raised as the follow up of the recommendations 
raised in the 2017 ad hoc report identified that the recommendation 
relating to the BACs files being open to amendment had still not been 
implemented, meaning that any of the BACs payments during the 
last 2 years may have been manipulated. As about £1m of payments 
is made per month, this is a significant issue. 

Page 210



 16  

 
 

Audit Title 
Assurance Level & 
Number of Issues 

Summary of key issues raised. 

Expense and Overtime Payments to 
Staff 

No 

(Five Priority 1 and 
three priority 2 

issues) 

Priority 1 issues was raised as  

 Testing of a sample of 20 approved expenses established five 
instances where the expenses were incorrectly categorised and, 
in some instances, should not have been claimed. Examination 
of a report of all expenses claimed 1 April to 18 October 2019 
confirmed that the above were not isolated examples. This 
despite users being required, prior to submitting expenses 
claims, to acknowledge that they have read and understood the 
Council’s Expenses Management Policy. 

 Sample testing identified expense claims that were being 
authorised outside of the 90 day eligibility timeframe as defined 
in the Expenses Management Policy. Examination of a report of 
all expenses claimed 1 April to 18 October 2019 confirmed that 
the above were not isolated examples. 

 Examination of a report of all expenses claimed 1 April to 18 
October 2019 identified two instances where payments to an 
individual had been claimed as expenses by a staff employee. In 
both these instances it is held that HMRC would deem the 
individual to be an employee; however, no NI or PAYE 
deductions had been made. Furthermore, in line with the 
Council’s Expenses Management Policy, these should not have 
been claimed as expenses. 

 Examination of a sample of expense claims from a report of all 
expenses claimed 1 April to 18 October 2019 identified that these 
had not been properly recorded and therefore there was a lack of 
record to demonstrate that these expenses were actually incurred 
for business purposes. 

 Examination of the documentation held for a sample of 15 staff 
on the car allowance scheme identified that corresponding 
Compulsory Car Allowance User forms were not available for 10 
of these staff. 

Audit title (School audits) 
Assurance Level & 
Number of Issues 

Summary of key recommendations raised 

Winterbourne Nursery and Infant 
School 

No 

(Eight priority 1, ten 
priority 2 and four 

priority 3 
recommendations) 

Priority 1 recommendations were raised as: 

 at the end of quarter 1 the School had forecast a year end deficit 
budget of -£202k but at the time of audit had not yet agreed a 
formal budget deficit recovery plan with the local authority. 

 for one of the sample of three new starter records examined, two 
references were not held, no panel notes were retained and there 
was no evidence that the role was advertised. 

 an appraisal of the Head Teacher had not been completed by the 
deadline of 31 December 2018.  This was due to the fact that he 
was not at the School for an extended period of time due to 
illness; however, the appraisal had still not been carried out at the 
time of audit in October 2019. 

 evidence of a DBS (Disclosure Barring Service) check was not 
held for one governor and the DBS checks for another governor 
and two staff members were overdue renewal. 

 sample testing identified payments to two separate individuals, 
where NI and PAYE deductions were not made and HMRC 
Employment Status Service tool checks had not been conducted. 

 goods received checks were not evidenced for eight of the 
sample of 11 transactions where documentation was available. 

 seven of the invoices from the sample of eleven transactions 
where documentation was available were not evidenced as 
appropriately authorized. 

 a number of gaps in the School’s information governance 
arrangements were found. 

Beulah Junior School Limited 

(Five priority 1, three 
priority 2 and six 

priority 3 
recommendations) 

Priority 1 recommendations were raised as: 

 the School’s 2018-19 SFVS (School Financial Value Standard) 
self-assessment was not evidenced as discussed or agreed by 
the Governing Body as required. 

 sample testing of the documentation held for three new starters 
could not locate any references for two of the starters and only 
one reference for the third starter. 

 appropriate approval for five high value expenditure items, in line 
with the School’s ‘Financial Policies and Procedures Manual’, 
was not evidenced. 

 Quotation and tender limits were not specified out in the School’s 
‘Financial Policies and Procedures Manual. 

Page 211



 17  

 
 

Audit Title 
Assurance Level & 
Number of Issues 

Summary of key issues raised. 

 the School’s bank mandate still included a former member of 
staff as an authorised signatory. 

Kenley Primary School Limited 

(One priority 1, six 
priority 2 and four 

priority 3 
recommendations) 

A priority 1 recommendation was raised as transactions were identified 
where payments were made to an individual for services and there 
was no evidence of their employment status for tax purposes being 
checked. 

Margaret Roper Catholic Primary 
School 

Limited 

(Three priority 1, five 
priority 2 and three 

priority 3 
recommendations) 

A priority 1 recommendation was raised as sample testing identified 
payments to an individual, where NI and PAYE deductions had not 
been made and the HMRC Employment Status Service tool check had 
not been conducted 
 
A priority 1 recommendation was raised as for one purchase in our 
sample testing, the transaction was authorised after the date of the 
invoice. It was also found that there were six transactions where there 
is no evidence of authorisation or date of when the purchase was 
made. It was found that three transactions were authorised by 
inappropriate members of staff 
 
A priority 1 recommendation was raised as there were no goods or 
services received checks evidenced for eight of the 15 transactions 
selected for testing, and one check was carried out by a member of 
staff not delegated this responsibility in the School’s Finance Policy 
and Procedures Manual. 

The Minster Infant School Limited 

(Two priority 1, 
eleven priority 2 and 

three priority 3 
recommendations) 

A priority 1 recommendation was raised as an individual was being 
paid directly without the required NI and PAYE deductions being 
made. 

A priority 1 recommendation was raised as testing of a sample of 15 
transactions found that in 13 instances the internal requisition forms 
were not evidenced as appropriate in advance of the transactions 

Norbury Manor Primary School Limited 

(Three priority 1, 
eight priority 2 and 

two priority 3 
recommendations) 

A priority 1 recommendation was raised as for one new starter, only 
one reference was obtained and for another (who was an apprentice) 
no references had been obtained 

A priority 1 recommendation was raised as right to work checks had 
not been properly evidenced for any of the sample of the three starters 
tested 

A priority 1 recommendation was raised as the HMRC Employment 
Status Service tool had not been used to check the status of an 
individual that payments (without NI or PAYE deductions) were being 
made to. 

St Joseph’s Federation Limited 
(Five priority 1, 

seven priority 2 and 
2 priority 3 

recommendations) 

Priority 1 recommendations were raised as: 

 Sample testing identified payments to an individual, where 
NI and PAYE deductions had not been made and the HMRC 
Employment Status Service tool check had not been 
conducted. 

 Testing of a sample of 15 transactions identified eight where 
the purchase orders were authorised after the date of the 
corresponding invoices. 

 There were no goods or services received checks 
evidenced for any of the 15 transactions selected for testing. 

 A number of control weaknesses in the management of the 
petty cash fund were found, some of which were significant. 

 A number of gaps in the control framework of the School’s 
information governance arrangements, including the lack of 
an information asset register, were found. 

Virgo Fidelis Convent Senior School Limited 

(Four priority 1, ten 
priority 2 and four 

priority 3 
recommendations) 

Priority 1 recommendations were raised as: 

 Sample testing identified payments to two separate 

individuals, where NI and PAYE deductions had not been 
made and HMRC Employment Status Service tool checks 
had not been conducted 

 A number of control weaknesses in the management of the 
petty cash fund were found 

 A number of gaps in the control framework of the School’s 
information governance arrangements were found 

 The School had not registered as a Data Controller with the 
Information Commissioners Office since February 2019; 
although it is acknowledged this was immediately rectified 
on site at the time of audit. 

 

Page 212



London Borough of Croydon 
 

 18  

 

Appendix 3 - Follow-up of 2015/16 audits (Incomplete only) 

Financial 
Year 

Audit Followed-up Risk Level 
Assurance Level 

& 
Status 

Total 
Raised 

Implemented 

Total Percentage 

2015/16 Waste Recycling High Substantial 

(5th follow up in 
progress) 

3 2 66% 

Recommendations and implementation from audits that have had responses  270 254 94% 

Priority 1 Recommendations from audits that have had responses 22 22 100% 

Page 213



London Borough of Croydon  

 

 19 
 

Appendix 4 - Follow-up of 2016/17 audits (Incomplete only) 

Financial 
Year 

Audit Followed-up Risk Level 
Assurance Level 

& 
Status 

Total 
Raised 

Implemented 

Total Percentage 

2016/17 Clinical Governance High Substantial 

(5th follow up in 
progress) 

3 1 33% 

2016/17 Contract Monitoring and Management 
(Streets Division) 

High Limited  

(2nd follow up in 
progress) 

6 0 0 

2016/17 Anti-social Behaviour High Substantial 

(6th follow up in 
progress) 

9 6 67% 

Recommendations and implementation from audits that have had responses 424 386 91% 

Priority 1 Recommendations from audits that have had responses 45 42 93% 

  

Page 214



London Borough of Croydon  

 

 20 
 

Appendix 5 - Follow-up of 2017-18 audits (Incomplete 
only) 

Financial 
Year 

Audit Followed-up 
Executive Director 

Responsible 
Risk 
Level 

Assurance Level 
& 

Status 

Total 
Raised 

Implemented 

Total Percentage 

2017/18 Gifts and Hospitality (Officers) Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

High Substantial 

(4th follow up in 
progress) 

4 3 75% 

2017/18 Admitted Bodies Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

High Substantial 
(2nd  follow up in 

progress) 

4 1 25% 

2017/18 GIS Application Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

High Substantial 
(2nd follow up in 

progress) 

5 2 40% 

2017/18 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children 

Robert Henderson High Limited 

(2nd follow up in 
progress) 

2 1 50% 

2017/18 Development Management Shifa Mustafa High Substantial 

(1st follow up in 
progress) 

5 - 0% 

2017/18 Abandoned Vehicles Shifa Mustafa High No 

(7th follow up in 
progress) 

10 9 90% 

Recommendations and implementation from audits that have had responses 
426 382 90% 

Priority 1 Recommendations from audits that have had responses 
46 45 98% 

Page 215



London Borough of Croydon 
 

 21  

 

Appendix 6 - Follow-up of 2018/19 audits 

Financial 
Year 

Audit Followed-up 
Executive Director 

Responsible 

Assurance Level 
& 

Status 

Total 
Raised 

Implemented 

Total Percentage 

Non School Audits 
 

2018/19 Voluntary Sector Commissioning 
Adult Social Care 

Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

No Assurance 

(3rd follow up in progress) 

8 6 75% 

2018/19 Housing Repairs Hazel Simmonds Limited 

(No further follow up) 

2 2 100% 

2018/19 Pensions Administration Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Limited 

(No further follow up) 

5 4 80% 

2018/19 Children and Families System 
Support Team (ControCC) 

Robert Henderson Limited 

(3rd follow up in progress) 

13 10 77% 

2018/19 Payments to In House Foster 
Carers 

Robert Henderson Limited 

(No further follow up) 

4 4 100% 

2018/19 Payments Against Orders Robert Henderson Limited 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

10 3 30% 

2018/19 SEN to include Ombudsman 
upheld complaints 

Robert Henderson Limited 

(3rd follow up in progress) 

5 2 40% 

2018/19 GDPR in Schools Robert Henderson Limited 

(No further follow up) 

8 8 100% 

2018/19 Health and Safety in Schools Robert Henderson Limited 

(3rd follow up in progress) 

6 3 50% 

2018/19 Voluntary Sector Commissioning 
Adult Social Care 

Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

No 

(4th follow up in progress) 

8 7 87% 

2018/19 Air Quality Strategy, 
Implementation and Review 

Shifa Mustafa Limited 

(1st follow up in progress) 

8 - - 

2018/19 Allotments Shifa Mustafa Limited 

(No further follow up) 

5 4 80% 

2018/19 Live Well – Active Lifestyle Team Shifa Mustafa Limited 

(No further follow up) 

7 7 100% 

2018/19 No Recourse to Public Funds 
(NRPF) 

Guy Van Dichele Limited 

(No further follow up) 

4 4 100% 

2018/19 Croylease (Landlord letting 
Scheme) 

Guy Van Dichele Limited 

(No further follow up) 

8 8 100% 

2018/19 Libraries Income Collection Shifa Mustafa Limited 

(No further follow up) 

5 5 100% 

2018/19 Election Accounts and Claims Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Limited 

(No further follow up) 

7 6 86% 

2018/19 Temporary Employment Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Limited 

(3rd  follow up in progress 

16 5 31% 

2018/19 Asbestos Management (Beyond 
the Corporate Campus) 

Shifa Mustafa Limited 

(4th  follow up in progress) 

12 9 75% 

2018/19 PMI General Building Works 
Service 

Shifa Mustafa Limited 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

6 2 33% 

2018/19 Parking Enforcement and 
Tickets 

Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

 No further follow up) 

5 4 80% 

2018/19 Payments to Schools Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 2 1 50% 

Page 216



London Borough of Croydon  

 

 22 
 

Financial 
Year 

Audit Followed-up 
Executive Director 

Responsible 

Assurance Level 
& 

Status 

Total 
Raised 

Implemented 

Total Percentage 

(2nd  follow up in progress) 

2018/19 School Deficits and Surpluses 
(Conversion to Academy) 

Robert Henderson Substantial 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

4 3 75% 

2018/19 Leisure Contract Management Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(2nd  follow up in progress) 

2 1 50% 

2018/19 South West London Partnership 
(SWLP) Governance 

Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(1st follow up in progress) 

3 - - 

2018/19 Highways Statutory Defence  Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

4 4 100% 

2018/19 Discretionary Housing Payments Guy Van Dichele Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

3 3 100% 

2018/19 Leasehold Service Charges Guy Van Dichele Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

2 2 100% 

2018/19 Public Events Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(3rd follow up in progress 

7 5 71% 

2018/19 South London Work and Health 
Partnership( SLWHP) 

Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

3 3 100% 

2018/19 Parking CCTV Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

1 1 100% 

2018/19 Mortuary Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(2ndfollow up in progress) 

4 2 50% 

2018/19 Growth Zone – High Level 
Review 

Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

3 3 100% 

2018/19 Cashiers (Cash Handling) Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Full 

(No further follow up) 

1 1 100% 

2018/19 GDPR Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

2 0 0 

2018/19 New Legal Services Model Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(1st follow up in progress) 

7 4 57% 

2018/19 Council Investment and 
Operational Properties – Income 
Maximisation 

Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

4 2 50% 

2018/19 Access to IT Server Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(3rd follow up in progress 

3 1 33% 

2018/19 Capita Event Management Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(No further follow up ) 

3 3 100% 

2018/19 Third Party – Service Delivery Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(1st follow up in progress) 

1 - - 

2018/19 Cashiers (Cash Handling) Jaqueline Harris-
Baker 

Full 

(No further follow up) 

1 1 100% 

Non-School Audits Sub Total: 

Recommendations and implementation from audits that have had responses  
200 143 72% 

Non-School Audits Sub Total: 

Priority 1 Recommendations from audits that have had responses 
29 18 62% 

School Audits  

2018/19 Virgo Fidelis Convent School Robert Henderson 
No 

(No further follow up) 

27 27 100% 

2018/19 Coulsdon C of E Primary School Robert Henderson 
Limited 

(No further follow up) 

8 7 88% 

Page 217



London Borough of Croydon  

 

 23 
 

Financial 
Year 

Audit Followed-up 
Executive Director 

Responsible 

Assurance Level 
& 

Status 

Total 
Raised 

Implemented 

Total Percentage 

2018/19 The Mister Junior School Robert Henderson 
Limited 

(No further follow up) 

11 9 82% 

2018/19 Winterbourne Junior Girls School Robert Henderson 
Limited 

(No further follow up) 

12 12 100% 

2018/19 Regina Coeli Catholic Primary 
School 

Robert Henderson 
Limited 

(No further follow up) 

10 10 100% 

2018/19 
St Andrews C of E VA High 
School 

Robert Henderson 
Limited 

(No further follow up) 

5 5 100% 

2018/19 Thomas More Catholic School Robert Henderson 
Limited 

(No further follow up) 

18 17 94% 

2018/19 
Christchurch CofE Primary 
School 

Robert Henderson 
Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

10 10 100% 

2018/19 Orchard Way Primary School Robert Henderson 
Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

8 8 100% 

2018/19 Park Hill Infant School Robert Henderson 
Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

6 6 100% 

2018/19 Ridgeway Primary School Robert Henderson 
Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

7 6 86% 

2018/19 The Hayes Primary School Robert Henderson 
Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

7 7 100% 

2018/19 St Mary’s Catholic High School Robert Henderson 
Substantial 

(No further follow up)) 

12 11 91% 

2018/19 Bensham Manor School Robert Henderson 
Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

9 8 89% 

School Audits Sub Total: 
Recommendations and implementation from audits that have had responses  

150 143 95% 

School Audits Sub Total: 
Priority 1 Recommendations from audits that have had responses 

19 19 100% 

Recommendations and implementation from audits that have had responses 350 286 82% 

Priority 1 Recommendations from audits that have had responses 48 37 77% 

 

Page 218



London Borough of Croydon 
 

 24  

 

Appendix 7 - Follow-up of 2019/20 audits 

Financial 
Year 

Audit Followed-up 
Executive Director 

Responsible 

Assurance Level 
& 

Status 

Total 
Raised 

Implemented 

Total Percentage 

Non School Audits 
 

2019/20 Alternative School Provisioning Robert Henderson Limited  

(No further follow up) 

6 6 100% 

2019/20 Lettings Allocations and 
Assessments 

Guy Van Dichele Limited 

(1st follow up in progress) 

3 - - 

2019/20 Adult Social Care (ASC) Waiting 
List 

Guy Van Dichele Limited 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

4 3 75% 

2019/20 Care Market Failure Jacqueline Harris-
Baker 

Limited 

(3rd   follow up in 
progress) 

10 5 50% 

2019/20 Bringing Services In-House – 
Parks Service 

Shifa Mustafa Limited 

(1st follow up in progress) 

8 - - 

2019/20 Food Safety – Data Quality Shifa Mustafa Limited 

(3rd  follow up in progress) 

5 3 60% 

2019/20 Community Equipment Service 
(Wheelchair Service) 

Jacqueline Harris-
Baker 

Limited 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

3 2 33% 

2019/20 Expenses & overtime Payments 
to Staff 

Jacqueline Harris-
Baker 

No 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

8 0 0 

2019/20 Pay and Display Meter 
Maintenance and Income 

Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

4 4 100% 

2019/20 Section 17 Payments Robert Henderson Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

5 5 100% 

2019/20 Growth Zone – Performance 
Management 

Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(1st follow up in progress) 

4 - - 

2019/20 Highways Contract Management Shifa Mustafa Substantial 

(1st follow up in progress) 

4 - - 

2019/20 Risk Management Jacqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

4 4 100% 

2019/20 Uniform IT Application Jacqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(1st follow up in progress) 

4 - - 

2019/20 Northgate iWorld Application Jacqueline Harris-
Baker 

Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

1 1 100% 

Non-School Audits Sub Total: 

Recommendations and implementation from audits that have had responses  
50 33 66% 

Non-School Audits Sub Total: 

Priority 1 Recommendations from audits that have had responses 
13 4 31% 

School Audits  

2019/20 Winterbourne Nursery and Infants No 

4th follow up in progress) 

22 20 90% 

2019/20 Beulah Junior School Limited 

(No further follow up) 

14 13 92% 

2019/20 Kenley Primary School Limited 

(No further follow up) 

11 10 91% 

2019/20 Margaret Roper Catholic Primary School Limited 11 - - 

Page 219



London Borough of Croydon  

 

 25 
 

Financial 
Year 

Audit Followed-up 
Executive Director 

Responsible 

Assurance Level 
& 

Status 

Total 
Raised 

Implemented 

Total Percentage 

(1st follow up in progress) 

2019/20 Minster Infant School Limited 

 (1st follow up in progress) 

16 - - 

2019/20 Norbury Manor Primary School Limited 

(2nd follow up in progress) 

13 

 

9 70% 

2019/20 St Joseph’s Federation  Limited 

 (1st follow up in progress) 

14 - - 

2019/20 Virgo Fidelis Convent Senior School Limited  

(1st follow up in progress) 

20 - - 

2019/20 Crosfield Nursery and Selhurst Early Years Substantial  

(1st follow up in progress) 

8 - - 

2019/20 All Saints C of E Primary School Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

12 12 100% 

2019/20 Elmwood Infant School Substantial 

(No further follow up) 

6 6 100% 

2019/20 Heavers Farm School Substantial  

(1st follow up in progress) 

13 - - 

School Audits Sub Total:  Recommendations and implementation from audits that have 
had responses  

78 70 90% 

School Audits Sub Total:  Priority 1 recommendations from audits that have had 
responses 

17 15 88% 

Recommendations and implementation from audits that have had responses 128 103 80% 

Priority 1 Recommendations from audits that have had responses 30 19 63% 

Page 220



London Borough of Croydon 
 

 26  

 

Appendix 8 - Statement of Responsibility 

We take responsibility to the London Borough of Croydon for this report which is prepared on the basis of the 
limitations set out below. 

The responsibility for designing and maintaining a sound system of internal control and the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities rests with management, with internal audit providing a service to 
management to enable them to achieve this objective.  Specifically, we assess the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the system of internal control arrangements implemented by management and perform sample testing on those 
controls in the period under review with a view to providing an opinion on the extent to which risks in this area are 
managed.   
We plan our work in order to ensure that we have a reasonable expectation of detecting significant control 
weaknesses.  However, our procedures alone should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses 
in internal controls, nor relied upon to identify any circumstances of fraud or irregularity.  Even sound systems of 
internal control can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance and may not be proof against collusive 
fraud.   
The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our work and are 
not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be 
made.  Recommendations for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact before they are 
implemented.  The performance of our work is not and should not be taken as a substitute for management’s 
responsibilities for the application of sound management practices. 

This report is confidential and must not be disclosed to any third party or reproduced in whole or in part without our 
prior written consent.   To the fullest extent permitted by law Mazars LLP accepts no responsibility and disclaims all 
liability to any third party who purports to use or rely for any reason whatsoever on the Report, its contents, 
conclusions, any extract, reinterpretation amendment and/or modification by any third party is entirely at their own 
risk. 

Registered office: Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, London E1W 1DD, United Kingdom.  Registered in 
England and Wales No 0C308299.   
 

Page 221



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

REPORT TO: GENERAL PURPOSES AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

07 October 2020 

SUBJECT: Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 2019/20 

LEAD OFFICER: Katherine Kerswell, Interim Chief Executive 

CABINET 

MEMBER 

Councillor Simon Hall,  

Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources 

WARDS: All 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT:   

The Council is required by the Audit and Account Regulations to prepare an 

Annual Governance Statement as part of the Annual Accounts process and in 

discharging this responsibility, complies with the principles laid out  by the 

Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (CIPFA / 

SOLACE 2016), (‘the framework’). 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:  There are no direct financial considerations arising 

from this report. 

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO:  N/A 

 

 

 
 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The General Purposes & Audit Committee are recommended to: 
 

1.1 Approve the content of the Annual Governance Statement for the year 
2019/20 at appendix 1 to this report. 

1.2 Agree the statement on ‘outcomes’ in relation to ‘Issues raised in 
2018/19 Statement and progress to date’. (Appendix 1, Table 2) 

1.3 Agree the significant governance issues identified in relation to 
2019/20 and the actions being taken to mitigate those risks.(Appendix 
1, Table 1) 

 

 

 

 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
2.1   This report details the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), for 2019/20 at 

Appendix 1.   
 
 

Page 223

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

3. DETAIL 
 
3.1 The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) require the 

Council to review, at least annually the effectiveness of its governance 
arrangements and publish an AGS each year with the financial statements. This is 
the eighth year that the Council has produced an AGS. 

 
3.2 Appendix 1 shows the AGS 2019/20.  The information for the AGS has been 

generated through the Council’s Governance framework including: 
 

 External Audit 

 Internal Audit 

 Risk Management  

 Performance Management 

 Financial Management 
 

3.3  The Council has in place a framework to manage the identified issues through the 
General Purpose & Audit Committee, where the actions reported in the AGS will 
be reviewed during the year. The AGS will be published as part of the Council’s 
statutory accounts and annual report.  

 
3.4 The identification of significant governance issues in relation to 2019/20 is drawn 

from a number of sources although substantially focussed around the review of 
the corporate risk register, in relation to red rated risks and issues raised through 
the Head of Internal Audit Report (HoIA).   

3.5 The Executive Directors of the department for which the risk identified relates is 
accountable for final approval and sign-off of the ‘Action’ and ‘Progress’ 
statements that are incorporated within Tables 1 & 2 of the Appendix document.  

 

4. FINANCIAL & RISK CONSIDERATIONS 
 

4.1 There are no direct financial considerations relating to the recommendations in 
this report.  There are no additional risk considerations other than those detailed in 
Appendix 1, AGS. 

 

 

5. COMMENTS OF THE SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL  
 

5 LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 

5.1      The Head of Litigation and Corporate Law comments on behalf of the Director of 
Law and Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer that in accordance with the 
Account and Audit Regulations 2015: 

 
a. The Council shall be responsible for ensuring that the financial 

management of the Council is adequate and effective and that the Council 
has a sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective 
exercise of the Council’s functions and which includes arrangements for 
the management of risk; and  

 

Page 224



3 
 

a. The Council shall conduct a review at least once in a year of the 
effectiveness of its system of internal control and shall publish such a 
statement with its statement of accounts. 
 

 
5.2 The Regulations requires that the findings of the review of the system of internal 

control must be considered by a committee of the Council, or by members of the 
Council meeting as a whole and that the Council review the effectiveness of their 
system of internal audit once a year and that a committee of the Council, or the 
Council as a whole review the findings. 

 
5.3 The preparation and publication of an Annual Governance Statement in 

accordance with the 2016 CIPFA / SOLACE Framework meets the statutory 
requirement set out in the Regulations for authorities to prepare a statement of 
internal control in accordance with “proper practices”. 

 

Approved by Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate law on behalf of the 
Director of Law and Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 

 

6. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  
 
6.1 There are no human resource considerations relating to this report. 
 
Approved by Sue Moorman, Director of Human Resources 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER:   Lisa Taylor - Director of Finance, Investment & Risk  
 (Section 151 Officer).  
 
 

Appendix 1:   Annual Governance Statement 

 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Appendix 1 

 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (AGS) 2019/20 

 

Overview 
 
The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) considers several elements of the Council’s 
control framework including: 
 

 External Audit 

 Internal Audit 

 Risk Management  

 Performance Management 

 Financial Management 
 
This provides the basis to allow the AGS to be constructed with two key documents as 
evidence to provide context and to allow the key risks to be identified. These key 
documents are: 
 

 The Head of Internal Audit Report; and  

 The Corporate Risk Register. 
 
These documents allow the Council to understand its key risks, organisational resilience 
and performance as it applies to compliance. The AGS reports on clearly defined 
parameters and assists in formulating the control strategy that the Council will implement 
over the coming financial year. The Council is committed to ensuring that all identified 
activities are rigorously applied and monitored during the course of the year and 
accountability is assigned for each specific identified risk and control measure. 
 
The overall context for the AGS relies on the recognition that since 2010, the Council has 
received significant reductions in its grant funding provided by Central Government 
amounting to an overall reduction of 75% in total. Over that same period the Council has 
also delivered approximately £242m in additional savings. Inevitably that has resulted in 
reductions of services due to loss of staffing and other resources, even before the impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic. This has impacted on the governance framework of the 
organisation. 
 
Overall, the operations of the Council prior to 23rd March 2020 were considered to be 
generally fit for purpose. However, following the national ‘lock down’ a number of 
arrangements have had to be amended. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the 
financial position of the Council has led to a significant challenge for all parts of the 
organisation in its ability to resource appropriately in order to deliver an efficient service in 
accordance with all relevant compliance requirements. In addition, the decrease in 
central government funding over the last several years has also led to an increasing 
challenge for the organisation in terms of its ability to operate efficiently. Both these 
issues have contributed significantly to the assurance level applied by the Head of 
Internal Audit. It should therefore be noted that as a result of a number of Limited or No 
assurance internal audit reports and weaknesses identified in general compliance work, 
the Head of Internal Audit has given a ‘Limited Assurance’ opinion in his annual internal 
audit report. This suggests that there are a number of issues that have been identified 
during the course of the 2019/20 Internal Audit Programme that require significant 

Page 227



2  
 

measures applied in order to rectify the current situation and to ensure that the control 
framework is robust and appropriate moving forward.  
 
The Council has been advised on the implications of the result of this review of the 
effectiveness of its Governance Framework and its systems of internal control. 
Consideration of the AGS by the General Purposes & Audit Committee will now allow for 
the instruction of additional activities in order to mitigate identified risks. The areas 
already addressed and those to be specifically addressed over the course of the next 
financial year (2020/21) are outlined later in this document in Tables 1 & 2.  
 

In Table 1 (p.8), there is a statement of Action provided by the senior responsible officer 
for the respective area of concern identified. The officer has detailed what mitigation 
activities they intend to take over the coming financial year. This area will then be 
reported on in the next Annual Governance Statement (2021/22) with an additional report 
on progress to date. 
 

In Table 2 (p.20), there is a statement of Progress provided by the senior responsible 
officer the respective area of concern identified. This officer is reporting on the progress 
of the mitigating actions they committed to initiate when the area of concern was entered 
onto the Annual Governance Statement for the previous financial year (2018/19). This 
column is intended to highlight all appropriate activities that have contributed to the 
organisation’s approach to improving the situation relating to the area of concern 
highlighted. 
 
It must also be noted that following the General Election of December 2019 and the 
subsequent majority delivered to the Government, the risk of a No-Deal Brexit was 
significantly reduced leading to the risk entry being decommissioned following the UK 
departure from the EU on 31st January 2020. It must now also be recognised that the 
possibility of a ‘No-Deal’ Brexit has now increased in terms of likelihood at the end of the 
transition period of 31 December 2020, and therefore must also be considered as a 
contributory element to how the Council prioritises its objectives for the coming financial 
year. 

 

Scope of responsibility 
 
Croydon Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance 
with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 
accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. Croydon Council also 
has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure 
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to 
a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, Croydon Council is responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective 
exercise of its functions, which includes effective arrangements for the management of 
risk. Croydon Council acknowledges that it has an ‘arm’s length’ interest in organisations 
(namely Brick by Brick and Octavo) but cannot enter control arrangements in this Annual 
Governance Statement as such companies are separate entities and responsible for 
publishing their own governance statements. 
 
Croydon Council has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which is 
consistent with the principles of the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: 

Page 228



3  
 

Framework (CIPFA / SOLACE 2016), (‘the framework’). A copy of the authority’s code 
can be obtained from governance@croydon.gov.uk. This statement explains how 
Croydon Council has complied with the code and also meets the requirements of 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, regulation 6 (1), which requires all 
relevant bodies to prepare and approve an annual governance statement. 
 
Croydon Council has determined that its Ethics Committee shall be responsible for 
receiving and considering reports on matters of probity and ethics and to consider 
matters relating to the Code of Conduct. This follows the Council’s review of its Code of 
Conduct and ethics arrangements and best practice suggestions set out in the review by 
the Committee on Standards in Public Life (the Committee). The Committee was 
established in 1994 and is responsible for promoting the Seven Principles of Public Life: 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership – 
commonly known as the Nolan Principles. The full report can be accessed here.  
 

 

The purpose of the governance framework 

 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture and values by 
which the Council is directed and controlled as well as the activities through which it 
accounts to, engages with and leads its communities. The framework enables the 
authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether 
those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate services and value for money. 
 
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s 
policies, aims and objectives. Internal controls evaluate the likelihood and potential 
impact of those risks being realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 
 
The governance framework has been in place at Croydon Council for the year ended 31 
March 2020 and up to the date of approval of the statement of accounts. 

 

The governance framework 

 
 “Croydon’s Community Strategy 2016-21” is the overarching strategy of Croydon’s 

Local Strategic Partnership, which includes the Council. The Community Strategy is 
supported by “Our Corporate Plan for Croydon 2018-2022” and delivery plans for 
each department and team. These are reviewed and updated annually. In addition, 
the Council has its own vision and corporate values statement developed after 
extensive consultation amongst staff to ensure there is effective management of 
change and transformation. The organisation is currently also engaging with all staff 
to develop a new Workforce Strategy.  

 

 The Council’s Constitution  sets out how decisions are made and the procedures that 
are followed to evidence open and transparent policy and decision making that 
ensures compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and regulations. The 
Council’s policy and decision making is conducted through the Cabinet process, with 
the exception of non-executive matters and the Policy framework, which is set by full 

Page 229

../../../../AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/AppData/Local/Microsoft/documents/483874/My%20Documents/Annual%20Governance%20Statement%20201617/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Documents/483874/AppData/Local/Microsoft/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/LODS3B4P/governance@croydon.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life


4  
 

Council. These meetings are open to the public, except where personal or 
confidential matters are being discussed. In addition, the Chief Executive (& Head of 
Paid Service) and senior officers make decisions under their relevant Scheme of 
Authorisations. The Council publishes a Forward Plan that details the key decisions 
to be made by the Leader, Cabinet, Cabinet Committees or officers in relation to 
executive matters. 
 

 The Council has a designated Executive Director of Resources & Monitoring Officer, 
who shall, after consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, 
report to the Full Council, or the Leader in relation to an executive function, if they 
consider that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if 
any decision or omission would give rise to unlawful action. The Executive Director of 
Resources & Monitoring Officer also conducts investigations into matters referred by 
the Ethics Committee and delivers reports and recommendations in respect of those 
investigations to the Ethics Committee.  

 

 The financial management of the Council is conducted in accordance with the 
Financial Regulations set out in the Constitution (4H). The Council has designated 
the Director of Finance, Investment & Risk (& Section 151 Officer) as the Chief 
Financial Officer in accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
The Council has in place a four year medium term financial strategy that was agreed 
at Council in October 2018 and is updated annually supporting the Council’s strategic 
objectives. The financial strategy ensures the economical, effective and efficient use 
of resources including a financial management process for reporting the Council’s 
financial standing. 

 

 The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the requirements of 
the CIPFA statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 
(2013). 

 

 The Council maintains an effective Internal Audit service that has operated, in 
accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  The Council’s 
assurance arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the CIPFA 
Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit (2019). As required by the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations, the Director of Finance, Investment & 
Risk (& Section 151 Officer)  has reviewed the effectiveness of the Internal Audit 
service and reported this to the General Purposes & Audit Committee which has 
concluded that the Internal Audit service is satisfactory and fit for purpose. This 
undertaking is part of the core functions of the General Purposes & Audit Committee, 
as set out in CIPFA’s Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and 
applied in the Council. 

 

 Croydon Council has adopted strategies, policies and practices that are consistent 
with the principles of the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: 
Framework (CIPFA / SOLACE 2016), (‘the framework’). 

 

 The Council has a performance planning process supplemented by detailed business 
planning to establish, monitor and communicate Croydon Council’s objectives. This 
includes a performance management system that sets key targets and reports on 
performance monitoring to Cabinet. The performance management framework is 
utilised to measure the quality of services for users, to ensure that they are delivered 
in accordance with the Council’s objectives and that these services represent the 

Page 230



5  
 

best use of resources and value for money. 
 

 The Council has a robust risk management process to identify, assess and manage 
those significant risks to the Council’s objectives including the risks of its key strategic 
partnerships. The risk management process includes a risk management policy 
statement, corporate and departmental risk registers, risk management steering 
group, and appropriate staff training. The Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources 
champions risk management which is at the heart of the Council’s decision making, 
with each Cabinet Member having access to the risks relating to their portfolio. Key 
corporate risks are regularly reviewed by the Divisional and Departmental 
Management Teams and by the General Purposes & Audit Committee.  

 

 The Council has adopted codes of conduct for its staff and its Members, including co-
opted members. These are introduced to all staff as they are inducted into the 
organisation and they are given their own copies. Members and co-opted members 
sign an undertaking to abide by their Code of Conduct at the point of their election or 
appointment. These Codes are available for reference at all times and reminders and 
training are provided as necessary. 

 

 To ensure that concerns or complaints from the public can be raised, the Council has 
adopted a formal complaints policy which sets out how complaints can be made, 
what should be expected and how to appeal. In addition, the Council has adopted a 
fraud hotline. 

 

 A whistle-blowing policy has been adopted to enable staff, partners and contractors 
to raise concerns of crime or maladministration confidentially. This has been 
designed to enable referrals to be made without fear of being identified. In addition, 
the Council has adopted a whistle blowing hotline supported by a third sector partner. 
These arrangements are part of ensuring effective safeguarding, counter-fraud and 
anti-corruption arrangements are developed and maintained in the Council.  

 

 The Council’s control framework extends to partnerships and other joint working and 
this is reflected in the Council’s overall governance arrangements. 

 

 Many of the Council’s services are delivered in partnership with commercial 
organisations. Where this is the case, the Council ensures that proper governance is 
maintained by closely following procurement procedures when awarding contracts 
and then robustly monitoring those contracts. Increasingly, Council services are 
delivered in partnership with other local public sector organisations. The most 
significant arrangements are grouped under the umbrella of the Local Strategic 
Partnership (LSP) which is led by a board made up of the Leader, relevant Cabinet 
Members, relevant Chief Executives or equivalent. Each of the themes within the LSP 
is overseen by its own board.  

 

 The Strategic Partnership seeks to address community engagement by, amongst 
other methods, involving representatives from themed partnerships, business 
development partnerships and the community voluntary sector alliance. The Local 
Strategic Partnership hosts a congress twice a year for key stakeholders from 
community, voluntary, business and the public sector which contribute to and 
influence strategy and policy of the local area. The thematic partnerships undertake a 
range of consultation exercises to enable all residents and customers to contribute to; 
and shape the strategic themed plans such as the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

Page 231



6  
 

and the Safer Croydon Partnership Community Safety Strategy. In addition, the 
Council undertakes surveys with a representative sample of its residents who provide 
the Council with reliable feedback on important issues that help improve services as 
part of establishing clear channels of communication with all sections of the 
community and other stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open 
consultation. 

 

 Members’ induction training is undertaken after each local government election. In 
addition, an on-going programme of training and awareness is available for Members 
with formal and informal events each year, including all major changes in legislation 
and governance issues.  

 

 A corporate induction programme, ‘Inspire’, is delivered to all new staff joining the 
Council, supplemented by department specific elements. In addition, further 
developmental needs are identified through the Council’s Appraisal Scheme. The 
Council’s Organisational Development service delivers its own suite of courses 
covering core personal competencies. Other training solutions are provided as 
required. The Council has also developed an “Inspiring Leadership” Programme to 
improve leadership and management competencies across the organisation. In 
addition, a programme entitled ‘Doing the Right Thing’ is run to strengthen the 
governance processes and procedures of the Council.  

 

Review of Effectiveness 
 
Croydon Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the 
effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control. The 
review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the executive managers within the 
Council who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance 
environment, the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report, and also by comments made by 
the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates. 
 
This review process includes: 
 

 The Executive Director of Resources & Monitoring Officer’s annual review of the 
constitution to ensure its aims and principles are given full effect. This includes a 
review of the financial regulations by the Director of Finance, Investment & Risk (& 
S151 Officer) 

  

 The Scrutiny and Strategic Overview Committee’s ability to “call in” the Council’s key 
executive decisions prior to implementation to consider the appropriateness of the 
decision. 

 

 The General Purposes & Audit Committee’s responsibility for discharging the 
functions of an audit committee, including reviewing the risk management process, 
the performance of Internal Audit and agreeing the external audit plan.   

 

 Internal audit is responsible for monitoring the quality and effectiveness of internal 
controls. Using the Council’s risk registers and an audit needs assessment, a plan of 
internal audit work is developed. The outcome of the internal audit risk-based work is 
reported to all relevant Executive Directors and Directors and regularly to the General 
Purposes & Audit Committee. Implementation of recommendations is monitored and 
progress reported. The work of the Internal Audit function is reviewed regularly by the 

Page 232



7  
 

external auditors who place reliance on the work completed. The Director of Finance, 
Investment & Risk (& Section 151 Officer) has reviewed annually, the effectiveness of 
the Internal Audit service, and reported this to the General Purposes & Audit 
Committee which has concluded that the Internal Audit service is satisfactory and fit 
for purpose. 

 

 The assurance provided by Members and the assurance provided by of executive 
managers through the Council’s Executive Leadership Team in developing 
departmental and corporate risk registers and agreeing annual departmental 
assurance statements. These annual departmental assurance statements have been 
signed by the relevant Executive Director indicating their confirmation that all 
appropriate controls were in place and that their application of an effective risk 
management framework is also embedded and will be for the coming year.  

 

 The opinion of the external auditors in their reports and annual letter. 
 

 Other review agencies, through their inspection arrangements, such as the Care 
Quality Commission and Ofsted. 

 

Page 233



8 

 

Table 1 

 

The following key risks have been identified following review of the Corporate Risk Register and the Head of Internal Audit Report. 

These risks are considered to be classified as ‘raising significant concern’ and will therefore be closely monitored during the year 

2020/21: 

 

Key Risks Action Responsible 

Officer 

Responsible 

Cabinet Member  

1. Funding levels provided through 
the Government Grant are 
significantly lower than forecast or 
anticipated, resulting in severe 
limitations being placed on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy. 
 
The 2020/21 budget is not 
managed within allocated 
resources resulting in an 
overspend and therefore the need 
to implement additional cuts to 
services. This leads to the Council 
being unable to deliver the 
2020/21 savings or achieve the 
additional income targets and 
therefore not able to balance the 
2020/21 budget, and reserves are 
not sufficient to cover costs. 
 

The Council continues to initiate multiple strategies to mitigate 
the impact of reduced grant funding provided by government 
and the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic which has been 
significant. 
 
The Finance Review Panel has been established to help 
manage the in year budget and plan the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS). 
 
Work to develop and enhance the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy is underway and supported by continuous monitoring 
and scrutiny of all budgets and identified financial commitments 
to identify efficiencies. 
 
There is a continuing approach to enhancing organisational 
efficiency which includes smart commissioning & procurement 
strategies, and the imposition of recruitment controls.  
 
There is a targeted approach to early intervention and 
prevention strategies (specifically within children’s and adult’s 
social care) and ongoing exploitation of continued opportunities 
for working in collaboration with our partners. 
 
There is an ongoing diversification of organisational operating 

Executive Director 
for Resources & 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Director of Finance, 
Investment & Risk 
(& Section 151 
Officer). 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance & 
Resources. 
 

P
age 234



9  
 

portfolio’s incl. asset investment / revenue generation 
opportunities and the continued maintenance of general 
reserves at current levels, with an ambition to increase the 
minimum level of reserves to 5% of the net revenue budget to 
cover any major unforeseen expenditure. 
 
The Council continues to lobby the Home Office to request a 
review of its current funding formula to enable a more fair 
application of the funding formula considering the unique 
challenges that the Council faces through no fault of in-house 
financial management application (unaccompanied asylum 
seeking children being greater in Croydon than anywhere else 
in England by a significant margin).  This work has recently 
been successful with the announcement of enhanced funding 
rates for 2020/21. 
 
The Council will continue to develop strategies to promote and 
stimulate new growth opportunities. There will be a continued 
focus / investigation into effective approaches to managing 
demand. 
 
There will be a continued strategic approach to identifying 
efficiencies and savings through changes to the way the Council 
works e.g. exploiting new technology, consolidation of buildings 
and processes. 
 
Over the next 12-18 months the Council will enhance its 
strategy to identify new ways to strengthen the long term 
financial position through increasing income sources. To 
support this, the Council has initiated a full Financial Review 
Programme with multiple workstream operating throughout the 
organisation to strengthen the already robust controls 
implemented. Work is underway to undertake a complete 

P
age 235



10  
 

refresh of MTFS over the summer 2020 and this will be 
presented to Cabinet in Sept 2020. 

 

2. Social Care market supply 
disruption leading to market failure 
and inability to fulfil statutory 
requirements. 
 

The Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) operating in supported 
living (April 2020), home care (May 2020) and will be 
operational for care homes (January 2021) where providers set 
their prices. The Home Care DPS has nine prime providers who 
the council are working closely with to improve quality and 
collectively develop solutions to the challenges presented by 
COVID.  
 
Providers have received £1.5 million to date of COVID-19 
sustainability payments and £3.5 million of Infection Control 
Funding has been distributed. Where individual providers have 
difficulty, additional support has been provided when required. 
No providers have failed during the COVID-19 period in 
Croydon. The council has also been an emergency PPE route 
for providers before the national portal was set-up. 
 

 

Executive Director / 
DASS Health, 
Wellbeing & Adults. 
 
Director of 
Operations (ASC). 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Families, Health & 
Social Care. 
 

3. Increasing population with 
complex learning needs and 
parental expectations leads to 
rising demand and financial 
pressure on SEN fixed budgets 
including pressure on High Needs 
DSG budget, which can't be 
funded from General Fund 
reserves.  
   

Alignment of Croydon’s Special Educational Needs and 

Disability (SEND) strategy and financial management of the 

High Needs Block.   

 

The in-year overspend for 2019/20 is £5.434 million, with a DSG 

cumulative overspend of £14.558 million. 

 

External Consultant appointed to carry out a review of special 

schools funding during the autumn term 2020 

 
Revised DSG Deficit Recovery Plan (approved by Croydon 

Executive Director / 
DCS Children’s, 
Families & 
Education. 
 
Director of 
Education (Interim). 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young 
People & Learning. 
 

P
age 236



11  
 

School Forum, January 2020), taking into account increased 

funding for High Needs over the next financial year, focusing 

specifically on recovery and deployment of resources to 

address in-year and cumulative deficit of £18.475m over a 

seven to eight year period.   

 

SEND Finance Board established to monitor progress of the 

actions required and consequent outcomes contained in the 

Deficit Recovery Plan and will: 

 develop and agree Terms of Reference; and  

 commission review of the current deficit recovery plan to 

take into account increased provisional 2021/22 DSG 

High Needs Block. 

 

2019/20 Final accounts prepared under new reporting 

arrangements where any deficit an authority may have on its 

DSG account is expected to be carried forward to the next 

year’s schools budget and does not require to be covered by 

the authority’s general reserves. 

 

Education, Health and CSC review of placements is underway. 

 

AVA opening from September 2020 will reduce spend in out of 

borough independent school. 

 

4. The number of unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children (UASC) 
looked after by Croydon remains 
significantly higher than the 

We have been working with the Association of London Directors 
of Children’s Services and the Department for Education and 
Home Office to collectively support the restarting of the National 
Transfer Scheme and the continued functioning of the Pan 

Executive Director / 
DCS Children’s, 
Families & 
Education. 

Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young 
People & Learning. 
 

P
age 237



12  
 

national average leading to 
significant financial pressure on 
the Council.   

London Protocol. 
 
We have been working with the Home Office to ensure that only 
appropriate young people are referred to Croydon. This is 
achieved by a Croydon Social Worker being assigned to Lunar 
House each day.  
 
The Age Assessment Team, continues to operate to fast track 
all age disputed cases. This team has developed expertise 
which means assessments are undertaken to the highest 
standard, significantly reducing the council’s exposure to costly 
Judicial Review. Controlling Migration Fund (CMF) part funding 
for this team has now ended. 
 
There is emphasis on wider negotiation of fair funding 
arrangements for Croydon. Although per child funding has been 
increased, the costs of our duty function supporting Lunar 
House, the administration of the Pan London Rota (PLR) and 
our age assessment function mean our costs continue to be 
higher than Home Office Income.  
 
Croydon continues to work with national partners to support the 
implementation of the National Transfer Scheme, which would 
lead to the fairer distribution of UASC. 
 
Croydon continue to administer the Pan London Rota from 
within our UASC service, working in partnership with London 
Asylum Seekers Consortium (LASC) to transfer 16+ young 
people to partner London Boroughs. This process continues to 
operate effectively.    
 
The Council continues to hold meetings with the Immigration 
Minister and others in Home Office on a regular basis as well as 

 
Director of Early 
Help & Children’s 
Social Care. 
 

P
age 238



13  
 

maintaining ongoing correspondence, conversations and 
clarifications with Home Office. 
 
Ensuring compliance and ensure opportunities are utilised 
through a formal system for dispersing unaccompanied child 
migrants as introduced by central government. 
 

5. The Council is unable to deliver 
services (including all of its 
statutory requirements) should the 
UK and the EU not reach a 
mutually acceptable 'trading 
arrangement' by the end of the 
withdrawal agreement period (31 
December 2020). 

 The Council continues to monitor the risk and also continues to 
put in place mitigations as far as is possible. The level of 
likelihood increases significantly as the 31st December 2020 
deadline approaches without a mutually acceptable ‘trading 
arrangement’ being achieved between the United Kingdom and 
the European Union. 
 
Since the application of a nationwide ‘lockdown’ across the UK 
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Council has refined 
and enhanced its protocols in terms of emergency 
preparedness, including supplier and supply chain resilience, 
and these refined protocols and operating procedures are able 
to be adapted to mitigate some of the challenges that a ‘no-
deal’ Brexit would bring to the borough. 
 
The Council will continue to closely monitor the situation and 
react, where possible, to any and all opportunities to ensure the 
residents of Croydon are safeguarded against the effects of the 
impact of the ‘no-deal’ scenario.   
 
Brexit Working Group continues to operate to ensure that the 
Council is able to react to all elements of overall risk arising 
from current political situation. The Working Group is chaired by 
the Director of Policy & Partnerships who regularly reports 
emerging risks and issues to Executive Leadership Team. 

 

The Chief 
Executive. 
 
Director of Policy & 
Partnerships 
 

Leader of the 

Council. 

P
age 239



14  
 

6. As at end of Q4 (2019/20) there 
were 12 of our 50 maintained 
schools in deficit potentially 
leading to default or an increase in 
arrears. The total deficit amounted 
to £5.4m (January 2020 returns 
figure) however two of the schools 
are in a loan arrangement with the 
LA. 
 

**This risk is included following 
identification via the Corporate 
Risk Register and also following 
findings identified and reported 
through the 2019/20 Audit Plan. It 
is therefore one of six 
recommendations for inclusion in 
the Annual Governance Statement 
by the Head of Internal Audit. ** 
 

Comprehensive review and new procedures for schools in 
deficit developed and issued to schools, requiring submission of 
2020/21 License Deficit Return with signed budgets by the 1st 
May 2020.    
(One school was given an increased timeline for submission of 
this). 
 
Scheme for Financing Schools updated to reflect the new forms 
and arrangements. 
 
Approval of Licensed Deficit Plans by S151 officer – July 2020. 
 
Monthly monitoring reports to be submitted by all schools in 
deficit and a series of monitoring meetings between Local 
Authority and Schools’ senior leadership, including their 
financial advisor, throughout the year. Governing Body 
representation required at half termly meetings. 
 
Independent advisor commissioned by the Schools Forum to 
support this process.  

 

Executive Director / 
DCS Children’s, 
Families & 
Education. 

 
Director of 
Education (Interim). 
 
Director of Finance, 
Investment & Risk 
(& Section 151 
Officer). 

 

Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young 
People & Learning. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance & 
Resources. 
 

 

7. During the course of internal 
audit work during the year, a 
number of issues were identified 
with contract letting, monitoring 
and management. 

Work continues to improve practice across the Commissioning 
Cycle, key actions in 2019/20 include: 

 development of the commissioning pipeline, enabling us 
to identify and review legacy arrangements, provide 
better organisational oversight of existing contracts, and 
inform strategic planning processes 

 implementation of additional e-procurement system 
modules, such as the electronic scoring module, 
providing us with the ability to move away from some 
manual processes 

 the launch of a Procurement Governance Review in 

Executive Director 
for Resources & 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Director of 
Commissioning & 
Procurement. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance & 
Resources. 
 

P
age 240



15  
 

January 2020 and the establishment of project team 
containing all key stakeholders, identifying key 
management information required to inform our 
continuous improvement and progress. The Review 
concluded and made recommendations in July 2020, 
which are now being implemented. 

 

8. Internal audit work during the 
year identified a number of issues 
relating to financial management 
within the adult and children’s 
social care teams. 

ADULTS: The Council is implementing a series of new tools 
(identified below) that will improve and support financial 
management departmentally and divisionally. 
 

 ContrOCC, the finance system that links care and 
support plans and costs is expected to come on line 
from the 18th of September 2020.  Staff are currently in 
training to prepare for the move to this new system. 

 MyResources, the tool for Council staff to manage staff 
establishments, budgets, provider payments and 
income is now successfully embedded and is providing 
greater levels of scrutiny for managers. 

 Dynamic purchasing system (DPS) for care homes, the 
system to procure all future care provision is currently 
still under development and has been delayed by the 
impact of COVID 19. It is being launched in September 
with the DPS operational by January 2021. DPS 1 
(home care) and DPS 3 (supported living/ 
accommodation) are now operational. The development 
of the strategy for the Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS), has allowed for closer scrutiny of finance and 
performance data to inform commissioning plans.  A 
dashboard is being produced to track all placements 
and packages to be overseen by Directors. Updates on 
the DPS will be given six monthly to Contracts and 

Executive Director / 
DCS Children’s, 
Families & 
Education. 

 
Executive Director / 
DASS Health, 
Wellbeing & Adults. 
 
Director of Early 
Help & Children’s 
Social Care. 
 
Director of 
Operations (ASC). 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young 
People & Learning. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Families, Health & 
Social Care. 
 P

age 241



16  
 

Commissioning Board.  
 
On monitoring care spend on domiciliary and residential care; 
the successful implementation of the new adult social care 
Liquid Logic content management system due to come on line 
on the 18th of September 2020, and the linked financial system, 
ContrOCC, will be key drivers to achieve improved monitoring.  

 

The Adapt programme remains the key adult social care 
resource to deliver the savings. Assurances will be presented 
via the Health Wellbeing and Adults DLT for 2020/21.  

 

With COVID 19, those business cases intended to deliver 
savings in 2020/21 have had to be revised, due to the reduced 
ability to deliver. This work has been aligned to the 24 
Corporate Workstreams. Links have been made with all 
Workstream Leads, and interdependencies have been 
established to deliver reviews of capital spend, fees and 
charges, review of contracts, and the review of placements and 
packages 
 
For Adult Social Care, Internal Audit will also deliver an audit on 
our forecasting and financial planning. 
 

CHILDRENS: Placement costs for children in care and care 
packages for children with disabilities remain a pressure, and to 
ensure these are better gripped and more accurately forecasted 
a number of measures are now in place: 
 

 A new Financial Management Framework was agreed at 
the Departmental Leadership Team (DLT) in June 2020 
setting out a robust process and timetable for monthly and 
quarterly budget monitoring at DLT, ELT and financial 

P
age 242



17  
 

reporting to members 

 Monthly monitoring by the Executive Director at DLT, 
with mitigating actions agreed as necessary 

 A full reconciliation of all placements made, purchase 
orders receipted and payments made is now being  
undertaken each month 

 A weekly child in care review panel has been 
established, chaired by the Director Early Help & Children’s 
Social Care, to ensure that where children and young people 
can live safely with families a package of support is provided 
for them to do so  

  
  
To strengthen financial management and budget forecasting 
ContrOCC, the finance system that links care and support plans 
held in Liquid Logic and placement costs is being implemented 
and will be fully operational across all children’s care groups in 
September 2020.  
 
Progress against recommendations and priority actions from 
internal audits, where these have been made, will be reviewed 
and monitored at DLT in a quarterly basis to ensure risks are 
appropriately mitigated and lessons learned across the 
Department.   

 

9. An internal audit of energy 
recharges identified some 
significant weaknesses resulting in 
circa £4M of recharges being 
outstanding, a significant part of 
which related to organisations 
outside of the council.  This 

The issues arising from energy recharges and billing has now 
been resolved with a coding amendment taking place.  
 
The schools have been notified and the invoices are being 
validated as accurate prior to being processed by Facilities 
Management. 

Executive Director 
for Place. 
 
Director of Homes 
& Social 
Investment. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance & 
Resources. 
 

P
age 243



18  
 

resulted in a ‘No Assurance’ audit 
report being issued. 
 

 

10. Internal audit continues to 
identify a number of instances 
where privacy notices relating to 
the collection of personal data 
were missing or were no longer fit 
for purpose. Also noted that 
agreements with 3rd parties did not 
always address this issue 
adequately. 
 

The intranet is up to date and contains detailed advice and 
information for services on the requirements of information 
management and GDPR including the need for Privacy Notices.  
 
An overarching corporate Privacy Notices is in place together 
with service specific privacy Notices for key services. A review 
of service specific Privacy Notices   will be undertaken by the 
end of this financial year March 2021. The legal team will review 
all service requests for new Privacy Notices.  
 
A compulsory GDPR refresher e-learning module is due to be 
rolled out in September 2020 requiring staff to update 
themselves on key GDPR areas including the requirements 
around Privacy Notices. An introduction to GDPR training 
remains a compulsory requirement for all new starters which is 
undertaken during the probationary period. 
 
Communications specific to Privacy Notices and contract 
agreements will be included as part of keeping colleagues 
aware of GDPR legislation, this will be done by end of 
December 2020, in line with all other identified activities 
following the internal audit. 
 
All recommendations required by internal audit have either been 
implemented or in the most recent reports compliance is in 
progress. The Information Management Team are supporting 
relevant services on outstanding recommendations as 
necessary. Finalised reports continue to be published on the 
Council’s website and available for public viewing. 
 

Executive Director 
for Resources & 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Director of Law & 
Governance and 
Deputy Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
Statutory Data 
Protection Officer. 

 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance & 
Resources. 
 

P
age 244



19  
 

11. An internal audit of staff 
expenses identified a number of 
control weaknesses. This resulted 
in a ‘No Assurance’ audit report 
being issued. 

 

The Council’s executive leadership team have been briefed 
about the issues raised by this report. 

A working group has been setup to review the policy and 
guidance issued to staff and to undertake further 
communications to raise awareness of the revised 
policy/guidance. 
 
The expenses policy has been redrafted and combined with the 
car allowances policy.  The new policy has been taken to the 
unions and there is one outstanding issue about the rates we 
pay for motor and pedal cycles.  There is also a check being 
undertaken with other London Council’s to see what they pay.   
Once those rates are finalised we can then inform the unions 
and publish the updated policy.  Also, some quarterly checks on 
expenses claims will be made once the policy is signed off. 
 

 

Executive Director 
for Resources & 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
Director of Human 
Resources. 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance & 
Resources. 
 

 

 

 

P
age 245



20  
 

 

Table 2  

 

The following key risks were raised in the 2018/19 Annual Governance Statement. They were identified as requiring monitoring during 

the financial year 2019/20. The relevant accountable officer(s) have provided a testimony on the progress achieved to mitigate:  
 
 

Key Risks Action Progress Responsible Cabinet 

Member & Responsible 

Officer 

1. The 2019/20 budget is 
not managed within 
allocated resources 
resulting in an overspend 
and therefore the need to 
implement additional cuts 
to services. Funding 
reductions are imposed 
whilst the Council 
experiences a continuous 
rising demand for service 
provision and growth in 
population. The continuing 
improvement of  Children's 
Services following the 
OFSTED inspection (June / 
July 2017) has required 
greater investment in this 
service with over £10m 
having been invested in 
Children's Services during 
2018/19. A further £12m 

The 2018/19 budget resulted in a 
£5.466m overspend, mainly as a result 
of unfunded Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children (UASC) costs. The 
2019/20 budget included a number of 
growth items. This was presented to 
Cabinet in February 2019 and Full 
Council in March 2019 and was 
endorsed by both these bodies. This 
budget is designed to ensure in year 
delivery. The Council continues to 
manage and monitor budgets closely, 
growth has been allocated to 
appropriate areas and high risk areas 
continue to be monitored on a monthly 
basis with a budget monitoring report for 
the whole budget reported to Cabinet 
quarterly.  
 
The 2019/20 budget also included a 
number of savings options which are 
also being managed and closely 

The revenue outturn for 2019/20 resulted in 

an underspend before exceptional items of 

£8.563m (less than 0.1% of gross 

departmental expenditure), there are 

exceptional items of £8.749m, leading to an 

overall overspend of £0.186m.  

 

Exceptional items are Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) costs. 

 

This final outturn is lower than that forecast at 

quarter 3. The main reasons for the variations 

compared to quarter 3 are around an 

improvement to below the line items and a 

significant adverse movement in Children’s 

Families and Education.  

 

The 2019/20 outturn overspend has been 
funded by drawing down from general fund 
balances 2019/20. 
 
The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

Executive Director for 
Resources & Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
Director of Finance, 
Investment & Risk (& 
Section 151 Officer. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance & Resources. 
 

 

P
age 246



21  
 

investment has been 
agreed in the 2019/20 
budget. 

 

monitored. During 2018/19 the Council 
moved towards delivering services on a 
locality basis with a number of localities 
now in operation. Delivery and success 
of these will be measured and 
monitored in year and reported as part 
of the regular budget monitoring reports 
to Cabinet. 
 
The investment in Children’s Services is 
also monitored through monthly 
meetings that focus solely on this 
services and delivery. 
 
Work is also underway to refresh the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
will be presented to Cabinet with the 
budget in February 2020. 
 

is was refreshed currently presented to 
cabinet in September 2020. 

 

 

2. Social Care market 
supply disruption leading to 
market failure and inability 
to fulfil statutory 
requirements. 
 
Situation nationally has 
deteriorated so likelihood is 
very high. Market failure 
has become more 
common, increased by 82% 
nationally. 
 

For social care providers for clients 
under the age of 65, the uplift strategy 
for this financial year will be based on 
taking a proportionate approach. 
Providers paid at the lower end will be 
uplifted in line with that of benchmarked 
averages. Providers at the higher end or 
who have recently had uplifts applied 
will not be increased. This approach will 
ensure greater consistency in rates paid 
with a view to undertaking blanket uplifts 
in future as currently occurs with the 
older people’s providers.  
 

Providers with low rates in supported living 
were uplifted to a higher baseline cost. The 
Home Care Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS) is now operational and working with 
nine Prime Providers. Each provider has 
submitted their own prices and passed a 
quality threshold test. The Care Home DPS 
will be opened at end of July with aim of 
being operational in January 2021.  
 

 

 

 

Executive Director / 
DASS Health, Wellbeing 
& Adults. 
 
Director of Operations 
(ASC). 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Families, Health & Social 
Care. 
 

 

P
age 247



22  
 

The market position statement and 
ongoing conversations with the provider 
market make it clear that we are seeking 
less residential care and more 
supported living options in Croydon. 
There has been a good offer of support 
for providers who want to pursue de-
registration and have properties that can 
be developed into supported living. 
Since publishing the market position 
statement in 2018, there has also been 
a lot of work undertaken to further 
understand future demand including 
number of units required for supported 
living and the number of children who 
will transition to adult services. This will 
be included in the next refresh, with 
information about the detail of the 
commissioning strategy for the new 
dynamic purchasing system and the 
increase in direct payments.  
 
The potential for joint and integrated 
commissioning arrangements across 
health and social care will continue to 
develop. The One Croydon Alliance 
integrated contracting mechanism – the 
‘Service Operations Manual’ can expand 
to include other types of provision, and 
joint priorities are being considered for 
the short and longer term. 
Commissioners are supporting this with 
the roll out of direct payments and the 

The Market Position Statement refresh has 
been delayed but a new version taking into 
account the post COVID landscape is being 
prepared. DPS 2 (Care homes) is the final 
procurement system to be operational. The 
Support Living and Support Accommodation 
DPS 3 are operational and provide a good 
range of options. Commissioning and 
Procurement, working with HWA, will revisit 
accommodation options that were paused 
during COVID to ensure we have good supply 
of quality supported living and extra care. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Options for integrating commissioning 
continue to be explored. Joint funding 
agreements are in place for some mental 
health support contracts and the current 
service offer is being jointly reviewed. DPS 2 
(Care Homes) is accessible to the CCG as 
well as councils. The PA support service 
contract has been operational since 
November 2020 increasing Personal 
Assistant (PA) options and enhancing the 

P
age 248



23  
 

procurement of systems and external 
support including a ‘personal assistants’ 
service.  
 
The last two provider forums have had a 
focus on direct payments and 
developing services and cost models 
that will increase market options for 
residents. Overall, the monthly provider 
engagement meetings, which started 
about 18 months ago, have focused on 
how we work together to find good 
quality, affordable housing for supported 
living in Croydon. The first meetings 
were held for disability and mental 
health providers on the Integrated 
Framework Agreement. As a result we 
developed a ‘pen portrait process’ that 
has enabled us to establish three new 
supported living schemes and find new 
placements for over 30 people with 
complex health and care needs. We are 
now in the process of setting up 18 new 
flats for supported living with the 
providers that we have developed better 
relationships with. This will of course be 
aligned to in house provision where 
possible and the upcoming Council’s 
Housing Strategy ensuring housing for 
all including for people with disabilities 
and frail elderly.  
 
As we progress, transform and integrate 

support for PAs.  
 

 

 

The nature and frequency of provider 
engagement has changed during COVID 
period. Weekly forums with care homes and 
home care providers have taken place since 
end of March. Supported living and supported 
accommodation providers have been 
supported financially during the COVID period 
to help with sustainability. Voids in supported 
accommodation have been kept to a 
minimum but the housing pathway work 
including step-down from residential care is 
being revisited.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 249



24  
 

our provision to develop seamless care 
and support for our residents, we will 
develop new models of care that will 
require innovative commissioning 
processes and development of strategic 
partnerships, as well as in-house 
provision development.   
 
There will be a new dynamic purchasing 
system, the system to procure all future 
care provision. In developing the 
strategy for the Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS), there has been close 
scrutiny of finance and performance 
data to inform commissioning plans. The 
nature of the Dynamic Purchasing 
System supports innovation in 
commissioning, in that new providers 
can apply to the system at any time and 
new ‘LOTS’ / service categories can be 
added at any time, allowing for new 
models of care to develop in a timely 
way rather than waiting for long 
contracts to expire.   
 
A focus on quality is imperative.  Our 
commissioned providers will need to 
demonstrate how they meet the metrics 
in our outcomes framework. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dynamic purchasing systems 1 (home care 
and 3 (supported living) have been 
implemented. DPS 2 (Care Homes) will be 
operational in January 2021 following the 
tendering process in the autumn. All care 
homes will need to meet the quality threshold. 
 
 

3. Increasing population 
with complex learning 
needs and parental 

The High Needs Block element of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is 
under significant pressure. Increases in 

Increased High Needs funding from 

government of more than £5m in 2020/21 and 

Executive Director / DCS 
Children’s, Families & 
Education. 

P
age 250



25  
 

expectations leads to rising 
demand and financial 
pressure on SEN budgets 
including pressure on High 
Needs DSG budget.  There 
is currently a £4.5m in year 
2018/19 budget pressure 
and a cumulative £13m 
deficit on the High Needs 
DSG Budget resulting in a 
£9m overall DSG deficit. 
 

expenditure in recent years as a result 
of demand (numbers of Education, 
Health & Care Plan’s). The extension of 
EHCP responsibilities beyond 16 and 
the cost of fulling the requirements has 
not been matched by the significant 
increase in funding required to meet 
these needs. The Council is moving to 
ensure a more sustainable position, and 
has submitted a DSG deficit recovery 
plan to DfE as required detailing the 
high needs recovery plan for Croydon. 
 
The current medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) review will also involve 
a plan to increase general fund reserves 
to ensure any future deficit can be 
managed. 

 

2021/22. 

 

Revised DSG Deficit Recovery Plan 

(approved by Croydon School Forum, 

January 2020), taking into account increased 

funding for High Needs over the next financial 

year, focusing specifically on recovery and 

deployment of resources to address in-year 

and cumulative deficit of £18.475m over a 

seven to eight year period.   

 
From 2019/20, new reporting arrangements 
where any deficit an authority may have on its 
DSG account is expected to be carried 
forward to the next year’s schools budget and 
does not require to be covered by the 
authority’s general reserves. 

 

 
Director of Education 
(Interim). 

 
Director of Finance, 
Investment & Risk (& 
Section 151 Officer. 

 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People 
& Learning. 

 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance & Resources. 

 

 

4. The number of 
unaccompanied asylum 
seeking children (UASC) 
looked after by Croydon 
remains significantly higher 
than the national average.  
LB Croydon plays a key 
role in supporting the 
National Transfer Scheme 
(NTS), a voluntary 
arrangement between local 
authorities to disperse and 
settle children and young 

The Chief Executive and senior officers 
continue to have a dialogue with the 
Home Office, other local authorities and 
London Leaders to encourage their 
participation in the NTS. It was hoped 
that the recent announcement by the 
government to increase the daily rate of 
payment for UASC would break down 
the barrier presented by those local 
authorities but we have yet to see any 
movement. Referrals to NTS are 
routinely made but with no response.  
 

We have been working with the Association 
of London Directors of Children’s Services, 
the Department for Education and the Home 
Office to collectively support the fair 
implementation of the National Transfer 
Scheme and the work of the Pan London 
Protocol. 

 
We have been working with the Home Office 
to ensure that only appropriate young people 
are placed. 

 
The Age Assessment Team, supported by the 

Executive Director / DCS 
Children’s, Families & 
Education. 
 
Director of Early Help & 
Children’s Social Care. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People 
& Learning. 
 

P
age 251



26  
 

people across the UK. This 
scheme has not had the 
anticipated success. The 
Pan London Protocol is in 
operation. London 
authorities have 
co-operated over many 
years to support each other 
(although primarily 
Croydon) by voluntarily 
taking new presentations of 
16 and 17 year old UASCs 
on a rota basis with an 
agreed threshold of 0.07%. 
Those authorities that have 
been above the 0.07% 
threshold have come off the 
rota. They do come back 
on when young people 
become 18 and they fall 
back beneath the threshold. 
However, the numbers 
have risen in the past year 
and the capacity has 
reduced across London. 
One authority has recently 
removed themselves from 
the rota. 
 

The London Labour Group has agreed 
to increase the capacity of participating 
Labour controlled local authorities on the 
Pan London Rota from 0.07% to 0.08%, 
increasing the number of places for 
16/17 year olds by approx.40 places. 
 
London Leaders have also unanimously 
agreed to support Croydon and other 
port authorities in lobbying the 
Government in relation to UASC. 

Controlling Migration Fund, is now fast 
tracking all age disputed cases. 

 
There is an emphasis on wider negotiation of 
fair funding arrangements for Croydon. 
 
Continued use of the Local Authority rota to 
place young people in other boroughs. 
 
Ensuring compliance and that opportunities 
are utilised through a formal system for 
dispersing unaccompanied child migrants as 
introduced by central government. 

 
Working with London Councils and the Local 
Government Association to raise awareness 
of the specific UASC pressures facing ‘Port of 
Entry' locations such as Lunar House in 
Croydon. 
 
Additional funding was provided following 
sustained lobbying of central government by 
the Council. 

5. The Council's ability to 
deliver services (including 
all statutory requirements) 
are adversely / critically 

This risk is closely monitored in terms of 
the level and likelihood of the multiple 
elements of impact. However the 
outcome of the parliamentary process, 

The Council continued to monitor and react to 
the wider political environment and strategy 
applied by the UK government and the EU 
leadership during the course of the year and 

The Interim Chief 
Executive. 
 
Director of Policy & 

P
age 252



27  
 

affected following the 
departure from the 
European Union by the 
United Kingdom. 
 

the stability and final policy of central 
government and the confirmed details of 
the UK exit conditions (including the 
date of parliamentary approval) cannot 
be determined at an organisational level. 
The Council has however initiated a 
formal ‘working group’ (incorporating 
senior officers) to monitor, strategise 
and initiate policies (where possible) to 
mitigate the risk. 
 
The Council will continue to react to the 
issues arising as a result of the status of 
the ongoing negotiations and central 
government’s approach to the 31st 
October deadline. 
 

continued to ensure it was able to (as far as 
was possible) maintain a robust system of 
controls and organisational resilience should 
there be no appropriate resolution to the 
negotiations between the United Kingdom 
and the European Union.  
 
Since the beginning of March 2020 the global 
pandemic and the devastation that Covid-19 
has brought both in terms of health and the 
economy, the Council has become 
significantly more concerned that the risk of a 
‘no-deal’ Brexit has increased exponentially 
and has therefore reformulated the risk entry 
to reflect this.  
 

Partnerships. 
 

Leader of the Council. 

6. Exploitation of young 
people in the Borough 
particularly in relation to 
peer on peer and gang 
activities and children 
missing from home and 
care. 
 

There is a new child exploitation process 
and meeting (Complex Adolescents 
Panel) which is for children who are 
exploited, go missing or are assessed 
by the Youth Offending Service as high 
risk. The gang’s team have been active 
within schools, providing educative 
programmes and there is a gang’s 
prevention worker who is part of that 
team. 
 

 Children Services have pulled together a 
number of team processes that aim to reduce 
and support the likelihood of exploitation(s) of 
our young people. Alongside the development 
of the Adolescence Service, which by design 
is a service that supports young people from 
a contextual safeguarding perspective and 
has been successful in reducing young 
people’s vulnerability by the various forms of 
exploitation, through social work techniques 
and systemic practice.  
 
This is supported well by a specific multi-
agency Panel, the Complex Adolescence 
Panel, which oversees all young people 
identified being subject to form of exploitation 

Executive Director / DCS 
Children’s, Families & 
Education. 
 
Director of Early Help & 
Children’s Social Care. 
 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People 
& Learning. 

 

P
age 253



28  
 

or the likelihood of being exploited.  
 
The CAP panel also has the function of 
directing multi-agency resources in support 
reducing exploitation behaviours in young 
people.  
 
This work is also supported by the Missing 
team and intelligence Service and the Gangs 
Team, which again wrap around young 
people and provide a framework for support. 
Children Services are part of the VRN 
approach and suitably use this to inform 
practice with young people who are 
vulnerable. 
 

7. Dependency of 
Children's Services on 
interim resources. This 
includes the challenges of 
recruiting (particularly in 
Care Planning & 
Assessment Team) coupled 
with significant capacity and 
resourcing pressures and 
the impact of service 
reorganisations resulting in 
a lack of stable, high 
performing workforce. 
 

Ongoing recruitment campaigns are in 
progress with specific targeting for both 
management and social worker roles. 
 For the 12 months (1 June 2018 to 31 
May 2019 – 92 new starters to the 
Division (46 being Social Workers). 
A review of the financial recruitment 
welcome offer has been implemented 
which maintains Croydon as an 
attractive employer both financially 
supported with a good learning and 
development offer and benefits. 

 As at March 2020 64% of social care staff 
were permanent employees, a significant 
improvement from 51% in April 2019.  A 
coordinated approach including targeted 
recruitment campaigns including the use of 
social media, a refreshed recruitment and 
retention financial package to keep Croydon 
competitive as an employer, a comprehensive 
learning and development offer to staff that 
was commended by Ofsted, a partnership 
with Frontline to recruit excellent newly 
qualified social workers and Croydon’s 
increasingly positive reputation across the 
sector have all contributed to improved 
workforce stability. 
 

Executive Director / DCS 
Children’s, Families & 
Education. 
 
Director of Early Help & 
Children’s Social Care. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People 
& Learning. 

 

8.The pace of change to The monitoring visit in March noted A full Ofsted inspection under the ILACS Executive Director / DCS 

P
age 254



29  
 

achieve the improvement 
plan outcomes and the 
journey to a rating of 'Good' 
 is too slow or not achieved, 
following the OFSTED 
inspection of ‘Services for 
children in need of help and 
protection and children 
looked after and care 
leavers’ which judged the 
Council’s Children’s  
Services as ‘inadequate’.  

 

improved pace. It is anticipated that the 
final monitoring will reach the same 
conclusion. 
 
Preparation is underway for the 
inspection which is likely to be in 
October / November. 

framework published in March 2020 judged 
the overall effectiveness of children’s services 
as ‘good’, up two grades from the inspection 
in 2017.  
 
Within the overall judgement the experiences 
and progress for children in need of help and 
protection and the impact of leaders on social 
work practice with children and families were 
both judged good.  Experiences and progress 
of children in care and care leavers was 
graded ‘requires improvement’ and these 
services areas will continue to be a focus for 
further improvement.     

 

Children’s, Families & 
Education. 
 
Director of Early Help & 
Children’s Social Care. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People 
& Learning. 

 

9. As at the end of 2018/19, 
there are 9 of our 50 
maintained schools in 
deficit potentially leading to 
default or an increase in 
arrears. The total deficit 
amounts to £3.7m however 
two of the schools are in a 
loan arrangement with the 
LA.  
 
In this context it is worthy of 
note that Internal audit work 
in schools during the year 
resulted in half of the 
schools visited receiving 
either Limited or No 
Assurance reports. 

Two of the schools account for 
approximately £3m of the total deficit 
(£3.7m). There are ongoing plans in 
place with these schools in order to 
manage their positions as much as 
possible.  
 
Schools in deficit are required to submit 
a license deficit plan which is a future 
budget plan for how the school will 
return to a balanced position within a 3 - 
5 year period. Each of the schools are 
required to report monthly and their 
positions are monitored to asses that 
they are adhering to their budget 
proposals. The schools senior 
leadership team and senior LA 
personnel meet regularly with the 

As at end of 2019/20 there were 12 of our 50 
maintained schools in deficit potentially 
leading to default or an increase in arrears.  
 
The total deficit amounted to £5.4m (January 
2020 returns figure) however two of the 
schools are in a loan arrangement with the 
LA. 
 
Comprehensive review and new procedures 
for schools in deficit developed and issued to 
schools, requiring submission of 2020/21 
License Deficit Return with signed budgets by 
the 1st May 2020.    
 

Executive Director / DCS 
Children’s, Families & 
Education. 
 
Director of Education 
(Interim). 

 
Director of Finance, 
Investment & Risk (& 
Section 151 Officer). 

 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People 
& Learning. 

 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance & Resources. 
 

P
age 255



30  
 

Weaknesses identified 
included a range of issues 
including those that could 
impact on a school’s 
financial management. 
 

schools in deficit. These meetings are 
used to review plans and to monitor 
progress. 
 
Review of internal audit reports is 
carried out and issues are then used as 
subject topics in the termly update 
briefing meetings that are held with 
schools.   
 

10. Although there 
continues to be 
improvements, during the 
course of internal audit 
work during the year, a 
number of issues were 
identified with contract 
monitoring and 
management. 

 

Contracts of different sizes are 
monitored and managed by Officers 
across the Council. Supporting and 
enabling Contract Managers to comply 
and work within the councils Contract 
Management Framework is an ongoing 
focus, and performance is improving 
year on year.  
 
Throughout 2018/19, we held a series of 
learning and development sessions to 
support and improve the contract 
management practice across the 
Council. This included leading 
Commissioning and Contract 
Management Working Groups to build 
the capabilities of the Contract 
Management Community. In addition, in 
October 2018, we also held a 
Commissioning and Contract 
Management week which included 16 
learning and development sessions that 
were attended by over 350 officers from 

The updated Tender and Contracts 
Regulations provide a stronger focus on 
quality and how the social, environmental and 
economic wellbeing of the borough can be 
enhanced through delivery of each contract.  
 
All tenders are submitted via the London 
Tenders Portal, electronically recorded and 
stored and contracts are entered into the 
Council’s Contract Register via the Council’s 
e-tendering portal and in accordance with the 
Local Government Transparency Code. 
Copies of signed and sealed contracts are 
uploaded on to the Contract Management 
System.  This includes all relevant documents 
relating to the contract, e.g. insurance 
certificates, health and safety, etc.   
 
There has been significant progress on 
monitoring high value contracts via the 
Balanced Scorecards returned quarterly.  
Poor performance on contracts are managed 
by the Contract Managers through the 

Executive Director for 
Resources & Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
Director of 
Commissioning & 
Procurement. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance & Resources. 
 

 

 

P
age 256



31  
 

across the Council.  
 
The Contracts Hub was launched in 
October 2017 and with this we 
introduced the Contract Management 
toolkit and the Contract Management 
Plan (based on National Audit Office 
good practice). We also began quarterly 
reporting on Tier one (over £1m per 
annum) contracts, from October 2017. 
As a result of this reporting, we have 
enforced more consistent monitoring, 
management and oversight of the 
Councils largest contracts. A similar and 
proportionate approach is now being 
implemented for Tier 2 (between £500k 
and £1m per annum) contracts.  
 
The Tenders & Contracts Regulations 
and Commissioning Framework have 
been updated to include a stronger 
emphasis on contract management. The 
Commissioning Framework lists contract 
management as one of the Councils key 
priorities and the Tender and Contract 
Regulations include a clear role for the 
Councils Contract and Commissioning 
Board to hold contract managers to 
account. These Regulations will form 
part of the Constitution once they are 
adopted by Full Council in July 2019. 
Following on from this, there will an 
awareness raising exercise across the 

development of an Action Plan with providers 
and maintaining and monitoring an active risk 
register assessing all risks and contingency 
measures and business continuity plans. This 
is presented to Executive Directors to review 
progress. In October 2019 there was the 
annual Commissioning & Contract 
Management Week which provided support, 
training and workshops to all contract 
managers on best practice on various topics 
to improve contract management and reduce 
risk 
 
A formal review process has been applied to 
all contracts deemed to be High Risk, High 
Value, or High Profile. For the life of 
Framework Agreements and DPSs, CCB is 
updated on performance and awards of 
contracts accordance with Regulation 28.   
 
The updated Tender and Contracts 
Regulations have changed the buying 
practices for below £100k spend, providing 
greater access for local suppliers to quote for 
works, remove ambiguity around variations & 
extensions and applying tighter controls and 
ensuring oversight of significant variations to 
larger contracts.   
 
The Central Buying Team is now operational 
and manages low value sourcing under 
£100k. There is work ongoing on monitoring 
non-compliance through spend analysis 

P
age 257



32  
 

Council which will include roadshows at 
DLT’s and regular communications to 
staff. There will also be a new 
Procurement & Contract Management 
Handbook developed which will be 
available to all staff and will support the 
Commissioning Framework and Social 
Value Policy. This handbook will give 
more practical tips to contract managers 
who are involved in contract 
management. 
 
A new Central Buying Team has also 
been established and will be leading on 
low value sourcing from the summer 
2019. The Council’s new financial 
system will also allow the Central Buying 
Team to monitor non-compliance with 
the Tender and Contract Regulations 
through providing easier access to 
spend analysis reports. The Central 
Buying Team will also have 
responsibility for ensuring officers in the 
Council are raising requisitions against a 
contract purchase agreement and where 
this isn’t the case they will be reporting 
this to DLT’s. Plans are afoot to refresh 
the Contract Management Framework in 
2019/2020 to reflect the new practices in 
contract performance management. 

 

reports as additional data becomes available 
since My Resources went live. In addition the 
Central Buying Team review requisitions 
above £10,000 that are not allocated to a 
contract to ensure compliance with the TCRs.  
 
The facility for purchase requisitions to be 
raised against contract purchase agreement 
is in place on My Resources; although there 
is further work required to encourage more 
wide spread use across the Council.  A list of 
non-contracted spend (in the form of non-
compliant waivers has been compiled for 
Contracts and Commissioning Board (CCB). 

 

11. Internal audit work 
during the year identified a 

ADULTS: The Council is implementing a 
series of new tools (below) that will 

ADULTS: The ContrOCC (finance) and Liquid 
Logic (social care case notes) systems are on 

Executive Director / DCS 
Children’s, Families & 

P
age 258



33  
 

number of issues relating to 
financial management 
within the adult and 
children’s social care 
teams. 

 

support financial management 
departmentally and divisionally. 
 

 ContrOCC, the finance system 
that links care and support plans 
and costs. 

 MyResources, new tool for 
Council staff to manage staff 
establishments, budgets, 
provider payments and income. 

 Dynamic purchasing system, the 
system to procure all future care 
provision. In developing the 
strategy for the Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS), there 
has been close scrutiny of 
finance and performance data to 
inform commissioning plans. 

 
On monitoring care spend on domiciliary 
and residential care; the successful 
implementation of the new adult social 
care Liquid Logic content management 
system, and the linked financial system, 
ContrOCC, will be key drivers to achieve 
the improved monitoring. 
 
Additionally, the adult social care ‘cost of 
care tool’ will support the forecasting of 
future budget requirements through a 
series of scenario based tests, and set 
against the know efficiencies 

track, and will both play significant roles in 
enabling financial management to improve. 
These programmes are being implemented 
by Croydon Digital Services, and the adult 
social care senior management team have 
held a monthly implementation Board with the 
implementation partner, which as we 
approach the September launch period, will 
now move to fortnightly. 
 
Budget holders in adult social care are now 
trained on and regularly using MyResources. 
Recently agreed, all budget holders will now 
meet on a monthly basis with the Director of 
Operations and Director of Integration and 
Innovation, to review spend and forecasts. 
 
DPS 3 Supported Living and Housing Related 
Support and DPS 1 Home Care, Extra Care 
and Day are now operational. The application 
window for DPS 2 Care Homes will be 
opened in August with call-offs starting in 
January. The three DPS’s will help regulate 
pricing and quality. A dashboard is being 
produced to track all placements and 
packages to be overseen by Directors. 
Updates on the DPS will be given six monthly 
to Contracts and Commissioning Board.  
 
The social care cost of care tool was 
developed to measure the impact of 
demographic growth against a series of 
variables, to enable a better understanding of 

Education. 

 
Executive Director / 
DASS Health, Wellbeing 
& Adults. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Children, Young People 
& Learning. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Families, Health & Social 
Care. 
 
 
 

 

P
age 259



34  
 

programme being tracked through the 
Adapt transformation programme. 
 
For Adult Social Care, Internal Audit will 
also deliver a quarter 2 audit on our 
forecasting and financial planning. 
  

CHILDRENS: We are continuing to 
experience an increase in demand for 
Children’s Services, especially in 
relation to corporate parenting which is 
leading to the need to invest more 
financial resources. Finances are 
reviewed monthly at a departmental 
level at Senior Leadership Team 
meetings, at Departmental Leadership 
Team meetings and then scrutinised by 
lead Councillor’s at monthly Children’s 
Improvement Finance meeting before 
being presented to Cabinet on a 
quarterly basis.  
 
At the monthly Children’s Improvement 
Finance meetings there is discussion 
regarding outcomes and performance to 
ensure the right level of investment is 
made.  Outcomes are closely monitored 
to ensure value for money. 
 
To strengthen budgeting and financial 
management a new My Finance system 
(part of Oracle Cloud) has been 
introduced in May 2019. Finance 

what annual growth budget would be 
required. With a need to deliver significant 
savings and a reduced budget for 2020/21 
and the foreseeable future, this is for the 
moment, not the right tool to achieve these 
aims. 
 
However, analysis and activity has been 
delivered to enable savings and cost 
avoidance to be delivered. As part of the in-
year 2019/20 sprint sessions (August 2019), 
adult social care developed a series of 
business cases, to deliver additional in-year 
savings, and savings in 2020/21 (all 
approved). 
 
The Adapt programme was and remains the 
key adult social care resource to deliver the 
savings, with assurances presented at the 
corporate medium term financial strategy 
Board in 2019/20. Assurances will be 
presented via the Health Wellbeing and 
Adults DLT for 2020/21. 
 
With COVID 19, those business cases 
intended to also deliver in 2020/21 have had 
to be revised, with reduced ability to deliver. 
The work has been aligned to the 24 
corporate workstreams. Links have been 
made with all workstream leads, and 
interdependencies have been established 
with workstreams such as the review of 
capital spend, fees and charges, review of 

P
age 260



35  
 

training has been provided to budget 
managers to help support and improve 
accountably and ownership of budgets 
going forward. 

 

contracts, and the review of placements and 
packages. 
 

CHILDRENS: Over 2019-20 the 
implementation of the ‘Destination 20201’ 
transformation programme and a relentless 
focus on improving the quality of practice has 
led to a reduction in demand for some 
Children’s social care services, with sustained 
changes in the number of contacts and 
referrals for services, children subject to child 
protection plans and legal proceedings with 
families.  
 
To monitor and track the impact on financial 
 management and budget projections a new 
Financial Management Framework has been 
agreed, setting out a robust approach to 
budget management, monitoring and 
reporting from individual budget holders 
through to DLT, ELT and elected members to 
a monthly and quarterly timetable. 
 
Divisional accountants are introducing 
monthly reconciliations with budget holders to 
ensure that in-month adjustments are 
accurately captured and inform reliable 
financial projections. 
 
A monthly service check and challenge 
meeting, chaired by the Executive Director, 
includes monthly performance, practice 
quality and finance, to ensure that outcomes 

P
age 261



36  
 

for children and families are closely monitored 
to ensure value for ,money and effectiveness. 
   

12. An internal audit 
conducted during the year 
on energy recharges 
identified some significant 
weaknesses resulting in 
circa £4M of recharges 
being outstanding, a 
significant part of which 
related to organisation’s 
outside of the council. This 
resulted in a ‘No 
Assurance’ audit report 
being issued. 
 

The majority of energy usage 
information has now been received from 
the suppliers, collated into a site by site 
basis and reconciled against payments.  
The implementation of the new financial 
system allows invoices to be created 
much more quickly, and work will take 
place over summer to issue credit notes 
and new invoices to 3rd party 
organisations.  

The issues arising from energy recharges and 
billing has now been resolved with a coding 
amendment taking place.  
 
The schools have been notified and the 
invoices are being validated as accurate prior 
to being processed by Facilities Management. 

Executive Director for 
Place. 
 
Director of Homes & 
Social Investment. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance & Resources. 
 
 

13. Following a change in 
legislation during 2018, 
internal audit identified a 
number of instances where 
privacy notices relating to 
the collection of personal 
data were missing or were 
no longer fit for purpose. 
Also noted that agreements 
with 3rd parties did not 
always address this issue 
adequately. 

A General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) Project Board was established 
to assist the Council with compliance 
with the new requirements. This Project 
Board was active from September 2017 
until December 2018.  GDPR includes 
rules on giving privacy information to 
data subjects as provided under Articles 
12, 13 and 14 of the GDPR.  
 
As part of the transparency 
requirements, Notices are required to be 
made available to inform data subjects 
as to: 
 

 how their information will be 

The intranet has now been updated and 
contains advice and information for services 
on the requirements of information 
management and GDPR including the need 
for Privacy Notices. Internal communications 
have continued including during the current 
pandemic to remind staff of their 
responsibilities in processing and managing 
data.  
 
An overarching corporate Privacy Notice is in 
place together with service specific Privacy 
Notices for key services.  A review of service 
specific Privacy Notices has not been 
undertaken as indicated in July/ Aug 2019 
due to the implementation of a new casework 

Executive Director for 
Resources & Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
Director of Law & 
Governance and Deputy 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Statutory Data 
Protection Officer. 
 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance & Resources. 
 

P
age 262



37  
 

processed, and 

 the legal basis for this processing 
and their rights (i.e. subject 
access, right to be forgotten, 
correction of their information, 
restricting processing and 
portability).  

 
The Notices also establish a clear 
understanding of the limits of processing 
that a data subject can expect, which 
the Council is required to abide by 
subject to the reasonable application of 
any exemptions within GDPR and/or the 
Data Protection Act 2018.  
 
To meet this requirement, a 
comprehensive Corporate Notice was 
agreed by the GDPR Project Board and 
published on 24 May 2018. This was 
followed by the publication on a rolling 
basis of a suite of additional service 
specific notices Privacy Notices, 
highlighting the particular operational 
differences that affect the processing of 
personal data within specific service 
areas.  These Notices are subject to 
review by relevant service managers to 
ensure that any changes in processing 
are recorded within them.  
 
An e-learning module was designed and 
loaded onto the corporate staff 

management system for both freedom of 
information and data protection requests. This 
audit will now take place by the end of this 
financial year March 2021. The Legal Team 
review all service requests for new Privacy 
Notices.  
 
A compulsory GDPR refresher e-learning 
module is currently being tested, and roll out 
is planned for September 2020. This 
refresher will require staff to update 
themselves on key GDPR areas including the 
requirements around Privacy Notices. An 
introduction to GDPR training remains a 
compulsory requirement for all new starters. 
 
Communications specific to Privacy Notices 
will be included as part of keeping colleagues 
aware of GDPR legislation, this will be done 
by end of December 2020. 
 
All recommendations required by internal 
audit have either been implemented or in the 
most recent reports compliance is in 
progress. The Information Management 
Team are supporting relevant services on 
outstanding recommendations as necessary. 
Finalised reports continue to be published on 
the Council’s website and are available for 
public viewing. 

 

P
age 263

https://www.croydon.gov.uk/democracy/data-protection-freedom-information/privacy-notices/corporate-privacy-notice


38  
 

electronic learning library (Croydon 
Learning), to reinforce the key 
messages and requirements brought 
about by the move to GDPR. At the final 
meeting of the GDPR Board held on 6 
December 2018 it was reported that 

96% of staff had completed the e-
learning module. The Information 
Management (IM) Team are in the 
process of designing refresher training 
for staff one year on. 
 
Briefing sessions for staff began in 
January 2018 to provide information on 
the changes brought about by the 
introduction of GDPR, key issues for 
services to consider and the work of the 
Project Board. These Briefing Sessions, 
provided an overview of GDPR, and 
included specific advice around the 
requirement for Privacy Notices. 
 
Intranet guidance and training resources 
for staff were created and are now co-
located in a single location on the 
Intranet as a GDPR Resources Hub 
including all guidance, policy documents 
and communications issued in a single 
location which also acts as a training 
resource. 
 
An audit of the overarching Privacy 
Notice, and service specific privacy 

P
age 264



39  
 

notices, will be carried out during July 
and August 2019, to ensure compliance 
with the legislation and to encourage 
services to update all notices necessary 
on any forms and applications sent on 
behalf of the Council. 
 
Training and communications will 
continue from the IM team to ensure 
that services are completing Privacy 
Notices where necessary. All new 
Privacy Notices are reviewed by the 
Council’s Legal Team to ensure that 
they are compliant with GDPR 
legislation. 

 

 
 
We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further enhance our governance arrangements. The Cabinet will 
also be identifying new ways of addressing the above matters.  We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that 
were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual review. 
 

 

 
Signed…………………………………….. 

Katherine Kerswell 

Interim Chief Executive 

 
Date………….……….…........................ 

 

 
Signed…………………………………..... 

Tony Newman 

Leader of the Council 

 
Date………………..…………………….. 

 

  
 

P
age 265



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

REPORT TO: GENERAL PURPOSES AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

7 October 2020  

SUBJECT: Anti-Fraud Update Report 1st April 2020 – 31  August 2020 

LEAD OFFICER: David Hogan, Head of Anti-Fraud 

CABINET 
MEMBER 

Councillor Simon Hall 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

WARDS: All 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT:   

The work of the Anti-Fraud service helps the Council to improve its value for 
money by strengthening financial management and further embedding risk 
management. Improving value for money ensures that the Council delivers 
effective services contributing to the achievement of the Council’s vision and 
priorities. The detection of fraud and better anti-fraud awareness contribute to 
the perception of a law-abiding Borough.  

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:   

The budget provision for the Anti-Fraud service for 2020/21 is £328,107 and 
the service is on target to be delivered within budget.  

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO:  N/A 

 

For general release 
 
 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.1    The Committee is asked to: 

 Note the Anti-fraud activity of the Corporate Anti-Fraud Team for the 
period 1 April 2020 – 31 August 2020 

  

 

Page 267

Agenda Item 10



 
 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
2.1 This report details the performance of the Council’s Corporate Anti-Fraud Team 

(CAFT) and includes details of the team’s performance together with an update 
on developments during the period 1 April 2020 – 31 August 2020. 

 
3. DETAIL 
 

 Performance 1 April 2020 to 31 August 2020 

3.1 The CAFT comprises 10 staff (9.2 FTEs), including tenancy and corporate 
investigators, an Intelligence Officer, financial investigators and an 
Investigation Manager. The CAFT investigates allegations of fraud or corruption 
which affect the Council’s business. In addition the team generates an income 
by  providing a service to the London Borough of Lambeth, as well as providing 
Financial Investigation services to the Merton/Kingston/Sutton Trading 
Standards partnership as well as the LB Bexley, LB Wandsworth and the LB 
Newham. Statistics related to the other councils that CAFT supports are not 
included in the figures below.  

3.2 The team are, at the time of writing this report just starting to get back into two 
of the key components of their work, visiting residents and business and face 
to face interviewing. Both had ceased out of necessity due to lockdown and 
then the time it has taken to agree safe working practices in these areas. This 
has impacted on the team’s ability to conclude investigations and we find 
ourselves in a position of backlog in terms of cases that require direct public 
contact. Our priority is to work on this backlog during September and October. 

3.3 There are local performance indicators that relate to the Council’s anti-fraud 
work. The two indicators shown in table 1 below reflect the focus of the team. 
Table 2 shows a breakdown of these figures. 

 
 Table 1 – Key performance indicators  

 YEAR END 
19/20 

ANNUAL 
TARGET 20/21 

20/21 YTD 
PERFORMANCE 

Successful 
Outcomes 
 

181 130 40 

Identified 
Overpayments & 
Savings 

£1,414,384 £1,000,000 £277,814 

 
 

Table 2 - Breakdown of Outcomes from 1 April 2020 – 31 August 2020 compared to the 

same period in 2019/20 

2019/20 2020/21 

Area  Value 
£ 

Area  Value 
£ 

 
Housing  - 33 
 

 
 

226,800 

 
Housing - 6 
1 Recovered Properties 

 
 

£32,400 

Page 268



 
 

7 Recovered  
Properties 
2  Removed from 
housing list 
6 Right to Buy stopped 
5 Possession order 
11 Legal notices  
issued* 
1 Nomination Rights 
gained 
1 – Other 

**4,000 
 

£658,000 
 
 
 
 
 

£32,400 

2 Removed from 
housing list 
1 Right to Buy stopped 
1 Legal notices issued* 
1 Nomination Rights 
gained 
  

**£4,000 
 

£112,300 
 
 

£32,400 

 
Other - 125 
30 Formal Cautions 
7 Dismissal/Resignation 
&  Other Disciplinary 
Action 
7 Council Tax Discounts 
6 Council Tax reduction 
removed 
1 Council tax liability 
order 
50 Blue Badge Abuse 
13  Other 
 
 

 
£238,901 

 
Other - 35 
4 Formal Cautions 
1 Grant Rejected 
2 Dismissal/Resignation 
& other Disciplinary 
Action 
3 Council Tax Discount 
4 Council Tax Reduction 
Removed 
13 Blue Badge abuse 
4 Covid Business grants 
3 Other  
 
 
 

 
£227,650 

 
Total     
 

 
£1,160,101 

 
Total     
 

 
£277,814 

*Includes: Notice Seeking Possession and Notice to Quit  
** Non-cashable saving, as cost to the council only arises when someone moves from the list 
to a tenancy.   

 
3.4      Covid Business Grants  

 

In April the council received funding of £60.3 million to administer stimulus 
payments to local businesses. These have taken the form of either Small 
Business (SBGF), Retail Hospitality and Leisure (RHLGF) and Discretionary 
(LADGF) payments. With the exception of the LADGF scheme all the other 
have closed as at the time of this report  
 
There was always a considerable fraud risk in this scheme, mainly through 
organised fraud but also resulting from the fact that unlike council tax, there is 
no legal requirement for a business to notify their local authority that they are 
trading in the area. Unsurprisingly, the bulk of the cases being referred for fraud 
investigation relate to the person(s) previously using the premises to operate a 
business taking a chance that the new occupant may not have registered their 
business. We have also identified a number of cases where historically Small 

Page 269



 
 

Business rate relief (SBRR) had been granted and it has since become clear 
through the business grant process that SBRR had been claimed fraudulently 
as the business owner has a chain of businesses. 
There are no identified cases of organised fraud currently identified in Croydon, 
a result of the processes put in place to ensure governance in the applications. 
Current figures relating to referrals that are under fraud investigation: 
 

Grant scheme Number Fraud risk 

SBGF 16  Previous business applied as the current 
business had never registered for 
business rates 

 SBRR claimed falsely 

RHLGF 4  Company splitting 

 Previous business applied as the current 
business had never registered for 
business rates 

Discretionary 
Grant fund 

3  Fake business 

 Multiple claims/single applicant 

 Virtual offices 

 
 
 

 
4. FINANCIAL INVESTIGATIONS 
 
4.1     The Council employs two Financial Investigators to undertake work using the 

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002. This includes investigating and developing 
cases to obtain confiscation orders plus cash seizure and cash forfeiture 
cases.  

 
Croydon’s Financial Investigators undertake work for other councils, who do 
not have this capacity, on a fee basis. This year they currently are undertaking 
work for LB Bexley, LB Newham and LB Wandsworth 
  
Their investigations relate to a broad section of service areas within the 
Councils including: 

 Environmental enforcement  

 Trading Standards - trademark and rogue trader cases 

 Planning – enforcement case; 

 Licensing  

 Internal cases 

 Safeguarding cases  

 Business rates evasion by fraud 
 
4.2    The Financial Investigators, as is the case with many other teams across the 

council, are experiencing significant delays in legal proceedings due to Covid. 
This is resulting in constant adjournments as the courts appear to try to deal 
with their own backlogs.    

 

Page 270



 
 

 
 5. LOCAL GOVERNMENT TRANSPARENCY CODE 

5.1     Members will be aware of the Local Government Transparency Code which 
requires Councils to publish data about various areas of their activities. Included 
in the 2014 code is detail on Counter Fraud work, most of this information has 
always been reported to committee; however there are some new areas which 
now need to be made public. These are detailed below for the period from 1 
April to 31 January 2020: 

Number of occasions the Council has used powers under the Prevention 
of Social Housing Fraud Act 

6 

Total number of employees undertaking investigations and prosecutions 

relating to fraud 

10 

Total number of full-time equivalent employees undertaking 

investigations and prosecutions of fraud 

9.2 

Total number of employees undertaking investigations and prosecutions 

of fraud who are professionally accredited counter fraud specialists 

9 

Total number of full-time equivalent employees undertaking 
investigations of and prosecutions who are professionally accredited 
counter fraud specialists 

8.4 

Total number of fraud cases investigated* 122 
*The number of investigations that have been closed during the period April 20 to August 20.  

 

 

6. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENTS 

6.1 The budget provision for the audit and anti-fraud service for 2020/21 is 
£328,107 and the service is on target to be delivered within budget. 

6.2 There are no further risk assessment issues than those already detailed 
 within the report. 

(Approved by: Felicia Wiright, Head of Finance, Resources & Accountancy) 

 

7. COMMENTS OF THE SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL  

7.1 The Solicitor to the Council advises that there are no additional legal 
implications arising from this report 

(Approved by Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate law, for and on behalf of 
Sean Murphy, Interim Director of Law and Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

 

8. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  

8.1 There are no immediate human resource considerations arising from this report 
for LBC staff or workers. 

(Approved by: Gillian Bevan, Acting Head of HR – Resources and CE Office) 

 

9. CUSTOMER FOCUS, EQUALITIES, ENVIRONMENTAL, CRIME AND 
DISORDER REDUCTION & HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACTS 

Page 271



 
 

9.1 There are no further considerations in these areas. 

 

10. EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

10.1    An initial screening equalities impact assessment has been completed for the 
Anti-fraud and Corruption Policy.  No further action was found to be necessary. 

 
 
11. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1. WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING  

  OF ‘PERSONAL DATA’? 
 
  No, this report is for information only.  
 

11.2. HAS A DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) BEEN 

  COMPLETED? 
 
  NO    

 
No DPIA has been completed as no personal data is used in the report. Any 
cases studies used do not include personal identifiers such as name and 
address 

 
  
(Approved by: Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance, Investment and Risk) 
 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:  David Hogan (Head of Anti-Fraud) 

Page 272



REPORT TO: GENERAL PURPOSES & AUDIT COMMITTEE  

7 October 2020 

SUBJECT: Internal Audit Review of Effectiveness 2019/20  

LEAD OFFICER: Director of Finance, Investment & Risk 

(Section 151 Officer)  

CABINET 

MEMBER 

Councillor Simon Hall  

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

WARDS: All 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT:   

The Council is required by the Audit and Account Regulations 2015 to review 

the effectiveness of the Council’s Internal Audit function when preparing the 

Annual Governance Statement 2019/20. The Annual Governance Statement is 

published alongside the Annual Accounts. 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY:  The Internal Audit contract for 2019/20 was a fixed 

price contract of £383k and appropriate provision was made within the budget 

for 2019/20. 

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO:  N/A 

 
 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 

 The Committee is asked to review and comment on the Director of Finance, 
Investment & Risk (Section 151 Officer)’s assessment of the internal audit 
function. 

 

Page 273

Agenda Item 11



2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
2.1   This report details the Director of Finance, Investment & Risk (Section 151 

Officer)’s review of the effectiveness of the Council’s internal audit. In assessing 
Internal Audit’s effectiveness the Council has used the following criteria and 
sources of information: 

 

 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

 Internal Audit performance 

 Stakeholders feedback  
 

3. System of review  
 
3.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Council to review, at least 

annually the effectiveness of its internal audit function.  The findings of this review 
need to be considered and published as part of the Committee’s review of the 
effectiveness of the systems of internal control. This in turn forms the basis of the 
Committee’s consideration of the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
3.2 The Internal Audit service is one of the key foundations of the Council’s Assurance 

Framework and governance structure, therefore the Committee needs to be 
satisfied that the function is effective in ensuring it can place reliance on the 
Council’s internal control systems. 

 
3.3 The Director of Finance, Investment & Risk (Section 151 Officer) has completed a 

review of the internal audit service and that is now reported to the Committee.   
 
3.4 For the purposes of the review the internal audit service was defined as the service 

provided by Mazars PSIA Ltd via the internal audit contract and the small in-house 
client team that leads and manages the contract. The contract for internal audit 
services was re-let in April 2018 for a period of six years with an option for a two 
year extension.  

 
3.5 A peer review by another London Borough’s Head of Internal Audit was conducted 

during the course of 2015/16 to assess the extent to which the Council’s internal 
audit service complied with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. This showed 
that at that time the Council’s Internal Audit service ‘Generally Conformed’ to the 
standards and details were reported to this committee at the time. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards require that an external review is carried out at least 
every 5 years. It was planned to have a further review carried out during 2020, but 
because of COVID-19 that has not yet been possible. It is hoped to ensure that this 
is done early in 2021. 

 

 4. Internal Audit Performance 2019/20 
 
4.1 A key measure of the Internal Audits service’s effectiveness is the action taken in 

implementing audit recommendations. The Council’s target for audit 
recommendations implemented at the time of the follow-up audit is 80% for all 
priority 2 & 3 recommendations and 90% for priority 1 Recommendations. 

 
4.2 The use of targets is accompanied by a stringent approach to the follow up process 

with tighter timescales for follow up work to commence linked to the level of 

Page 274



assurance.  Table 1 details the performance in all follow up work completed for 
audits carried out in 2015/16 through to 2019/20. 

 
 Table 1: Implementation of Audit Recommendations to date 

Performance Objective Target 

Performance 

2015/16 

(to date*) 

Performance 

2016/17 

(to date*) 

Performance 

2017/18 

(to date*) 

Performance 

2018/19 

(to date*) 

Performance 

2019/20 

(to date*) 

Percentage of priority one 
recommendation implemented 
at the time of the follow up 
audit 

90% 100% 93%% 98% 77% 63% 

Percentage of all 
recommendations 
implemented at the time of the 
follow up audit 

80% 94% 91% 90% 82% 80% 

* Audits are still being followed up for each of these years, therefore the percentage will change. 

 
4.3 Table 2 details the Internal Audit service performance against key targets for 

2019/20. Delivering 100% of the audit plan has been achieved for several years 
now, but on this occasion much of the year end work was delayed when our 
contractor furloughed its staff for several weeks from mid-March because of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The contractor has given assurances that this will be caught 
up and that the year end 2020/21 will be in a more normal position. 

 
 Table 2:  Internal Audit Performance 

Performance Objective Annual 
Target 

Annual 
Performance 

RAG 

% of planned 2019/20 audit plan delivered 100% 81% A 

Number of 2019/20 draft reports issued  93 65 A 

% of draft reports issued within 2 weeks of 
exit meeting with the Client 

85% 89% G 

% of staff with full qualifications engaged 
on audit 

40% 41% G 

 

 

4.4 To ensure the Council continuously improves its Internal Audit service, the Council 
participated in the CIPFA Audit Benchmarking Club 2019. A range of performance 
data and information relating to Internal Audit cost and audit coverage was 
compared to 14 unitary authorities within the benchmarking club from across 
England & Wales.  The headlines were that the Council was below average in 
relation to the number of audit days per £m gross turnover and reasonable in the 
cost per chargeable day. These resulted in a better than average audit cost per £m 
gross turnover.  

 
4.5 The performance for 2018/19, the most recent available, is shown in the following 

graphs  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 275



   
 
This shows that because of its risk focused approach to internal audit, Croydon 
uses proportionately fewer days per £M of council gross expenditure than most 
other unitary authorities.  
 

 

   
 
This shows the cost of each day of internal audit activity. Croydon is in line with the 
upper quartile, reflecting the fact that costs are generally higher in London than the 
rest of the country. 
 
 

Cost per Day (£) 

322 

266 

216 

273 

322 

0 

80 

160 

240 

320 

Croydon Average Lower 
Quartile 

Median Upper 
Quartile 

400 

Days per £m  

1.1 

2.0 

1.4 

1.8 

2.4 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

Croydon Average Lower Quartile Median Upper Quartile 

Page 276



   
 

This shows that the combination of well focused activity and reasonable costs per 
day results in cost per £M of council gross expenditure which is below the lower 
quartile for unitary authorities nationally.  

 

5. Stakeholder Feedback 
 
5.1 The added value of internal audit 

and a key measure of their 
effectiveness is stakeholder 
feedback. The auditee of every 
audit is asked to complete a 
customer satisfaction survey.  
There was a 18% response rate 
for audits carried out in 2019/20. 
This is up from the previous year 
(15%). The summary results are 
shown in table 3. 

 
5.2 The overall score for 2019/20 

was 92% which is the same as 
last year (92%). This compares 
with 75% when we started to 
measure in 2006/07. 

 
5.3 Where adverse comments are 

received these are followed up 
individually with the auditee to 
identify if there are learning 
points in relation to the individual 
auditor, a specific audit, or the 
audit process in general. 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

Table 3: Customer  

satisfaction 
2018/19 
Good or 

Very  
Good 

2019/20 

Good or 

Very  

Good 

Usefulness of the audit 100% 100% 

Effectiveness of audit in 
covering key areas 

100% 92% 

Duration of audit 82% 67% 

Feedback of findings and the 
opportunity to provide 
explanations 

91% 92% 

Presentation & Clarity of 
reports 

100% 100% 

Accuracy of findings in audit 
reports 

82% 100% 

Value of the report and 
findings 

100% 100% 

Assessment of auditors 
knowledge 

91% 92% 

Assessment of auditors 
professionalism 

91% 92% 

Accessibility of the auditor 
and the audit service 

91% 87% 

Cost per £m  

369 

530 

417 
478 

607 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

Croydon Average Lower 
Quartile 

Median Upper 
Quartile 

Page 277



 
6.1 The PSIAS require that “external assessments must be conducted at least once 

every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from 
outside the organisation.” 

 
6.2 Such an assessment was carried out in early 2016 by the Head of Internal Audit at 

the London Borough of Harrow. Her qualifications for conduction this review are: 
She is a member of Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors with 32 years 
experience of local government internal audit including 25 years experience in 
internal audit management. This was organized as part of the London Audit 
Group’s peer review group which includes most of the 33 London Boroughs.  

 

6.6 The review concluded that: Based on the work carried out it can be confirmed 

that internal audit at the London Borough of Croydon GENERALLY 

CONFORMS with the UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
 
6.7 More recently, Croydon Council’s head of internal Audit has carried out a self-

assessment which confirms that the service still GENERALLY CONFORMS with 
the standards. 

 
6.8 In addition, our internal audit contractor has also had an external assessment 

carried out against the standards. This review confirms that they CONFORM with 

the UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
 
6.9 It was planned to have a further external review carried out during 2020, but 

because of COVID-19 that has not yet been possible. It is hoped to ensure that this 
is done early in 2021. 

   

7. Conclusion 

 
7.1 A comparison of the benchmarking indicators with the performance and impact 

indicators demonstrates a cost effective service delivering value for money. 

 

8. FINANCIAL & RISK CONSIDERATIONS 
 

8.1 The Internal Audit contract for 2019/20 was a fixed price contract of £383k and 
appropriate provision was made within the budget for 2019/20. There are no 
additional risk considerations than those within the report. 

 
(Approved by: Felicia Wright, Head of Finance Resources and Place) 

 

9.         LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 

9.1     The Head of Litigation and Corporate Law comments on behalf of the Director of 
Law and Governance that the s151 Officer’s Internal Audit review will assist the 
Council to meet the requirements of Regulation 3 Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015. 

 
9.2 Further, that the Committee’s Terms of Reference (contained in the Constitution, 

Part 3 paragraph 2.3) regarding its audit functions is: 
 

1.  In exercising its audit functions the Committee’s purpose is to provide 
independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework 

Page 278



and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of the 
Council’s financial and non-financial  performance to the extent it affects the 
Council’s exposure to risk and weakens the control environment, and to 
oversee financial reporting.  

  
2.  To consider the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management 

arrangements, the control environment and associated anti-fraud and anti- 
corruption arrangements.  

  
3.  To seek assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues 

identified by auditors and inspectors.  
  

4.  To be satisfied that the Council’s assurance statements,   including the 
Statement on Internal Control, properly reflect the risk environment and any 
actions required to improve it.  

  
5.  To review (but not direct) internal audit’s strategy, plan and monitor 

performance and make recommendations as appropriate to Cabinet and/or 
Full Council.  

  
6.  To review summary internal audit reports and the main issues arising, and 

seek assurance that action has been taken where necessary.  
  

7.  To receive the annual report of the Head of Internal Audit and make 
recommendations as appropriate to Cabinet and/or Full Council.  

  
8.  To consider the reports of external audit and inspection agencies and make 

recommendations as appropriate to Cabinet and/or Full Council.  
  

9.  To ensure that there are effective relationships between external 
and internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant  bodies,  and  that  
the  value  of  the audit process is actively promoted.  

  
10.  To review the financial statements, external auditor’s opinion and reports to 

Members, and monitor management action in response to the issues raised 
by external audit.  

  
11.  To make an annual report to the full Council. 
 
(Approved by Sandra Herbert, Head of Litigation and Corporate Law on behalf of the Director of Law 
and Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer)  

 

10. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  
 
10.1 There are no immediate human resource considerations arising from this report for 
 LBC employees or staff. 
 

(Approved by: Gillian Bevan Head of HR – Resources) 

 

 

11. CUSTOMER FOCUS, EQUALITIES, ENVIRONMENTAL, CRIME AND 

DISORDER REDUCTION & HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACTS 
 

Page 279



11.1 Any impacts in relation to these areas are detailed in the strategic and departmental 
risk register.  The process of managing risk through the risk register mechanism 
ensures that all impacts are considered and managed. 

 

12. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION/DATA PROTECTION CONSIDERATIONS  
 
12.1  The publicity requirements for the financial statements referred to in this report 

mean that they will for part of the Council’s Publication Scheme maintained under 
the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act. 

 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance, Investment & Risk (Section 
151 Officer) 

 

Page 280



 

REPORT TO: GENERAL PURPOSES AND AUDIT COMMITTEE     

7 October 2020     

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON IN-YEAR APPOINTMENTS 

LEAD OFFICER: Jacqueline Harris Baker 

Executive Director of Resources 

CABINET MEMBER: Councillor Simon Hall 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

WARDS: All 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT/AMBITIOUS FOR CROYDON:  

The in-year appointments detailed in this report have been made in keeping with the 
Council’s Constitution. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

There are no financial implications arising from the content of this report. 

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.1 The Committee is asked to note the in-year appointments made under 

delegated powers as detailed in paragraph three of the report. 
1.1 

 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
2.1 This report updates Members on a number of in-year appointments made by 

the Council Solicitor or the Scrutiny and Overview Committee under delegated 
powers since the last meeting of the Committee.  These appointments have 
been made by the Conservative Group resulting from its recent leadership 
election. 

 
3. IN-YEAR APPOINTMENTS 
 
 Appointments to Vacancies under delegated authority by the Council Solicitor  
  
3.1 Following consultation with the party whips, and pursuant to Part 2 Article 4.1(f) 

of the Constitution, the following in-year appointments have been made by the 
Council Solicitor:  

 
(i) Councillor Tim Pollard has been appointed to the General Purposes and 

Audit Committee (GPAC) to replace Councillor Oni Oviri. 
 
(ii) Councillor Simon Hoar has been appointed to the General Purposes and 

Audit Committee (as a Reserve Member) to replace Councillor Simon 
Brew. 

 

Page 281

Agenda Item 12



 
(iii) Councillors Lynne Hale and Mario Creatura have been appointed to the 

GPAC Mayoralty & Honorary Freedom Selection Sub-Committee (as 
Reserve Members) to replace Councillors Jason Cummings and Helen 
Redfern). 

 
(iv) Councillor Jason Cummings has been appointed to the GPAC Mayoralty 

& Honorary Freedom Selection Sub-Committee to replace Councillor 
Tim Pollard. 

 
(v) Councillors Jan Buttinger and Andy Stranack have been appointed to the 

Licensing Committee to replace Councillors Steve O’Connell and 
Michael Neal. 

 
(vi) Councillors Richard Chatterjee and Steve O’Connell have been 

appointed to the Licensing Committee (as Reserve Members) to replace 
Councillors Helen Redfern and Mario Creatura. 

 
(vii) Councillor Jan Buttinger has been appointed to the Pension Committee 

to replace Councillor Luke Clancy. 
 

(viii) Councillor Luke Clancy has been appointed to the Pension Committee 
(as a Reserve Member) to replace Councillor Vidhi Mohan. 

 
(ix) Councillor Lynne Hale has been appointed to the Planning Committee to 

replace Councillor Jason Perry. 
 

(x) Councillors Helen Pollard and Vidhi Mohan have been appointed to the 
Planning Committee (as Reserve Members) to replace Councillors Helen 
Redfern and Jan Buttinger. 

 
(xi) Councillors Mario Creatura and Simon Hoar have been appointed to the 

Ethics Committee to replace Councillors Helen Redfern and Simon 
Brew. 

 
(xii) Councillors Michael Neal and Luke Clancy have been appointed to the 

Transport Management Advisory Committee to replace Councillors 
Simon Hoar and Jeet Bains. 

 
(xiii) Councillor Oni Oviri has been appointed to the Transport Management 

Advisory Committee Committee (as a Reserve Member) to replace 
Councillor Luke Clancy. 

 
(xiv) Councillor Mario Creature has been appointed to the Members’ Learning 

and Development Committee to replace Councillor Helen Redfern. 
 
(xv) Councillor Jason Perry has been appointed to the Staff Partnership 

Panel to replace Councillor Tim Pollard. 
 
(xvi) Councillor Michael Neal has been appointed to the Public Transport 

Liaison Panel to replace Councillor Simon Hoar. 
 
(xvii) Councillor Helen Redfern has been appointed to the Schools Forum to 

Page 282



replace Councillor Maria Gatland. 
 
(xviii) Councillor Jeet Bains has been appointed to the Tenants and 

Leaseholders Panel to replace Councillor Richard Chatterjee. 
 

(xix) Councillor Chatterjee has been appointed to the Safer Croydon 
Partnership Richard to replace Councillor Mario Creatura. 

 
(xx) Councillor Oni Oviri has been appointed to the Scrutiny and Overview 

Committee to replace Councillor Jeet Bains. 
  
(xxi) Councillor Jeet Bains has been appointed to the Scrutiny and Overview 

Committee (as a Reserve Member) to replace Councillor Stuart Milson. 
 

3.2 Following consultation with the Chair of the General Purposes and Audit 
Committee and pursuant to Article 4.1(g) of the Constitution, the following in-
year appointments have been made to outside bodies: 

 
(i) Councillor Oni Oviri has been appointed to the London Youth Games to 

replace Councillor Badsha Quadir. 
 
(ii) Councillor Andy Stranack has been appointed to the Safer 

Neighbourhood Board to replace Councillor Mario Creatura. 
 
(iii) Councillor Lynne Hale has resigned from her seat on the Harman 

Atwood Charity and the seat nominated by the Council is now vacant. 
 
Variation to appointments under delegated authority by the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee 

 
3.3 Following a resolution of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee pursuant to Part 

4E, para 2.4 of the Constitution, the following in-year appointments have been 
made: 

 
(i) Councillor Helen Pollard has been appointed to the Scrutiny Children & 

Young People Sub-Committee to replace Councillor Gareth Streeter. 
 
(ii) Councillors Richard Chatterjee and Steve Hollands have been appointed 

to the Scrutiny Health and Social Care Sub-Committee to replace 
Councillors Andy Stranack and Scott Roche (with Councillor Chatterjee 
to be the Vice-Chair of the Sub-Committee). 

 
(iii) Councillor Scott Roche has been appointed to the Scrutiny Health and 

Social Care Sub-Committee (as a Reserve Member) to replace 
Councillor Helen Redfern. 

 
(iv) Councillor Jeet Bains has been appointed to the Scrutiny Streets, 

Environment and Homes Sub-Committee to replace Councillor Richard 
Chatterjee in the position of Vice-Chair.   

 
 
 
Additional variations to appointments 

Page 283



 
3.4. Whilst it is not a requirement of the Constitution to provide notification of 

Shadow Cabinet Member appointments, for completeness, changes have also 
been made to Shadow Cabinet so that it now comprises the following: 

 
(i) Councillor Jason Perry, Leader of the Opposition; 
(ii) Councillor Jason Cummings, Deputy Leader of the Opposition and 

Shadow Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources; 
(iii) Councillor Lynne Hale, Deputy Leader of the Opposition and Shadow 

Member for Homes and Gateway Services; 
(iv) Councillor Maria Gatland, Shadow Cabinet Member for Children, Young 

People & Learning; 
(v) Councillor Simon Hoar, Shadow Cabinet Member for Economy & Jobs; 
(vi) Councillor Yvette Hopley, Shadow Cabinet Member for Families, Health 

& Social Care; 
(vii) Councillor Vidhi Mohan, Shadow Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure & 

Sport (Job-Share); 
(viii) Councillor Helen Redfern, Shadow Cabinet Member for Clean Green 

Croydon; 
(ix) Councillor Scott Roche, Shadow Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure & 

Sport (Job-Share); 
(x) Councillor Andy Stranack, Shadow Cabinet Member for Safer Croydon & 

Communities; and 
(xi) Councillor Gareth Streeter, Shadow Cabinet Member for Transport, 

Environment & Regeneration. 
 

3.5. Additionally, there is also a change to the appointments made to the South 
West London Standing Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 
which in accordance Part 4E, para 12.3 of the Constitution, will be submitted to 
the next meeting of the Scrutiny Health and Social Care Sub-Committee for 
approval. This is to appoint Councillor Richard Chatterjee to replace Councillor 
Andy Stranack. 

 
4. CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 In accordance with the Constitution, these in-year appointments have been 

made following consultation with Group Whips and the Chair of the General 
Purposes and Audit Committee where required. 

 
5. FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 

 
5.1 There are no financial implications arising from the contents of this report. 
 

Approved by: Approved by Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance, Investment and 
Risk, S151 Officer. 

 
6. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 The Director of Law and Governance comments that the above in-year 

appointments have been made in keeping with the Council’s Constitutional 
requirements. 

 

Approved by: Sean Murphy, Director of Law and Governance & Deputy 

Page 284



Monitoring Officer. 
 

7. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  
 
7.1 There are no human resources implications arising from the content of this 

report. 
  

Approved by: Sue Moorman, Director of Human Resources. 
  
  

 
  
 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Stephen Rowan, Head of Democratic Services and Scrutiny  
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT: None 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None 

Page 285



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5a Croydon Finance Review - Phase 1 Report
	6 Financial Performance Report
	7 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy End of Year Review 2019/2020
	8 Head of Internal Audit Annual Report
	Head of Internal Audit Annual Report 2019-20

	9 Annual Governance Statement 2019/20
	Annual Governance Statement 201920 Appendix 1

	10 Anti-Fraud Update Report
	11 Internal Audit Review of Effectiveness
	12 Update on In-Year Appointments

